

# Human Rights and Business Country Guide



November 2016

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

THE DANISH INSTITUTE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS

# How to Use this Guide

This Human Rights and Business Country Guide contains information regarding the potential and actual human rights impacts of businesses. The information in this Guide is gathered from publicly available sources, and is intended to help business and other stakeholders develop and implement policies and procedures related to Business and Human Rights aimed at ensuring the corporate responsibility to respect human right.

# About the Human Rights and Business Country Guide

The Human Rights and Business Country Guide provides country-specific information and guidance to encourage business respect for human rights according to the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs), as the foundation for sustainable development, in particular for the realization of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) of the 2030 Development Agenda<sup>1</sup>.

For businesses to manage their potential risks related to human rights, they must have comprehensive information about the local context where they operate. On the other hand, for states to identify measures and actions that aim to ensure business respect for human rights, they must have a baseline on the impacts of business in practice. In this sense, the Country Guide provides a systematic overview of the human rights issues on which companies and states may focus. For each issue, it identifies impacts and it provides tools and recommendations on how companies and states could ensure respect for human rights in their country.

Also, the Country Guide is a platform for local stakeholders to identify priority issues and actions on the corporate responsibility to respect human rights.

The Country Guide is a compilation of publicly available information from international institutions, local NGOs, governmental agencies, businesses, media and universities, among others. International and domestic sources are identified on the basis of their expertise and relevance to the Mexican context, as well as their timeliness and impartiality.

#### How the Human Rights and Business Country Guide can be used by companies:

- Develop company policies and procedures related to human rights issues in the local environment.
- Raise awareness among staff, suppliers and other business partners.
- Engage with workers, potentially affected communities, consumers and other stakeholders whose human rights might be affected by their operations.
- Engage with human rights civil society organizations, government agencies or international organizations.

• Provide background information for external auditors.

#### How the Human Rights and Business Country Guide can be used by governments

- Together with the results of the National Baseline Assessment on the implementation of the UNGPs<sup>2</sup>, to identify priority issues, sectors and regions for consideration in the NAPs on Business and Human Rights and other relevant public policies.
- Develop specific measures for NAPs and public policies on business and human rights on the corporate responsibility to respect human rights.
- Review and reform issue-specific public policies and legislation relevant to the human rights impacts of business, including in the areas of labour, environment, land, equal treatment, anti-corruption, taxation, consumer protection or corporate reporting.
- Ensure respect for human rights in the state's own business affairs such as state-owned companies, sovereign wealth funds and other investments, public procurement, development assistance, export credit agencies and other activities.
- Build awareness and capacity on human rights and business issues within relevant areas of public administration.
- Provide targeted advice to companies.
- Improve effective access to judicial and non-judicial remedies for victims of businessrelated human rights abuses.

While intended to support government efforts to develop national public policies on Business and Human Rights, the Human Rights and Business Country Guide also provides a tool for companies and other stakeholders.

#### How the Human Rights and Business Country Guide can be used by civil society organisations

- Inform human rights research and monitoring related to business operations.
- Work with affected workers and communities to define human rights and development priorities related to the role of business.
- Work with local stakeholders to provide recommendations to companies and government.
- Facilitate dialogue and engagement, including multi-stakeholder forums.

# **Country Guide Process**

The Mexico Country Guide was adapted and produced by the Danish Institute for Human Rights (DIHR) with the aim of supporting SEGOB (Secretaria de Gobernación) as part of a collaborative partnership in the process of developing Mexico's National Programme on Business and Human Rights.

The survey of publicly available, international sources was carried out by the Danish Institute for Human Rights from June to October 2016.

This Guide seeks to provide practical and complementary information to the National Baseline Assessment on Business and Human Rights prepared by the Civil Society Focal Group on Business and Human Rights. It provides an overview, on the basis of the information available, of the ways in which companies do or may impact human rights in Mexico. This current Country Guide is not meant as an end product, or a final determination of country conditions. It is intended to facilitate a national dialogue on the main human rights and business opportunities and challenges to support the development and implementation of the National Programme on Business and Human Rights. It is also the first analysis of business practice in Mexico, and serves as a tool to assess progress on the corporate responsibility to respect human rights at the country level.

# **Country Guide Content**

The Country Guide contains the following information:

## Focus Areas

Each section of the Country Guide identifies areas in need of particular attention by businesses. The Country Guide identifies these areas through an analysis of the country's legal framework for human rights protection; enjoyment of human rights in practice; and the proximity of third-party human rights violations to company operations.

The headlines and risk descriptions detail the relevance of each issue for businesses. The text that follows the risk descriptions presents quantitative and qualitative information upon which this determination was based.

- **Background & Context** gives a country overview of economic, political and demographic characteristics.
- **Rights Holders at Risk** identifies groups that may be vulnerable to workplace discrimination or community impacts.
- Labour Standards identifies areas for attention related to employees and working conditions. This section includes child labour, forced labour, trade unions, occupational health & safety and working conditions.
- **Community Impacts** identifies focus areas related to communities whose human rights may be affected by company operations. This section includes impacts related to environment, land & property, revenue transparency & management and security & conflict.
- Access to Remedy identifies different remedy mechanisms available to address violations of human rights. Whenever possible, information is also included on the effectiveness of these mechanisms, as well as the number of cases that have already been addressed.
- Sector Profiles identifies human rights and business impacts related to a particular industry sectors, such as extractive operations, manufacturing and agriculture.

• **Region Profiles** identifies regions of the country where the risk of adverse human rights impacts differs markedly from the national profile. This may include underdeveloped regions, export processing zones or conflict areas.

### Cases

Each rights issue includes cases from jurisprudence and media where the rights issue in question has been allegedly violated. These cases are drawn from the Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, international and local NGOs and stakeholder consultations. The cases presented here should not be considered comprehensive.

## Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

This section includes guidance for businesses to prevent and mitigate their adverse human rights impacts. This guidance is drawn from the Danish Institute for Human Right's (DIHR) existing library of human rights due diligence recommendations, as well as international frameworks, principles and guidelines. Where available, this section includes recommendations issued by local NGOs and directed specifically at companies operating in the country.

This section also includes examples of initiatives carried out by companies to mitigate their human rights impacts. These are organized into Due Diligence Initiatives—activities that aim to meet the company's responsibility not to violate human rights.

## Access to Remedy

Victims of corporate human rights abuses have the right, under international law, to mechanisms that provide for remedy. The UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights explicitly obligate governments and businesses to provide and/or participate in such mechanisms.

The Country Guide includes information about the remedy mechanisms available to redress violations of human rights. Where possible, this also includes practice information about the effectiveness of such bodies, and the number of cases they have heard and redressed.

# About DIHR

The Danish Institute for Human Rights is a National Human Rights Institution accredited under the UN Paris Principles<sup>3</sup>, and carries out human rights and development programmes in Denmark and around the world. Since 1999, the Danish Institute has worked closely with business and human rights issues to develop tools and standards for better business practice.

For more information, see humanrights.dk.

# Table of Contents

How to Use this Guide	
Table of Contents	6
Background & Context	7
Rights-Holders at Risk	14
Child Labour	
Forced Labour	46
Occupational Health & Safety	
Working Conditions	66
Environment	79
Land & Property	95
Revenue Transparency & Management	
Security & Conflict	
Access to Remedy	
Sector Profiles	
Region Profiles	

# **Background & Context**

Overview of political and socio-economic conditions in which businesses operate. This information is designed to inform businesses of the broader political and development trends in the country.

Demography and Economy	
Population <sup>4</sup>	127,017,000 (2016)
Ethnic Groups⁵	Mestizo (Amerindian-Spanish) 62%, Predominantly Amerindian 21%, Amerindian 7%, Other 10% (mostly European) <b>Note:</b> Mexico does not collect census data on ethnicity (2012 est.)
Religious Groups <sup>6</sup>	Roman Catholic 82.7%, Pentecostal 1.6%, Jehovah's Witnesses 1.4%, Other Evangelical Churches 5%, Other 1.9%, None 4.7%, Unspecified 2.7% (2010 est.)
Languages <sup>7</sup>	Spanish 92.7%, Spanish and indigenous languages 5.7%, Indigenous 0.8%, Unspecified 0.8% Note: indigenous languages include various Mayan, Nahuatl, and other regional languages (2005)

# Political, Economic & Development Statistics

#### Quantitative indicators and country rankings

Country Rankings & Ratings			
	2008	2011	2014
Reporters Without Borders: <i>Press</i> <i>Freedom Index</i> <sup>8</sup> (where 1 indicates the highest degree of freedom)	140	153 (2012)	149
Freedom House: Map of Freedom - Political Rights <sup>9</sup> (on a scale of 1 through 7, where 1 indicates the highest level of freedom)	2	3	3
Freedom House: Map of Freedom - Civil Liberties <sup>10</sup> (on a scale of 1 through 7, where 1 indicates the highest level of freedom)	3	3	3
Form of government <sup>11</sup>	Federal Presidential Republic		
Most recent general election <sup>12</sup>	President directly elected by simple majority popular vote for a single 6- year term; Election last held on 1 July 2012.		
Current head of state <sup>13</sup>	President Enrique Peña Nieto (since 1 December 2012);		
	Note: President is both Head of State and of Government.		
Ruling party <sup>14</sup>	Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI).		
Other major parties <sup>15</sup>	<ul> <li>Citizen's Movement (MC)</li> <li>Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI).</li> <li>Labour Party (PT)</li> <li>Mexican Green Ecological Party (PVEM)</li> <li>Movement for National Regeneration (MORENA)</li> </ul>		

<ul> <li>National Action Party (PAN)</li> </ul>
---

- New Alliance Party (PNA/PANAL)
- Party of the Democratic Revolution (PRD)
- Social Encounter Party (PES)

Development Indicators and Trends			
	2010	2011	2013
GDP growth	5.2% <sup>16</sup>	3.9% <sup>17</sup>	1.4% <sup>18</sup>
GDP growth in region / neighbouring countries	6.1% <sup>19</sup>	4.3% <sup>20</sup>	2.8% <sup>21</sup>
GDP per capita (PPP)	14,60322	15,754 <sup>23</sup>	16,248 <sup>24</sup>
Human Development Index rank	56 <sup>25</sup>	57 <sup>26</sup>	71 <sup>27</sup>
Human Development Index score	0.748 <sup>28</sup>	0.752 <sup>29</sup>	0.756 <sup>30</sup>
Human Development Index score – Regional Average	0.734 <sup>31</sup>	0.737 <sup>32</sup>	0.740 <sup>33</sup>
HDI discounted for inequality	0.593 <sup>34</sup>	0.589 <sup>35</sup>	0.583 <sup>36</sup>
Gini coefficient	48.1 <sup>37</sup>	48.1 (2012) <sup>38</sup>	47.2 <sup>39</sup>
Percentage of population below national poverty rate	52.0% <sup>40</sup>	N/A	52.3% (2012) <sup>41</sup>
Percentage of population below absolute poverty rate (\$1.25 per day) <sup>42</sup>	3.8% <sup>43</sup>	1% (2012) <sup>44</sup>	N/A

# **Political Context**

#### Governance structures and political developments

Mexico's political structure is a democratic representative federal presidential republic. The government has three levels: federal, state and municipal. The president is elected by plurality vote for a six-year term and, unlike other Latin America systems, there is no second round. Enrique Peña Nieto from the Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI) was elected president on July 1, 2012, winning 39% of the vote.

Mexico is a federation integrated by 31 States and a Federal District. Each state elects its own governor and legislature; municipal authorities are chosen at the local level. The Chamber of Deputies has 500 members, elected for a three-year term; 300 elected by simple majority in single-member districts, and 200 elected by proportional representation in five 40-member regional districts. The Senate has 128 members, elected for a six-year term. Each state elects three senators, and in addition 32 are elected by proportional representation on a single nation list. Re-election for consecutive terms in prohibited for all federal deputies and senators. Legislators can be elected to the other chamber when their term expires, and they can be reelected to the same chamber after sitting out a term.<sup>45</sup>

The political system of Mexico is based on the Constitution of 1917, drafted during the Revolution. The constitution has been subject to many modifications, such as that of 2005, which prohibited the use of capital punishment. The last modification was made in 2011, regarding human rights and *amparo* trial.<sup>46</sup>

# Socio-Economic Context

#### Human development indicators and trends

Mexico is among the 20 largest economies in the world. The Mexican economy continued to grow at an annual rate of 2.5% during most of 2015 and early 2016, although it is expected to slow down to about 2% in 2016, following a modest contraction of economic activity in the second trimester. According to the World Bank country analysis, the expansion of economic activity now depends entirely on private consumption, because due to weak investments and exports, these sectors no longer contribute to growth.<sup>47</sup>

In addition, there is a persistent trend of higher debt-to-GDP ratio (from 29% in 2007 to an estimated 50.5% by the end of 2016), together with lower oil revenues, a fragile financial situation of the national oil company Pemex, as well as a disappointing economic growth rate.

In 2014, Mexico's Human Development Index (HDI) value was 0.75. This value places the country in the high-level human development category, ranking it 74<sup>th</sup> out of 188 countries and territories. Between 1980 and 2014, Mexico's HDI value increased from 0.601 to 0.756, an increase of 25.8% or an average annual increase of about 0.68%. At present, the country is in the 61st position in the index managed by the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), among 187 countries and territories.<sup>49</sup>

#### Background & Context

Economic and social inequality is a persistent problem in the country. According to a 2016 report by Oxfam Mexico, the country is among the top 25% of countries with the highest levels of inequality in the world and is one of the two most unequal countries in the OECD. The conditions of inequality in the country are such that 1% of the population owns 43% of all wealth in Mexico. <sup>50</sup> The UNDP reports that according to an official estimate of 2012, 46% of the Mexican population lived in poverty that year. <sup>51</sup> On the other hand, 12% of the population lived in extreme or multidimensional poverty, meaning that they lacked access to at least one of the underlying rights of social development, or had insufficient income to acquire the goods and services they required to satisfy their needs. While the GDP per capita is growing at less than 1% a year, the fortunes of the 16 richest Mexicans are multiplied by five. <sup>52</sup>

Oxfam Mexico's analysis<sup>53</sup> of extreme inequality in the country also shows that it has effects in at least three areas of society: 1) the indigenous population, whose poverty rate is four times greater than that of the general population; (2) a disparity between disadvantaged public school students vis-à-vis their peers in private schools, <sup>54</sup> contributing to significant and lasting consequences throughout life, and (3) violence due to inequality, marginalization and poverty. <sup>55</sup>

Inequality in Mexico also has a gender bias. The situation of women is characterized by inequality in all areas: income, employment, education, health, family and political activity. .<sup>56</sup> According to the 2014 Global Gender Gap, Mexico ranked 80 out of 142 countries in this area. Within the Global Gender Gap analysis, the sector in which Mexico performs the worst is precisely in terms of participation and economic opportunities, where it is ranked 120<sup>th</sup>. Within this area of analysis, the worst results were obtained in labour force participation (ranked 118<sup>th</sup>), equal pay for similar work (survey data, ranked 116<sup>th</sup>) and estimated income (ranked 114<sup>th</sup>). <sup>57</sup>

# **Development Frameworks**

Plans and strategies to assist companies in designing community programmes

## National Development Strategy

The National Development Plan<sup>58</sup> (NDP) 2013-2018 of the Government is being developed under the leadership of President Enrique Peña Nieto, following article 26 of the Constitution, which establishes that there will be a National Development Plan to which the Federal Public Administration (FPA) Programs will abide.

The NDP is a working document that governs the programming and budgeting of the entire FPA. It is also an exercise for reflection that invites citizens to think about the challenges and opportunities the country faces. It stipulates that the task of development and growth corresponds is borne by all actors, sectors and people in the country, emphasizing that growth and development arise when each person, company and actor of a society is able to make its greatest contribution. It establishes as national goals peace, inclusion, prosperity and global responsibility. It also presents crosscutting strategies to democratize productivity, modernize government, and adopt a gender perspective in all FPA programs. <sup>59</sup>

Finally, Mexico's National Plan for Human Rights (2014-18)<sup>60</sup> emphasizes the duty of private companies and institutions to respect human rights. <sup>61</sup> It defines as strategy 4.4 "Promoting the human rights and gender approach in the private sector, as well as in business policies and activities", with five lines of action regarding the relationship between the State and companies in terms of protecting and respecting human rights and a commitment to develop a National Program on Business and Human Rights.

## **UN Development Action Framework**

In September 2015, the United Nations General Assembly adopted the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development. <sup>62</sup> The Agenda, which includes 17 Sustainable Development Objectives (SDGs), 169 goals and 230 indicators to monitor progress, is an action plan for people, the planet and prosperity, aimed at strengthening universal peace within a broader concept of freedom. <sup>63</sup> In the Agenda, States recognize that the eradication of poverty in all its forms and dimensions, including extreme poverty, is the greatest challenge facing the world and is an indispensable prerequisite for sustainable development in its three areas: social, economic and environmental. With the main objective of leaving no one behind, the Agenda recognizes that the dignity of the human person is fundamental, so that respect, protection and fulfilment of human rights transcends the Agenda as a whole. <sup>64</sup>

The Agenda underscores that the SDGs should be implemented by all countries and stakeholders through a collaborative alliance. <sup>65</sup> It emphasizes the role of companies in achieving sustainable development of societies, and mentions business activity, investment and innovation as important drivers of productivity, inclusive economic growth and job generation. In this context, it refers to the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and labour standards of the International Labour Organization, calling on companies to apply their creativity and innovation to solve sustainable development challenges. In addition, Goal 17 on Strategic Alliances focuses on fostering and promoting public, public-private, and civil society partnerships. <sup>66</sup>

The first stage of evaluating the implementation of the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development was held in New York in July 2016, in the format of a voluntary review under the United Nations High-Level Policy Forum (HLPF) on Sustainable Development.<sup>67</sup> Together with 21 other countries at the global level, Mexico participated in this first voluntary review by presenting a country report on how the Agenda 2030, its objectives and targets have been implemented.

Mexico's national report to the HLPF<sup>68</sup> emphasizes the fact that the Agenda 2030 arises in an unstable global economic environment and on the threshold of an unprecedented environmental crisis, the adverse effects of which have reached Mexico. In this sense, it identifies major challenges that the country faces, in particular, to accelerate economic growth, reduce social inequalities and secure resources for the implementation of the Agenda in an austerity environment, to strengthen the human rights framework, and to achieve greater cooperation, innovation and efficiencies in the work of public policy. Thus, it recognizes the need

to make major structural changes in the government to respond to the integrated nature of the Agenda. As such, it has been necessary to establish commitments at all levels, identify national priorities, analyse what global public goods Mexico can provide, build new implementation mechanisms and identify new partners, such as in the business sector.<sup>69</sup>

## World Bank Country Partnership Strategy

The World Bank's Mexico Partnership Strategy for Mexico (CPS) from 2014 to 2019 is aligned with the objectives of Mexico's National Development Plan (NDP) for 2013-2018. The strategy categorizes the main challenges to reduce extreme poverty and promote shared prosperity in four areas: (a) to increase productivity and ensure their profits are widespread, (b) to ensure that the poorest segments of society benefit from basic social services and contribute to economic growth, (c) to strengthen public finances and improve government efficiency, and (d) to combine the economic and environmental aspects of sustainable development.<sup>70</sup>

# **Rights-Holders at Risk**

Societal groups particularly vulnerable to employment-related discrimination or poor development outcomes

Operating Environment		
	Country	Region
HIV/AIDS prevalence (ages 15-49)	0.2 (2014) <sup>71</sup>	0.5 [0.4-0.6] (2016) <sup>72</sup>
Female labour participation rate	45,1% (2013) <sup>73</sup>	53.7% (2013) <sup>74</sup>
Percentage urban population	79.2% (2015) <sup>75</sup>	N/A
Percentage rural population	21% (2015) <sup>76</sup>	N/A
Human Development Index score	0,756 (2014) <sup>77</sup>	0,748 (2014) <sup>78</sup>
HDI adjusted for inequality	0,587 (2014) <sup>79</sup>	0,570 (2014) <sup>80</sup>
HDI Gender Equality Gap Index score	0.373 (2014) 74 (rank) <sup>81</sup>	0.415 <sup>82</sup>
Population below PPP US\$1.25 per day (%) <sup>83</sup>	2.7 (2012) <sup>84</sup>	N/A
Literacy rate, 15-24 years old (%)	95.1% <sup>85</sup>	97,8 (2013) <sup>86</sup>
Maternal mortality ratio (per 100,000 births)	38 deaths (2015 est.) <sup>87</sup>	85 deaths <sup>88</sup>
Seats held by women in national parliament (%)	42% (2015) <sup>89</sup>	27,0 (2014) <sup>90</sup>
OECD Social Institutions and Gender Rank	<ul> <li>The Gender Inequality Index score is 0.382 (2014)<sup>91</sup></li> <li>Mexico's World Economic Forum Global Gender Gap Index score for 2013 is</li> </ul>	

	0.692, putting it in 68th place (out of a total of 136 countries). <sup>92</sup>
Labour force	55,561,477 (2014 est.) <sup>93</sup>
Percentage of population who are 15-24 years old	17.9% (male 11,027,564/female 10,759,446) <sup>94</sup>
Law prohibits discrimination on the grounds of:	<ul> <li>The Mexican Constitution prohibits discrimination against workers.</li> <li>The Mexican Federal Labour Law (MFLL) prohibits any kind of discrimination. All individuals involved in an employment relationship are protected against discrimination on the grounds of: race; nationality; sexual preferences; immigration condition; religion; civil status; social condition; age; gender; and/or disability.</li> </ul>
Major ethnic groups <sup>95</sup>	<ul> <li>Mestizo (Amerindian-Spanish) 62%,</li> <li>Predominantly Amerindian 21%,</li> <li>Amerindian 7%,</li> <li>Other 10% (mostly European)</li> <li>Note: Mexico does not collect census data on ethnicity (2012 est.)</li> </ul>
Recognition of indigenous groups in law	• It was only with the 1992 reform of the Constitution that the nation was deemed multi-cultural. Under the Constitution, indigenous peoples in Mexico have the rights to self-determination, which includes, among others, the right to autonomy, education, infrastructure and no-discrimination. However, each Mexican state has its own constitution and can establish new legislation. In some cases, as regards indigenous peoples, the local legislation has limited the provisions recognized in the national constitution. <sup>96</sup>

	<ul> <li>The government's National Indigenous Institute has offices throughout the country to facilitate consultation with indigenous communities, and government statements emphasize the officially recognized principle of cultural diversity.</li> <li>The government has also ratified International Labour Organization (ILO) Convention No. 169 of 1989 on the rights of Indigenous and tribal Peoples, although it is argued that constitutional reforms have undermined land rights guaranteed under the Convention. <sup>97</sup></li> </ul>
Major indigenous groups	<ul> <li>The ten largest indigenous groups are Náhuatl (24%), Maya (13.7%), Zapoteco (6.8%), Mixteco (6.8%), Tzeltal (5.7%), Otomí (5.5%), Tztotzil (5.1%), Totonaca (3.6%), Mazateco (3%), Mazahua (3%) and Chol (2.7%).<sup>98</sup></li> </ul>
Major religious groups	<ul> <li>Roman Catholic 82.7%</li> <li>Pentecostal 1.6%</li> <li>Jehovah's Witnesses 1.4%</li> <li>Other Evangelical Churches 5%</li> <li>Other 1.9%</li> <li>None 4.7%</li> <li>Unspecified 2.7% (2010 est.) <sup>99</sup></li> </ul>
Major migrant groups	Approximately 150,000 migrants, mainly from the State of Chiapas, travel annually to the southern border of Mexico, with the intention of reaching the United States. Most of these migrants are Central Americans, South Americans and, to a lesser extent, extra regional migrants from countries in Asia and Africa. <sup>100</sup>
Persons with disabilities	According to estimates presented by Mexican authorities to the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in 2014, some 6.6% of Mexico's population have some form of disability: 51% of them are elderly people, 34% are between the ages of 30-59,

	7% are between the ages 15-29, and 7% are children. Most of them live in poverty. <sup>101</sup>
Relevant legislation <sup>102</sup>	<ul> <li>Constitution of 1917 (2016 reform)</li> <li>Social Assistance Law 2004 (2014)</li> <li>Law of Religious Associations and Public Worship 1992 (2015 reform)</li> <li>Food Aid for Workers Law 2011</li> <li>Law of the National Commission of Human Rights 1992 (2014 reform)</li> <li>Law of the National Commission for the Development of Indigenous Peoples 2003 (2016 reform)</li> <li>Migration Law 2011 (2016 reform)</li> <li>Law of the Institute of Social Security and Services of state Workers 2007 (2016 reform)</li> <li>Law of the National Institute of Women 2001 (2015)</li> <li>Federal Law to Prevent and Eliminate Discrimination 2003 (2014 reform)</li> <li>General Law for Equality between Women and Men 2006 (2016 reform)</li> <li>General Law for the Inclusion of People with Disabilities 2011 (2015 reform)</li> </ul>
Responsible agencies	<ul> <li>Mexican Commission for the Defence and Promotion of Human Rights</li> <li>National Commission for the Development of Indigenous Peoples</li> <li>National Council for Preventing Discrimination (Conapred)</li> <li>National Indian Institute</li> <li>National Institute of Women (INMUJERES).</li> </ul>
Local NGOs addressing this issue <sup>103</sup>	<ul> <li>Amnesty International</li> <li>Association México Negro</li> <li>Human Rights Centre 'Fray Francisco de Vitoria OP'</li> <li>Frente Independiente de Pueblos Indios</li> <li>Hojarasca (journal of indigenous affairs)</li> </ul>

.

PODER

# **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

The Political Constitution of the United States of Mexico enshrines the mandate of nondiscrimination in Article 1, prohibiting in paragraph 5 "any discrimination based on ethnic or national origin, gender, age, disability, social conditions, health conditions, religion, opinions, sexual preferences, marital status or any other that violates human dignity and is intended to nullify or impair the rights and freedoms of individuals."<sup>104</sup>

On the other hand, the general legal regulatory framework in Mexico for the promotion of equality of opportunity and treatment is the Federal Law to Prevent and Eliminate Discrimination against any person under the terms of Article 1 of the Constitution, which prohibits discrimination based on ethnic or national origin, gender, age, disability, social status, health conditions, religion, opinions, sexual preferences, marital status or any other. This Law promotes equality of opportunity and treatment. It created the National Council for the Prevention of Discrimination (CONAPRED), which has the competence to investigate acts of discrimination committed by public officials.<sup>105</sup>

The Labour Chapter of the Trans-Pacific Economic Cooperation Agreement (TPP) signed by Mexico includes a section on eliminating discrimination in employment and occupation. According to data from CONAPRED, from 2010 to 2015, complaints of discrimination incressed to 51%, with an increase of 72% in individuals and 23% in public servants.<sup>106</sup>

### Afro-Descendants

According to data reported in 2016 by Minority Rights Group International, the majority of Mexico's population of African descent lives in the State of Veracruz or along the Pacific coastal region of the southern states of Oaxaca and Guerrero, otherwise known as the Costa Chica, where extreme poverty affects 50% of the population.<sup>107</sup> An inter-census survey undertaken in 2015 recognizes for the first-time Mexico's population of African descent, estimating it at 1.4 million people.<sup>108</sup>

While the Anti-Discrimination Law approved in 2005 does not explicitly acknowledge Afro-Mexicans, it was nevertheless designed to address discrimination against this group. Since then, the State of Oaxaca reportedly became the only government entity to officially recognize Afro-Mexicans as an ethnic group.<sup>109</sup> According to data from the Intercensus Survey of 2015 conducted by the Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI), according to its culture, history and traditions, 1.2% of the population is considered Afro-Mexican or Afro-Descendant. For this group, the overall fertility rate is 2.4 children per woman; 8 out of 10 are affiliated with health services, have an average schooling of 8.9 years and the percentage of illiteracy is 6.9%.<sup>110</sup>

Minority Rights Group International also reported in 2016 that most Afro-Mexicans live in in the poorest regions of Mexico, often in isolated rural communities with a lack of sanitation, health or education services. Also, the lack of infrastructure has reportedly made it difficult for Afro-Mexicans to sustain themselves economically. Today, their primary sources of income are fishing, agriculture (mostly for their own consumption) and domestic work.<sup>111</sup>

## **Religious Minorities**

The religious minorities in Mexico are Pentecostal 1.6%, Jehovah's Witnesses 1.4%, other Evangelical Churches 5%, other 1.9%, none 4.7%, unspecified 2.7% (2010 est.) <sup>112</sup>

According to the 2012 Report on International Religious Freedom, there are large Protestant communities in the southern states of Chiapas and Tabasco. In Chiapas, Protestant evangelical leaders state that nearly half of the State's 2.4 million inhabitants are members of evangelical groups, but less than 5% of the 2010 census respondents in Chiapas self-identified as evangelical. According to the 2010 census, the Jewish community amounts to approximately 67,500 people, some 42,000 of whom live in Mexico City and the State of Mexico. There are also small numbers of Jews in Morelos, Oaxaca, Puebla, and Veracruz. Nearly half of the country's approximately 4,000 Muslims are concentrated in Mexico City and the State of Mexico. A community of approximately 50,000 Mennonites is concentrated mostly in Chihuahua. Some indigenous persons in the tates of Chiapas, Oaxaca, and Yucatan adhere to a syncretic religion combining Catholic and pre-Hispanic Mayan beliefs. <sup>113</sup>

According to article 40 of the Mexican Constitution, as amended in the constitutional reform of March 2013, Mexico is a secular state. The constitution prohibits any form of discrimination, including on the basis of religion. The Law on Religious Associations and Public Worship of 1992, available also in eleven indigenous languages, defines administrative remedies, which protect the right to religious freedom and people who may be subject to discrimination because of their religious beliefs. Likewise, the Federal Law to Prevent and Eliminate Discrimination (2003) condemns religious discrimination and promotes equality of opportunity and treatment.<sup>114</sup>

In 2010, the National Survey on Discrimination in Mexico reported that in urban environments such as factories, companies, schools or private universities, questions of professed faith have been asked before granting or denying access to a job or educational institution. In addition, 1 out of 4 people belonging to a religion other than Catholic has felt that their rights have not been respected due to their religious beliefs. Thus, while 78% of the country's population claims to have never been discriminated against on religious grounds, the percentage drops to 68% among those who profess a religion other than Catholic.<sup>115</sup>

According to information collected in 2013 from CONAPRED, of those who had a religion other than Catholicism, at least 43% considered that their rights were not respected, including att work; 31.4% thought they had fewer options to find employment compared to the rest of the population; 40% said they received lower salaries than the rest, and in general, religious minorities question the official calendar, which does not include holiday days related to non-Catholic holidays. <sup>116</sup> In 2015, CONAPRED recorded that complaints of religious discrimination in the workplace doubled compared to the previous year, from 5 to 13 cases against individuals. <sup>117</sup>

## **Migrant Workers**

In addition to Mexico's Constitution, which establishes in article 11 the right of every person to enter, exit and travel within the territory of Mexico, the most relevant legislation concerning migration in Mexico includes the General Population Act and its regulations, the Citizenship Act, the regulations governing the Ministry of the Interior and the decree establishing the National Migration Service (NMS). These legal and policy instruments govern migration procedures, establish migrants' duties and the limits to their rights, but do not explicitly and exhaustively list the obligations of the Mexican State with regard to the protection of the human rights of migrants. Rather, these rights are regulated by secondary laws.<sup>118</sup>

Since Mexico is simultaneously a country of origin, a receiving country and a transit country of migrant workers, the situation for migrant workers and their families is complex. Some of the largest migratory flows in the world - many of them illegal - take place in Mexico. More than 90% of the identified migrant workers are Central Americans, mostly from El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras or Nicaragua. According to the International Organization for Migration (IOM), in 2015, 0.9% of the total population of Mexico consisted of immigrants. According to Amnesty International and other rights groups, during their passage through Mexico by the so-called "train of death" or simply "La Bestia (The Beast)", many of these migrants are kidnapped, raped and murdered by organised criminal gangs, sometimes reportedly in collusion with authorities. <sup>119</sup>

According to Unicef data, between one-third and half of migrant workers are members of indigenous groups, often without knowledge or with limited knowledge of Spanish. <sup>120</sup>

On the other hand, Unicef reported in 2016 that there were 11,667 repatriations of children from the US to Mexico, 84% of which were traveling without an adult. As for immigration to Mexico, 35,704 foreign children were registered by migration stations, mainly coming from Guatemala (48%), Honduras (28.3%) and El Salvador (21.3%).<sup>121</sup>

## Persons with Disabilities

Since 2011, the Mexican Constitution specifically prohibits any type of discrimination, including on the basis of disability and in the context of employment.<sup>122</sup> The Government has aimed to ensure a favourable environment and continued employment for persons with disabilities, and to provide them with access to scientific and technical knowledge. Strategies have also been

developed to employ people from marginalized groups of society, and to apply good labour practices and equality of opportunities for persons with disabilities in particular, for instance through setting up a quota system which aims to ensure that three per cent of positions in public service be set aside for persons for disabilities.<sup>123</sup>

The General Law for the Inclusion of Persons with Disabilities guarantees rights in the areas of health, labour, education, accessibility, public transport, communications, social development, data collection, sports, recreation, culture, tourism, freedom of expression, access to information and access to justice. In addition, the National Council for the Development and Inclusion of Persons with Disabilities (CONADIS) was established as the Government body responsible for state policy regarding disability.

In 2013, the National Programme for Labour and Employment of Persons with Disabilities was launched, aiming to provide persons with disabilities with decent work and training services. In 2015, only 25% of persons with disabilities were employed.<sup>124</sup>

In 2014, Mexican authorities reported to the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities that some 6.6 % of Mexico's population had some form of disability and most of them lived in poverty. <sup>125</sup> In its subsequent concluding observations on Mexico, the Committee expressed concern regarding the lack of up-to-date statistics on persons with disabilities in Mexico. <sup>126</sup> According to data from Global Disabilities Rights Now, in 2015 the major groups with disabilities were the following: mobility 45.33%, visual 26.01%, other 23.6%, auditory 15.7%, cognitive 16.13% and speech 4.87%.<sup>127</sup>

In this regard, in 2014, the United Nations Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities was concerned about the low employment rate of people with disabilities, especially intellectual and psychosocial disabilities, and the lack of coverage of development strategies and programs. The Committee was also concerned aboutthe lack of information on the working conditions of persons with disabilities who have access to employment; by the situation of greater discrimination faced by women and indigenous people with disabilities to access the labour market; by the absence of mechanisms to enforce the 3% labour market quota in the public sector in favour of persons with disabilities; and by the lack of regulation on the application of reasonable adjustments for people with disabilities in the labour sphere, both public and private.

## People Living with HIV/AIDS

Although article 1 of the Constitution and the Federal Law to Prevent and Eliminate Discrimination prohibit discrimination grounded on health conditions, in Mexico there is no specific law prohibiting discrimination against people affected by HIV. According to UNAIDS, the number of people living with HIV was estimated at 200,000 in 2015 (latest available data), which translates to 0.2% of the population between 15 and 49 years.<sup>129</sup>

Based on 2010 People Living with HIV (PLHIV) Stigma Index data, which measures the level of stigma and discrimination experienced by people living with HIV/AIDS, 80% of the population affected lives in towns or big cities. It also indicated that 13.2 % of the respondents had lost their Human Rights and Business Country Guide **Mexico** 21

job or source of income during the preceding 12 months, 24.3% of which cases were a direct result of HIV status, while HIV was a contributing factor in 20.8% of the cases. <sup>130</sup>

The same index further indicated that during the previous 12 months, 5.4% of respondents would have been denied an employment or a job opportunity due to their HIV condition and 6.7% of respondents had had their job description or nature of work changed, or had been refused job promotions as a result of having HIV. <sup>131</sup> In this sense, 1.4% of the respondents reported having their HIV-positive status disclosed to employers or co-workers without their consent. <sup>132</sup>

## Indigenous Peoples

In 1992, Mexico was recognized as a multicultural nation when article 6 of the Constitution was modified.<sup>133</sup> The government's National Indigenous Institute has offices throughout the country to facilitate consultation with indigenous communities.

The government has also ratified International Labour Organization (ILO) Convention No. 169 on the rights of Indigenous and Tribal Peoples. In addition, in 2007, Mexico voted in favour of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. <sup>134</sup>

Although the law recognizes indigenous rights, indigenous groups continuously report that the country's legal framework does not respect the property rights of indigenous communities nor prevent violations of human rights.<sup>135</sup>

In 2016, the International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs (IWGIA) reported that Mexico is the country with the largest indigenous population in the Americas, with 68 languages and 364 dialect variants registered. The National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI), the National Population Council (CONAPO) and the Economic Commission for Latin America (ECLAC) registered 16,933,283 indigenous people in Mexico in 2016 (distributed among 62 indigenous groups according to Minority Group<sup>136</sup>), representing 15.1% of the total number of Mexicans (112,236,538). In terms of population size, the National Council for the Evaluation of Social Development Policy (CONEVAL) recorded data indicating that slightly more than 8.7 million indigenous people lived in poverty or extreme poverty in 2016.<sup>137</sup>

In 2015, the U.S. Department of State reported that the majority of the indigenous population is concentrated in the southern and south-central region of Mexico. Almost 80% of those who speak an indigenous language live in 8 of Mexico's 31 states; in order of rank, these are Oaxaca (where 56% of the total population considers itself indigenous, divided in around 16 ethnic and linguistic groups, in addition to a small population of people of African descent.<sup>138</sup>), Chiapas, Veracruz, Puebla, Yucatan, Guerrero, Hidalgo and Mexico City. The five predominant languages spoken by indigenous people are Náhuatl, followed by Maya, Zapotec, Mixtec and Otomí (Mexican Statistics Bureau).<sup>139</sup>

UNESCO reported in 2011 that Indigenous Mexicans had an average of 4.6 schooling years compared to an average of 7.9 years among the non-indigenous population. The 2010 national census established that the illiteracy rate for indigenous people was about 27.2% while the

national average was 5.4%. Illiteracy rates are substantially higher among indigenous women (about 40%). Overall, 1/3 of the indigenous population was considered to be functionally illiterate.<sup>140</sup>

According to the latest Census of 2000, 53% of the indigenous-speaking population was employed in low-skilled activities, either as employees, service sector workers - construction workers - or as day labourers.<sup>141</sup>

On the other hand, according to the National Survey of Agricultural Labourers (ENJO) of 2009<sup>142</sup>, there are currently 2,040,414 agricultural labourers, of which 40% are indigenous, or 816,166 individuals. While the agro industrial zones are located in several regions of the country, there is a greater indigenous population in Sonora, Baja California, Baja California Sur, Sinaloa, Chihuahua, Tamaulipas, Durango, and Nayarit who works as agricultural labourers. Among the registered migrants are mixtecos, mixes, huastecos, zapotecos, tlapanecos, Nahuas, purépechas, triquis, totonacos, popolocas, tarahumaras, yaquis, mayos, coras and other groups. Among the population registered by the ENJO, 60% are children and adolescents, who work in agricultural areas; 10% have a trade and 30% are dedicated to domestic service. In addition, the same source notes that 90% of day labourers lack formal contracts, 48.3% earn three times the minimum wage, 37% earn two minimum wages, and 54% are exposed to agrochemical products on a daily basis.<sup>143</sup>

The Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) noted in 2012 the lack of access for indigenous women in rural areas to land, property and justice.<sup>144</sup>

### **Sexual Minorities**

The Mexican Constitution does not specifically prohibit discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity. However, the general ban on discrimination based on preferences of any kind may encompass discrimination based on sexual orientation.<sup>145</sup>

The Federal Law to Prevent and Eliminate Discrimination (2013) includes "sexual preferences" as a protected category. This law prohibits any "distinction, exclusion or restriction" based, inter alia, on sexual orientation that "has the effect of impeding or annulling the recognition or exercise of the rights and equality of all persons." <sup>146</sup>

Mexico became the second country in Latin America, after Ecuador, to provide antidiscrimination protection for lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people (LGBT)<sup>147</sup>. On 13 March 2004, amendments to the Mexico City Civil Code allowed transgender people to change the sex and name recorded in their birth certificates<sup>148</sup>, although there is no countrywide law allowing amendments to birth certificates and other identification documents.<sup>149</sup>

Despite these advances, LGBT persons continue to face discrimination and human rights violations based on their gender identity and sexual orientation. <sup>150</sup> LGBT persons face widespread employment discrimination in both the public and the private sector. The situation is especially troublesome for transgender persons, as gender identity is not a protected category in the anti-discrimination law. <sup>151</sup>

Legislation that outlaw's sexual orientation continues to exist. For example, the Penal Code of Tamaulipas, in its last reform of 2013, established that "(t)he offense of corruption of minors

and disabled is committed when seeking or facilitating a person under the age of eighteen years or who do not have capacity to understand the meaning of the act, to perform acts of corporal, lascivious or sexual exposition, or induce him by any means to begging, drunkenness, drug use, prostitution, *homosexuality*, to be part of a criminal association, or to commit any offense. "<sup>152</sup>

According to the Human Rights Commission of the Federal District (CDHDF), the workplace is where discrimination against members of the lesbian, gay, transsexual, transgender, transvestite and intersexual communities is exercised. This population is the second group to resort to complaints in the Council to Prevent and Eradicate Discrimination (CONAPRED), of which 15% are in the workplace, according to data from 2014.<sup>153</sup> In addition, CONAPRED, in its last survey (ENADIS 2010) revealed that a very large percentage of this community continues to be excluded from access to social security when they live in stable relationships with no legal relationship.<sup>154</sup>

### Women

The Mexican Constitution establishes under Article 4 that women and men are equal under the law. The 2007 General Law of Women's Access to a Life Free of Violence marked the creation of the Women National Institute (INMUJERES) aimed to address all issues regarding women's social, political and civil rights.<sup>155</sup>

The Mexican Standard for Work Equality between Men and Women of 2015 is a non-binding instrument that certifies public, social and private organizations that include a gender perspective in their employment practices. <sup>156</sup> According 2016 data from the Secretary of Labour and Social Security, 14 companies are certified to date, totalling 22,148 people, of which 10,090 are women and 12,058 are men. <sup>157</sup>

The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) reported in 2013 that there is a 99% female literacy rate between ages 15-24 years <sup>158</sup>. On the other hand, according to the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), in 2012 there were disparities in the literacy rate among women of all ages in urban areas (5.3%) and women in rural areas (18.2%), as well as the appreciable feminization of certain areas of education, such as teaching, and the low participation of girls in technical education, which in the long run entails gender segregation in the labour market and the low remuneration of women's employment. <sup>159</sup>

Mexico ranked 71 out of 145 states and score 0.699 (where 0 inequality, 1 equality), when it comes to economic participation and opportunities of women, according to the 2015 Global Gender Gap Index<sup>160</sup>.

According to the UNDP (2016), female labour participation is 30 percentage points lower than that of men, as a result of the inequality associated with traditional gender roles.<sup>161</sup> According to data from the National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI) in 2014, unpaid and care work was carried out mostly by women, contributing more than 75% of the hours allocated to these tasks at home.<sup>162</sup> The CEDAW reported in 2012 on the inequalities in the working conditions of domestic workers, 99% of whom were women, as they suffered from discrimination in wages, working hours and benefits.<sup>163</sup>

The Economic Commission for Latin America (ECLAC) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) indicated in 2013 that the average monthly labour income of women in Mexico, relative to men's income, fluctuated up to 84.4% for people between 15 and 24 years old and 67.2% for people over 55 years old. <sup>164</sup> In addition, a study from INEGI (2014) revealed that the degree of wage discrimination for women in Mexico fluctuated significantly according to the type of work. Thus, for example, the salary for women in industrial activities or as transport operators is 30% and 24% lower than that of men, respectively. While in activities such as traders, professionals, officials or clerks, the gap ranged between 17% and 10%. Finally, in agricultural, protection or surveillance activities or as educational workers, there does not appear to be any gap between the salaries of men and women. In the case of personal services, the gap favours women around 9%.<sup>165</sup>

The 2015 Global Gender Gap Index Report found that women spent an average of 373 minutes per day in unpaid work, compared to the 113 average of men. There is 28,5% of female parttime employments, versus 13,5% of male one.<sup>166</sup>Domestic work is also disproportionately biased against women. According to the National Survey on the Use of Time (ENUT) in 2014, women occupied, on average, 29.8 hours a week in tasks related to unpaid domestic work, while men spent an average of 9.7 hours to this end.<sup>167</sup>

In the first quarter of 2016, 14.81% of subordinate and paid female workers received income of up to a single general minimum wage or less, while in the case of men, the figure was 8.94%, which shows persistent inequalities. <sup>168</sup>

Effectively, according to the 2016 Human Development Report, an important feature of the labour market is the low rate of female participation. While the participation rate of men from 2005 to 2015 was over 80%, that of women did not exceed 50%, according to figures from the National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI). <sup>169</sup> According to the United Nations, two elements contribute to the low female participation in the labour market: low schooling of women in working age - less than men in Mexico - and the cost of child care. <sup>170</sup>

In 2014, Oxfam Mexico informed that 26% of the female active population reported labour discrimination. Also, more than the 50% of the food consumed in Mexico was produced by women but only 10% of women had access to the property of the land. <sup>171</sup>

According to the World Bank, in 2013 there was a 40% share of women in wage employment in non-agricultural sectors (industry and services).<sup>172</sup>Discrimination against women is also reflected in a low number of women in decision-making positions in both the public and private sectors. In 2016, the UN Working Group on Human Rights and Business noted that less than 5% of companies registered on the Mexican Stock Exchange had a female CEO. <sup>173</sup>

In 2012, the CEDAW reported discriminatory practices against women in the field of employment, such as subjecting pregnant women to difficult or dangerous working conditions to force them to give up employment. It also reported significant wage differentials between men and women and that 56.6% of the female working population worked in the informal sector and therefore had no access to social security benefits. <sup>174</sup>

Between 2011 and 2016, CONAPRED received 1,726 complaints filed by women, of which 73% referred to acts of labour discrimination or discrimination in the workplace. According to a *Human Rights and Business Country Guide* **Mexico** 25

recent report, 20% of women reported having been subjected to sexual harassment in the workplace, while 15% had been required by their employers to submit pregnancy tests. <sup>175</sup>

According to the CEDAW data in 2012, 3 out of 10 women had been victims of workplace violence, including sexual abuse and harassment. Also, the CEDAW also reported in 2014 that 45% of women working in the maquila industry suffered some type of abuse, most commonly due to a hostile work environment, sexual harassment, long work hours, low wages, and dismissal for pregnancy.<sup>176</sup>

With respect to maternity leave, the Federal Labour Law<sup>177</sup> establishes that paid maternity leave will have 12 weeks of duration, which is below the international standard of 14 weeks. It also establishes the right to a paid paternity leave for a duration of 5 working days.<sup>178</sup> In the Federal District, the Law of Substantive Equality between Men and Women establishes a paternity leave with a 15-day salary. While women can extend their leave for up to six months without salary, men cannot. This represents a potential workplace absence for maternity/paternity of about 12 times higher for women than for men. According to the UNDP, this situation encourages employers to give preference to hiring men.<sup>179</sup>

## Human Rights Defenders

According to a Civilian Observation Mission in 2014, there were concerning facts about attacks, threats and obstruction of the work of human rights defenders, both by government authorities (from the federal level to the municipal level), and by companies that were implementing megaprojects or opposing the labour demands of their workers, as well as armed actors outside the law or linked to organized crime.<sup>180</sup>

In 2016, the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights stated in their visit to Mexico that, between 2010 and 2012, 615 cases of attacks against human rights defenders were reported, including 36 murders.<sup>181</sup> In this regard, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in Mexico (OHCHR) indicated that aggressions included threats, arbitrary interference, harassment, arbitrary detention, murders, attacks, and forced disappearances. While the perpetrators remain unknown in most cases, preliminary evidence suggests that non-state actors are responsible for most attacks. Nonetheless, the participation, by act or omission, of public officials was identified in 23% of the recorded cases between 2010 and 2012.<sup>182</sup>

The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) reported in 2012 that some groups of human rights defenders faced particularly high levels of risk. These included female human rights defenders, as well as the defenders of labour rights, the rights of indigenous and rural communities and the rights of migrant workers, among others.<sup>183</sup>

According to a 2014 report of the National Network of Human Rights Civil Organizations "All Rights for All", private companies (national and transnational) were identified as directly or indirectly responsible for 104 attacks between 2011 and 2013. Among them are threats, harassment, surveillance, attacks on reputation and honour, and physical aggression in cases

related to mining, wind and labour rights. <sup>184</sup> Global Witness reported in 2014 the murder of three defenders of environmental and indigenous land rights. <sup>185</sup>

In addition, in 2014 an official of Services and Advices for Peace (SERAPAZ) stated that on some occasions, companies would have established agreements with organized crime groups, usually taking place with the implicit consent of the municipal authorities, which creates an oppressive and dangerous environment for all human rights defenders and activists.<sup>186</sup>

For the National Network of Human Rights Civil Organizations "All Rights for All", the defense of the rights of indigenous peoples occurs mainly in the states of Oaxaca, Guerrero, Chiapas, Chihuahua, Puebla and Michoacán. It is mostly related to land and territory issues, agrarian conflicts, natural resources (especially the right to water and the environment), labour rights, as well as privatization, economic projects and abuses committed by companies, whether they are local, national and parastatal, or transnational.<sup>187</sup>

The IACHR learned in 2015 of the arrests of indigenous leaders in Guerrero, Oaxaca, Chiapas, Quintana Roo, Sonora, Chihuahua and Puebla, among others, in connection with their activities in opposition to various megaprojects.<sup>188</sup>

In 2016, according to data from the Observatory for the Protection of Human Rights Defenders on the State of Mexico, there was an increasing number of repressive situations by municipal authorities against natural resource defenders, particularly in relation to projects such as the international airport of Mexico City, the Toluca-Naucalpan highway, various real estate developments and the municipalisation of public water administration in various places. <sup>189</sup>

# Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- *May 2016, Sin Embargo*: organizations and citizens that make up the Mission to observe the consultation of the Maya People on the planting of genetically modified soy, reported that during the first day there were confusions and irregularities such as lack of clear and precise information, lack of impartiality on the part of the authorities, pressure to force them to adhere to previously planned procedures, as well as conflicts of interest and poor translation work of their mother tongue. <sup>190</sup>
- March 2015, La Jornada: 200 farm workers from the Tarahumara mountains were rescued. They were victims of exploitation and were recruited to work for the company El Cerezo Sociedad Agricola Corporation. These people, including children and women, were taken to rural areas of Comondú municipality in Baja California Sur to work in inhumane conditions and were exposed to illness and illegally detained.<sup>191</sup>
- September 2014, Global Witness: two leaders of the indigenous Yaqui community in Sonora State were arrested, accused of 'illegal deprivation of liberty' and 'theft of a motor vehicle'. Both led a campaign to stop the construction of the Independence Aqueduct, which was

approved without the affected community's consent and directly threatened its water source, traditional culture and livelihoods linked to the Yaqui river. Amnesty International has claimed that their prosecution is based on a biased investigation to criminalize sections of the Yaqui community.<sup>192</sup>

- *May 2014, Red TDTD*: in Unión Hidalgo, Oaxaca, the population, mainly indigenous Zapotec, have suffered from threats, intimidation, surveillance and physical aggression due to their demands for dialogue directed at wind company Demex, a subsidiary of Spain's Renovalia Energy, to address environmental damage and human rights violations suffered as a result of their lease agreements with the company. The defenders have identified that these aggressions have been carried out by personnel hired by the company.<sup>193</sup>
- May 2014, Red TDTD: In "La Sierrita" Ejido where "La Platosa" mining project of Excellon Resources Inc. is located, defenders of ProDESC organization were harassed and defamed for their work of the defense of labour rights as well as of the mineral resources owned by ejidatarios. <sup>194</sup>
- March 2014, ILGA (International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association): The Secretary of Education decided to fine the private school, The Hills Institute of Monterrey, in the amount of 161 thousand pesos, considering a claim of discrimination when a 3-years-old child was expelled because of the mere fact of having two male parents. <sup>195</sup>

# **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development in the local context* 

## **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

- PepsiCo (2014): PepsiCo introduced a specific land policy in order to help protect the rights
  of indigenous peoples in their supply chain. To support its implementation, they committed
  to implementing a third-party audit program, based on available and accepted social,
  environmental and human rights standards. They committed to implementing audit
  programmes for their palm oil supply chain in Mexico by the end of 2016, or sooner if
  deemed possible. The assessments will include impacts related to land rights and will be
  conducted with the participation of affected communities.<sup>196</sup>
- Nestle (2012): Nestle has been recognised for an innovative scheme that has helped it recruit more disabled employees while increasing productivity at its call centre in Mexico. The programme, implemented between 2010 and 2011, saw Nestlé work with ParaLife Foundation to become the largest single employer of people with disabilities in Mexico over a one-year period. Today, one fifth of the company's employees at its call centre have some form of disability. The majority have been hired through the programme.<sup>197</sup>

 Hershey: Hershey's Manufacturing Apprenticeship Program was launched to provide opportunities for individuals with intellectual and physical disabilities. Participants perform the same work for the same pay—each subject to the same expectations as fellow employees. Started in 2012, the program has been implemented in 2014 in one plant in Mexico.<sup>198</sup>

### Stakeholders Recommendations

#### Project on Organizing, Development, Education, and Research (PODER)<sup>199</sup>:

• The users of protection mechanisms for human rights defenders and people at risk must participate in their improvement. For that to happen, it is crucial that civil society be involved in the process and its monitoring.

# "Workshop on Business and Human Rights for the Business and Human Rights Working Group of Mexico"<sup>200</sup>:

- To incorporate inclusion clauses in business policies.
- To provide job training for vulnerable groups to contribute to their job inclusion.
- To ensure accessibility for people with disabilities.

#### Letter of priority recommendations from civil society to the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights in the context of its official visit to the country in August/September 2016. 201

- Businesses are obliged to respect the collective rights of indigenous, tribal, Afrodescendant and comparable peoples in all activities, particularly as documented cases, in relation to extractive, large-scale projects, infrastructure, agro-industries and tourism, emphasizing the need to respect the right to prior consultation, free, prior and informed consent, and the right to autonomy of indigenous and similar peoples.
- Companies have an obligation to carry out due diligence in the field of human rights.
- Adopt effective specific measures of protection for human rights defenders, journalists and whistle-blowers inside and outside companies that may be at risk for participating in investigative processes for the delivery of justice.
- Any certification or corporate identity, such as that of a socially responsible company, must include the obligation of companies to respect human rights and rely on independent information generated by communities and peoples with respect to the company to be certified. In case of a violation of human rights, the removal of certification from the company should be considered.

#### Services and Advices for Peace<sup>202</sup>:

- Ensure that companies carry out evaluations not only of social and environmental impact but also of human rights, based on the highest international standards.
- No economic interest should be above human rights.
- Avoid undue influence by private sector actors whose primary interest in these processes is different from the objective of promoting and protecting human rights.

- Participate in the negotiations of the eventual human rights treaty to regulate transnational corporations and other businesses.
- Clarify the type of corporate conduct that will give rise to legal (civil, criminal and administrative) responsibilities, and in particular, develop the modalities in which transnational corporations and other companies can be held accountable, including in the case of complicity and in the case of parent companies for the offenses committed by their subsidiaries. The corporate legal responsibility should not exclude the legal responsibility of the management of the companies.
- To allow affected persons' access to legal remedies not only in their states of origin but also in all states that have jurisdiction over the companies involved.

#### Business & Human Rights Resource Centre<sup>203</sup>:

 Companies should recognize, by adopting a public stance, the importance of human rights defenders in democratic and inclusive development, and go as far as having a specific policy on human rights defenders that establishes clear guidelines for action in case of abuse.

## Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

#### Discrimination

Does the company ensure that employment-related decisions are based on relevant and objective criteria?

- The company identifies different types of discrimination, including those rooted in formal structures and cultural traditions.
- It is company policy to ensure that decisions concerning hiring, wages, promotion, training, discipline, retirement and termination are based only on unbiased criteria, and are not linked to any of the discriminatory characteristics listed in the description for this question.
- Each job category in the company has a written description stating the salary level and the qualifications required for that job category.

- The company ensures that employment advertisements do not reference discriminatory criteria, such as race, gender or age (unless listed as part of a legal equal opportunities promotion).
- The company ensures that job applicants are not asked to give information about their marital status, pregnancy, intent to have children, number of dependents, or similar information that may lead to discriminatory hiring decisions. In addition, the company will not perform any tests to verify the health of the candidates, whether of blood or of another type.
- All hiring managers receive training regarding the company's non-discrimination policies.
- The company has established a procedure, accessible and known to all workers, where workers can safely report incidents of workplace discrimination.
- The company takes reasonable steps to enable qualified persons with disabilities or health conditions to gain employment opportunities with the company, for example by providing wheel chair access, flexible working hours, longer breaks etc.

#### Fair Treatment

Does the company protect workers from workplace harassment including physical, verbal, sexual or psychological harassment, abuse, or threats?

- The company has a commitment to prevent workplace harassment.
- The company actively informs workers of their obligations to refrain from violent, threatening or abusive conduct.
- Managers receive training on how to identify and deal with instances of harassment in the workplace.
- The company investigates all complaints of workplace harassment and takes appropriate preventative and disciplinary action including reporting of criminal actions to the appropriate authorities.

Does the company respect the privacy of its employees whenever it gathers private information or monitors the workplace?

- The company has a procedure stating which kinds of workplace monitoring are allowed; what kind of personal worker information is retained; where it is stored; who has access; and why the information is necessary.
- Workers are made aware of all workplace monitoring, including cameras and Internet or e-mail monitoring, and the specific purpose of the monitoring.
- The company obtains the worker's prior written consent before gaining information from an individual with whom the worker has a privileged relationship, including a former employer, doctor or lawyer.
- Workers have access to all personal data collected about them, including data concerning disciplinary decisions and data obtained through monitoring, but excluding

confidential management specific information related to performance evaluations, salary negotiations, promotions, rotation and similar employment decisions.

• The company respects the working hours guaranteeing the right to the family of all the workers.

#### Community Engagement

Does the company engage with local communities on the actual or potential human rights impacts of its operations?

- The company has a commitment to engage openly with communities in and around its area of operations, prior to, during and after commencing activities that may negatively impact their access to resources (e.g. water, food, land) or livelihoods (e.g. fishing or hunting grounds).
- The company communicates and consults with local communities prior to, during and after commencing activities to prevent, reduce and mitigate impacts.
- The company takes steps to remedy the legitimate concerns of local communities regarding any negative impacts of the company's operations on the access to resources or livelihoods.

#### **Country Risk**

The company actively seeks information on human rights in the area where it operates.

- If operating in a country or region with systematic human rights abuses, the company seeks to become aware of and avoid the risk of contributing to, endorsing or benefiting from such abuses.
- Where the company risks involvement in systematic human rights abuses owing to government or societal practices, the company seeks to identify solutions through dialogue with other businesses, civil society organisations, experts and other relevant stakeholders, including where possible with the authorities.
- The company ensures that it does not endorse any state imposed discriminatory limitations on the right to vote, and does not pass along information concerning religious, racial, political affiliations or other characteristics of employees which could be used by the government as a reason to restrict the right to vote.

#### Standards & Guidance

NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre

 International Labour Organization - ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work (1998): It comprises four categories that states must respect, regardless of whether or not they ratify Conventions. These four categories are: (1) freedom of association, freedom of unionisation and effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining; 2) the elimination of forced or compulsory labour; (3) the abolition of child

labour; and (4) the elimination of discrimination regarding employment and occupation.  $_{\rm ^{204}}$ 

- UN Women and the UN Global Compact Women's Empowerment Principles (2010): It is a guide for businesses providing seven principles and is a set of principles for businesses offering guidance on how to empower women in the workplace, marketplace and community. <sup>205</sup>
- Oxfam Australia: Women, Communities and Mining: The Gender Impacts of Mining and the Role of Gender Impact Assessment (2009): This Guide is intended to inform mining company staff of potential gender impacts of mining projects and introduces some tools and approaches that can be used to conduct a gender impact assessment.<sup>206</sup>
- International Labour Organization: Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy. This declaration includes principles to promote employment, equal opportunities and treatment, professional training, work conditions and labour relations, among others.<sup>207</sup>
- United Nations Sub-Commission Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises in the Field of Human Rights (2003). It urges respect for and promotion of human rights by transnational corporations and other commercial enterprises. It also advocates respect for the right to equality and nondiscrimination and respect for the rights of workers. <sup>208</sup>
- OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011): The OECD Guidelines are recommendations addressed by governments to multinational enterprises operating in or from adhering countries. Among the general principles are those in human rights, employment and industrial relations.<sup>209</sup>
- IFC Performance Standard 7: Indigenous Peoples: The IFC PS7 and its accompanying guidance offer directions on how private sector projects can respect the human rights of Indigenous Peoples through following the stated requirements.
- International Council on Mining and Metals Good Practice Guide: Indigenous Peoples and Mining (2010): The Guidance provides advice to companies on how they can build effective relationships with Indigenous Peoples, as well outlining ways in which companies can effectively engage throughout the lifecycle of a project.
- The Manila Declaration of the International Conference on Extractive Industries and Indigenous Peoples (2009): The Declaration is a statement on behalf of Indigenous Peoples and support organisations from 35 countries that calls on different stakeholder groups, such as extractive companies, communities and civil society organisations, to respect and uphold the recognised rights of Indigenous Peoples.

# Child Labour

*Work that interferes with the health, development, education or family life of persons under 18.* 

Operating Environment		
	Country	Region
Net Enrolment Ratio in Primary Education (% both sexes)	Legatum Prosperity Index 2015: 96% of net Enrolment Ratio in Primary Education <sup>210.</sup>	70.5% (global average)
Percentage of pupils starting grade 1 and reaching last grade of primary	94% (2008) <sup>211</sup>	N/A
One-year-old children immunised against measles (%)	11% (2013) <sup>212</sup>	8% <sup>213</sup>
Mortality rate of children under 5 years old (per 1,000 live births)	14.5% (2013) <sup>214</sup>	17.9% <sup>215</sup>
Poverty, social security and food access	21.4 million children and adults live in poverty, 4.6 million of them in extreme poverty. 62.6% suffer from lack of social security, and 27.6% lack access to food. <sup>216</sup>	
Percentage of population below the age of 14	28% <sup>217</sup> (country)	
Legatum Prosperity Index: Education	87 <sup>218</sup>	

#### Labour Standards **Child Labour**

Work restrictions forchildren under the age of 18	<ul> <li>Persons above 15 and less than 16 shall have a maximum workday of six hours.</li> <li>The Federal Labour Law provides that children under sixteen may not engage in unhealthy or hazardous work or in industrial night work.</li> <li>Children between the ages of 15 and 16 must obtain a medical certificate indicating their fitness to work.</li> </ul>
Minimum age of employment	• Article 123 of the Constitution prohibits the work of children and adolescents under 15 years of age.
End of compulsory education	• Article 3 of the Constitution establishes the compulsory nature of basic and higher education.

Relevant Legislation <sup>219</sup>	<ul> <li>Constitution</li> <li>Federal Civil Code</li> <li>Federal Code of Civil Procedures</li> <li>Federal Ciminal Code</li> <li>Federal Labour Law (LFT)</li> <li>Federal Law to Eliminate and Prevent Discrimination</li> <li>General Law on the Rights of Children and Adolescents (LGDNA) and its Regulations</li> <li>General Law for the Provision of Services for Attention, City and Integral Child Development</li> <li>General Health Law</li> <li>General Education Law</li> <li>General Law to Prevent, Punish, and Eradicate Crimes in the Area of Trafficking in Persons and to Protect and Assist Victims of these Crimes</li> <li>Law for the Treatment of Young Offenders, for the Federal District in Common Matters and for the whole Republic in Federal Matters</li> <li>Law on Refugees, Complementary Protection and Political Asylum</li> <li>United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples</li> <li>Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999, ratified in 2000</li> <li>ILO Convention on the Minimum Age (1973), ratified in 2015 <sup>220</sup></li> </ul>
Responsible ministries	<ul> <li>National Institute for the Evaluation of Education</li> <li>National Population Council</li> <li>Secretary of Labour and Social Prevision</li> </ul>
Local NGOs addressing this issue	<ul> <li>National Integral Family Development)</li> <li>UNICEF</li> <li>IPEC (International Program for the Eradication of Child Labour)</li> </ul>

# **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.
The maximum legislation on child labour is found in article 123 of the Constitution, which was reformed following the ratification of ILO Convention No. 138 (1973) on the minimum age for admission to employment, rising the minimum age for admission to employment from 14 to 15 years. Those over this age and under 16 will have six-hour work days as maximum. It applies to all types of employment contracts, without distinction of age or sex, and therefore applies to the work of children and adolescents with qualifications relating to: <sup>221</sup>

a. Age: It prohibits the work of children and adolescents under 15 years of age.

b. Special conditions of employment for minors: Established for adolescents 15-16 years of age.

c. Work Day: It reduces the ordinary day to 6 hours in general and prohibits the extraordinary workday, night industrial work and all activities after 10 pm.

d. Health: It prohibits adolescents between the ages of 15 and 16 from engaging in unhealthy and dangerous activities. Some prohibitions are up to 17 years of age.

Children between the ages of 15 and 16 can work under certain circumstances. They must have completed their compulsory education, except in cases authorized by the Conciliation and Arbitration Board.<sup>222</sup> The Federal Labour Law allows the work of children over 15 years of age provided that certain requirements that protect the rights of the child are met. This work is subject to the special surveillance and protection of federal and local labour authorities. Those over 15 and under 18 years of age must obtain a medical certificate attesting their fitness for work and undergoing medical examinations that are periodically ordered by the corresponding labour authorities. Without these requirements, no employer can use their services.<sup>223</sup>

According to national statistics (data from 2015), some 2.48 million boys and girls in Mexico participated in an economic activity, of which more than 1 million (41.1%) were under 15 years old and 900 000 (36%) did not attend school. The National Development Plan (2013-2018) includes the elimination of child labour as an objective of its policy.

Regarding the 2.48 million children mentioned above, Unicef reported in 2016 that 25% did so to help their families financially. Of these, 981,353 (70% women, 30% men) did not attend school and were exclusively engaged in household tasks.<sup>224</sup>

In 2013, an Intersecretarial Commission for the Prevention and Eradication of Child Labour and the Protection of Permitted-Age Adolescent Workers in Mexico was established. Its purpose is the coordination of Federal Public Administration bodies in the design, implementation and evaluation of policies, programs and actions in the prevention and eradication of child labour and for the protection of working adolescents with the legal age to work, based on the applicable regulations.<sup>225</sup>

However, according to the International Labour Organization (ILO), in 2014 there was not a comprehensive policy in the country to prevent and eradicate child labour at the federal or state level. Only in the case of the State of Michoacan was there a broad policy framework called the State Program for the Elimination of Child Labour (PEETI) (Michoacan State Government, 2007), which, however, has not yet been implemented.<sup>226</sup>

On the other hand, companies do not have the obligation to carry out due diligence analyses to confirm that the rights of children and adolescents are effectively protected and respected. Companies report on an optional basis the actions they take to prevent any violation of children's rights.<sup>227</sup>

#### Labour Standards Child Labour

In 2015, the US Department of State reported that with regard to inspections at the federal level, the Secretariat for Social Development, the Attorney General of the Republic, and the National System for Integral Family Development had the responsibility of enforcing of some aspects of child labour laws or to intervene in cases where such laws were violated. The Secretary of Labour and Social Security (STPS) is responsible for carrying out child labour inspections. Penalties for violations range from 16,780 pesos (\$1,000) to 335,850 pesos (\$20,000) but were not sufficiently enforced to deter violations. <sup>228</sup>

According to Save The Children, although at the federal level Mexico is recognized as being quite progressive in ratifying and integrating the International Human Rights Framework to its own legal framework, there are significant gaps in implementation, reportedly due to a lack of clarity in the coordination between government agencies, leaving marginalized groups exposed to violations. Amongst these groups, children are particularly at risk of being subject to adverse human rights impacts by business.<sup>229</sup>

In addition, the Autonomous University of Mexico reported in 2016 that there were 1,150 million children working without salary. <sup>230</sup> In this sense, the Social Committee against the exploitation of Children and Adolescents denounced in 2015 that about 400 000 girls, boys and adolescents work for pay or no pay in Mexico, and about 300,000 work in conditions that risk their health and physical, mental and emotional integrity, as well as their development.<sup>231</sup>

According to the World Bank, there are almost twice as many children in the countryside that work than in the city. Also, more of them work in states like Guerrero, in the South, (where 12% of 6 to 13 years-old children work), than in Chihuahua, in the North (where only 1.4% of children work). The older the child becomes, the more likely he or she is to drop out of school and start working.<sup>232</sup>

#### Worst Forms of Child Labour

The Law on the Protection of the Rights of Children and Adolescents (2000) recognizes the right of children and young persons to be protected against any acts or omissions affecting their physical or mental health, their normal development, or their right to education, including neglect; negligent treatment; abandonment; emotional, physical, or sexual abuse; exploitation; the use of drugs and narcotics; abduction; and trafficking. This law also provides that mothers, fathers, and anyone having custody of children must protect them against any form of ill treatment, prejudice, harm, aggression, abuse, trafficking, and exploitation.<sup>233</sup>

The US Department of State 2015 Mexico Country Report declared that Government labour law enforcement on child labour was reasonably effective at large and medium-sized companies, especially in the maquila and other industries under federal jurisdiction. Enforcement was inadequate at many small companies and in the agriculture and construction sectors, and it was nearly absent in the informal sector in which most children worked. During 2015, the Secretary of Labour and Social Security (STPS), the Secretary of Social Development, and the National System for Integral Family Development (DIF) carried out programs to prevent child labour abuses and promote child labour rights, including specific efforts to combat the commercial sexual exploitation of children.<sup>234</sup>

Mexico's National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI) reported in 2013 that nearly half of all child labourers in Mexico, or 45.9%, received no pay for their work: 5 out of 10 girls, boys

and adolescents working receive no income, which amounts to 1.165 million children earning no type of salary for their work. Another 719,000 child labourers received the minimum wage of 2,200 pesos a month (some 120 U.S. dollars) or less. In total, more than 2.5 million children in Mexico between the ages of five and 17 worked either to contribute to the household income, or to pay for their schooling or their own expenses. A total of 30.5% of child labourers worked in the agricultural sector, followed by the trade and services industry. <sup>235</sup> In 2012, UNICEF reported that 44% of farmer families had at least one child working. <sup>236</sup>

According to the ILO, in 2014 the majority of the employed child population worked in the services and trade sector (52%), then in agriculture, in the manufacturing industry, and in construction. Girls' participation was especially relevant in trade and services, while boys were more involved in the agricultural and construction sectors.<sup>237</sup> The ILO also reported that in urban areas, child labour includes work in trade and services, and in construction.<sup>238</sup>

Moreover, the study also mentioned that working as agricultural labourers in rural areas is considered a dangerous form of work that exposes children to heavy work, in extreme climate conditions, with strenuous work days, using dangerous tools, exposing them to biological and chemical risks, as well as situations of violence and mistreatment, among others. It is estimated that 711,688 children and adolescents from 5 to 17 years from agricultural labour families work. Of these, 443,516 do so as agricultural labourers; 59,970 work as rural farmers, cattle ranchers, merchants, workers, artisans, masons or in some trade; and 30.7% carries out unpaid activities, mainly at home.<sup>239</sup>

#### Education

The Constitution establishes the obligation of basic education - consisting of pre-school, primary and secondary education - and upper secondary school.<sup>240</sup> Article 4 of the General Education Law states that all the inhabitants of the country must attend pre-school, primary and secondary education.<sup>241</sup>

Mexico has ratified the ILO Convention n.138, which establishes 15 years as the minimum age to work.<sup>242</sup> In this sense, the Federal Labour Law stipulates that the work of persons over 15 years of age who have not completed their compulsory basic education may not be used, except in cases approved by the corresponding labour authority, assessed on the basis of whether the studies and the job are compatible.

According to the 2013 Child Labour Module of the National Survey of Occupation and Employment (ENOE), in total, 2.1 million children in Mexico do not attend school, a figure that represents 7.2% of the population aged 5 to 17 years.<sup>243</sup>

Unicef revealed in 2015 that 1 out of 5 children in Mexico works to pay for school. <sup>244</sup> The UNDP observed in 2016 that an immediate central cause of school dropout was the need to work. Three million children between 12 and 17 years of age work more than 20 hours. The subsequent cause is poverty, since each year of schooling increases the labour remuneration between 8.2% and 8.4% and to conclude higher education represents a 82.5% increase in income than just having attended secondary education. Another reason for abandonment is the lack of relevance for working life in what is learned in school. <sup>245</sup>

According to ILO data from 2011, regarding agricultural workers in particular, 39.5% of child labourers were illiterate, and a similar proportion (37.5%) had never attended school. 60% had a lower than basic education: one third had been between 1 and 5 years of primary education, 9% finished primary and 15.8% finished secondary school.<sup>246</sup>

In this line, Unicef reported in 2016 that although 96.2% of children between the ages of 6 and 14 attended school, 11.82% of children in rural areas did not know how to read and write. <sup>247</sup>

## Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- April 2016, Revolución Tres Punto Cero: A 10-year-old boy working for a self-service store called Super Willys, in the municipality of Bacalar, was gagged by a *diablito de carga* "for not doing things right", by the shop manager. The Human Rights Commission of the State of Quintana Roo ordered the initiation of a circumstantial act because only the ex officio complaint is processed when the accused are authorities, not companies. <sup>248</sup>
- August 2015, International Business Times: Over 60 children found working at a vegetable packing factory in the northern State of Coahuila. Mexican authorities have found 63 children between the ages of 8 and 17 working long hours in oppressive conditions. Officials reportedly said that the minors alleged they only received half a day off in a week and were paid 100 pesos (about \$6) a day, a little above the minimum wage of about 70 pesos. The minors also said that they were only given two meals a day and were forced to sleep on thin mats in the property near Ramos Arizpe, southwest of the city of Monterrey. The minors reportedly worked alongside several dozen adults.<sup>249</sup>
- August 2015, US Department of State: The Coahuila state government rescued 78 child labourers, some as young as 8, from a farm near Ramos Arizpe. The state indicted 4 defendants under labour trafficking charges in the case, which also involved 228 adult victims. The victims reportedly worked at least nine hours daily, received insufficient food, and were forced to live in unhygienic conditions.<sup>250</sup>
- June 2014, El Milenio: Four people were sentenced to four years and six months in prison for forcing ten children aged between 7 and 17 years to work and beg in the town of Texcoco.<sup>251</sup>

## **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

#### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

- Oxfam (2015):"Behind the Brands" initiative, designed to expose and inform on cases of working women, mothers and children and the impacts this has on this group. <sup>252</sup> Oxfam's campaign focuses on 10 of the world's most powerful food and beverage companies: Associated British Foods (ABF), Coca-Cola, Danone, General Mills, Kellogg, Mars, Mondelez International (previously Kraft Foods), Nestlé, PepsiCo and Unilever. <sup>253</sup>
- Levi Strauss & Company (Appleseed Foundation): Program to Improve Worker Wellbeing, a short and long term initiative that the company has implemented at a global level, which consists of improving worker conditions both in the company and at home, its main objective always being to improve the conditions and opportunities of the workers and their families. This is achieved through internal policies that seek to promote a work environment of communication and integration, as well as responsibilities that the company imposes its members and distributors of their products with respect to their duty to protect the rights of its workers. Internal surveys are also implemented to know and monitor the conditions of their workers.<sup>254</sup>
- **Fundación Telefónica:** ProNiño is a program that offers opportunities to improve the life project of the most vulnerable children in Latin America through programs for education that seek to achieve the withdrawal of child labour through school retention and others, so that retreat is possible in view of the conditions of the minor's environment and the satisfaction of his or her basic needs. The program offers a variety of activities for children, parents and schools to help children from 9 to 16 years of age who attend school and work or who are at social risk and vulnerable to economic exploitation.<sup>255</sup>
- *Mexican business sector:* in 2014, the State Business Network against Child Labour was integrated by companies that form part of the Council of Chambers and Business Associations of the state. The network would seek to carry out actions to raise awareness, train its workers, in addition to granting scholarships to students of scarce resources and to recover from work centres children who have left their studies to work. Companies would also undertake not to hire other companies or service providers who had minors in their ranks.<sup>256</sup>
- The National Chamber of the Bakery and Related Industry of Mexico (CANAINPA) and the National Chamber of the Sugar and Alcohol Industry (CNIAA): signed an agreement to promote and develop actions in the prevention and eradication of child labour in both industries; the goal of the agreement is that all joint ventures in both chambers incorporate measures to prevent and eradicate child labour, based on principles of co-responsibility in the value chain, i.e. from the field to the factory.<sup>257</sup>
- **Sugarcane Agrobusiness:** in 2013 it launched a National Action Plan to Prevent and Eradicate Child Labour of children under the age of 14, to prevent and combat hazardous work for people under the age of 18, and to protect the well being and rights of working adolescents between the ages of 14 and 17. To this end, the sector will implement actions to strengthen its normative framework, sensitize its members on the issue and its effects, generate and share information for decision-making on prevention and eradication of child labour, and strengthen the management capacities of agroindustry actors and its value chain against these problems and to improve the living and working conditions for adult cane cutters that will allow them to increase their productivity and improve their income.<sup>258</sup>

#### Stakeholder Recommendations

**Unicef México**<sup>259</sup>: Recommends that companies located in Mexico be governed by the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, which include the protection of the rights of the child.

#### Save the Children<sup>260</sup>:

Recommends that the Mexican Government develop a Mexican Child Protection System while simultaneously strengthening its Social Protection system in order to permit the conditions whereby the under-15-age limit to employment can be implemented without persecuting marginalized children and their families, whose living conditions require them to work in order to improve the dignity with which they live. Otherwise, the prohibition of under-14 working conditions will force children to hide their labour activities and expose them to greater risks of exploitation, instead of improving their living conditions.

#### Unicef, Guide for Business <sup>261</sup>:

- It is recommended that companies commit themselves to the Rights of the Child in their policies, based on the recommendations of the Business Principles and Rights of the Child Framework.
- It is recommended that all state-owned enterprises exercise due diligence with regard to the rights of the child and publicly communicate their reports on the impact of their operations on the rights of the child, including periodic reporting. States should condition public support and services, such as those offered by export credit institutions, development finance and investment insurance, to enable enterprises to exercise due diligence with regard to the rights of the child.<sup>262</sup>
- It is recommended that large companies publicize their efforts to address the effects of their operations on children's rights. Such information should be available, be efficient and comparable between enterprises and include measures taken by companies to mitigate the potential and actual negative effects of their operations on children.
- Companies should publish measures taken to ensure that the goods and services they
  produce or market do not lead to serious violations of children's rights, such as slavery
  or forced labour. Where reporting is mandatory, States should put in place monitoring
  and verification mechanisms to ensure compliance. States can support reporting by
  creating tools to set benchmarks and recognize good performance with regard to the
  rights of the child.<sup>263</sup>
- It is recommended to use the Business Principles and Rights of the Child methodology for the impact assessments on the rights of the child.<sup>264</sup>
- It is recommended that companies report their impacts on the Rights of Children with the tool developed within the framework of the Business Principles and Rights of the Child.<sup>265</sup>

## UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Business and Human Rights Program, Mexico 2016<sup>266</sup>:

- Government and Business must work together:
  - In the development and implementation of clear strategies to eradicate child labour.
  - To push for the work of young people from 15 to 18 years always to be complementary to their studies.
- Businesses should advocate, including with industry peers, local NGOs, and municipal governments on the importance of investing in child protection systems and education to ensure the sustainability of the local tourism sector.
- Businesses should support initiatives related to the state and municipal child protection system to eliminate child labour.
- Businesses should consider partnering with secondary schools and technical colleges to offer students, including adolescents from disadvantaged communities, vocational training courses in a career in their industry.
- Instead of excluding children aged 15-17 from hiring, companies should collaborate with local schools and technical colleges to expand vocational training for young people – especially disadvantaged communities – enabling them to acquire skills and knowledge needed to compete in the job market while completing their formal education. It is also recommended to encourage the use of internships for young people attending the upper secondary level.
- Industry must actively support government efforts to eliminate poverty and other root causes of forced and child labour.
- Businesses are encouraged to interact with local actors to develop an understanding of the hazards related to child labour and forced labour in the local context, including which children are working, why and in which jobs.
- Businesses should develop a responsible supply chain management approach that includes:
  - Building internal capacity to identify and manage supply chain and trade-related risks, including training in labour and children's rights for development and procurement specialists at central and local levels. This could include a checklist and an escalation process.
  - The development of a Code of Conduct for Suppliers that requires suppliers to comply with international human rights standards, including the rights of the child.
  - The promotion of procurement practices to support suppliers in meeting the expectations of the Code of Conduct; this includes minimizing urgent orders that can lead to labour violations including excessive overtime and the development of policies to mitigate risk in cases where urgent orders are required.
  - Through risk assessment, identification of suppliers with a high risk of potential or actual impacts on human rights, including risks related to child labour and forced labour.
- Companies can support and strengthen the capacity of providers to respect international labour standards through:

 Carrying out or supporting training and awareness raising on the risks of child and forced labour. Provide business incentives to suppliers for improvements in social performance, such as price, volume, duration and preferred supplier status.

## Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

#### **Child Labour**

Does the company comply with minimum age labour standards?

- The company does not employ workers under 15 years of age for full-time work, 13 years of age for light work and 18 years of age for hazardous work (please see the question description for exceptions).
- If the company employs minors below the age of 18, the company has a list of job functions that can safely be performed by minors.
- The company is aware of local age-levels for completion of compulsory education and does not employ workers under that age for work that may interfere with such education.
- The company has a reliable procedure to check the age of young job candidates by birth certificate, other official forms of identification, or by alternative means such as physical appearance or knowledge of historic events.
- Company apprenticeship programmes do not constitute the main portion of the workforce, are limited in duration, are performed in conjunction with a school programme (or supervised by Labour Ministers or Labour Organisations), and do not interfere with the child's compulsory education.
- If the company becomes aware that it is employing young workers below minimum age, it ensures that they are enrolled in an education programme, and that their dependents are compensated for the resulting loss of income.

#### **Standards & Guidance**

NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre.

• Children's Rights and Business Principles (2012): Developed by UNICEF, UN Global Compact and Save the Children, these Principles are the first comprehensive set of

#### Labour Standards Child Labour

principles to guide companies on the full range of actions that they can take in the workplace, marketplace and community to respect and support children's rights.<sup>267</sup>

- UN Committee on the Rights of the Child General Comment No.16 on state obligations regarding the impact of the business sector on children's rights (2013): The Committee is the body of independent experts that monitors the implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Optional Protocols. In April 2013, the Committee issued a general comment on business and children's rights. The objective of General Comment No.16 is to provide states parties with a framework for implementing the CRC, particularly with regard to the business sector. <sup>268</sup>
- ILO Convention No. 182 on the worst forms of child labour (1999)<sup>269</sup>: This calls for priority action for the elimination of child labour. On the other hand, Convention No. 183 on the minimum age for admission to work also establishes guidelines to prevent children from becoming involved in the labour market at an early age.<sup>270</sup>
- Danish Institute of Human Rights and UNICEF Children's Rights an Impact Study a tool for companies (2013): It is a practical tool that aims to help companies to identify and manage their impacts on rights of children. The checklist contains a set of questions and indicators that cover the 10 Business Principles and Rights of the Child, in order to address the different aspects of business policies, their operations and the impact they have on children's rights.<sup>271</sup>

## Forced Labour

Debt bondage, human trafficking or other coercion that makes workers unable to freely leave employment

Operating Environment				
U.S. Department of Labour Trafficking in Persons: Tier Placement	Tier 2 (2016) <sup>272</sup>			
Relevant legislation	<ul> <li>Constitution</li> <li>Federal Labour Law 1970, amended in 2012</li> <li>Law to prevent, punish and eradicate crimes related to trafficking in persons and to protect and assist the victims of these crimes, 2012</li> </ul>			
Responsible agencies	<ul> <li>Ministry of Labour</li> <li>The Executive Commission for the Attention to Victims (CEAV)</li> <li>The Special Prosecutor's Office for Violence Against Women and Trafficking in Persons (FEVIMTRA)</li> <li>National Institute for Migration (INM)</li> <li>The Interagency Anti-Trafficking Commission</li> <li>The National Human Rights Commission</li> </ul>			
Local NGOs addressing this issue	• UNICEF			

## **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

Forced labour and slavery are prohibited by the Constitution<sup>273</sup> and, by law, no worker (national or foreign) can be subjected to inhuman treatment. Forced labour can be punished with imprisonment ranging from 10 to 20 years, along with 5,000 to 50,000 days of wages.<sup>274</sup>

According to the US Department of State's Report on Human Rights Practices, women and migrants (including men, women and children) were the most vulnerable to forced labour in 2015, particularly in the agricultural, industrial and informal sectors.<sup>275</sup>

The legislative framework regulates that the maximum working day is 8 hours per day and 48 per week for day workers; 7 hours a day and 42 a week for night workers; while 7.5 hours a day and 45 hours a week for the mixed shift (day and night). The working day can extend beyond normal in daytime and weekly, however, this extension should not be more than 3 hours a day and three times a week, which means 9 hours a week.<sup>276</sup>

According to the US Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016, victims of forced labour are typically lured by fraudulent labour recruiters, deceptive offers of romantic relationships, or extortion, including through the retention of identity documents, threats to notify immigration officials of victims' immigration status, or threats to harm family members.

The US Department of State reported in 2014 that Mexican men, women, and children were exploited in forced labour in agriculture, domestic service, manufacturing, food processing, construction, forced begging, the informal economy, and street vending in Mexico and the United States.<sup>278</sup>

The 2015 Global Slavery Index stated that low, semi and unskilled, domestic and foreign labourers were at risk of forced labour in Mexico within the agricultural sector, particularly in maize harvesting, tomato fields, tomato processing plants and other plantations such as chilli pepper, cucumber and eggplant in 18 states.<sup>279</sup>

On the other hand, the 2016 Global Slavery Index stated that forced labour was also prevalent in the mining sector, with the coal and silver industries accounting for the poor labour conditions of men, women and children in Mexico. The vast majority of foreign victims of forced labour are from Central and South America. Victims from the Caribbean, Eastern Europe, Asia, and Africa have also been identified in Mexico, some en route to the United States. <sup>280</sup> There are also reports of modern slavery in the garment sector.<sup>281</sup>

The abovementioned Index estimated that 376,800 people or 0.30% of the total population live in conditions of modern slavery in Mexico.<sup>282</sup> Victims of modern slavery in Mexico are primarily Mexicans themselves or citizens of Central and South American countries. There have been some isolated cases of victims from Eastern European countries, Asia and Africa. By some estimates, 70% of modern slavery cases in Mexico are related to organised crime groups. The various cartels commit kidnappings for forced prostitution and forced labour across all age groups. Groups with increased vulnerability include women and children, indigenous people, the disabled, migrants and LGBTQ. <sup>283</sup>

In this sense, in 2013 Insight Crime informed that interviews with Proceso, victims' relatives, human rights ombudsmen, religious leaders, and NGOs described prisoners across Mexico

being forced to work in a vast variety of ways in horrendous conditions under threat of death. According to civil society organizations, "jobs" include forced killings, preparing marijuana, constructing tunnels, cleaning safe houses, preparing food, installing communications equipment, and acting as lookouts or sex slaves.<sup>284</sup>

The Global Slavery Index also reported in 2014 that migrants that reach the border of Mexico and the USA remain vulnerable to *coyotes* and *polleros* or border 'guides' who may elect to sell them into slavery or hold them in debt bondage once they have entered the United States.<sup>285</sup>

#### Trafficking

The general anti-trafficking Law of 2012 prohibits all forms of human trafficking, prescribing penalties ranging from 5 to 30 years' imprisonment. These penalties are sufficiently stringent and commensurate with those prescribed for other serious crimes, such as rape. However, in contrast to the international definition, the law establishes the use of force, fraud, and coercion as aggravating factors rather than essential elements of the crime.<sup>286</sup>

The US Department of State's 2016 Report on Trafficking in Persons reported that 24 out of 31 states had state-level anti-trafficking committees, of which 12 were launched or reconfigured in 2014, and which varied in effectiveness. Also, in 2016 authorities initiated 250 federal and 415 state investigations and detained 674 individuals.<sup>287</sup>

According to the 2015 Global Slavery Index, the government did not report the number of trafficking prosecutions or convictions in 2014. According to the press, sentences ranged from 15 years to 58 years of imprisonment. However, it was unclear how many of these convictions were for trafficking crimes as defined by international law, and officials did not report the lengths of sentences. Approximately 2% of trafficking cases resulted in conviction, a rate consistent with conviction rates for other crimes in Mexico. <sup>288</sup>

International standards obligate states to have a dedicated human trafficking prosecutor, but the 2016 US Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons reported that many states lack funding to employ one. Some officials' lack of understanding of trafficking led to their trial of cases as more minor offenses or to the acquittal of traffickers.<sup>289</sup>

In 2015, the government reported identifying 1,814 trafficking victims; 784 for commercial sex, 470 for forced labour, 382 for forced begging, and 17 for forced criminality, and 161 were unspecified. <sup>290</sup> Groups considered most vulnerable to human trafficking in Mexico include women, children, indigenous persons, persons with mental and physical disabilities, migrants, and LGBTI individuals.<sup>291</sup>

According to the US 2016 Trafficking in Persons Report, while immigration agents reportedly used a lengthy human rights questionnaire to identify potential trafficking victims, and some government institutions had informal victim referral procedures, most officials lacked clear guidelines for identifying and referring victims to services. NGOs questioned the government's ability to accurately identify trafficking victims among vulnerable populations, such as migrant workers and persons in prostitution.<sup>292</sup>

The Mexican government reported convicting 86 traffickers in 2015, including some for forced labour.<sup>293</sup>

Mexico's National Programme for the Prevention, Punishment and Eradication of Crimes on Trafficking in Persons and the Protection and Assistance to Victims 2014-2018 could reduce trafficking, but no funds were allocated to execute the plan. In 2016, the Global Slavery Index reported that national activists informed that only half of Mexico's states are performing prevention and prosecution, leaving significant gaps in victim protection.<sup>294</sup>

## Cases

Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.

- August 2015, El Siglo Coahuila: employees of the Prokarne company face human trafficking charges in the form of labour exploitation, of more than 300 labourers and at least 50 minors.<sup>295</sup>
- July 2015, Americas Program: exploited agricultural workers from San Quintin Valley staged mass protests against their abusive treatment and conditions.<sup>296</sup>
- March 2015, Mexico News Daily: 49 victims, including children, were found working under conditions of forced labour in a cucumber field in the Mexican region of Colima.<sup>297</sup>
- *February 2015, ABC News:* 129 workers (121 women and eight men, including two adolescents under the age of 18) were rescued from forced labour conditions in a garment factory in Zapopan, Jalisco state.<sup>298</sup>
- January 2015, The Times: in mega farms such as Bioparques and Rene Produce workers were reportedly trapped at farms surrounded by barbed wire, and in most cases had wages held illegally until the end of harvest to prevent workers from leaving once they realized how the camp operated. Workers faced miserable living and working conditions, including meagre, low caloric meals and lack of running water and working toilets. Few camp quarters had beds, most were infested with rats and bedbugs, workers slept on cardboard, were forced to use buckets for bathrooms and washed in irrigation canals.<sup>299</sup>

## **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

#### Stakeholder Recommendations

**US Department of State, Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons:**<sup>300</sup> Human Rights and Business Country Guide **Mexico** 

#### Labour Standards Forced Labour

• Recommends to strengthen the national anti-trafficking law, invigorating the Interinstitutional Commission against Trafficking, providing comprehensive assistance to victims, and strengthening civil society participation in anti-trafficking efforts.

## UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Business and Human Rights Program, Mexico 2016<sup>301</sup>:

- It is recommended that companies ensure proper background investigations of their local partners, such as taxi operators and organize field trips to ensure that they are not facilitating sex trafficking in the industry.
- The development and implementation of targeted training for hotel employees on trafficking, traffic and exploitation risks and their responsibility to alert relevant managers is encouraged.
- Businesses could also develop or participate in awareness campaigns, similar to *La Muralla Soy Yo*, to address the risks of human trafficking and sexual exploitation in tourist destinations. They should also consider offering preferential status to companies and self-employed workers, for instance taxi drivers, who participate in such initiatives.
- It is recommended to be alert to the application of prohibitions against the company's misuse of property or technology for sexually exploitative conduct. To introduce measures such as Internet blockers to prohibit downloading child abuse images, accessing online child chat rooms and requesting commercial sex.

## Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

#### Forced Labour

Does the company take all necessary measures to ensure non-participation in any form of forced labour?

- Workers can give notice and leave employment within a reasonable length of time. This is clearly communicated to workers prior to starting employment.
- The company (or its recruitment agencies) ensures that it does not withhold wages or bonuses and that it pays them in a timely and regular manner.
- The company ensures it does not make deductions from wages for disciplinary measures or other deductions not authorised by national law.
- Within normal working hours workers are able to earn a living wage sufficient to meet the basic needs of themselves and their closest dependents.

- Overtime work is paid, voluntary and not compelled through threat of pay deductions, termination or other sanctions.
- The company (or its recruitment agencies) ensures that it does not retain identity cards, passports, travel documents or other personal items without which workers cannot leave employment. If letters of release or other documents are needed for the worker to leave employment, such letters are issued without delay.
- All workers are allowed to leave company premises during breaks and at the end of their shifts, and workers in company housing may freely enter and exit their accommodation at any time.
- The company (or its recruiting agencies) ensures that it does not require workers to pay recruitment fees or lodge money deposits.
- Loans or salary advancements to workers are based on fair terms that are clearly explained to the worker, are not granted to cover basic living expenses, are limited in size, and do not require the worker to remain with the company until repayment is completed.
- If the company uses prison labour it ensures that all prison workers have been convicted by a court of law, and that the work is voluntary and supervised by a public authority.
- The company ensures that it does not use labour from agencies or firms involved in human trafficking or other forms of forced labour.

# Occupational Health & Safety

Unsafe or unhealthy working conditions that expose workers to the risk of accidents or occupational illnesses

Operating Environment			
Relevant legislation	Constitution (Article 123)		
	• Official Mexican Standard NOM_019- STPS-2011, constitution, integration, organization and operation of the health and safety commissions		
	<ul> <li>Internal regulations of the Secretariat of Labour and Social Security</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>General Regulations for the inspection and application of sanctions for violations of labour legislation</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Federal Regulations on Safety, Hygiene and Work Environment</li> </ul>		
	• Official Mexican Standard No. NOM-125- SSA1-1994, which establishes sanitary requirements for the process and use of asbestos		
	General Law on Health		
	Federal Labour Law		
Responsible Agencies	<ul> <li>Secretary of Labour and Social Security</li> <li>Sub-Secretary of Labour</li> <li>General Directorate of Safety and Health at Work</li> </ul>		
Local NGOs addressing this issue	Maquila Solidarity Network		
	IndustriALL Global Union		

## **Country Context**

## Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

Safety and health at work is governed by various precepts contained in the Political Constitution (article 123), the Organic Law of the Federal Public Administration, the Federal Labour Law, the Federal Law on Metrology and Standardization, Federal Regulations on Occupational Safety and Health, as well as the official Mexican standards of the subject, among other regulations.<sup>302</sup>

The Federal Labour Law (LFT) prescribes that employers must inform employees of the risk factors to which they are exposed, the damages they may cause and the preventive measures they can apply.<sup>303</sup>

Also, the law requires employers to observe occupational safety and health regulations, issued jointly by STPS (Secretary of Labour and Social Security) and the IMSS (Mexican Institute of Social Security). Legally mandated joint management and labour committees set standards and are responsible for workplace enforcement in plants and offices. Individual employees or unions may complain directly to inspectors or safety and health officials. Workers may remove themselves from hazardous situations without jeopardizing their employment. According to official IMSS data, in the middle of 2016 there were 18,348,131 policyholders.<sup>304</sup>

On the other hand, a new regulation, effective throughout Mexico in 2015, established provisions relative to workplace health and safety, to prevent hazards and to guarantee workers, within the framework of the Federal Labour Law, the right to perform their activities in environments that assure their life and health. Its application and enforcement oversight is the responsibility of STPS (Secretary of Labour and Social Prevision), assisted for activities under state jurisdiction by the labour authorities of Mexico's states and the Federal District. <sup>305</sup>

However, the 2013 Report on Labour Human Rights of CEREAL (Centre for Reflection and Labour Action) indicated that, following the reform of the Federal Labour Law in 2012, the Table of Illnesses and Work Risks disappeared, granting powers to the Secretary of Labour, with the opinion of the labour and business sector, its issuance and modification in separate regulations (articles 514 and 515). In addition, it evades negligent employer behaviour that affects the health and life of workers at work and in its place, imposes financial penalties (Article 992).

According to the IMSS data, the number of work accidents shows that between 2013 and 2014 the annual trend of more than 400,000 employees involved in accidents at work was maintained. In 2014, 404,566 people suffered some mishap in their work centre and 1,314 people died due to accidents at work. A senior official from the Ministry of Labour stated in 2015 that some cases had been detected when, once the employer had taken the worker to the medical service, he stated that the accident had not been at the workplace but at the employee's home and on non-working day. <sup>306</sup>

On the other hand, some researchers question the quality of national information that exists in the matter of work accidents or diseases, or their existence. What is currently available is fragmented and incomplete, in addition to being based on the casuistry issued by the Mexican

#### Labour Standards Occupational Health & Safety

Social Security Institute (IMSS), which includes only part of the country's working population - about 40%.<sup>307</sup>

According to data obtained in 2016 by specialists, the black figure of accidents at work is found mainly in the millions of workers who are in the informal sector or lack social security. <sup>308</sup>

The IMSS said in 2014 that in response to the increase in workplace accidents, the employers' response has been to provide protection to only 6%. The low protection was mainly due to the fact that the table of diseases and accidents subject to care was not updated; it dates 45 years back, which resulted in that "a large number of occupational diseases are not included in the table and circumstances".<sup>309</sup>

According to data collected by the Ministry of Labour, 183 occupational diseases are recognized in Mexico, among them gastritis, hypertension, heart attacks, aggression, depression, sexual disorders and family dysfunction. The Ministry of Labour reported that the places where work accidents occured most was in supermarkets. Diseases were derived from prolonged exposure to risk factors such as toxic gases, dust, smoke, noise, radiation, viruses, bacteria, and fungi. Workers suffering from more diseases were in the mineral extraction industry. Other workers who were most sick in their work were those of the textile industry, whose main ailment was caused by muscular and skeletal diseases.<sup>310</sup>

The 2012 Department of US Human Rights Report noted serious health and safety problems in the mining and petroleum industries. Failure to conduct inspections; low pay, poor training and corruption of inspectors; lack of effective civil and criminal penalties, and inadequate compensation for victims were reported.<sup>311</sup>

In this sense, while STPS and IMSS officials reported in 2008 that compliance was reasonably good at most large companies, there were not enough federal inspectors to enforce health and safety standards at smaller firms, where there were not enough federal inspectors to enforce effectively health and safety standards.<sup>312</sup> The ILO reported in 2011 that poor standards of occupational health and safety were not confined to the more hidden groups of workers, and some well-publicized major incidents have taken place in large enterprises.<sup>313</sup>

### Cases

## *Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.*

- *April 2016, Revolución Tres Punto Cero:* Workers of the Comercializadora Petrolera del Golfo assured that in the development of their work they were forced to work without protection equipment. In a recent inspection by the Ministry of Labour, the company was found to be in breach of 219 hygiene and safety points. <sup>314</sup>
- November 2015, Revolución Tres Punto Cero: Lexmark company would not have safety conditions for its workers, who dismantle components of toners that are presumed to be harmful to health due to the poisons they carry inside, and which they inhale constantly. It

was reported that workers would not have been provided with a special suit, nor with masks, gloves, or safety shoes. <sup>315</sup>

November 2015, Revolución Tres Punto Cero: It was reported that a group of 50 workers rose against the treatment received by the Eaton company, in the maquiladoras of Ciudad Juárez. It was reported that, in order to save electricity, the company would have allegedly determined to shut down the air conditioners that were in the work area of hundreds of people, during high light hours. These workers would have suffered dehydration and contamination to the interior, absorbing smoke by great periods of time and supposedly without any protection in face, body and feet ".<sup>316</sup>

## **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

#### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

Nestle: the CARE tool (Compliance Assurance of Human Resources, Safety, Health & Environment and Business Integrity), which evaluates the safety and health aspects in different workspaces such as human resources, business integrity and environment. Based on the findings identified, an action plan is generated to meet those needs. <sup>317</sup>

Guidance for Businesses suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

Does the company ensure that its workers are provided safe, suitable and sanitary work facilities?

- Responsibilities for health and safety tasks are clearly defined.
- The company routinely monitors its production processes, machinery and equipment to ensure that they are safe and in good working order.
- Workers and managers are trained to respond to workplace emergencies; first aid kits and fire extinguishers are readily available; and escape exits are clearly marked and free from obstruction.
- The workplace is maintained to ensure clean and comfortable conditions including a suitable temperature, ventilation and lighting; suitable washing and sanitation areas appropriate for both genders.

- Residential or overnight facilities are safe and sanitary and meet the basic needs of workers including with regard to safety, space, temperature, lighting, ventilation, food, water, sanitary facilities, privacy and affordability.
- The company provides safe drinking water for workers and facilities for clean and sanitary food storage and eating.
- Where relevant the company has put in place special health and safety precautions for pregnant women, employees with disabilities, night workers, young workers and other vulnerable groups.

## Does the company ensure that workers are provided with the protective equipment and training necessary to perform their tasks safely?

- The company has a procedure to ensure that all workers are provided, free of charge or deposits, with the protective equipment necessary to safely perform their job functions.
- The company is committed to ensuring that workers use the protective equipment provided and understand why it is necessary to use the equipment.
- The company ensures that all workers have the necessary training to safely perform their job functions and keeps workers fully informed, in a language and form understandable to them, of the health and safety procedures.
- An accurate record is kept of who has been trained and for what tasks.
- On a regular basis and when assigned to new tasks, workers receive training in the safe use of equipment and processes.
- A company function or member of staff is responsible for keeping informed of scientific and technological developments regarding health and safety risks and protective equipment.

#### Does the company actively involve workers in health and safety work?

- The company consults employees on health and safety issues either directly or through a freely elected safety representative(s) for relevant groups of employees.
- A health and safety committee has been established including employee safety representatives and representatives from management.
- Health and safety accidents are reported and investigated including involving the relevant worker(s), and actions are taken to prevent recurrences.
- Health and safety near-misses (accidents not resulting in injury) are reported and investigated to help improve safety.
- Health and safety accidents are monitored including hours lost as a result of injury or illness and e.g. compared to total hours worked (lost time injury frequency).

#### **Standards & Guidance**

## NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre

- IFC Performance Standard 2: Labour and Working Conditions (2012): FC PS2 is guided by the international labour standards as outlined by the ILO and covers health and safety. 318
- Portal for Responsible Supply Chain Management: The Portal is designed to support companies in improving the social and environmental conditions within their supply chain. The Portal offers tools and guidance on a number of supply chain issues, such as child labour, corruption and discrimination. In addition, the Portal also details sector specific resource material and pertaining legislation. <sup>319</sup>
- ICMM Sustainable Development Framework Principle 5: Seek continuous improvement of health and safety: Encourages companies to continuously improve those aspects that may have an impact on the health and safety of workers; and to implement the necessary measures to prevent accidents, and implement mechanisms of monitoring and surveillance based on risk analysis.<sup>320</sup>

## **Trade Unions**

Restrictions on the right of workers to collectively represent their interests.

Operating Environment	
Largest trade unions and union confederations	• Confederation of Mexican Workers (CTM).
	<ul> <li>Revolutionary Confederation of Workers and Peasants (CROC)</li> </ul>
	National Council of Workers (CNT)
	National Union of Workers (UNT)
	<ul> <li>National Federation of Banking Unions</li> </ul>
	National Union of Education Workers
	<ul> <li>Union of Telephone Operators of the Mexican Republic (more than 30 thousand active members, but more than 50 thousand including retirees)</li> </ul>
	• Union of Oil Workers of the Republic (more than 156,000 workers)
	<ul> <li>National Union of Mining, Metallurgical, Steel and Related Workers</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Union of Railroad Workers (approximately 30,000 employees)</li> </ul>
	Union of Construction Workers
Relevant legislation	Constitution
	• Federal Labour Law
	• Federal Law on Workers Serving the State
Responsible Agencies	• Secretary of Labour and Social Security
	Local conciliation and arbitration     boards

Local NGOs addressing this issue

- Maquila Solidarity Network
- IndustriALL Global Union
- CEREAL

## **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

#### **Barriers to Unionisation**

The Constitution and labour legislation provide for freedom of association and allow workers and employers to join trade unions and professional associations. Workers can join trade unions without prior authorization. Similarly, no one can be forced to join a union. In Mexico, a minimum of 20 workers is required to form a union. Under the Federal Labour Law, the state administration should not subject unions to dissolution, suspension or cancellation of registration for administrative purposes. The law also prohibits the employer from intervening in trade union matters or interfering with union activities, including prohibiting explicit or implicit reprisals against workers.<sup>321</sup>

On the other hand, in order for the union to perform its legally determined functions, its officers must be registered with the corresponding conciliation and arbitration boards or with the Secretary of Labour and Social Security (STPS). The conciliation and arbitration boards operate within the framework of a tripartite system involving representatives of government, workers and employers. <sup>322</sup>

According to OECD data, union density was 13.5% in 2014.<sup>323</sup> In practice, according to the 2013 Report on Labour Human Rights of the Centre for Reflection and Labour Action (CEREAL), following the reform of the Federal Labour Law, it maintained the legal mechanisms that hindered the democratic election of trade union representatives as well as union corporatism, which in fact constituted a serious limitation on freedom of association, on the right to collective bargaining and on the right to strike.<sup>324</sup>

Moreover, according to the 2013 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights in Mexico, governmental agencies such as the Federal Electoral Institute and other public bodies allegedly refused to recognise unions systematically.<sup>325</sup> According to the US Embassy's 2015 Human Rights Report in Mexico, external observers expressed concerns that conciliation and arbitration boards would not have adequately guaranteed the inclusive representation of workers and often perpetuated a bias against independent unions due to conflicts of interest in the structure of the boards, exacerbated by the prevalence of representatives of "protection" (non-representative and corporatist) unions.<sup>326</sup>

In this sense, in 2016, the AFL-CIO reported that the union certification process was designed to limit worker representation. A requirement known as *toma de nota* has been used by labour

#### Labour Standards Occupational Health & Safety

authorities as a tool to deny union office to leaders who are politically disfavoured under the guise of an elections certification process. There is evidence that labour authorities would also have denied legal registration to independent unions on seemingly arbitrary or technical grounds. They would continue to assert that unions may represent only workers in specific industries, and that the state may restrict a union to a specific "radius of action" (*radio de acción*).<sup>327</sup> Foreigners may not become members of trade union executive bodies.<sup>328</sup>

On the other hand, "protection contracts" – the practice of official unions or corrupt lawyers negotiating a union contract without the knowledge of workers, which deny workers all decision-making power concerning their working conditions or participation in their union – is reportedly a common practice endorsed by some companies operating in Mexico in order to limit workers' rights to freedom of association and collective bargaining. According to 2012 country data from the Fair Labour Association, these contracts reportedly tended to exist only on paper, and workers were typically not informed of the agreement and were unaware of their collective bargaining rights.<sup>329</sup>

AFL-CIO reported in 2016 that there were estimated to be tens of thousands of protection contracts and tens of thousands of workplaces in Mexico covering millions of workers. In these workplaces, workers are governed by contracts they never ratified or were consulted on, and in many cases have never seen.<sup>330</sup> The five sectors where these types of contracts are most common are the auto industry, supermarket chains, cleaning services, low cost airlines and the maquilas.<sup>331</sup> In turn, the Survey of Violations of Trade Unions Rights reported that, during 2014 and 2015, protection contracts were widespread in mining, metal and steel, and automobile and auto parts manufacturing.<sup>332</sup>

When workers attempt to bring complaints about protection contracts, these complaints are heard by Mexico's Conciliation and Arbitration Boards (CABs), which according to a report fromFriedrich Ebert Stiftung Mexico Foundation (2013), were politically biased and corrupt.<sup>333</sup>

Likewise, the ILO declared in 2015 that the new Federal Labour Law made positive reforms however, there was not any measure to limit the use of protection contracts.<sup>334</sup> In this regard, the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) reported in 2015 that Mexico was the only country in Latin America that had not yet ratified ILO Convention 98, which would allow the proliferation of protection contracts to be addressed.<sup>335</sup>

#### **Collective Bargaining**

The Mexican Constitution makes no explicit mention of the right to collective bargaining of workers. However, the introductory clause of Article 123 (A), which promotes "social organization for work" and empowers the federal Congress to "issue laws on labour [which] shall govern [...] any contract of employment", has been interpreted as a constitutional basis for the law and regulation of collective bargaining.

In line with international labour standards and Mexico's Constitution, the Labour Ministry has issued the Collective Bargaining Freedom Protocol measure, which, among other things, establishes the procedures and rules that inspectors of the administration must follow when

conducting labour-related inspections at the worksites of employers operating in Mexico to verify the existence or absence of collective bargaining agreements (CBAs). <sup>336</sup>

According to official data of the Secretary of Labour, there would be 2,534 collective agreements registered in mid-2016. <sup>337</sup>

The Centre for Reflection and Labour Action (CEREAL) indicated in 2016 that many unions are under employer protection collective agreements, as most are white unions, also known as ghost unions (that is, a union closely aligned with the interests of the employer) where so-called pseudo directors charge companies monthly to pretend representation and to avoid strikes. An analysis of the organization Friedrich Ebert, drawn up in 2011, specifies that these contracts were operated as 'long-term business' by entire families of false leaders, who had a register of various phantom unions, unknown to workers, that "arranged" directly with the bosses.<sup>338</sup>

According to the 2013 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights in Mexico, 90% of collective agreements were signed by protection-contract unions established by employers and corrupt organisations with the aim of preventing bargaining in good faith.<sup>339</sup> In 2015, several NGOs and unions also reported that some employers attempted to influence bargaining-rights elections through the illegal hiring of pseudo employees immediately prior to the election to vote for the company-controlled union.<sup>340</sup>

In this sense, several NGOs and unions declared that in 2015 many workers continued to face procedural obstacles and various forms of intimidation (including physical violence) from protection union leaders, or employers supporting a protection union, in the lead-up to, during, and after bargaining-rights elections from other workers, union leaders, violent individuals hired by a company, or employers favouring a particular union. <sup>341</sup>

#### Strikes

A union established in accordance with its own statutes may call for a strike and collective bargaining. However, for a strike to be considered legal, the union must file a "strike notice" to the relevant conciliation and arbitration board, which may consider the strike to be "non-existent", or in other words legally unfounded.<sup>342</sup>

In the civil service, two-thirds of the workers in the public body concerned must be in favour to call a strike.<sup>343</sup> In 2014, ITUC noted that this could be a barrier to lawful strike actions because there is an obligation to observe an excessive quorum or to obtain an excessive majority in a ballot to call a strike.<sup>344</sup> Also, state employees only have the right to strike in cases where their rights are violated generally and systematically. Various laws on public services <sup>345</sup> make provision for the requisitioning of staff where the national economy could be affected, which is a forcible requisitioning of work strikers (apart from cases in public essential services).<sup>346</sup>

Official data from the Secretary of Labour and Social Security declared that there were 2,877 strike locations registered in mid-2016. <sup>347</sup>

According to the US State Department's Mexico 2014 Human Rights Report, the Mexican Labour Boards routinely declared strikes "non-existent", often on narrow technical grounds. While independent unions had frequently succeeded in persuading the courts to overturn the decisions of the Labour Boards, this imposed significant costs and delays on the workers. There have been cases where courts have significantly narrowed the right to strike by allowing employers to nullify collective bargaining agreements under a theory of force majeure.<sup>348</sup>

#### Anti-Union Discrimination

According to the 2012 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights in Mexico, the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) reported that anti-union practices by governments and employers have resulted in the detention of union leaders, imprisonment, various kinds of pressure, the non-recognition of independent unions and the promotion of yellow unions, the closure of workplaces, and even the death of workers. <sup>349</sup>

That year, the ITUC reported that trade unions representing electricians, oil workers and telephone workers amongst others had reportedly been the victims of violent attacks, intimidation and repression. Employers, allegedly backed by government, devised mechanisms to suppress trade union rights. The aim of these violations was to stop workers from organising or weaken their unions, resulting in repression, threats, and the hiring of thugs to attack organised workers.<sup>350</sup>

In 2012, according to Fair Labour Association, those organizing to improve their pay and working conditions often found themselves faced with intimidation and repression at the hands of the same unions who were supposed to be protecting them.<sup>351</sup>

Human Rights Watch reported in 2015 that the dominance of pro-management unions obstructed legitimate labour-organizing activity. Independent unions were often blocked from entering negotiations with management, while workers who sought to form independent unions risked losing their jobs. <sup>352</sup>

### Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- March 2016, IndustriALL Global Union: Workers at the Lexmark factory in Ciudad Juárez, in the State of Chihuahua, face harsh working conditions including low wages and unsafe workplaces. In attempting to claim their rights, and trying to organize an independent union, they were unfairly dismissed. <sup>353</sup>
- November 2015, CEREAL: about 70 employees of Lexmark International S.A., protested against the dismissals of two of their colleagues, noting that when they tried to organize themselves into a union, the company suspended salaries, holidays and payment of overtime to the participants.<sup>354</sup>
- **October 2015, ITUC:** on 23 October 2015, a group of workers from the maquila company CommScope, in Ciudad Juárez, set up a camp in protest at unfair dismissals. According to

the workers, the company threatened to fire a group of 195 employees unless they signed a document stating that they renounced the union's formation. The 170 women who refused to sign the document were dismissed on 19 October.<sup>355</sup>

- *May 2015, Al Jazeera:* The 2015 mobilizations in Baja California for better wages in the agricultural sector and the right to form independent unions were met with police repression. <sup>356</sup>
- **December 2014, IndustriALL Global Union:** for the second time, Honda Mexico unjustifiably dismissed a worker, four days after being reinstated by justice, after being fired in 2010. <sup>357</sup>
- April 2014, ITUC: unfair dismissals over strike action and union recognition. Teksid Hierro, part of the Fiat Chrysler group, in Monclova, Coahuila, dismissed three workers following a strike in protest of low wages and benefits. The company later signed an agreement in which it promised to reinstate the three dismissed workers, make profit sharing payments to workers and respect workers' right to join a union of their choice. However, in November, 17 workers were dismissed for calling on the company to comply with the agreement, reportedly before paying them their benefits and wages and tried to force them to accept their redundancy cheques.<sup>358</sup>
- **December 2013, Solidarity Centre:** the Finnish-owned PKC fired more than 100 union supporters at Arneses y Accesorios, including the entire union committee, for campaigning for the election of an independent trade union, the National Union of Mine and Metalworkers (known as "Los Mineros"), at their plants in Ciudad Acuña, Mexico. <sup>359</sup>

## **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

#### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

• Joint Letter supporting ILO recommendations to reform the Federal Labour Law: On 22 September, 2015, eight of the main clothing brands issued a joint letter urging the Government of Mexico to comply with a request from the ILO for reforms to the Federal Labour Law of the country to ensure greater respect for the right of workers to freedom of association and collective bargaining. The letter points to the problem of protection contracts that "allows the registration of collective bargaining agreements of unions that cannot demonstrate the support most workers intend to represent, through a democratic electoral process." Signatories to the letter include: Adidas Group, American Eagle Outfitters, New Balance, Nike, Patagonia, Puma, PVH, and The Walt Disney Company. The letter is an initiative of the multi-stakeholder Mexico Committee.<sup>360</sup>

#### Stakeholder Recommendations

## UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Program on Business and Human Rights, Mexico 2016<sup>361</sup>:

- It is recommended that in order to prevent the use of abusive collective agreements, companies may:
  - Give all workers a copy of the collective contracts that affect them.
  - Make a public commitment by supporting workers to join a trade union freely or to create a union to carry out collective bargaining negotiations.
  - To ensure collective agreements are drawn up in line with ILO recommendations.
- It is recommended that companies sensitize their personnel to international standards regarding freedom of association:
  - That workers are free to decide whether or not to join a union
  - That trade unions and their representatives should be elected during democratic elections by their members
  - That workers must: a) be informed prior to the publication of the collective contracts, b) receive a physical copy of these contracts, and c) have the opportunity to approve or revise them.
- Companies can make voluntary commitments with the recommendations of ILO Conventions 87 and 98.

Companies can take position and promote within their industry the freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining.

## Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

Does the company recognise the rights of its workers to freedom of association and to bargain collectively?

 The company has a commitment to recognise the rights of its workers to freedom of association and collective bargaining, including the right to freely form and/or join independent trade unions, and this commitment is clearly communicated to all employees.

- The company recognises workers' organisations for collective bargaining purposes and has procedures in place to ensure regular collective bargaining with authorised worker representatives concerning all workplace related issues.
- The company allows worker representatives access to collective bargaining agreements, company premises, employees and other relevant documentation needed to fulfil their duties.
- The company prohibits discrimination or adverse actions against worker representatives or employees for participating or refraining to participate in lawful trade union activities.
- The company has agreed with workers' representatives about the requirements of a fair hearing to be followed in relation to all disciplinary cases and employee grievances.
- The company has a committee, with participation of employee-elected representatives, which is responsible for hearing, processing, and settling disciplinary cases and employee grievances.

If independent trade unions are either discouraged or restricted, does the company enable workers to gather independently to discuss work-related problems?

- The company allows employees to engage in regular employee-only meetings within normal working hours, where employees can discuss concerns regarding working conditions.
- Where allowed by local legislation, and if independent trade unions are not present, the company informs employees of their right to form independent collective representation at the workplace.
- Where allowed by local legislation, the company informs workers of their right to engage in regular collective bargaining concerning all workplace issues.
- Company management meets regularly with worker representatives to discuss workrelated problems and any concerns/complaints employees may wish to raise.

## **Working Conditions**

#### Employment status, wages, working hours and social security.

Operating Environment			
Minimum wage <sup>362</sup>	The Mexican Constitution establishes a minimum wage for different occupations or branches of economic activity. Consequently, there is no single minimum wage in Mexico and minimum wages of about 70 occupations are announced each year.		
	In Mexico, the Minimum Wage is established per day. The General Minimum Wage applicable as of January 1, 2016, is \$73.04 pesos per day (approximately US \$4). The National Minimum Wage Commission, an institution represented by workers, employers and the government, determines the minimum wage rates for each year.		
Relevant laws	<ul><li>Constitution</li><li>Federal Labour Law</li></ul>		
Responsible agencies	<ul> <li>The National Council for Evaluation of Social Development Policy (Coneval)</li> <li>National Minimum Wage Commission</li> </ul>		
Local NGOs addressing this issue	<ul><li>PODER</li><li>CEREAL</li></ul>		

Working conditions: National Law				
	Country	International Standard		

#### Labour Standards Occupational Health & Safety

Standard workweek	48h	48h
Overtime pay rate	The hours of extraordinary work will be paid with one hundred percent more of the salary that corresponds to the hours of the day. <sup>363</sup>	1.25x
Holidays with pay, per year	<ul> <li>Federal Labour Law guarantees annual leave depending on the seniority of the worker or length of service. In this way: <ol> <li>Six working days when seniority is one year of service</li> <li>For the next 3 years, the vacation period increases by 2 days for each year of service, so that when a worker completes the 4 years of service, the duration of the annual leave is 12 calendar days.</li> <li>At the end of every 5 years of service, the worker has right to an additional 2 days of annual leave.</li> </ol> </li> <li>Workers are paid a special 25% bonus for the holiday period in addition to their payment. <sup>364</sup></li> </ul>	3 weeks
Maximum daily working hours	8 hours – workday 7 hours –night shift 7 hours and a half – mixed workday. <sup>365</sup>	10h
Maximum weekly working hours	The Federal Labour Law (LFT) establishes a maximum of 48 hours per week. <sup>366</sup>	48h
Uninterrupted weekly rest period	24h	24h

## **Country Context**

## Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

According to the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), in 2016 there were inequalities in the Mexican labour market associated with the falling labour income, the duality of the security and social protection scheme with a high rate of informality, and low participation of women in the labour market.<sup>367</sup>

#### Wages

The Mexican Constitution establishes a minimum wage for different occupations or branches of economic activity. Consequently, there is no single minimum wage in Mexico and minimum wages of about 70 occupations are announced each year. <sup>368</sup>

In Mexico, the minimum wage is established per day. The general minimum wage applicable as of January 1, 2016 was \$73.04 pesos per day (approximately US \$4). <sup>369</sup> There is a wider salary that includes benefits that by law is referred to as "integrated minimum wage", equivalent to \$2,650.63 pesos per month (about US \$140). Both incomes fall below the average monthly expenditure per household that, according to INEGI was estimated at \$8,822 pesos (approximately US \$464) per month in 2015. In this sense, consuming the estimated food basket with a minimum price of \$4,081 pesos (approximately US \$215) would require earning 1.92 times the minimum wage. <sup>370</sup>

In 2014, the INEGI observed that, since the average Mexican inhabitant had at least one economic dependent, the minimum wage approved each year by the government did not allow them even to eat. The State established the minimum welfare line (food basket plus housing, transportation, dress and footwear, health and education expenses) at \$2,628 pesos per person in the urban area (about US \$138) and \$1,169.32 pesos in rural areas (around US \$89), according to data collected by INEGI in 2014. In this sense, more than half of Mexican workers and their households would not qualify for it; they are poor despite having a job.<sup>371</sup>

In 2015, an Oxfam report informed that 19.7% of the Mexican population is unable to eat, 8.3% do not earn enough for covering the necessary health and education expenses, and 24.3% can not purchase basic clothing, shelter and transportation. In addition, 52.3% of the population does not have a sufficient income to purchase basic goods and services.<sup>372</sup>

In the first quarter of 2016, there were 32,730,599 salaried workers in the country, representing almost 27% of the total population, according to the strategic indicators of the National Survey of Occupation and Employment of INEGI (ENOE). <sup>373</sup>

For the same period, there were 3,875,098 subordinate and paid workers whose income was up to a single general minimum wage or less. This sector of the population faces difficulties to assume the costs inherent to food, education, housing and health care, among other goods or services necessary for their well-being.<sup>374</sup>

According to a report of 2016, Mexico is the country with the worst quality of income among workers in the 32 countries of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), this understood not only as the level of income, but also how it is distributed among workers.<sup>375</sup> In this sense, a 2013 Hay Group study among companies around the world placed Mexico among the countries with the highest inequality salary payment, as senior staff (executives) earned 11.3 times more than new workers joining an organization.<sup>376</sup>

#### Working Hours

Articles 58 to 68 of the Federal Labour Law stipulate six days of 8 hours and 48 hours per week as the legal work week. All work beyond eight hours per day is considered overtime, by which the worker receives double the hourly wage. The law prohibits overtime work. It also includes eight paid holidays and, after the first year of work, one paid week of holiday per year. It obliges the employers to comply with the occupational safety and health regulations issued jointly by the Secretary of Labour and Social Security and the Social Security Institute.<sup>377</sup>

The 2015 Human Rights Report from the US Embassy in Mexico indicates that according to different NGOs on labour rights, employers in all sectors have sometimes used the illegal method of "hour bank" (requiring overtime when the workload is heavy, reducing hours when it is light) to avoid compensating workers for overtime work.<sup>378</sup>

CEREAL stated in 2013 that the Labour Law, following its 2013 reform, entailed the dispossession of certain human rights at work, for example, by removing sanctions against employers in the event of a failure to give notice of dismissal (Article 47). In practice, this translates into the disuse of the notice of dismissal. In addition, the dismissal on the basis of the employer's clients' or suppliers' complaints against workers is allowed (article 47, section II).<sup>379</sup>

#### **Social Security**

There are two affiliation regimes in Social Security: the mandatory regime and the voluntary regime. Under the mandatory regime, there are workers, the members of cooperative societies of production and the people determined by the Federal Executive through the respective decree. Under the Voluntary Regime, there exists coverage for self-employed workers, workers in family industries, employers and workers serving for the Federation's public administrations, and federative entities and municipalities that do not have other social security coverage. <sup>380</sup>

In 2013, the Federal Executive Branch presented the proposal for the Reform of Finance and Social Security. The Social Security Reform consisted of creating the Universal Pension Act, the Unemployment Insurance Act, and implementing reforms in the Retirement Savings System Act. The creation of these laws and reforms entailed changes in the Laws of Social Security and the Institute of Social Security and Services of State Workers. However, according to a 2016 document from the Federal Audit Office, most of the proposals have not been approved and, therefore, have not been implemented. The Social Security Law was approved by the Chamber of Deputies, but is still waiting for its turn in the Senate. <sup>381</sup>

In 2014, the Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS) announced that it would start affiliating same-sex couples throughout the country, following the interpretation by the Supreme Court of *Human Rights and Business Country Guide* **Mexico** 69

#### Labour Standards Occupational Health & Safety

Justice of the Nation (SCJN) of the Social Security Act. As such, even when the law made gender differences, it would be understood that it also protected such marriages, in line with the properson principle established in the Political Constitution of the United Mexican states.<sup>382</sup>

In addition, concrete initiatives at the beginning of President Peña Nieto's administration, such as the Pension Program for Older Adults and Life Insurance for Women Heads of Families, extended the benefits and coverage of social protection but maintain segmentation between the formal sector (IMSS mainly) and informal (Seguro Popular). <sup>383</sup>

Since 1995, health services had been decentralized to the state level. In 2005, the government launched the "Seguro Popular" to formally incorporate all of the population not covered by the formal health services sector. It does not cover all illnesses, but rather a list of some of the most important ones. According to official data, more than 40 million people are at present in the program. Health expenditure in Mexico is very low compared to other countries at similar or lower level of development – 3.2% of the GDP. <sup>384</sup> In the first quarter of 2016, according to the ENOE, 45.7% of the subordinate and paid workers had no access to health institutions, and 36.44% of this sector did not receive labour benefits either. <sup>385</sup>

On the other hand, the Pension Program for Older Adults (PAM) is the largest non-contributory pension scheme in Mexico, which in 2013 benefited 4.85 million people aged 65 and over, according to the Ministry of Social Development (SEDESOL 2015). According to 2014 population figures of the National Population Council CONAPO, the abovementioned represented a coverage of 62.6%. In 2015, this support amounted to \$580 pesos per month, which were insufficient to cover the basic needs of the beneficiaries (DOF 2014). <sup>386</sup>

The limited coverage of contributory pensions and the low levels of old age income impede the exercise of social rights and contribute to the accelerated deterioration of health, economic and functional dependence of family members, and low self-esteem. (Secretary of Social Development, 2013).<sup>387</sup>

In 2016, Business Transparency International (BTI) reported that Mexico's pension system had never covered more than 30% of the population, as it includes only workers in the formal sector of the economy, and the public health care insurance system had never covered more than 50% of the population. <sup>388</sup>

Regarding unemployment, there is practically no effective unemployment insurance and the existing programs cover a very minor percentage of the unemployed. In addition, the government of Mexico City allocates about \$50 a month to people over 70 years of age. All this means that the family is still a fundamental, if informal, source of social security. <sup>389</sup>

The most important social, anti-poverty program is the "Progresa" (renamed in the Peña Nieto administration) conditional cash transfer program. Today, around 6 million families benefit from it, although the budget is equivalent to 1.3% of the GDP. Business Transparency International observed in 2016 that this program has been accused of being used politically for clientelistic purposes in some states. <sup>390</sup>

#### **Informal Sector**

In June 2016, the rate of labour informality, of workers who do not have benefits or social security (they can only access public health services through voluntary schemes, such as Seguro Popular or Seguro de Salud para la Familia<sup>391</sup>), was almost 60% of the economically active population, according to figures from INEGI (National Institute of Statistics and Geography).<sup>392</sup>

In addition, between 2004 and 2014, outsourcing increased by 155%, from 1.4 to 3.6 million. Of the total employed people in the country, 16.6% would be subcontracted, that is, 1 out of 6; ten years ago, the ratio was 8.6%.<sup>393</sup> In this scheme there exist bad practices based on figures created to evade the payment of social security. According to data from 2015, large companies were the ones that would make the most use of this scheme (43.5%), while only 9.9% of the staff not dependent on the company name would belong to microenterprises.<sup>394</sup>

According to CEREAL, in 2015 a high percentage of young professionals (14-24 years old) worked in the informal sector, being the most affected by unemployment, with a rate of 69.4%.<sup>395</sup> According to Unicef data from 2012, about 90% of day labourers had no employment contract.

Consultores Internacionales (CI) reported in 2016 that in states like Guerrero, Oaxaca, and Chiapas, informality reaches critical levels, that is, 8 out of 10 establishments or activities have no registration, do not pay taxes and do not generate jobs including benefits or social security. One reason for these high informality levels was the entry of large companies to the market, which affected medium and small enterprises, leading to closures and shifts towards informality. <sup>397</sup>

The OECD reported in 2015 that most small businesses operated in the informal sector, employing millions of people who lacked access to stable income, good education, comprehensive health care and affordable financial services. The resistance of workers and companies to operate in a formal manner is the result of excessive regulation and the perception of corruption and weakness in the defense and enforcement of basic legal rights. <sup>398</sup>

According to UNDP, there exist two reasons for the persistence of labour market informality in Mexico: the lack of financing to the private sector, since it causes small and medium-sized enterprises not to grow and inhibits their incorporation into the formal sector; and the rigidity of the formal sector's legal framework, particularly regarding the number of hours to work and the conditions of hiring and dismissal, which create barriers to formalization.<sup>399</sup>

### Cases

## *Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.*

May 2016, US Department of State: use of the illegal hour bank method in the maquila sector, where employers forced workers to take leave at times during the cycle when production was low and forced them to work, for example, during the Christmas holidays, without the corresponding triple payment as dictated by the law when workers opt for overtime during national holidays. In addition, many companies evaded tax and social security payments by giving workers informal employment or by submitting falsified payroll records to the Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS). <sup>400</sup>

- April 2016, Revolución Tres Punto Cero: Fifty workers denounced before the delegation of the Secretary of Labour of Campeche the dismissal of 150 workers and the victims of various abuses while working in the Comercializadora Petrolera del Golfo company. The company issued a notice listing 105 dismissals, who were also owed wages retained for two months. The workers were forced to sign blank contracts and they were never given a copy of them. Without a real salary, they were discharged at the Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS) with the minimum wage and lacked benefits like Infonavit and Fonacot. <sup>401</sup>
- November 2015, CEREAL y Revolución Tres Punto Cero: Employees of the Eaton maquiladora went on strike for better salaries, benefits, freedom of association and to curb harassment. Workers accused managers of forging signatures and cutting back on vacation periods for employees. For every day that a worker missed work due to illness or another impediment, the maquila counted it as a vacation day. 402
- January 2013, CEREAL: At least 500 workers who worked as security agents at Flextronics company, subcontracted by the private security agency CSIS, said they had been unjustifiably dismissed, in addition to suffering violations of their labour rights. In reviewing their current work situation, they noticed that some of them did not respect their contributions to enjoy benefits and some others were discharged or omitted their payments (which they did reduce from their payroll) to the Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS) as well as with the Retirement Funds Administrator (Afore).<sup>403</sup>

## **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

#### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

Nestlé: The "Nestlé and I" labour climate survey applies globally. Mexico achieved a 94% participation rate. The work environment and the integration of life / work were found within the best-evaluated 5 aspects in the survey. Their results showed that 93% of employees felt committed to their life project at Nestlé. <sup>404</sup>

#### Stakeholder Recommentations

## UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Program on Business and Human Rights, Mexico 2016<sup>405</sup>:

 Establish a transparent process for requesting and agreeing on flexible working for parents. This should include having regular schedules, care in case of illness, and time off to address child needs as well as providing the option to parents both employed at the same place, the same day off.
- Companies should ensure that HR managers and employees receive continuous training on the latest Federal Labour Law adjustments. This information must also be communicated to all the collaborators in a way that they could understand it.
- In consultation with employees, the Mexican Institute of Social Security, SEDESOL, and DIF support working parents to find appropriate childcare solutions for before and after school as well as school holidays. This could include onsite childcare, discounted rates with local providers, partnering to provide a collective offering or engaging with the Council for the National Program of Service Delivery for Care and Early Childhood Development to increase the expansion and quality of government day-care centers.
- Consider piloting a five-day-work week to determine the feasibility of providing employees with two days of rest.
- Ensure that staffing schedules allow for weekly rest including no less than 36 hours uninterrupted rest as recommended by the ILO.
- Promote flexible hours so that workers have more options to work from home when the work agenda allows.
- Promote childcare centers with extended hours to respond adequately to the needs of families.
- Companies must eradicate the practice of accumulating overtime to pay later with time or money. As indicated by the LFT, each hour of overtime must be paid double for the first 9 extra hours and triple from then. Companies must measure these overtime hours clearly and transparently.
- Companies should study their levels of absenteeism, use of extra time, and adjust their staff accordingly.
- Companies should identify additional benefit offerings for employees which help alleviate other workplace stresses typically attached to income such as providing: transportation to and from work, access to meals while at work, and opportunities for training for career advancement.
- Companies should develop a policy and training for employees on how to deal with harassment from visitors/tourists. Ensure a zero-tolerance policy is communicated explicitly to visitors and staff. They could also provide safe transport for workers during evening hours.
- Companies should develop a strategy to address discriminatory practices that includes: - Anti-discrimination training for all staff.
  - A focus on hiring indigenous workers for a diverse range of positions.

- Removing age qualifications above the minimum age when recruiting, and replace them with representations regarding the ability to perform the essential functions of the role, some of which may be physical.

• Companies should eliminate the practice of operating with a lower TFF than required to improve hotel outcomes, as it significantly impacts the family life of employees.

- Companies should establish transparent mechanisms to allow flexible shifts for parents and caregivers (including the possibility of having fixed schedules for family care).
- Companies should work with employee representatives, government and relevant stakeholders to identify current wage gaps and consider what steps can be taken to raise wages to meet CONEVAL's Well-Being Guidelines
- Companies should ensure equal opportunity for female staff by:

- Conducting an assessment of current wage levels by position and remediating any discrepancies to ensure equal pay for equal work.

- Ensuring there is no pregnancy testing for female applicants and adopting a policy on the prohibition of pregnancy testing for applicants and employees.

- Ensuring applicants are not asked about their family circumstances beyond what is required by law to protect worker safety.

- Supporting employees' rights with respect to breastfeeding in the workplace and providing private breastfeeding/pumping facilities and breaks in accordance with legal requirements.

- Complying with the provisions of ILO Convention No. 183 and ILO Recommendation 191 on maternity protection, including the international minimum of 14 weeks paid maternity leave, with a compulsory 6-week period after birth, and considering providing the recommended 18 weeks.

- Temporary contracts should only be used for seasonal workers. Companies should avoid exploiting a loophole in the Labour Law (Article 39-F) that allows for the long-term employment of temporary workers as long as there is a termination of the contract every 6 months, followed by a subsequent rehiring of the same individual.
- Companies could also conduct an assessment of the costs and benefits of temporary contracts. This could include a) reviewing guest satisfaction scores for majoritypermanent employees vs majority-temporary employees; b) reviewing retention and absentee rates based on contract type; and c) evaluating the cost of hiring, training and firing seasonal workers versus the cost of maintaining employment during low season.
- The industry as a whole could use leverage with government to push for additional social security and housing benefits for temporary workers.
- Conducting human rights due diligence on high risk business partners in advance of awarding a contract and on suppliers deemed high risk from a human rights perspective.
- Monitoring and auditing suppliers' compliance with the Code of Conduct through onsite audits of their facilities that include worker interviews; ensure Corrective Action Plans are in place if a violation is found, and additional follow up audits are performed as appropriate.
- Identifying ways in which first tier suppliers can encourage compliance with relevant human rights standards among second tier suppliers.

## Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies.

#### **Working hours**

Does the company ensure that the work week is limited to 48 hours; that overtime is infrequent and limited; and that workers are given reasonable breaks and rest periods?

- Normal company working hours are limited to 48 per week by both company policy and practice, or fewer if provided by national law, collective agreement or industry standards.
- Overtime is infrequent, remunerated at premium rate, and does not exceed 12 hours in any one week, or 36 hours per month.
- The company has a system to plan, record and monitor hours worked by each employee, and regularly evaluates whether the number of workers is sufficient to meet production targets without resorting to overtime.
- Where overtime per worker systematically exceeds 12 hours per week, the company increases its workforce to correspond to production targets, or puts in place measures to increase worker productivity and reduce overtime.
- Workers are allowed at least 24 consecutive hours of rest (or more if provided by national law or industry standards) in every seven-day period.
- The company ensures that workers have no less than a 30-minute break for every 4 hours of work (or more if provided by national law or industry standards) and that workers are allowed to use toilet facilities whenever necessary and not just during designated breaks.

#### Wages

Does the company provide a living wage that enables workers to meet the basic needs of themselves and their dependents?

- It is company policy to provide workers with a living wage sufficient to meet basic food, clothing and housing needs and provide some discretionary income for themselves and their dependents.
- The company is aware of whether the legal minimum wage in the country of operation meets the requirement for a living wage.

- If no national minimum wage is established, or if national minimum wage standards are insufficient to meet the basic needs of workers and their dependents, the company calculates a living wage based on the cost of living in its area of operation.
- Part-time workers receive wages and benefits that are proportionate to those of fulltime workers, and receive overtime compensation at a minimum of 1.25 times their hourly salary.
- The company pays wages at regular intervals and does not take deductions from wages for disciplinary measures or other deductions not authorised by national law.
- Bonus and piece-rate payment systems are monitored to ensure that the total salary paid meets living wage requirements without resort to overtime.

#### Employment status

Does the company ensure that all workers have an official employment status?

- The company ensures that all employees receive employment contracts prior to starting work for the company, and that contracts are understood by each employee.
- Contracts detail each employee's rights and obligations of employment, including clear job description, bonus and salary systems, and reasonable notice periods.
- Reference to company handbooks or other relevant documents on employment terms are integrated into the contract.
- The company ensures that contractors provide workers operating within company premises with an official employment status in line with company standards.

#### Leave

Does the company ensure that workers are paid holiday leave, sick leave, and parental leave in accordance with international minimum standards?

- Workers are granted at least three weeks of paid holiday leave per year or more if required by national law or collective agreements. Part-time and short-term workers are provided with paid holiday leave proportionate to the number of hours worked, at a rate equal to that of permanent full time employees.
- Workers are entitled to paid sick leave in accordance with the applicable national law. If sick leave is not provided for in national law, the company consults with union or worker representatives to establish alternative means of protection in case of illness or injury.
- The company ensures that sick leave is not deducted from workers' vacation time.
- Female workers are entitled to no less than fourteen weeks of paid maternity leave per child.
- The company grants compassionate or parental leave to workers who have recently adopted a child or children, or have taken on the responsibility to care for foster children or other dependent children.

#### Standards & Guidance

NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre

- Ethical Trading Initiative Base Code (2012) and ETI Principles of Implementation (2009): The Ethical Trading Initiative is an alliance of different business stakeholders promoting the implementation of corporate codes of practice that cover supply chain working conditions. The alliance consists of companies, NGOs and trade union organisations. The ETI Base Code has been developed as a code of labour practice, targeted generally for supply chains, and is in line with the key international labour standards. The accompanying ETI Principles of Implementation outline the requirements needed by corporate members to implement the ETI Base Code in their supply chains, including the necessary commitments, management practices and behaviours. <sup>406</sup>
- Institute for Human Rights and Business and Global Business Initiative on Human Rights, State of Play: The Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights in Business Relationships (2012): The Report examines how the UN Guiding Principles can contribute and guide the complex network of business relationships that now exist in a global economy. It explores how companies of all sizes are now beginning to implement human rights considerations and the UN Guiding Principles into both traditional and contemporary business relationships. <sup>407</sup>
- IFC Performance Standard 2: Labour and Working Conditions (2012): IFC PS2 is guided by the international labour standards as outlined by the ILO and covers a range of aspects, including: terms and conditions of employment, non-discrimination, health and safety, and forced labour. The Standard addresses employees, contracted workers and supply chain workers. <sup>408</sup>
- Portal for Responsible Supply Chain Management (est. 2008): The Portal is designed to support companies in improving the social and environmental conditions within their supply chain. The Portal offers tools and guidance on a number of supply chain issues, such as child labour, corruption and discrimination. In addition, the Portal also details sector specific resource material and pertaining legislation. <sup>409</sup>
- OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011): The OECD Guidelines are recommendations addressed by governments to multinational enterprises operating in or from adhering countries. Chapter 5 is on employment and industrial relations, aligning with the international labour standards of the ILO. <sup>410</sup>
- International Labour Organization ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work (1998): It comprises four categories that states must respect, regardless of whether or not they ratify Conventions. These four categories are: (1) freedom of association, freedom of unionisation and effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining; 2) the elimination of forced or compulsory labour; (3) the abolition of child

#### Labour Standards Occupational Health & Safety

labour; and (4) the elimination of discrimination regarding employment and occupation.  $^{\rm 411}$ 

 United Nations Sub-Commission Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises in the Field of Human Rights (2003). It urges respect for and promotion of human rights by transnational corporations and other commercial enterprises. It also advocates respect for the right to equality and nondiscrimination and respect for the rights of workers. <sup>412</sup>

# Environment

# Company impacts on the environment that affect the health or livelihoods of local communities

Operating Environment	
Percentage of population with access to improved water sources	96% <sup>413</sup>
Environmental Performance Index rank	65/178 <sup>414</sup>
Food Security Index rank	39/133 (2016) <sup>415</sup>
Relevant laws <sup>416</sup>	<ul> <li>General Law on Ecological Equilibrium and Environmental Protection (1988).</li> <li>General Wildlife Law</li> <li>General Law for the Prevention and Integral Management of Waste</li> <li>General Law on Sustainable Forest Development</li> <li>Maritime Navigation and Trade Law</li> <li>National Water Law</li> <li>Climate Change Law</li> <li>General Law of National Property</li> </ul>
Responsible agencies	<ul> <li>Transparency Unit</li> <li>National Water Commission (Conagua)</li> <li>Secretary of Environment and Natural Resources (Semarnat)</li> </ul>
Local NGOs addressing this issue	<ul> <li>Mexican Center of Environmental Law, A.C. (CEMDA)</li> <li>Communication and Environmental Education, S.C.</li> <li>Ecological Culture, A.C.</li> </ul>

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

- Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez Human Rights Center
- Center for Analysis and Research, Fundar
- Greenpeace Mexico.
- Oxfam Mexico
- Serapaz, Services and Advices for Peace

### **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

Mexico's Constitution guarantees all persons the right to health and to an environment adequate for their development and wellbeing. <sup>417</sup> It clearly establishes the role of the State and society in the area of natural resources.<sup>418</sup> Its principles include the preservation of natural resources susceptible of appropriation, prevention and control of pollution affecting human health, care of the environment against its productive use by government sector and social and private sectors.<sup>419</sup>

According to 2014 data from the United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), in the territory of Mexico, which has an area of 194 million hectares, there is some type of plant formation, <sup>420</sup> housing between 10% and 12% of the planet's biodiversity. Data from the OECD (2013) indicate that forests provided shelter for 11 million people living in extreme poverty. <sup>421</sup> According to UNEP, in 2013 Mexico would occupy the fourth place in the world in terms of natural capital and biodiversity. <sup>422</sup>

In 2016, Business Transparency International (BTI) reported that so far, the government would not have taken any significant environmental action, because the major state programs were focused on achieving economic growth.<sup>423</sup>

According to several civil society organizations in Mexico, there prevail negative impacts of the mining sector on the environment, access to land and property, to food and to a decent life.<sup>424</sup>

### Water

The Congress of the Union added in 2012 a sixth paragraph to article 4 to raise the human right to water and sanitation to the constitutional rank, which obliges the State to promulgate new legislation in this matter. In addition, the State assumes the responsibility to respect, protect and ensure its compliance in an accessible, sufficient, healthy, acceptable and affordable manner with the participation of citizens.<sup>425</sup>

However, according to a Greenpeace report of 2012, Mexico did not require the government or industry to inform the public of wastewater discharges. <sup>426</sup> Although there is an Emissions and Pollutants Transfer Record (EPTR) <sup>427</sup> in which industries report releases of certain hazardous substances, this system is not mandatory, covers only a limited number of substances and has a number of inconsistencies, as new substances are reported without informing about previously reported substances. In addition, some data relating to the location of emissions are inaccurate, without a designated authority to monitor their compliance. <sup>428</sup>

The report also observed that more than 70% of surface water bodies in Mexico were affected as a result of pollution from all sources, where 31% of this surface was described as contaminated or extremely contaminated, reducing the amount available to provide clean water. Per capita water availability has dramatically decreased from 11,500 cubic meters (m3) in 1955 to 4,263 cubic meters in 2010, for a number of reasons including water pollution.<sup>429</sup>

Main pressures on marine ecosystems include overexploitation of agriculture, fisheries, pollution, including nitrogen deposits and eutrophication of runoff and domestic wastewater and industrial wastewater, habitat modification, such as the loss of wetlands and climate change.<sup>430</sup>

According to Conservation International, Chiapas, the southernmost state in Mexico, provides 30% of the country's fresh water. But poor production practices and deforestation contaminate water and make Chiapas' communities more vulnerable to extreme weather. <sup>431</sup>

Regarding company practices, in 2016 the BTI Transformation Index reported that water was rarely treated or recycled by companies. In this sense, companies that pollute are rarely sanctioned and those that are sanctioned because the negative impact caused by their activity reportedly pay only a small fine.<sup>432</sup>

Also, the abovementioned Greenpeace report said that one of the industries that posed serious problems is the textile industry, responsible for having discharged dangerous pollutants to Mexican rivers. Substances that can be found in Mexican rivers include highly toxic heavy metals such as mercury, lead and cadmium, which are regulated, and other harmful compounds such as toluene and benzene, which are not included in any regulation related to discharges in water.

In addition, the OECD reported that, with respect to the management of water resources by agriculture, in 2013 the sector accounted for more than three-quarters of the water extraction in Mexico. In addition, about 15% of the total extraction was carried out from unsustainable sources, while the efficiency in the use of the water remained very low. <sup>434</sup> In this sense, the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food stated in 2011 the overexploitation of key aquifers in the country is fuelled by Tarifa 9, an important subsidy on electricity use for agriculture (as groundwater is mainly pumped from wells) that leads to farmers paying only 23% of the cost of pumping and utilizing. <sup>435</sup>

On the other hand, the reform in the energy sector allows the fracking procedure, which is considered highly polluting. A study of Cartocritica revealed that at least 924 wells<sup>436</sup> have been drilled since 2003 using the fracking technique underno specific regulation and no information on the environmental impact studies performed. In the study of fracturing fluids analyzed, 750 different types of chemicals were identified (finding among them substances of great toxicity like methanol, benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene). In addition, wastewater for which

there is no treatment to this day contains not only the chemicals and sand that were originally introduced, but also heavy metals, hydrocarbons and even radioactive materials such as radon, which are found in the subsoil.<sup>437</sup>

The impact of this technique on the territory has repercussions on the availability and quality of water, on the emission of gases and the proliferation of earthquakes, thus affecting the quality of life, health and tranquility of the surrounding inhabitants.<sup>438</sup>

### Food and Livelihoods

Mexico took a major step by raising the right to food to constitutional status by reforming the Constitution in 2011 (Articles 4 and 27).

In practice, in 2012 the National Health and Nutrition Survey (ENSANUT) reported that more than a quarter of Mexicans had poor access to food, consumed a diet that was insufficient in quality and quantity and, in extreme cases, experienced hunger due to lack of financial means or other resources. In the indigenous population, the prevalence is more than double: 33.1%. About 20% of indigenous households had hunger experiences. Additionally, overweight and obesity in children, adolescents and adults has become a public health problem.<sup>439</sup>

According to a report issued in 2012 by the National Council for the Evaluation of Social Development Policy (CONEVAL), food price increases and the lack of long-term economic growth have reduced household purchasing power and contributed to poverty in Mexico.<sup>440</sup>

In 2011, the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food declared that agricultural policies encouraged the production of grains, rich in carbohydrates but relatively poor in micronutrients, at the expense of the production of fruit and vegetables; the result is that, for many Mexicans, particularly in urban areas or in the states of the northern part of the country, switching to more healthy diets is becoming increasingly difficult.<sup>441</sup>

En 2014, Oxfam informed that more than 50% of the food consumed in Mexico was produced by women, but only 10 % of women had access to the property of the land.<sup>442</sup>

Regarding Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs), the Law on Biosecurity of Genetically Modified Organisms provides rules on research, release, commercialization, exportation, and importation of GMOs. It is aimed at preventing, avoiding, or reducing the risks that these activities may cause to human health, the environment, biological diversity, or the health of plants and animals.<sup>443</sup>

The Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food noted in 2011 that the cultivation of transgenic maize in Mexico posed acute risks to the diversity of native maize landraces, given the unknown effects of genetically modified maize coexisting with non-genetically modified maize. The expansion of transgenic maize crops on a commercial scale and the potential resulting gradual disappearance of landraces could increase the dependency of farmers on a technology that would transfer resources to the seed companies holding the patents on these varieties, and thus increase the risks of small-scale farmers falling into debt. Furthermore, farmers cultivating native landraces of maize may find that their crops contain genes from transgenic plants, which could result in liability for infringing property rights of patent holders. <sup>444</sup> Civil society organizations reported in 2016 that communities in the Yucatan peninsula and their economies have been

affected by sowing of GMOs and the use of highly toxic pesticides by transnational corporations.<sup>445</sup>

### **Climate Change**

The legal context in Mexico regarding the use of energy resources is comprised of two major areas, that of hydrocarbons and their derivatives and that concerning the electricity sector. Within these two areas, climate change is indirectly associated, even though government actions in this sector directly affect the mitigation of the effects of climate change. <sup>446</sup> According to the latest data from the Government's National Inventory of Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHG), in 2013 the main sources of GHG emissions at national level were: mobile sources of motor transport and non-roads (26.2% of total emissions); the electricity generation sector (19%); the industry sector (17.3%) and the oil and gas sector (12.1%).<sup>447</sup>

According to the Special Climate Change Program (PECC) 2014-2018, the category of agriculture, forest and other land uses is the second most important source of GHG emissions into the atmosphere in Mexico, representing about 19% of total emissions.<sup>448</sup>

In this sense, Mexico's efforts to protect human health are particularly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. In 2016, 15% of the country's territory, 68.2% of its population and 71% of the GDP are exposed to the adverse impacts of climate change. In Mexico, roughly 18 million persons live in areas at high risk of flooding and climate variation also affects the availability of food and water and the transmission of diseases.<sup>449</sup>

Mexico's General Law on Climate Change (LGCC) directly addresses climate change, emphasizes the prevention of diseases related to climate change as well as the development of strong health services infrastructure, and establishes a special fund for climate action. The National System on Climate Change (SINACC), created by the General Law, is responsible for priority action on mitigation and adaptation.<sup>450</sup>

The National Commission on Human Rights (CNDH) in Mexico informed that Mexican national institutions and organizations have found a likely increase in several types of diseases, an increase in heat waves, and an increased burden on medical care providers. They have also noted potential decreases in agricultural production and access to water.<sup>451</sup>

### Deforestation

In practice, deforestation is a serious problem in Mexico.<sup>452</sup> Greenpeace Mexico reported in 2016 that the rate of deforestation in Mexico is one of the most intense on the planet. According to the Institute of Geography of the National Autonomous University of Mexico (UNAM), 500,000 hectares of forests and jungles are lost each year, constituting the fifth largest deforestation place in the world.<sup>453</sup> On the other hand, the OECD reported in 2013 that although the rate of deforestation declined considerably during the last decade, Mexico recorded an annual net loss of 155,000 hectares of forests on average over the 2005-2010 period.<sup>454</sup>

The main cause of deforestation is the conversion of natural ecosystems to agricultural and livestock production. Another factor that threatens forests is illegal logging, with an estimated 70% of the national timber market being illegal. <sup>455</sup>

### Participation and Access to Information

Article 6 of the Constitution establishes that the right to access to information is guaranteed by the State.

In 2016, the Environmental Democracy Index (EDI) reported that Mexico had a very good score for the Transparency pillar, a good score for the Justice pillar, and received a fair score for the Participation pillar.<sup>456</sup> Regarding transparency, the public must be granted a right to access environmental information on request, and the laws mandate the collection of a wide range of environmental information and the proactive disclosure of information to the public.<sup>457</sup>

The General Law on Transparency and Access to Public Information (LGTAIP) establishes that the authorities must publicly disseminate information on authorizations, permits and concessions on their websites, indicating who the permit holders are. .<sup>458</sup> The information that can be requested is not only the one that is produced directly by the authority but also the one delivered by individuals: studies, Environmental Impact Statement (EIS), records on pollutants emitted or on hazardous wastes, reports on compliance with conditions or other circumstances that were imposed by the authorities in the exercise of their powers, etc.<sup>459</sup>

In this sense, mining concessions, environmental impact authorizations, water concessions, wastewater discharge permits and most environmental permits are considered public information.

In 2015, the National Index of the Right to Access to Information Guarantee Agencies (INOGDAI) indicated that only 15 state transparency agencies scored higher than the general average, and 17 were below average. The national average performance of these transparency agencies was 49.74%.<sup>460</sup>

The General Law on Ecological Equilibrium and Environmental Protection (LGEEPA) defines environmental impact assessments as the procedures through which the Secretary of Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT) establishes the conditions to be met for the performance of work and activities that may cause ecological imbalance or exceed the limits and conditions laid down in the applicable provisions for protecting the environment and preserving and restoring ecosystems in order to avoid or minimize their negative effects on the environment. In addition, there is a right to environmental information recognized in the LGEEPA. According to it, every person has the right to request environmental information from SEMARNAT, the States, the Federal District and the Municipalities.<sup>461</sup>

The Environmental Democracy Index reported in 2014 that regarding the Participation pillar, the public is only granted a limited opportunity to participate in decisions relating to the environment, and most laws do not require government agencies to incorporate public comments in environmental decision making.<sup>462</sup>

There are two main mechanisms of participation: the public consultation, which operates as a space for interested parties to send their observations on the environmental impacts of a work project and/or activity that has been submitted to the Environmental Impact Assessment

Procedure. The second is the Public Information Meeting, as long as the public consultation has been opened, where the promoter of the work or activity must expose the environmental technical aspects of the works or activity in question, the possible impacts that will be caused by its implementation and the prevention and mitigation measures that would be implemented. Likewise, he will answer any questions that may arise. <sup>463</sup>

The law provides a procedure by which the public can challenge government decisions to deny information requests. It also provides broad standing for members of the public to challenge a wide range of decisions that harm the environment or violate their environmental rights. However, Access Initiative informed in 2016 that the law does not provide assistance mechanisms to reduce societal and financial barriers to justice.<sup>464</sup>

Since September 2014, PODER and a handful of local organizations have accompanied farming communities in the Sierra Norte region of the State of Puebla in implementing Mexico's first community-led HRIA (Human Rights Impact Assessment) in the extractive sector. <sup>465</sup>

### Air Pollution

According to the Mexican Center for Environmental Law (CEMDA), air is one of the fundamental conditions that make life possible for human beings and other living beings, which, in its pure and clean state, allows the proper development of more vital functions and an adequate standard of living.<sup>466</sup>

In practice, the National Health Information System indicated in 2014 that respiratory disease mortality was the third leading cause of death in children from 0 to 4 years of age. In this sector of the population, 90% of the deaths due to acute respiratory infection and 60% due to asthma occur.<sup>467</sup>

Figures from the Mexican Institute for Competitiveness (IMCO) also stated that, from January 2010 to 2013, poor air quality caused 19,242 premature deaths, 53,191 hospitalizations and more than 3 million medical consultations. Apart from the high costs in the health system, these results also give rise to labour absenteeism, which causes economic losses for families and for the country, as it limits the competitiveness of cities, discourages talent and may even limit the potential for new investments. <sup>468</sup>

According to a complaint in 2013 from several civil society organizations before the Mexico's National Human Rights Commission about Mexico's poor air quality, the lag in updating Mexico's air quality standards was alarming: Ozone Standards were last updated in 2002; Particulate Material Standard in 2005; and Emission Standards for light and heavy vehicles in 2006.<sup>469</sup>

Transportation accounts for almost half of Mexico City's air pollution, which according to government data, kills as many as 2,700 people every year. While low-polluting fuel is already sold in Mexico City, it has yet to be made available nationwide by Pemex, the state-owned oil company. <sup>470</sup>

Bloomberg reported in 2016 that millions of people in Mexico City were suffering from the worst air quality in 14 years, as cars and trucks add to the pollution with their outdated emissions controls and Mexico's weaker pollution controls.<sup>471</sup>

## Cases

# Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.

- September 2016, ContraLínea: In the State of Sinaloa, the Bimbo Group operates under a model of industrial agriculture that puts health at risk with the use of 30 highly toxic pesticides banned in other countries, which are applied indiscriminately and do not remain in the production zone but rather filter into surrounding water bodies affecting essential natural resources and surrounding communities. <sup>472</sup>
- *April 2016, Expreso Campeche:* Members of the group of Semillas Much'Kanan I'inaj, integrated by indigenous people, peasants, beekeepers and *ejidatarios* of the Mayan people of the west of Bacalar, filed an *amparo* against the permission granted by SAGARPA (Secretary of Agriculture, Livestock, Rural Development, Fisheries and Food) to the company Monsanto to plant commercial GM soy, claiming that the said permit was issued without respecting the binding nature that, according to law, must have the biosafety approval of Conabio and Conap, who recommended not to authorize such planting due to the risks it poses to human health and the environment. <sup>473</sup>
- **February 2016, BTI Project:** A mine in Sonora, run by the country's largest mining company Minera Mexico, contaminated a very large extension of a river and tried to conceal the damage. As a result, people in the area suffered physical damage and a number of cattle died. Yet, the company was let off with a \$3 million fine, even though the damage will take years to be remedied, the costs of whichare much higher (possibly incalculable). <sup>474</sup>
- September 2015, PODER: The Federal Environmental Protection Agency (PROFEPA) claims that the Buenavista del Cobre mine has incurred 55 irregularities, has been negligent and has obtained economic benefits derived from lowering its costs for evading compliance with environmental standards in the management of leachate, hazardous waste and polluting emissions into the atmosphere in the management of the Cananea mine. <sup>475</sup>

## **Company Initiatives**

# *Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development*

### **Company Due Diligence Inititative**

- Unilever Mexico, 2016: as of January 1, 2016, 90% of the energy consumed by the company comes from wind energy, which has allowed in the first months of 2016 savings of over 11,000 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub>. In addition, they started a major replacement program for ice-cream distribution vehicles in Holland, with expected annual reductions of more than 26 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub>. <sup>476</sup>
- **Nestle, 2016**: they have committed to lowering the GHG emissions associated with the production and distribution of their food and beverages, by improving energy efficiency,

using cleaner fuels and investing in renewable sources. In this sense, in Mexico they are obtaining 85% of their electrical energy needs from wind power.<sup>477</sup>

- *Wal-Mart, 2016:* continued investment in sustainable facility design has resulted in more than half of their stores in Mexico being powered by wind and other clean energy sources. <sup>478</sup>
- **Greenpeace, 2012:** a number of fashion brands and sportswear have joined the Greenpeace Detox challenge (106) and have made individual commitments for the zero spill of hazardous chemicals by 2020 (108). Six of the brands that joined the Greenpeace Detox challenge, including Puma, Nike, Adidas and Li-Ning sportswear brands, as well as the fashion brands H&M and C&A are currently collaborating on further development and implementation both of their individual plans and of a collective plan to achieve zero dumping of hazardous chemicals (111), which sets out the steps they intend to take to meet their commitments. With their "joint roadmap", they invite others to participate in this effort. <sup>479</sup>

## Stakeholder Recommendations

#### Letter of "Priority recommendations of civil society organizations to the United Nations Working Group on Business and Human Rights". 480

- Companies should provide information about the toxic wastes they generate, the mitigation measures they develop and the possible consequences of such wastes, specifically in industrial corridors where accumulated pollution can generate severe negative impacts.
- Businesses should dialogue with NGOs on alternatives to reduce their impact on the environment in their value chains.

## "Workshop on Business and Human Rights for the Working Group on Business and Human Rights in Mexico"<sup>481</sup>

- Companies must conduct due diligence processes
- Companies must disclose information and count reports of due diligence
- Companies need to improve accountability mechanisms
- State enterprises (Pemex and CFE) should lead by example with due diligence policies

## UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Program on Business and Human Rights, Mexico 2016<sup>482</sup>:

- Recommends that companies take action to address the drivers of climate change, which, if not halted, can have a significant human rights impact, such as:
  - Set carbon emissions based on science and adopt energy reduction goals
  - Compensating carbon emissions through internationally accredited projects
  - Work to obtain 100% of the energy from renewable sources
  - Elimination of deforestation originating from basic supply chains to produce basic products

- Reducing short-lived climate pollutants
- When possible, choose from the different energy sources, the cleanest
- Recommends that companies develop a corporate water strategy based on:
  - The corporate assessment of the water risk and opportunity of the facilities/ real estate portfolio
  - The application of an internationally approved analytical instrument, such as the Aqueduct tool of the World Resources Institute, <sup>483</sup> included within a solid protocol of water risk assessment
  - The inclusion of water risk assessments in high-risk, watershed-focused areas, including analysis of global demand, supply and basin quality, as well as human rights impacts related to the local water situation.
  - Ensuring that 100% of the wastewater is properly treated, either on-site or if untreated, reporting all wastewater spills (discharges) to the local government.
  - Ensuring that the company follows the UN Resolutions on the human right to water.
- Recommends that companies ensure that the entry or use of beaches adjacent to commercial establishments is not restricted in any way

### Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

#### **Precautionary Approach**

Does the company support a precautionary approach to environmental issues?

- In relevant cases, the company supports scientific research on environmental matters related to its products or operations.
- The company provides information to stakeholders about uncertainties and potential risks to workers, consumers, the public and the environment of the company's products and processes.
- The company identifies any soil and water contamination at its site or sites, assesses the environmental impacts and remedies any significant contamination.
- The company tries to avoid environmental damage by regular maintenance of production processes and environmental protection systems (air pollution control, waste water treatment systems etc.).
- The company conducts systematic risk assessments of materials used, products and processes to apply the precautionary approach.

- The company ensures transparency and engages in regular stakeholder dialogue with neighbours, civil society organisations and others with an interest in the company on critical environmental issues.
- If relevant, the company supports scientific research on environmental issues relating to the company's products and processes.

#### **Emergency Response**

# Does the company have emergency procedures in place to prevent and address accidents affecting the environment and human health?

- The company has identified the hazardous operations and the potential consequences on human health and the environment if an accident occurs.
- The company has detailed procedures, plans, equipment and training programmes to prevent accidents and emergencies.
- The company has detailed procedures, plans and equipment to effectively respond to accidents and emergencies if they occur.
- The company trains workers to respond to accidents and emergencies, including carrying out emergency drills at least once a year involving all workers.
- Where there is significant risk of impacts on local communities, the company has a procedure that enables it to immediately notify affected local communities about industrial emergencies, and informs about emergency response, evacuation plans and medical response.

#### **Energy Consumption and Climate Change**

# Does the company take measures to reduce energy consumption and emissions of greenhouse gases?

- The company complies with regulation regarding use of energy resources and emissions of greenhouse gases.
- The company has a climate strategy that identifies opportunities to reduce the company's energy consumption and/or emissions of greenhouse gases.
- The company has initiated practical activities to reduce energy consumption and/or greenhouse gas emissions.
- The company provides information and trains employees to implement energy reduction measures.
- The company monitors its energy consumption and/or emissions of greenhouse gases.
- The company has defined a baseline for its greenhouse gas emissions, which includes a definition of the business operations and activities, and the greenhouse gases that are accounted for e.g. as described in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.
- The company has targets for reducing its energy consumption and/or emissions of greenhouse gases.
- The company engages with the government and civil society organisations to develop policies and measures that provide a framework for the business sector to contribute to building a low carbon economy.

#### Water and Waste Water

# *Does the company take measures to reduce water consumption and treat waste water?*

- The company has the necessary permits to extract water or obtain water from the public water supply and for any waste water discharges.
- The company treats waste water before discharge to reduce adverse environmental impacts. If waste water treatment takes place outside the company's premises, the company is aware of the effectiveness of the treatment.
- The company monitors waste water discharges, including types, limit values and quantities of pollutants in the waste water.
- The company has targets for reducing water consumption and/or increasing the amount of water reused or recycled in different business operations and activities.
- The company provides information and trains workers to implement measures to reduce water consumption and reduce the need for waste water treatment.
- The company's use of water and its waste water discharges do not negatively affect the sustainability of water resources, the natural environment or the availability of water for drinking and sanitation purposes.
- The company engages with national, regional and local public authorities, and civil society organisations to address water sustainability issues related to affected water resources.

#### Waste Management

# Does the company take measures to prevent and reduce the production of waste and ensure responsible waste management?

- The company has the necessary permits for the handling, storage, recycling and disposal of waste, and, if relevant, complies with requirements for transporting hazardous waste across borders.
- The company has a strategy to manage waste responsibly and continuously attempts to prevent and reduce the production of waste.
- The company ensures that waste relevant for recycling is sorted and handed over to a recycling company.
- The company monitors the types and quantities of waste produced, including where and how waste is recycled, treated or disposed of.
- The company has targets for reducing waste production and/or increasing waste reused/recycled and measures its progress against these targets.
- The company provides information and trains workers on the safe handling, storage, transport and disposal of hazardous and special waste types.
- The company marks areas used for storage of waste, and properly labels all containers for storing waste, including a relevant symbol of danger for hazardous waste.
- The company requests recycling/treatment/disposal receipts from transport contractors.
- The company uses licensed contractors for the transport, recycling, treatment and disposal of hazardous waste.

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

#### Air Emissions

#### Does the company prevent, reduce and treat air emissions?

- The company has the necessary permits for emissions to air, and complies with legal requirements (e.g. air pollution standards and limit values).
- The company provides information and trains workers on how to manage air emissions.
- The company monitors the types and quantities of relevant emissions to air.
- The company treats relevant pollutants before they are emitted to the atmosphere (e.g. by using filters).
- The company continuously attempts to prevent and reduce air emissions.

#### Noise, Odour, Light and Vibrations

# *Does the company prevent and reduce impacts on the surrounding environment from noise, odour, light and vibrations?*

- The company has the necessary permits for levels of noise, odour, light and vibrations, and complies with legal requirements (e.g. standards or procedures).
- The company provides information and trains workers to manage noise, odour, light and vibrations.
- The company monitors levels of noise, odour, light and vibrations on the surrounding environment.
- The company treats/minimises impacts to ensure that there are no significant levels of noise, odour, light and vibrations.
- The company continuously attempts to prevent and minimise the levels of noise, odour and light (e.g. enclosed production, shielding, etc.).

#### **Chemicals and Other Dangerous Substances**

# Does the company minimise the use and ensure safe handling and storage of chemicals and other dangerous substances?

- The company has the necessary permits and complies with legal requirements for the handling, use and storage of chemicals and other dangerous substances.
- The company does not manufacture, trade and/or use chemicals and other dangerous substances subject to national or international bans or phase-outs.
- The company provides information and trains workers on the safe handling and use of chemicals and other dangerous substances.
- The company monitors the quantities of all chemicals and other dangerous substances used in production and maintenance.
- The company marks areas used for storage of chemical substances and products.
- The company properly labels all chemical substances and products including name of the chemical and a relevant symbol of danger.
- The company considers substitution important and continuously tries to use less harmful chemicals and substances.

#### **Biodiversity**

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

#### Does the company prevent, minimise and remedy significant impacts on biodiversity?

- The company has the necessary permits to operate in or alter the natural environment, and complies with legal requirements.
- The company is committed to operating within the framework of international conventions addressing biodiversity (e.g. the Convention on Biological Diversity, Cartagena Protocol on Bio- safety and the CITES Convention).
- The company has assessed important positive and negative impacts of its operations and activities on the natural environment and biodiversity (e.g. IUCN's Red List of Threatened Species and no alien invasive species).
- The company has previously and/or is currently taking measures to prevent and reduce the impacts of its operations and activities on biodiversity.
- The company clearly labels products containing GMOs and indicates if GMOs have been used in the production process.
- The company ensures that it has not had any unintended releases of GMOs.
- The company documents that workers have been adequately trained to handle GMOs.

#### **Natural Resources**

#### Does the company ensure that natural resources are used in a sustainable manner?

- The company has the necessary permits and complies with legal requirements regarding the cultivation, harvest, extraction and/or use of natural resources (e.g. wood, fish, metals, oil, coal etc).
- The company complies with legal requirements regarding the cultivation, harvest, extraction and/or use of natural resources (e.g. wood, fish, metals, oil, coal etc.).
- The company ensures that workers are trained in the sustainable cultivation, harvesting, extraction and/or use of natural resources.
- The company continuously attempts to prevent, minimise and remedy significant impacts on natural resources through environmentally friendly methods and alternative resource use.
- The company ensures that its use of renewable resources does not negatively affect the sustainability of the resource (i.e. the resource's ability to regenerate).
- The company demonstrates efforts to substitute non-renewable resources used in production with renewable resources.
- The company works with local and national public authorities as well as with international institutions to address sustainability issues related to natural resources (e.g. wood, water, fish, metals, oil etc.).

#### **Environmentally Friendly Technologies**

# *Does the company encourage the development and use of environmentally friendly technologies?*

- The company uses environmentally friendly technology.
- The company regularly evaluates its processes and technologies to see if there are more environmentally friendly alternatives.

- When developing new technologies and products, the company focuses on developing environmentally friendly technology e.g. by using life cycle assessments (LCA), design for sustainability or a cradle-to-cradle approach.
- When planning new investments in technology, the company considers the best available technology and stipulates minimum environmental criteria.
- When investing in new buildings, the company implements environmentally responsible and resource-efficient materials and/or technologies.
- The company makes information describing the environmental performance and benefits of using environmentally friendly technologies available to stakeholders.

#### Standards & Guidance

NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre.

- Certification EO100: It is a certification that seeks to highlight oil companies that are socially and environmentally responsible. By 2015 it announced its first certification for Quifa and Pacific Rubiales, companies that meet the industry's highest standards of environmental, social and health practices. This standard is built by a consultation process and it is the only voluntary standard that exists in the oil and gas industry. <sup>484</sup>
- ISO 14001: It is a standard that seeks to support the implementation of an environmental management plan that helps companies identify and manage the environmental risks derived from their operation. The standard establishes that the Plan must contemplate environmental objectives and goals, policies and procedures to achieve those goals, defined responsibilities, as well as a system to monitor progress.<sup>485</sup>
- Final report of the United Nations Environment Program (2015): there is an opportunity to create a financial system that could support more effectively the development of an inclusive green economy. <sup>486</sup>
- Report of the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the human rights implications of environmentally sound management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, Başkut Tuncak (2015): Includes the responsibility of companies to communicate information on risks and previous damages caused by the supply or use of hazardous substances. It also states that companies must ensure that these hazardous substances do not cause or contribute to human rights violations. <sup>487</sup>
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (1992): Its overall objective is to raise global awareness of the problem of climate change. It seeks through different mechanisms that member states implement measures to curb climate change, reduce the effects of emissions and concentrations of greenhouse gases on ecosystems and the environment, and mechanisms for adaptation to new climatic conditions. <sup>488</sup>
- Convention on the access to information, public participation in decision-making and access to justice in environmental matters (1999): seeks to guarantee citizens' rights to participate in environmental issues, around three pillars. 1. Access to information, 2. Public participation in environmental decision-making and 3. Access to justice.<sup>489</sup>

#### Community Impacts

• Forest Stewardship Council Certification: It is a voluntary certification that guarantees the products come from well-managed forests and that generate some kind of environmental, social or economic benefit.<sup>490</sup>

# Land & Property

Human rights impacts related to company acquisition, use and management of land

Operating Environment	
International Property Rights Index rank (IPRI)	10/22 (region) 78/128 (world) Mexico's IPRI increased in 2016 by 0.1 to 4.8 placing it 10th in the Latin American and the Caribbean and 78th in the world. <sup>491</sup>
Heritage Foundation: Economic Freedom Index Property Rights score	2016 Economic Freedom Score: 65.2 (down 1.2 points) <sup>492</sup>
Relevant law	• Internal Regulations of the Commission for the Regularization of Land Tenure, 1995.
Responsible ministries	<ul> <li>Secretary of Agrarian Reform - SRA</li> <li>Agricultural Attorney</li> <li>National Agricultural Registry - RAN</li> </ul>
Local NGOs addressing this issue	<ul> <li>AGAJI</li> <li>PRODESC</li> <li>CEDAM</li> <li>PBI</li> <li>Mexican Center of Environmental Law, A.C. (CEMDA)</li> <li>Communication and Environmental Education, S.C.</li> <li>Ecological Culture, A.C.</li> <li>Miguel Agustín Pro Juárez Human Rights Center</li> </ul>

- Center for Analysis and Research, Fundar
- Greenpeace Mexico.
- Oxfam Mexico
- Serapaz, Services and Consulting for Peace
- Tlachinollan

### **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

Article 27 of the Constitution recognizes three types of land ownership: public, private and social. The first is subject to the provisions and uses dictated by the State; the second is transmitted by the right of the Nation to individuals; and the third is limited to communal property.<sup>493</sup>

According to several civil society organizations in Mexico, mining legislation opens the door for companies to invest in Mexican territory without considering environmental impacts, violations of labour rights, collective rights of indigenous peoples and, in general, human rights. <sup>494</sup>

### Land Administration

In 2016, the International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs (IWGIA) reported that the Mexican State approved the "Surface occupation guide" issued by the Ministry of Economy, which according to organizations fighting against mining companies' harmful soiling of land, promotes the dispossession of the land under the argument of promoting the development of the mining sector.<sup>495</sup>

In 2016, the Business Anti-Corruption Portal reported that land administration in Mexico lacked transparency and was susceptible to corruption. Property rights were reportedly not sufficiently protected due to weak law enforcement, and were threatened by the solicitation of bribes and extortion by officials and bureaucrats. Unlawful seizure and deprivation of property also allegedly occured, and forced land sales and transfers have been reported, as have illegal activities related to land administration in exchange for bribes.<sup>496</sup>

A report from Mexican Transparency, based on a nation-wide survey of more than 15,000 households, uncovered in 2011 that illegal payments to land authorities ranked among the top 10 services plagued by bribery in the country.<sup>497</sup>

On the other hand, Minority Rights Group reported in 2016 that indigenous farmers were alledgedly harassed or attacked by paramilitary groups as they worked their land. Police brutality and mistreatment by the justice system were commonly reported. <sup>498</sup>

### Land Acquisition

The reform to Article 27 of the Mexican Constitution states that all minerals in the Mexican territory belong to the public domain, allowing certification, transfer, and privatization of communal land. The Regulatory Law for Mining in 1992 allowed the acquisition and use of land for private interests. Together with the North American Free Trade Agreement, these legislative changes paved the way for the transformation of the industry.<sup>499</sup>

According to the federal Mining Law, private parties must obtain a concession from the federal government in order to gain access to these resources. Land use by the mining industry, including exploration, extraction and processing of minerals, is given priority over any other use of the land (article 6 of Mining Law). Even after a mining concession has been granted, it may not be executed until the Secretary of Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT) authorizes an environmental impact study and an official change in the way the land may be used.<sup>500</sup>

According to the Mexican Center of Environmental Law, legal provisions that grant preferential use of land for mining activities violate both the Mexican Constitution and international treaties on human rights ratified by Mexico. <sup>501</sup>

According to the Civil Society Focus Group on Business and Human Rights, until 2014, the Mexican government had granted 29,000 mining concessions, many of them in areas dedicated to environmental conservation and inhabited by indigenous communities. In the case of the Wixrarika indigenous people, the Mexican State has refused to revoke the mining concessions granted, even though they directly affect the right to land. <sup>502</sup>

The NGO PODER documented in 2015 the existence of 440 mining concessions, in addition to 15 private hydroelectric projects, as well as the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons in oil fields operated by Halliburton and Diavaz in the State of Puebla. Sixty-percent of the mining concessions are allegedly in the hands of Almaden Minerals company.<sup>503</sup>

At a public hearing in 2014 at the Inter-American Commission of Human Rights (ICHR), petitioners stated that 35% of the national territory had been concessioned through more than 29,000 projects relating to mining, hydroelectric, and wind power. Of these, 17% are within indigenous territories. According to the petitioners, some concessions were very significant because they encompass almost the totality of small towns.<sup>504</sup>

During his visit in 2011, the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food heard testimony from people in different regions of the country who were at risk of land expropriation or resettlement because of major development projects such as construction (for example, La Parota and El Paso de la Reyna), large-scale infrastructure projects (for instance roads, such as the Carretero de Huejuquilla El Alto Project) and mining, (for example the Cerro de San Pedro in San Luis Potosí).

Land disputes in urban areas are also common. USAID informed in 2011 that almost 5% of Mexico's communal lands (*ejidos*) were located in the country's 110 main cities, and 15% of all communal lands were affected by problems caused by land invasions and informal settlements.

This has given rise to widespread conflicts between new (informal) occupants and shareholders of communal land, undermining the broader framework of governance in rural areas. <sup>506</sup>

With regards to women's access to land, information from the Environment and Natural Resources Service (SEMARNAT) indicated in 2014 that in particular many women *ejidatarias*, who do not own the land are deprived of access to programs of equipment, infrastructure, loans, leasing, economic support for payment of environmental services, and are not adequately represented in decision-making pertaining to the organization of the agricultural activities of the lands on which they work. <sup>507</sup>

Business Transparency International reported in 2016 that none of the main infrastructure projects of the current administration, such as the high-speed rail to Querétaro or the new airport in Mexico City, have been subjected to an environmental impact assessment.<sup>508</sup>

### Free, Prior & Informed Consent

In the recent Constitutional Reform on Human Rights, Mexico included the right to free, prior and informed consent. With regards to indigenous peoples, that standard was specified in the International Labour Organization's Convention 169, which was ratified by Mexico in 1990, as well as the United Nations Declaration on Indigenous Peoples.

In practice, according to the Interamerican Commission on Human Righst, serious human rights violations against indigenous peoples and communities in Mexico occur in two main areas: violence in the context of mega-projects on ancestral lands and territories authorized without the due process of free, prior and informed consultation and consent; an in the context of title claims affecting their land, and the lack of due process in criminal matters. As a result of the struggle for their lands, information had also surfaced about the criminalization of human rights defenders of indigenous peoples. <sup>509</sup>

Fundar, Cemda and ProDesc stated in 2014 that in many cases, consultation was ordered to obtain prior, free and informed consent, but its fulfillment represented great challenges for the affected organizations and communities given that they were at a disadvantage with the state and companies that have all the information and resources needed to negotiate with certain groups that did not represent the will of the entire community. <sup>510</sup>

On the other hand, according to the NGO PODER, in 2015 the Mexican State has allegedly granted 331,729 hectares to private companies without previously informing or respecting the right of prior, free and informed consent of the communities. In complicity with the companies, the communities that organize to defend their territory have reportedly been repressed. <sup>511</sup> In 2016, Minority Rights Group International stated that Communities and NGOs representing indigenous groups continued to report that the government often failed to consult indigenous communities adequately when making decisions about the development of projects intended to exploit energy, minerals, timber, and other natural resources on indigenous lands. <sup>512</sup>

As an example, during the Human Rights High Commissioner's visit to Mexico in 2015, NGOs reported that in relation to the companies involved in megaprojects, they would not be adequately consulting the indigenous peoples whose lands and resources they planned to exploit. <sup>513</sup> As for agriculture, the Mexican Business and Human Rights Focus Group reported in 2014 that the Mexican government had granted permits without adequate scientific evidence,

#### Community Impacts

thus facilitating the planting and cultivation of genetically modified organisms. In the case of the population of Bacalar, in the State of Quintana Roo, in rural areas the genetically modified maize of the company Monsanto would have allegedly been distributed without having previously consulted the Mayan people who live there.<sup>514</sup>

In terms of fracking, according to PODER data, in 2013 there were 233 wells that were used in the Sierra Norte without the population being informed about whether they were unconventional hydrocarbon deposits or not and, therefore, about the risks and negative impacts it implied for their territories, their environment and their lives. <sup>515</sup> In relation to the main states where fracking projects were carried out<sup>516</sup>, Cartocritica indicated in 2015 that the population close to these projects had not been informed, consulted or had been given the chance to exercise their right to prior, free and informed consent. In this sense, the populations are unaware of what chemicals are being injected into the subsoil and where the waste water that is produced by each fracture is located. It is considered likely that the population of these zones is consuming highly toxic water that affects their health. <sup>517</sup>

International Peace Brigades indicated in 2014 that in the State of Oaxaca, the Zapotec and Huave peoples were not consulted in the development of wind farms in the area. <sup>518</sup>

Regarding mining, the same source pointed out in 2011 that the Mining Law of Mexico did not establish consultation mechanisms for affected communities and that this violated international treaties. Rural communities living in territories with high mineral content said that they were not adequately consulted on these projects and that they received no economic compensation proportional to the profits obtained by the company or the impact that extraction had on their quality of life. In addition, the community faced episodes of violence as a result of being opposed to the mining projects.<sup>519</sup>

### Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- June 2016, ProDesc: Excellon Resources Canadian mining company violated a contract with *ejidatarios* of La Sierrita de Galeana, in Durango, when exploring more hectares of the leased property. The community filed a lawsuit to nullify the agreement and reclaim their land. However, in view of the difficulty of negotiating with the company, in 2012 they established a camp that affected the operations and profits of the company, which, according to a study of two organizations and the President of the Sierrita Ejidal Commissariat, resulted in Excellon pressing to the state government to evict them. Throughout the conflict, the community has been victim of intimidation and threats. So far, the Agrarian Unitary Court has not determined the annulment of the contract. <sup>520</sup>
- October 2015, ProDesc: Human rights defender of Zapotec indigenous ethnicity denounced during the hearing before the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) the violations that occurred during the first indigenous consultation process that the Mexican government implemented for the construction of the energetic megaproject of the Energía Eólica del Sur company. <sup>521</sup>

- **August 2015, ProDesc**: Members of the Zapotec indigenous community of Juchitán, Oaxaca, filed a petition for *amparo* for serious violations of the right to consultation before the Seventh District Court of the State of Oaxaca. The presentation was made at the announcement by the Energy Secretary (SENER) of the beginning of the construction of the wind farm of Eólica del Sur company in the communities of Juchitán and El Espinal, located in the Isthmus of Tehuantepec, Oaxaca. <sup>522</sup>
- Febuary 2015, PODER: The Observation Mission of the consultation on the project of Eólica del Sur company in Juchitán, Oaxaca, highlights the persistence of violation of the guiding principles of the right to consultation and prior, free and informed consent. At least twenty security incidents that endanger the integrity of those involved in this process are documented. <sup>523</sup>
- **February 2014, BHRRC:** The First District Judge of the State of Guerrero issued an unpublished judgment in favour of the indigenous community Júba Wajiín, in which he considered that their rights had been violated by allocating mining concessions without their consultation, invoking international treaties that Mexico has signed and ratified, such as Convention 169 of the ILO, as well as the jurisprudence of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights. <sup>524</sup>
- If more cases are required, see (case of the Yaqui tribe, Wirikuta case, San Miguel del Progreso case, Mayan communities against transgenics case, among others) <sup>525</sup> on "forced" prior consent and unequal conditions.

## **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

• **PepsiCo, 2014:** introduced a specific land policy in order to help protect the rights of indigenous peoples in their supply chain. To support its implementation, they committed to implementing a third-party audit program, based on available and accepted standards, of the social, environmental and human rights aspects. They are committed to implementing audit programs for their palm oil supply chain in Mexico by the end of 2016 or sooner if deemed possible. The assessments will include impacts related to land rights and will be conducted with the participation of affected communities. <sup>526</sup>

### Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

*Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.* 

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

#### Land & Property

- Before buying, renting, acquiring or otherwise accessing land or property, does the company ensure that all affected owners and users of the land or property, have been adequately consulted and compensated?
- Prior to buying, renting, acquiring or otherwise accessing land or property, whether directly or through a third party, the company identifies all existing owners and users of the land or property, including information on land users and customary owners.
- The company investigates the past usage and ownership of the land or property to ensure that past users and owners have not been wrongfully removed, and that any expropriations by the authorities have been conducted in accordance with international law.
- The company consults with affected users and owners of the land or property (including women, tenants, settlers, minorities and other vulnerable groups including indigenous peoples) and seeks their free, prior and informed consent before continuing to acquire or access the land or property.
- The company ensures that its lease or purchase of residential property and sourcing of food commodities does not considerably make housing and food scarce or too expensive for the local people.
- The company ensures that affected owners and users of the land or property are adequately compensated to help them restore their standards of living or livelihoods to the same standard or higher than before, and that the compensation standards are transparent and applied consistently to all communities and persons affected.

#### **Standards and Recommendations**

# NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre

- FAO Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure (2012): Developed by the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the UN (FAO), the Guidelines promote responsible governance of tenure of land, fisheries and forests by outlining the principles and internationally accepted standards for the responsible governance of tenure. The Guidelines inform states and non-government actors on relevant policies, strategies and activities.
- IFC Performance Standard 5: Land Acquisition and Involuntary Resettlement, and IFC Handbook for Preparing a Resettlement Action Plan (2002): The IFC Performance Standards are contractually binding on certain projects receiving IFC finance. PS5 is accompanied by a Guidance Note and a Resettlement Handbook that gives detailed guidance on managing resettlement and associated impacts.
- Principles for Responsible Agricultural Investment that Respects Rights, Livelihoods and Resources (2012): A joint initiative of UNCTAD, FAO, IFAD and the World Bank, these seven principles cover all types of investment in agriculture, including between principal

#### Community Impacts

investors and contract farmers. The Principles provide a framework for national regulations, international investment agreements, global corporate social responsibility initiatives, and individual investor contracts.

# Revenue Transparency &

# Management

Human rights impacts related to transparency of government revenues received from business and the distribution of such revenues

Operating Environment	
World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Ranking	57/140 (2015) <sup>527</sup>
Legatum Prosperity Index rank: Governance	67/142 <sup>528</sup>
Ease of Doing Business Index	-2 <sup>529</sup>
(where 1 indicates greatest ease for doing business)	
Transparency International: Corruption Perceptions Index rank (where 1 indicates the lowest level of corruption)	95/168 <sup>530</sup>
World Bank Good Governance Indicators	
Voice and Accountability	-0,05 in 2014 (-2.5 weak; 2.5 strong)
Political Stability	- 0,76 in 2014 (-2.5 weak; 2.5 strong)
Government Effectiveness	0,19 in 2014 (-2.5 weak; 2.5 strong)
Regulatory Quality	N/A
Rule of Law	-0,45 in 2014 (-2.5 weak; 2.5 strong)
Control of Corruption	44% (2010)
Government revenue	4,746,945.7 million pesos (estimation for 2016) <sup>531</sup>
Government expenditure <sup>532</sup>	Social Development: \$2,199,538.2 Economic Development: \$1,032,305.8 Government: \$330,204.2

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

#### Community Impacts

EITI Country (Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative)	In 2015, Mexico created a working group to join the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. <sup>533</sup>
Relevant law	<ul> <li>Federal Law on Responsibilities of Public Servants</li> <li>Law Against Money Laundering</li> <li>Hydrocarbons Law</li> <li>Federation Income Law</li> <li>Revenue Act on Hydrocarbons</li> <li>Law on Acquisitions, Leases and Services of the Public Sector</li> <li>Public Works and Related Services Law</li> <li>Law of the Mexican Petroleum Fund for Stabilization and Development</li> </ul>
Responsible ministries	<ul> <li>National Institute of Transparency, Access to Information and Protection of Personal Data (INAI)</li> <li>Public Function Secretary</li> <li>Public Government Information Electronic System (CompraNet)</li> </ul>
Local NGOs addressing this issue	<ul> <li>PODER</li> <li>Mexican Transparency</li> <li>Mexican Institute for Competitiveness (IMCO)</li> <li>Fundar</li> <li>Network for Accountability</li> </ul>

### **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

### Corruption

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

#### Community Impacts

In 2015, the National Anti-Corruption System (ANS) was created, which seeks to group institutions responsible for combating corruption within a single committee, with the aim of coordinating and aligning them for the first time under a National Anti-Corruption Policy. Its ultimate goal will be to end the growing impunity that rules in Mexico.<sup>534</sup>

The Federal Penal Code criminalizes corruption, active and passive bribery, extortion, abuse of office, money laundering, bribery of foreign public officials and facilitation payments. Criminal penalties for corruption range from five to ten years of imprisonment. The Federal Public Servants' Responsibilities Law prohibits public officials from requesting or accepting goods or services, either free or at a price less than market value, from individuals or corporations whose professional interests conflict with the official duties of the public servant. The law requires public officials to declare any gift valued at ten times the minimum wage in Mexico (USD 48) within 15 business days or deliver it to the administrative authority. The Anti-Money Laundering Law restricts operations for a variety of vulnerable activities and provides criminal sanctions and administrative fines for failure to comply. <sup>535</sup>

Despite this, Business Transparency International (BTI) reported in 2014 that, although there is a strong legal framework, Mexico's anticorruption legislation is not apply effectively. Protection in case of leakage or uncovering of information is quite weak, and no legal protection is established for those who report cases of corruption. <sup>536</sup>

In this regard, Mexican Transparency (MT) identified in its last National Index of Corruption and Good Governance of 2010, 200 million corruption acts using public services provided by federal, state and municipal authorities, as well as concessions and services administered by individuals. To access or facilitate the 35 processes and public services measured by MT, more than 32 billion pesos were allocated in "mordidas" (bribes).<sup>537</sup>

The 2013 Resource Governance Index indicated that corruption posed a high risk for Mexico's extractive sector. The oil and mining industries experience low transparency, ineffective audit processes, and weak legal frameworks in their contracting and reporting procedures. <sup>538</sup>

National audit organizations have the power to review all government accounts, including those of Pemex. In practice, however, auditors lack the capacity to effectively oversee the oil sector and review only a small fraction of public funds. <sup>539</sup> In this sense, in 2016 the Business Anti-Corruption Portal reported that Pemex had recently experienced a number of corruption allegations.<sup>540</sup>

### Public Procurement

Article 134 of the Constitution stipulates that the procurement and leasing of all types of goods and services and the contracting of public works must be carried out through public tenders to guarantee the best possible conditions in terms of price, quality, punctuality and other relevant factors. The Law on Procurement, Leasing and Public Sector Services (LAASSP) and the Law on Public Works and Related Services (LOPSRM), along with "laws on procurement", were approved in 2000 with subsequent reforms and implemented article 134 at the federal level. <sup>541</sup>

Public procurement is regulated by the Law on Acquisitions, Leases and Public Sector Services and by the Law on Public Work and Related Services. These laws address conflicts of interest

among federal procurement officials, competitive bidding, asset declaration and monitoring, reviews of procurement decisions, and blacklisting measures. <sup>542</sup>

Mexico's public procurement sector reportedly carries a high corruption risk. According to the Business Anti-Corruption Portal, a recent study found that businesses believe that public funds are often diverted to companies and individuals as a result of corruption and they perceive favoritism to be widespread among procurement officials. In 2015, almost half of businesses surveyed reportedly failed to win contracts because competitors had bribed procurement officials. <sup>543</sup>

Freedom House's 2015 Report informed that compliance with procurement regulations by state bodies was erratic, and corruption was extensive despite laws covering conflicts of interest, competitive bidding and company blacklisting procedures. <sup>544</sup>

In legal terms, Pemex can award contracts through a direct non-competitive allocation process, thus contributing to non-transparent practices in the industry. <sup>545</sup> The Revenue Wacht Institute reported in 2013 that prior to contracts being awarded by Pemex, there was only partial information on its subcontracting policies. Information about selection processes was not always available and service contracts were not published. <sup>546</sup>

### **Revenue Transparency**

Article 134 of the Constitution establishes that the management and use of federal resources by states, municipalities, the Federal District and territorial administration bodies must be regulated under the principles of efficiency, effectiveness, economic solidity, transparency and integrity.<sup>547</sup>

The Law of the Mexican Petroleum Fund for Stabilization and Development of 2014 is the instrument that seeks to achieve transparency in the generation and use of the economic resources produced by the energy sector. The Mexican Oil Fund (FMP), a public trust that acts as a mechanism for receiving and executing payments on exploration and exploitation (E&E) assignments and contracts, has the objective of ensuring that Mexican society can provide timely and objective follow-up of the results of these activities.<sup>548</sup>

Mexico's online federal procurement website, Compranet, is intended to increase transparency in the government and to decrease the frequency of bribery. <sup>549</sup> Moreover, Mexico adopted in 2004 the Transparency Standards on Government Procurement by the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC). <sup>550</sup>

In the Action Plan of the Alliance for Open Government in Mexico 2013-2015, commitment 26 establishes Mexico's adherence to the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). The first steps in this process have already been made through the Mexican government's public statement of its intention to join EITI and through the appointment of the Hydrocarbons Subsecretary. <sup>551</sup>

In practice, Business Transparency International stated in 2016 that transparency laws are less stringent at the state than the federal level. There is no transparency in the use of public

resources and in many cases, it is a corrupt and inefficient use. Most of the resources are spent on current expenditure rather than on future infrastructure projects. <sup>552</sup>

On the other hand, in relation to projects related to climate change, Transparency International reported in 2014 that parastatal agencies such as public trusts or national credit institutions (including national development banks) executed a large part of these projects, presumably granting them significant administrative independence and tending to operate with high levels of secrecy, even when they make use of public resources. <sup>553</sup>

Regarding state reportability practices, Mexico received a "satisfactory" score of 82 out of 100 in the 2013 Resource Governance Index, reflecting comprehensive disclosure on many revenue indicators but poor contract transparency, according to the Revenue Wacht Institute.<sup>554</sup>

Although the Federal Institute for Access to Public Information (IFAI) has increased transparency and permitted access to information on how some federal resources are used, the BTI Transformation Index 2016 reported that in most cases of abuse, offenders were not punished. Also, many institutions and private companies are not subject to the oversight of the IFAI. <sup>555</sup>

Regarding business transparency, in 2015 a study by the NGO PODER revealed that it was not always possible to analyze the transparency policies of some companies, despite their public nature, since much of the available information exists because companies must inform their investors, rather than the states in which they have operations or the population affected by their activities. For example, in order to access information about Sierra Oil & Gas and Talos Energy companies, it is necessary to have a username and password. In this way companies make sure to only inform their investors and that other interested people, including possibly affected people by the activities of the company, do not have access to the information. <sup>556</sup>

### **Revenue Sharing**

The federal Constitution explicitly mentions revenue sharing in two instances. The first mention is in Article 73, which assigns excises (IEPS) exclusively to the federal government and then specifies that a secondary law will determine the proportion that states will receive from those revenues. And in the case of electricity revenues, the Constitution affirms that the state congresses will establish a share for municipalities. The second mention of transfers gives states exclusive authority over the land tax and provides that states should receive federal revenue shares according to conditions approved by the local congresses.<sup>557</sup>

On the other hand, all economic units of production and distribution of goods or services, whether natural or legal persons, who have workers at their service, whether or not they are taxpayers of the Income Tax, must pay the Participation of the Workers in the Profits (PWP) as long as they have had profits. Since 2009, the Income Tax Law established, with a term of ten years, the calculation of the PWP, which must be a 10% applicable tax on taxable income.<sup>558</sup>

According to the NGO PODER, in 2014, 40% of the GDP was presumably controlled by the 37 members of the Mexican Business Council through their companies. In addition, Mexico's largest companies were organized as family-owned conglomerates or consisted of holding companies that invested in other companies characterized by vertical integration. <sup>559</sup> Credit Suisse's 2014

#### Community Impacts

Global Wealth Report noted that Mexico's richest 10% of the population owned 64.4% of the country's total wealth, <sup>560</sup> while the National Household Income and Expenditure Survey reported the same year that 30% of households with higher incomes (deciles VIII, IX, X) was responsible for 62.5% of total current income, and the remaining 70% of households (from decile I to VII) obtained only 37.5% of total income. <sup>561</sup>

In relation to the hydrocarbons sector, the Hydrocarbons Revenue Law establishes the tax regime, which applies to each contract or assigned allocation of exploration and exploitation of petroleum resources, has the ultimate objective of efficiently collecting income from the extraction of oil resources of Mexico. The State has the Mexican Petroleum Fund for Stabilization and Development (FMP), which receives, administers and distributes revenues derived from exploration and extraction of hydrocarbons, with the exception of taxes, which are collected and administered by the Secretary of Finance and Public Credit (SHCP) through the Tax Administration Service (SAT), as well as managing the financial aspects of the contracts related to the calculation and payment of compensation to contribute to the stabilization and development of the nation. <sup>562</sup>

According to data from the Baker Institute, in 2011 the Mexican government obtained 35% of the total public revenues of the oil industry, including taxes and direct payments from Pemex, the state oil company. <sup>563</sup> Experts indicated in 2016 that it is increasingly far from making the FMP a source of long-term savings for the country, since the resources it obtains are mostly intended to finance the government. <sup>564</sup> In 2016, Business Transparency International (BTI) reported that the majority of the government's revenue obtained from oil over the past 10 to 12 years was allocated to current expenditures rather than investment projects. <sup>565</sup> At the end of December 2015, the FMP recorded an amount equivalent to 2.1% of GDP, far from the 4.7% established by law. <sup>566</sup>

In the mining sector, the Mining Law governs the creation of a Fund for Sustainable Regional Development, which establishes that 80% of the companies' contributions will go to infrastructure works in the states and municipalities where they operate. <sup>567</sup> The state government gets 37.5% of these resources, while 62.5% goes to municipalities where mining activities are carried out. <sup>568</sup>

According to Oxfam data, up to 2013, Mexico was one of the very few mining countries where no tax or royalty was levied on production at the entrance of the mine, which encouraged accelerated extraction and also favoured Mexican concessionaire miners disproportionately at the expense of the depletion of the country's mineral wealth.<sup>569</sup>

In terms of taxes, according to OECD data from 2015, 50% of Mexico's tax revenues came from taxes on goods and services, 30% from taxes on income, profits and capital gains and 16% of taxes on social security contributions. This implies that the fiscal structure in Mexico is much more oriented to taxing consumption than personal or business income. <sup>570</sup> Oxfam Mexico reported in 2015 that the capital gains tax regime in the stock market was subject to multiple exemptions. <sup>571</sup>

Taking into account 2011 data from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), from the perspective of the classification of expenditure according to its orientation in private and public goods, and according to its purpose for social welfare and direct and indirect productive development, public expenditure for public goods for productive development
represented a very small part (18%) compared to 33% for private goods contributing social benefits (opportunities, for example); 26% of public goods for social benefits (such as health and education); 15% for private goods of productive development (as supports in assets or incentives according to certain conditions); and 8% for current expenditure, as an indirect incentive. <sup>572</sup>

The 2016 Human Development Report reveals that the pattern line of expenditure allocation does not reflect an allocation proportional to the development deficiencies that are faced in the federative entities. Two of the great instruments to promote balanced regional development, public expenditure on human development (HDE) and decentralized federal spending, have distributional biases that favor the most developed states. On balance, the distribution of municipal expenditure for Mexico as a whole is pro-rich.<sup>573</sup>

In 2012, the highest percentage of total HDE (1,959,550,056,857 pesos) went to education (40.4%), followed by transfers to income (35.1%) and finally by health spending (24.5%), which was concentrated on the bracket of people who are covered through access to the Mexican Social Security Institute (IMSS) or to similar institutions linked to formal employment. <sup>574</sup>

Regarding tax matters, the NGO PODER reported in 2015 that there were favorable conditions for the payment of taxes by the hydrocarbons and mining industry. In the case of mining, it is assumed that entrepreneurs have a decision-making capacity over the destination of 80% of their tax payments. In contrast, small-scale farmers do not have the ability to track the use of the taxes that these companies pay. <sup>575</sup>This situation has been aggravated since the end of 2015 and due to the energy reform because after one hundred years of being exempt from income tax, ejidatarios, comuneros, farmers and agricultural producers whose lands have been expropriated, "temporarily occupied "or rented to oil or electric companies must pay the income tax, while the income they receive for it is higher than 200 minimum wages. <sup>576</sup>

# Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- September 2016, Animal Político: Between 2015 and 2016, the Tax Administration Service (SAT) exempted 15 companies from paying taxes in the amount of at least 15 billion pesos. According to the Fiscal Privileges report, which was presented by the organization Fundar among the companies benefiting from these exemptions were: Geo Corporation; Simec International; Industries CH; GEO; GEO Jalisco, GEO Northeast; Volskwagen; the National Polytechnic Institute; and Arnecom.<sup>577</sup>
- July 2016, Sin Embargo: Six Mexican companies failed in transparency and favoured corruption. With a maximum score of 10, Femsa and Mexichem had 4.6 points each, followed by Group Bimbo and Gruma with 3.7 and 3.6 points, respectively, while Grupo Alfa scored 2.8 points and Mabe 2.6 points.<sup>578</sup>
- **2016**, **Business Anti-Corruption Portal**: in 2011, fourteen company executives received a fine of US \$427 million for irregularities in the process of awarding contracts to companies that did not meet the established bidding requirements. <sup>579</sup>

- May 2015, Sin Embargo: A series of audio recordings were discovered in which OHL Mexico executives agreed to inflate the prices of a section of the Viaducto Bicentenario highway in the State of Mexico. The recordings directly involved a government official requesting inkind payment and vacation for himself and his family. <sup>580</sup>
- December 2012, New York Times: Wal-Mart built a Sam club in one of the most densely populated areas of Mexico City, paying bribes totaling \$341,000 pesos, without a construction license, environmental permit, urban impact assessment, or traffic permit. In addition, through bribes totaling \$765,000, Wal-Mart built a large refrigerated distribution center in a basin susceptible to flooding due to its environmental fragility, in the north of Mexico City. <sup>581</sup>

# **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

#### N/A

### Stakeholder Recommendations

# Civil society organizations letter of priority recommendations to the United Nations Working Group on Business and Human Rights: <sup>582</sup>

• The lack of independence of all branches of the State with the business sector results in the capture of the State by companies and an impediment on the authorities to control their activities. To that extent, the business sector must refrain from influencing the actions of the State for its own benefit.

# Workshop on Business and Human Rights for the Working Group on Business and Human Rights in Mexico:<sup>583</sup>

- Companies must be transparent in regards to the complaints they receive and their corresponding sanctions
- Companies should report on good practices

# UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Program on Business and Human Rights, Mexico 2016<sup>584</sup>

- Businesses should assess the opportunities of all-inclusive resorts to increase the economic benefits to local communities: this could include partnerships with tour operators, and community-led and sustainable enterprises.
- Support the development of inclusive economic growth by actively promoting local products on menus and in hotel stores and encouraging guests to shop on-site.
- Partner with national, regional and local government authorities to strengthen existing services, e.g. health, education and child protection.

# Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

#### Assessing a Non-Corrupt Environment

#### Does the company take a clear stand against corruption?

- The company's CEO, director or president has declared that the company will not engage in corruption at any time or in any form.
- The company evaluates the potential areas of corruption including factors such as types of transaction, countries of operation, industries, and customers or business partners involved.
- The company evaluates the risk of corruption when workers, agents, intermediaries or consultants deal with public officials (including workers of state owned companies).
- The company evaluates the risk of internal and external conflicts of interest in relation to business partners.
- The company has developed an action plan to address the risk of corruption, and has defined responsibilities for each task, as a minimum for high-risk areas.
- The company has identified internal functions with the highest risk of corruption within the company and seeks to address these weaknesses.

#### Awareness Raising

#### Does the company ensure that relevant workers are properly trained?

- The company informs all workers about its anti-corruption commitment.
- The company provides regular anti-corruption training for all relevant workers within the organisation e.g. procurement and sales staff.
- Information on disciplinary procedures for violations of company anti-corruption policies is available to workers.
- The company actively seeks worker feedback and dialogue on its anti-corruption initiatives.
- The company has and promotes a function by which workers can safely report suspicions of corruption (e.g. hotline or mailbox) and allocates resources to systematically address the issues that are identified.

#### **Anti-Corruption Procedures**

#### Do the company's internal procedures support its anti-corruption commitment?

- The company has assigned different individuals or departments to be responsible for handling contracts, placing orders, receiving goods, processing invoices and making payments.
- The company mentions 'anti-corruption' and/or 'ethical behaviour' in its contracts with business partners.
- The company prohibits informal employment and any 'off the books' record-keeping.
- The company performs internal audits and has checks in place in connection with all anti-corruption commitments.
- The company's procurement, financial and internal audit personnel have clear instructions on how to look for and identify alarms, report them to management, and follow-up with counter measures.
- The company requests external auditors to maintain a critical eye and follow all alarms and irregularities.
- Any alarm or irregularity reported by external auditors is systematically addressed by management.
- The company monitors compliance and continuously identifies strengths and weaknesses in the anti-corruption initiatives to remain effective and up-to-date in addressing changing risks.

#### Agents and Other Associates

# *Does the company's anti-corruption initiative cover agents, intermediaries and consultants?*

- The company conducts an inquiry and/or evaluation (e.g. financial, legal, occupational, fiscal, environmental, and market/commercial) on all agents, intermediaries and consultants.
- All agreements with agents, intermediaries and consultants are fully documented in written and signed contracts.
- The selection and terms of reference of agents, intermediaries or consultants are approved at the senior management level or at a level above that of the management involved in the operations for which the intermediary is hired.
- Contracts with agents, intermediaries and consultants include a section on anticorruption and one that states that the contract-holder must comply with all applicable laws and regulations.
- Agents, intermediaries and consultants are provided with information on the company's anti- corruption commitment, anti-corruption policies, training material on anti-corrupt behaviour and information on disciplinary procedures for violations of company anticorruption policies.
- The company ensures that payment to agents, intermediaries and consultants are in line with standard payments for other service providers of similar ranking.

• The company only makes payments by bank transfer or check – never in cash – in the country of the agent, intermediary and consultant and never to a third party without prior examination.

#### **Joint Actions**

### Does the company take joint actions with others to engage in and promote anticorruption initiatives?

- The company shares experience, procedures and challenges of corruption with other organizations i.e. the local business community, sector initiatives, networks, etc.
- The company has initiated or joined initiatives with other companies in the same sector for the purpose of promoting a fair business environment.
- The company stimulates multi-stakeholder dialogue on challenges of corruption.
- The company encourages the local business community and business partners to initiate cooperation to fight corruption.

#### **Standards and Recommendations**

NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre

- Transparency International Business Principles for Countering Bribery: Tool that helps companies develop effective approaches, policies and corporate programs to identify, prevent and combat bribery and corruption in all their activities.<sup>585</sup> This publication also features an edition for small and medium businesses, which includes guidelines and practical advice to support paganisations with fewer resources to develop a strategy against bribery that suits their size.<sup>586</sup>
- The OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises: recommendations to multinational enterprises operating in or from adhering countries. It includes guidelines for combating corruption, bribery and extortion. The OECD Guidelines include competition, fiscal systems, and anti-corruption. 587
- Extractive Industry Transparency Initiative (EITI): a voluntary initiative supported by companies, governments, civil society organizations and investors, which seeks to improve transparency and accountability in relation to payments made by companies to governments and the incomes they receive from the extractive sector. <sup>588</sup>

# Security & Conflict

Human rights impacts related to company interaction with public and private security providers and related to the impact of business on societal conflict.

Operating Environment	
Failed States Index	107/178 <sup>589</sup>
Legatum Prosperity Index: Safety & Security	103 <sup>590</sup>
Freedom House: Map of Freedom - Political Rights	3 <sup>591</sup>
(On a scale of 1 through 7, where 1 indicates the highest level of freedom)	
Freedom House: Map of Freedom - Civil Liberties	3 <sup>592</sup>
(On a scale of 1 through 7, where 1 indicates the highest level of freedom)	
Relevant law	General Law on the Coordination of the National Public Security System
	Federal Law of Administrative     Procedure
	• Federal Firearms and Explosives Act
	• Federal Private Security Law / 2006
	Federal Private Security Act     Regulation
Responsible agencies	• General Directorate of Registry and Supervision to Companies and Private Security Services
	• Federal Secretary of Public Security
	National Private Security Council
	Public Ministry

Human Rights and Business Country Guide Mexico

# **Country Context**

Human rights issues of relevance to businesses. The information in this section is gathered from publicly available sources and stakeholder consultations.

### **Public Security Forces**

Article 21 of the Constitution of Mexico provides that the investigation and prosecution of crimes are the responsibility of the Public Ministry and the Police. It expresses that public security is a function of the Federation, the Federal District, the states and the municipalities, in the respective competences that the Constitution indicates. It also establishes the principles of interjurisdictional coordination to establish a national system of public security. <sup>593</sup>

In 2015, the National Human Rights Commission (CNDH) reported that the states of Nuevo León, Hidalgo, Morelos, Oaxaca, Puebla, San Luis Potosí and the Federal District would have specific legislation (laws and regulations) regulating the use of force, while 15 federal states would only have general provisions on the use of force in their public safety laws. <sup>594</sup>

According to Business Transparency International (BTI), there is a lack of coordination and trust between federal, state and municipal police forces<sup>595</sup>. It was observed that municipal and state police have been infiltrated by the drug cartels and are therefore rarely informed of operations led by federal police or the army. <sup>596</sup> On the other hand, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IAHR) observed in 2015 the involvement of military forces in professional duties that would correspond exclusively to police forces.<sup>597</sup>

According to data from the Business Anti-Corruption Portal of 2016, citizens consider Mexico's police to be the most corrupt public institution in the country. Moreover, the reliability of Mexican police to protect businesses from crime is one of the lowest in the world, and the costs of crime and theft to businesses are high.<sup>598</sup>

In 2014, the CNDH stated that "[i]f it is true that in Mexico there are institutions that use isolated principles and criteria on the use of force, there is an absence in the country of a protocol on the use of public force bound by international human rights standards that is enforced by all security forces; the lack of effectiveness in the training of public security forces in human rights and the impunity that has prevailed in some events have allowed the continued presence of cases of disproportionate use of force in order to suppress acts of social protest."<sup>599</sup>

In this sense, a 2014 report from the National Network of Human Rights Organizations "All Rights for All" (TDT Network) revealed that public security in Chihuaua was militarized, which led to serious abuses and violations of human rights against the population by the military and security forces. Some violent deaths and assaults were related to the struggle for water.<sup>600</sup>

In addition, several women's human rights defender organizations declared in 2012 that the territory and the preservation of natural and cultural assets, mainly of indigenous peoples, were being irreversibly affected by particular interests with the consent of the State, which even put at the service of these interests the public security and justice procurement bodies, with which it violates those who demand respect for their rights and their property. <sup>601</sup>

On the other hand, the Government of Mexico is not yet an integral part of the initiative on the Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights<sup>602</sup> related to security and human rights in the resource extraction sector, which are classified under three categories: risk assessment, relationships with public security and relationships with private security.

### **Private Security Forces**

The Federal Private Security Law of Mexico establishes as an obligation of the operative personnel to collaborate with the authorities and public security institutions in situations of emergency, disaster or in any other case, upon request of the competent authority of the Federation, states, federal district and the municipalities. <sup>603</sup> It also establishes the obligation of providers of private security services to refrain from performing functions that are reserved to public security bodies and institutions or the Armed Forces. <sup>604</sup>

This law also regulates companies that request authorization to operate in two or more states. In this sense, it establishes that private security services that are provided only within the territory of a federative entity, will be regulated as established by the corresponding local laws. The rules on the use and management of weapons and ammunition are minimal and the law does not contain express provisions on the labour rights of operators and/or agents of these companies.<sup>605</sup>

In 2015, the IACHR noted that there was a proliferation of private security forces in Mexico in response to the incompetence of state security forces and a lack of a legislative framework to properly regulate them. Some large national and international companies have their own private security forces. However, the scarcity of available information makes it difficult to properly analyze the impact of privatization, since information is not publicized on contracts with private security companies. <sup>606</sup>

In its 2015 Annual Report, the IACHR informed that the Private Security Personnel Registry of the Public Security Secretary of the Federal District (SSPDF) had at that time a registry of 15,272 persons and 714 private security companies in the Federal District.<sup>607</sup> A study by the National Private Security Council (CNSP) found almost 10,000 private security companies in the country, of which only 2,000 were registered, either in the states or at the federal level. About 80% of private security companies and 40% of surveillance personnel were operating outside any regulation in Mexico, according to 2008 data reported by the National Private Security Council (CNSP).<sup>608</sup>

In 2016, members of the Collective of Defenders of Migrants and Refugees (CODEMIRE) and civil society organizations denounced that several private security companies, in collusion with local and federal authorities, would torture and kill migrants and harass their defenders in various states of the country. In addition, these were companies that allegedly obtained permission to carry high-caliber weapons, which are exclusive to military use. These agencies are reported to be present in the states of Querétaro, Jalisco, Guanajuato, Tlaxcala, Veracruz and in the Federal District.<sup>609</sup>

### Social Conflict

The International Peace Brigades reported in 2013 that development projects were a source of conflict between affected communities, private, foreign or parastatal companies, and public authorities, creating divisions that lead to conflicts among the population. <sup>610</sup>

In this sense, the IACHR informed in 2015 that violence used to take place in connection with a variety of natural resource extraction projects, highway construction, and other so-called "megaprojects." The confrontation with those who proposed or supported the project then escalated to violence. Some social leaders who opposed mining projects, timber extraction plans, and the construction of dams or highways had reportedly been subject to threats, harassment, attacks, torture, and even assassination. <sup>611</sup>According to Global Witness, in 2015, four environmental and land rights defenders were killed in Mexico due to their work, including in relation to their opposition to hydroelectric projects. <sup>612</sup>

According to an official of Services and Advices for Peace (SERAPAZ), companies have a great amount of power and pressure to blackmail the government, which in many cases culminates in repression of local communities to calm companies. <sup>613</sup>

Revolution 3.0 reported in 2015 that more than 40% of the national territory had been concessioned and 418 points of conflict had been registered between entrepreneurs and inhabitants of the localities related to the ownership of the concessioned lands, where at least 210 of them were destinated to mining projects. They pointed to the discrepancy between these figures and the official state data, which only recognized the existence of 8 disputes, all related to the environmental impacts, excluding those involving displacement, violations of property rights or cultural transgressions by companies. <sup>614</sup>

In Chiapas, according to the Commission for the Dialogue of the Indigenous Peoples of Mexico, in 2015 a disturbing conflict occurred where the inhabitants of the municipality of San Cristóbal de las Casas created their own community police with which they tried to stop the attempts of the installation of two Frisco Group mining sites.<sup>615</sup>

### Armed Conflict

According to data from the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, there were 151,233 people killed between December 2006 and August 2015, including thousands of migrants in transit. <sup>616</sup>

BTI declared in 2016 that Mexico's present crisis of violence is unrelated to political cleavages; however, the intensity of conflicts in Mexico came from the activity of criminal gangs. Since mid-2014, communities in some of the regions more affected by this violence have organized popular defense groups to fight against criminal gangs. The government intended to legalize and control these defense groups, but some of them have been infiltrated by criminal gangs and others have started to fight among them to take control. Clashes between different organized gangs and between these gangs and the police or army occur almost every day.<sup>617</sup>

The Inter-American Commission of Human Righst (IACHR) reported in 2015 a case involving some of these groups in Michoacán, which supposedly started as community self-defense groups but then turned into drug cartels, contributing to the increase in violence in the region. Violence in the context of mega-projects has resulted in murders, executions, harassment and threats against indigenous people in many states of the country. <sup>618</sup>

Another source of conflict is the link with the oil industry. For example, according to Vice News media, Petróleos Mexicanos (Pemex) has daily losses of ten thousand barrels of oil due to organized crime, especially at the hands of Los Zetas, who carry out clandestine takings which often cause fatal accidents. In practice, this and other groups are significantly financing their activities through to the Mexican oil sector. Meanwhile, as the police and army fight against drug traffickers and cartels fight among them, the number of victims of kidnappings, explosions or clashes to protect the pipelines increases.<sup>619</sup>

On the other hand, a report of the American Chamber of Commerce of Mexico (AmCham/Mexico), entitled 'Business Security of Mexico: Challenges and Trends 2015-2016', identified that for companies surveyed - 1400 companies, which represent the 70% of direct foreign investment in Mexico - the states of Tamaulipas, Mexico, Michoacan, Mexico City, Nuevo Leon, Guerrero, Jalisco, Veracruz, Sinaloa, and Coahuila faced the most challenges for their security operations. The report notes that 83% of those interviewed who stated an improvement in their company's security conditions attributed it to measures implemented by their company, while 12% to federal authorities. <sup>620</sup> According to the media, in 2015, 4,800 companies had to close for extortion and kidnappings in Gerrero alone, one of the most unsafe states regularlyattacked by organized crime. <sup>621</sup>

## Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- August 2016, Observatory for the Protection of Human Rights Defenders: The municipal president of the Coyotepec indigenous people tried to take control of the village water administration in a general assembly through an improvised vote, after a decision of the citizens of the town to protest peacefully, but suffered a violent repression by police forces, leaving at least 50 people injured. In addition, according to reports, the municipal authorities attempted to take control of water by force and put pressure on the Autonomous Drinking Water Administration (AAPCOY) of the indigenous people of Coyotepec through the Federal Electricity Commission (CFE), which cut electricity that fed water wells, leaving the population without drinking water. A subsequently court ordered the restoration of electricity to ensure the human right to water was fully guaranteed.<sup>622</sup>
- August 2015, Revolución Tres Punto Cero: A case not recognized by the Federal Government is the outbreak of insurgency in the Michoacan community of Cherán, which declared its independence two years ago (2013), halting the presence of renewable energy projects presented by the Federal Electricity Commission (CFE) in the Purépecha Plateau.<sup>623</sup>
- August 2015, Revolución Tres Punto Cero: Indigenous populations stood up to the subsidiaries of the Frisco, Peñoles, Grupo México and Minera Autlán groups to stop extractive projects. In Nayarit, the Wixarika people announced the creation of a political party to halt the construction of a tourist project on its sacred land, and in Michoacán, an independence movement was born to stop the expansion of the Temium group.<sup>624</sup>
- April 2015, El Economista: at least 16 unarmed young people, who would have been demonstrating in front of the municipal presidency of Apatzingán, protesting their unjust

dismissals without compensation ordered by the former federal commissioner of security in Michoacán, would have been extrajudicially executed by federal agents. <sup>625</sup>

• **2014**, **Peace Brigades International**: In the State of Oaxaca, the Zapotec and Huave peoples were not consulted in the development of wind farms in the area, which generated a high level of social unrest and violence against community defenders. <sup>626</sup>

# **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

### Company Due Diligence Initiatives

**Total México:** as part of the Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights Initiative (VPSHR) since 2012, there have been trainings organized for the group's business unit and joint venture entity in Mexico to ensure the security of their people, that facilities are managed in a responsible way, and that the rights of neighboring communities are respected. <sup>627</sup>

### Stakeholder Recommendations

### "Workshop on Business and Human Rights for the Working Group on Business and Human Rights in Mexico"<sup>628</sup>

• Businesses should adopt international codes of conduct, including, for example, the Private Security Services Code of Conduct (ICoCA)

# Human Rights Guidance for Businesses

Guidance suggested by the Danish Institute of Human Rights and other institutions to help companies ensure their respect for human rights and address common challenges.

#### **Due Diligence Library**

The following recommendations have been developed by The Danish Institute for Human Rights through research and engagement with companies

Does the company take steps to ensure that company security arrangements are in accordance with international principles for law enforcement and the use of force?

- The company regularly conducts security risk assessments, and ensures that company security arrangements, including the deployment of private guards or public security personnel, are proportionate to the security risk.
- Company security risk assessments include the risk of human rights abuses by private and public security personnel.

- The company selects private security firms based on information about professional ability, level of staff training, quality of equipment, past involvement in human rights abuses, links with political factions or organisations and other relevant criteria.
- Contracts with private security firms include: requirements related to international human rights standards for law enforcement and use of force; require the investigation and discipline of any unlawful or abusive conduct by security guards; and allow for termination of the contract in case such conduct.
- There is a manual defining the duties of security personnel, and all security personnel receive training on rules of conduct based on international human rights standards for law enforcement and the use of force.
- Where public security personnel are assigned to company facilities, the company seeks to ensure transparency concerning its interactions with public security agencies, and the company communicates to the relevant public security agencies its desire that security functions be conducted in accordance with international human rights standards for law enforcement and the use of force.
- The company has a procedure for recording security-related incidents, including a mechanism for handling complaints from staff or local communities related to the conduct of security personnel, and forwards credible allegations of human rights abuses to the relevant authorities.
- The company has a procedure for monitoring and evaluating its security arrangements, including the proportionality of the security arrangement; impact on local communities; impact on existing local tensions or conflicts; security incidents recorded; and credible allegations of human rights abuses by company security personnel. Representatives from the local community are consulted as part of the monitoring.

### Standards & Guidance

# NGO and institutional resources to enhance human rights due diligence efforts by businesses. These resources are drawn from the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre

- International Alert Conflict Sensitive Business Practices: Guidance for Extractive Industries (2005) <sup>629</sup>: This Guidance is intended for companies in the extractive industries sector, providing advice on conflict-sensitive business practices and the ways in which they can contribute to peace-building.
- International Alert and Fafo Institute- Red Flags: Liability Risks for Companies Operating in High-Risk Zones (2008)<sup>630</sup>: The initiative's objective is to clearly define what types of activities, when committed or aided by businesses, represent breaches of international humanitarian law and international criminal law.
- International Commission of Jurists Report of the Expert Legal Panel on Corporate Complicity in International Crimes (2008)<sup>631</sup>: This three volume report outlines the ICJ

Expert Legal Panel's findings and recommendations with regard to corporate legal responsibility for complicity in international crimes, under both civil and criminal law.

- Ideas para la Paz Foundation Operations in conflict zones and fragile governance: practical guides for companies in non-extractive sectors (2006): The document presents guidelines for companies on how to operate in complex environments. The guide contains and is based on the following variables and categories: risk and impact analysis, security, non-payment of extortion commitment, human rights and transparency, promotion of trade union security and specific commitments for governments involved in the process.<sup>632</sup>
- CDA Manual for Explorers and Mining Entrepreneurs (2012): The manual is a tool that provides mining companies with key measures to avoid and mitigate conflicts in their relationships with communities. <sup>633</sup>
- International Committee of the Red Cross Business and International Humanitarian Law (2006): The Guidance explains the obligations of businesses under international humanitarian law, including noting relevant distinctions between international human rights law and international humanitarian law. <sup>634</sup>
- United Nations Global Compact Doing business while progressing in peace and development (2010): The document shows how companies from different sectors are contributing to peace and development in difficult environments around the world. It provides useful examples of how companies operating in complex environments and areas of conflict or post-conflict can address the challenges they face.<sup>635</sup>
- Swiss Government & International Committee of the Red Cross Montreux Document on Relevant International Legal Obligations and Good Practices of States Concerning Operations of Military and Private Security Companies during Armed Conflicts (2008): This document outlines guidelines on how international humanitarian law applies to the activities of public security companies, specifically when operating in areas of armed conflict. <sup>636</sup>
- International Code of Conduct for Providers of Private Security Services (ICoC) (2010): The code sets standards for private security companies to respect human rights and International Humanitarian Law, and to ensure their operations adhere to the principles of the Montreux Document and the "Respect, Protect and Remedy" framework. In addition to business, governments and civil society organizations can join this initiative as members or observers. For instance, in Colombia, the Indepaz organization is part of this code. <sup>637</sup>

# Access to Remedy

Bodies to which victims of corporate human rights abuses can file grievances and seek redress.

In 2015, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Economic, Social and Cultural Project (PRODESC) informed that official statistics showed that 98% of crimes reported in Mexico did not result in a conviction, without having properly investigated the majority of them.<sup>638</sup> According to the Global Impunity Index of 2015, Mexico ranked 58 out of 193 UN Member states in terms of impunity. However, it ranked 58 out of 59 states that had enough statistical information to take part in the Global Impunity Index.<sup>639</sup>

The Inter-American Commission of Human Rights (IACHR) attributes these impunity levels to causes ranging from lack of political will, lack of resources, structural deficiencies and legal gaps that lead to the absence of a diligent investigation. Sometimes, local authorities cite lack of jurisdiction to investigate crimes that are codified only in special laws and not in local penal codes.<sup>640</sup>

### Judicial Mechanisms

Access to national justice is provided for in article 17 of the Constitution. Also, the constitutional reforms of 2011 related to human rights and "*amparo*" elevated to the constitutional level the human rights contained in international treaties to which Mexico is a party, and made the "*amparo*" a judicial tool to seek redress for violations of those rights. <sup>641</sup>

In this sense, the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights indicated in 2016 that the *amparo* procedure serves as a last resort for the protection of persons against human rights violations, whose objective is to restore the rights violated and oblige the relevant authority to respect these rights. A change introduced by the *Amparo* Act in 2013 states that any legal person can be considered an authority responsible for actions or omissions that adversely affect the rights of a third party. In other words, an *amparo* judgment may in principle be issued against actions or omissions of a company, although to date there is no precedent in this regard. The large number of *amparo* remedies in cases of human rights violations by companies is a clear indication that other means of dispute settlement or mediation are not delivering results, since access to courts should normally be a measure of last resort.<sup>642</sup>

In addition, the Working Group indicated in 2016 that the nature of the *amparo* has certain limitations. Among them, that the sentences of *amparo* in favor of people aggrieved are not fulfilled, despite such a breach being clearly illegal. Another limitation is that the *amparo* procedure is not easily accessible and usually requires the intervention of non-governmental organizations that voluntarily provide legal assistance to victims.<sup>643</sup>

In 2015, the OECD reported that, according to the Technical Secretariat of the Coordination Council for the Implementation of the Criminal Justice System (SETEC), the average length of trials has been reduced following the last reform of the criminal justice system initiated by the constitutional reform of 2008, shrinking from 343 days with the previous system to 132 days

resulting from the new reform. It is worth noting that in only four states the new system is fully operational for crimes at the state level (for all cases), while at the end of 2014 it began to operate partially in some districts in 21 more states. <sup>644</sup>

In general terms, according to Fundar, the existing state mechanism presents obstacles to recognize and assume the obligations of providing comprehensive reparation for victims of human rights violations. Similarly, little progress has been made in developing the necessary legislative framework, although some secondary measures have been taken, such as the adoption in 2012 of the Victims' Law. Mechanisms that can help prove the harm inflicted on victims, such as cultural and psychological expert reports or environmental assessments, have only partially been incorporated into the justice system. Federal and local governments have also demonstrated a lack of political will to recognize massive and systematic violations of human rights. In general, the Mexican Government has only acted in cases that have been tried on behalf of the victims by the Inter-American Court of Human Rights. <sup>645</sup>

In 2011, the National Human Rights Commission (CNDH) pointed out that the bodies responsible for the procurement of justice, together with the authorities that perform public security functions in the states, were the units responsible for the highest number of cases of violations against human rights defenders. <sup>646</sup> Also, according to the Executive Commission for Attention to Victims (CEAV), in 2014 some victims expressed that public servants charged them or requested from them financial contributions as a condition to carry out their corresponding duties. <sup>647</sup>

The 2012 Law for the Protection of Human Rights Defenders and Journalists created a protection mechanism and a framework for public institutions to work together to protect defenders. However, according to members of an international civil society mission to Mexico in 2015, there were grave weaknesses in its implementation, with key bodies envisaged in the law still not operative. <sup>648</sup> In this regard, the United Nations Committee against Torture indicated in 2012 that there was widespread impunity for crimes against human rights defenders and noted that, while most crimes were attributed to criminal organizations, in some cases there were indications that members of the security forces might be involved in them. <sup>649</sup>

Moreover, the UN Special Rapporteur on the Independence of Judges and Lawyers, on her mission to Mexico in 2011, noted that in many cases, judges, court officials and legal professionals were unable to act freely or fully independently because they were faced with threats, intimidation, harassment and other forms of undue pressure. In addition, organized crime in particular was stepping up its efforts to infiltrate and interfere with judicial institutions through the use of corruption and threats. <sup>650</sup>

Regarding violations committed by companies, in 2015, data from the Focus Group on Business and Human Rights indicated that in Mexico it is extremely difficult to obtain access to justice regarding human rights violations committed by corporate actors. Large firms often use delaying tactics that make their cases end up requiring particular attention from the judicial system, and it is common for trials to be delayed for a year or more because of companies refusing to file documents or to inform their witnesses about hearings. This practice is repeatedly seen in lower courts and even agrarian courts, where the judiciary often responds by imposing minimal fines on these economically powerful actors. <sup>651</sup>

The Business Transparency International (BTI) indicated in 2015 that most of the corruption at the federal, state and municipal levels continued with impunity and that only a couple of governors accused of corruption were in jail, while most were free. <sup>652</sup>

On the other hand, regarding environmental crimes, BTI declared that companies that pollute are rarely sanctioned. Those that are sanctioned because the problem they created is so huge typically pay a ludicrously small amount in fines.<sup>653</sup> According to 2016 data provided to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Mexico has no specific mechanism for access to remedy in relation to climate change-related crimes.<sup>654</sup> As for environmental crimes, though there is no specific law on this subject, the Federal Attorney General's Office for Environmental Protection in Mexico and some state prosecutors are the specialized bodies that have jurisdiction over these issues.<sup>655</sup>

Mexican law establishes that a person or group of people, or organizations interested in protecting the environment, may initiate a process called "collective action" to combat environmental damage, damage to the health of their community, or to the environment in general. <sup>656</sup> It is a judicial process that is filed before the Tribunals of the Federation against a company or authority that violates collective rights and interests, such as the right to a healthy environment. <sup>657</sup>

In 2011, the Mexican Center of Environmental Law (CEMDA) reported that in cases where the mining concession grants rights of the owner of the concession that conflict with the rights of the landowner or the person who has possession of the land, the latter does not have a right to a hearing. Therefore, the landowner does not have the right to defend himself before a judge, which is unconstitutional. <sup>658</sup> In addition, regarding land tenure cases without free, prior and informed consent, the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food received information in 2011 that on some occasions there was no compliance with judicial resolutions, there would have been no fair compensation or delivered too late. <sup>659</sup>

Regarding members of indigenous communities involved in legal proceedings as victims, accused or witnesses, the entrenched discrimination reportedly interferes with the respect for judicial guarantees to ensure full respect of their rights to due process, such as the lack of interpreters and of intercultural training for justice operators. The UN Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions found in 2014 that in Mexico it was common to set traps to incriminate innocent individuals, and this produced discriminatory effects on indigenous people and people living in poverty.<sup>660</sup>

The UN Working Group on Forced Disappearances observed in 2011 that in states with large indigenous and rural populations, such as Guerrero, the absence of legal assistance was serious, due to the lack of bilingual public defenders. There was also a lack of translation services and suitable infrastructure. <sup>661</sup>

In this sense, Services and Advices for Peace (SERPAZ) declared in 2015 that the Mexican government had passed laws to protect indigenous communities, but foreign companies did not follow them. <sup>662</sup>

### Non-Judicial Mechanisms

In 1990, the Mexican government established the National Commission of Human Rights, which receives complaints of abuses at the federal and state levels.<sup>663</sup> However, the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights indicated in 2016 that the CNDH and State Human Rights Commissions currently do not have a mandate to deal directly with cases of human rights violations related to acts or omissions of companies. Rather, they do so indirectly by pointing out acts or omissions by public authorities in such cases. In addition, some states have issued a number of recommendations related to the conduct of enterprises. <sup>664</sup> Also, the Working Group noted that the CNDH has fully adopted the Guiding Principles, disseminating them and making companies be aware of the importance of due diligence. <sup>665</sup>

With regard to labour disputes, the Conciliation and Arbitration Boards are responsible for settling conflicts of interest between workers and companies. The Friedrich Ebert Stiftung Institute in Mexico said in a 2013 analysis that there were very few boards that publicize the criteria adopted in plenary sessions to resolve disputes and that they are generally unknown to litigants. The most important obstacles presented by these boards for access to justice are the high cost of supplementary payments; inappropriate legal advice; unjust decisions, unrelated to law; insufficient experience of officials; slowness in the adoption of resolutions and a low number of judgements executed. They also pointed out that the excessive duration of the trials – not attributable to the worker – has favored conciliations, with the consequent loss of rights, which in turn is a factor that discourages the spontaneous fulfillment of employers' obligations to workers. <sup>666</sup> On April 28, 2016, President Enrique Peña Nieto presented a package of constitutional and legal reforms, as a result of the Dialogues for Everyday Justice. In this package, a substantial reform is proposed to the system of the Conciliation and Arbitration Boards. <sup>667</sup>

In 2016, Business Transparency International stated that the federal and state commissions of human rights are either totally controlled by the governors or when they are independent, as is the case on the federal commission and Mexico City commission, their recommendations are rarely implemented.<sup>668</sup>

Mexico, as a member of the OECD and under the framework of the Multinational Enterprises Guidelines, offers another non-judicial mechanism through the Mexican National Contact Point (NCP), attached to the General Directorate of Foreign Investment and which provides its good offices to solve conflicts that may arise from the existence of any conduct that is allegedly inconsistent with or contrary to a recommendation contained in the Guidelines. One of the activities of the NCP is to contribute to the resolution of issues related to the alleged violations in the implementation of the Guidelines by a multinational company. Any person, organization or company that is affected can present the case before the NCP of Mexico, in order to find a solution to a problem caused by nonconformity with the Guidelines. <sup>669</sup> According to data from the 2015 Mexican Yearbook of International Law, five specific instances have been submitted to it at the time, alleging non-compliance with existing standards on employment and labour relations, and violations of rights humans. <sup>670</sup>

### Informal Justice Mechanisms

The Civilian Observation Mission that visited Mexico in 2014 reported that beneficiaries of the Federal Human Rights Protection Mechanism declared serious deficiencies in their functioning, generating a lack of confidence in their ultimate ability to protect. Because of this, women's

rights organizations, and women human rights defenders themselves feel more secure in creating their own protection systems and protocols, such as the National Network of Human Rights Defenders in Mexico (RNDDHM), a network of human rights defenders from various non-governmental organizations. <sup>671</sup>

On the other hand, indigenous peoples maintain their own ways of coexisting in their communities with their own systems of security and justice, although they are limited to minor issues and the limited space of small communities, since they are not considered by the State as being fully independent communities with their own regulatory systems.<sup>672</sup>

Studies published by the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNDFW) documented in 2009 the conditions of disadvantage, racism and exclusion of indigenous women before the justice of the State, and the difficulties they faced before their own authorities when resorting to justice. Thus, in different regions of Mexico, organizational processes are committed to foster and promote the rights of indigenous women to influence the institutional spaces of justice, both within and outside communities.<sup>673</sup>

### **Regional and International Mechanisms**

Mexico ratified the American Convention on Human Rights (ACHR) in 1981 and recognized in 1998 the contentious jurisdiction of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, recognizing the unappealable and final nature of its judgments, which it undertakes to comply with the provisions derived therefrom in all its terms and time limits.

However, the Supreme Court itself appeared to indicate in a judgment of 2011 that when a judgment of the Inter- American Court entailed going against a "constitutional restriction," such restriction should prevail. This reasoning appeared to be inconsistent with the State's obligation to comply with its duties and obligations in accordance with the human rights treaties it has ratified. <sup>674</sup>

Another complementary mechanism from the Inter-American system of human rights is the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR), whose functions include: receiving, analyzing and investigating individual petitions; observing the situation of human rights in the Member states; conduct country visits to analyze the human rights situation; publish reports on specific topics, including any topics relevant to the issue of companies and human rights; requesting Member states to adopt precautionary measures to prevent irreparable damage to persons or to the subject of a petition before the IACHR in serious and urgent cases; filing cases before the Inter-American Court; and receiving and examining communications on alleged violations of human rights, among others. <sup>675</sup> In addition, it has held thematic hearings on business and human rights and related issues.

The United Nations system has two main protection mechanisms: Treaty bodies and Special Procedures, which may be Special Rapporteurs or Working Groups by theme or by country. It is necessary to comply with a series of requirements to be able to send communications to both mechanisms of protection. These requirements include for example, the identification of the complainants and/or victims, and a summary of the facts, place and time.<sup>676</sup>

In addition, Treaty bodies require action before the courts of the country and ratification of the treaty in question or approval of the mechanism that makes a complaint possible. Mexico has accepted all the individual complaint mechanisms of these treaties, that is, for matters of torture, civil and political rights, economic, social and cultural rights, enforced disappearances, discrimination against women, racial discrimination, migrant workers, children and the rights of persons with disabilities. <sup>677</sup> The cases are reviewed by Committees of experts corresponding to each treaty, acting as a quasi-judicial complaint mechanism where the conclusions and recommendations by the Committees are not legally binding, but do have political and moral weight that guide states in compensating the damages when a violation of human rights has occurred. To date, six cases have been filed against Mexico under this international mechanism, in matters of civil and political rights and torture. <sup>678</sup>

Beyond individual cases of complaints, the Committees also issue conclusions and recommendations to state parties to the respective treaties, which guide the implementation by states of their human rights obligations. Another relevant mechanism from the United Nations human rights system is the Special Procedures, which drafts thematic reports on the interpretation of human rights standards, visits to countries and receives and issues communications to states on alleged violations of human rights.<sup>679</sup>

On the other hand, the Compliance Advisor Ombudsman (CAO) is the independent resource mechanism for projects supported by private sector World Bank Group bodies: the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). IFC and MIGA promote poverty reduction through private sector development in countries around the world. Individuals who feel they may be affected by an IFC or MIGA project may ask the CAO to address their concerns. The CAO works with the main parties involved in a project to find real solutions that improve concrete social and environmental outcomes. For example, according to its 2014 Report, the CAO of Mexico received a complaint from an employee of Harmon Hall regarding unfair treatment, unfair dismissal, and retained earnings. During the course of the evaluation, the company expressed its preference for resolving this complaint through its internal complaint mechanism. The parties reached an agreement through this process to their mutual satisfaction.<sup>680</sup>

In 2012, the State Commission for Human Rights of Nuevo León mentioned the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights in a recommendation for a murder case at an establishment of the Casino Royale Company because of the conditions under which the authorities and Casino Royale were linked to the human rights violations that were investigated.

# Cases

# *Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.*

• *April 2016, Proceso:* Around one hundred Tarahumaras, accompanied by representatives of civil organizations and priests of the parish of this population, closed the Barrancas del Cobre airport in Creel, Bocoyna municipality to demand that state authorities stop simulating compliance with the sentence issued by the Eighth Court

District for a year and a half, which ordered the reparation of the damage caused to the community of San Elías Repechique Forest by the construction of the airfield without consulting them. <sup>682</sup>

- September 2015, El Imparcial: 1,166 Zapotec of the Isthmus of Tehuantepec filed a
  petition for amparo before the Seventh District Court of the State of Oaxaca "in order
  to protect rights that have been violated by federal, state and municipal authorities
  when approving the construction and operation of the Eólica del Sur company energy
  megaproject". The amparo was granted by the federal judge, "who issued a suspension
  order where it leaves without effect authorizations of change of land use to the wind
  company." <sup>683</sup>
- December 2013 March 2014, Compliance Advisor Office Mexico (CAO): CAO received six complaints regarding labour issues at Harmon Hall. Complaints were filed by teachers and employees of the company alleging a number of labour-related issues, including employment rights, compensation and unfair treatment of workers. Concerns were also raised regarding the implementation of agreed remedies in the first case the CAO received on Harmon Hall. In all these cases, the company expressed its preference for handling complaints through its internal complaint mechanism. Cases are still under evaluation.<sup>684</sup>

# **Company Initiatives**

*Private-sector programmes that aim to ensure respect for human rights or contribute to development* 

### **Company Due Diligence Initiatives**

• State Commission for Human Rights of Nuevo León, 2012: The Commission presented a project to create a network in which industrial chambers and companies voluntarily participate through the submission of a letter from the executive director or one of the senior officials of the company, to submit annually a detailed report in which they present the results obtained from the implementation of the Guiding Principles in their projects and business operations. Thus, the participating companies would be presenting an overall assessment of the impact of their operations on human rights, and the specific results of all new projects in which such an assessment has been carried out, an internal human rights policy, the existing mechanisms to remedy or mitigate negative impacts arising as a result of their operations, and all actions aimed at disseminating and implementing the Guiding Principles in their spheres of influence and control. <sup>685</sup>

## Stakeholder Recommendations

# Priority recommendations letter from civil society organizations to the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights: 686

• To reiterate the urgent need to respond to and investigate allegations of human rights violations linked to enterprises and to strengthen effective inspection and sanction

procedures for all authorities at the national and state levels, especially large-scale and extractive industry projects, to prevent future accidents with massive human rights impacts. Such processes should be independent, participatory, transparent and inclusive of all stakeholders, especially of potentially affected communities.

- Ensure full access to justice for victims of human rights violations caused by business activities through judicial and non-judicial mechanisms, and adopt measures to ensure the investigation and punishment of the actors involved, as well as compliance with the decisions and judgements, and repairing and remedying in a comprehensive manner.
- The judiciary must apply the *amparo* law in the most guaranteeing way to protect people in situations of vulnerability in relation to business activities and recognize the possible responsibility of these actors.
- Evaluate and implement the process of effective access to adequate redress and remediation, with the intention of strengthening judicial and non-judicial mechanisms, and identifying and addressing corporate-related human rights abuses.
- Highlight the importance of companies and all municipal, state and federal authorities to comply with the recommendations of the national and state human rights commissions and report on the progress made in this regard.
- Insist on the use of measures to strengthen compliance and non-repetition of human rights violations, including the creation of mechanisms to monitor compliance with sentences and sanctions, that takes into account the participation of concerned and affected communities and peoples; to impose consequences in case of non-compliance, both for moral and responsible persons, and to establish an independent database containing information on past complaints, closed cases and pending resolution cases involving companies.

# UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Program on Business and Human Rights, Mexico 2016<sup>687</sup>:

- Train and inform customers, suppliers, service providers and other stakeholders about the available channels to report incidences. Phone hotlines and online channels for reporting child abuse incidences can be effective.
- Ensure that procedures are in place that can be implemented if an abuse or violation is reported, including contacting and assisting the relevant authorities to investigate the allegation.
- Ensure that grievance mechanisms are accessible to children. If a child reports an allegation to a company staff member, the child should be shown that she or he is taken seriously. Children should be interviewed by a professionally trained individual, and any investigation should be conducted by a relevant authority outside the company.
- Ensure that workers throughout hotel supply chains have access to an effective grievance mechanism.
- Establish guidance for how the industry should respond when child labour is discovered in the supply chain, ensuring that corrective actions and remedies provided are in line with the best interests of the children involved. Actions could include return of the child to school, payment of salary when the child is returned to school (or transfer of

employment to family member) and a guarantee of employment once education has been completed.

# **Sector Profiles**

Industry-specific human rights risks

# Extractives

Operating Environment	
Sector contribution to GDP (%)	<ul> <li>Mining (2014): 4%. <sup>688</sup></li> <li>Extraction of oil and gas (2014): 6%. <sup>689</sup></li> </ul>
Sector contribution to employment (%)	• Mining-metallurgical sector (2015) 352,666 direct jobs and more than 1.6 million indirect jobs. <sup>690</sup>
Major products	• Natural gas, petroleum, coal, silver, gold, copper, bismuth, fluorite, celestite, wollastonite, cadmium, molybdenum, lead, zinc, diatomite, salt, barite, graphite, gypsum.
Relevant laws	<ul> <li>Tax Coordination Law</li> <li>Federal Rights Law</li> <li>Hydrocarbon Revenue Act</li> <li>Law of the Mexican Petroleum Fund for Stabilization and Development (Mexican Petroleum Fund)</li> <li>Law of Mexican Petroleum</li> </ul>

Mexico is the 6th largest crude producer and the 10th largest exporter in the world, although exports have declined as resources deplete and domestic consumption increases. Mexico is also a major producer of natural gas. According to the 2013 Resource Governance Index, oil production has been the most important extractive activity in Mexico since the 1970s, and oil generates 33% of government revenues.<sup>691</sup>

According to 2014 data from the National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI), in Mexico there were 3,030 economic units in the extractive sector, 2,874 of which were mining (extraction, exploitation or benefit of metallic and non-metallic minerals) and 64 companies, whether of Petróleos Mexicanos (Pemex) or private companies associated with the state productive company, engaged in the exploitation of oil and gas. These figures do not include electricity distribution networks, pipelines, roads and transportation, storage centers, administrative offices, or sales centers. <sup>692</sup> According to data from the Directorate of Documentary Control of the Public Mining Registry of the Ministry of Economy, large mining has a share of over 95% in the extraction of all the most important minerals in Mexico. <sup>693</sup>

At the national level, the extraction of minerals and hydrocarbons is distributed differently in the federative entities. The Gulf of Mexico states, Campeche, Chiapas, Tabasco, Tamaupilas and Veracruz are the main producers of hydrocarbons at the national level: they jointly extract 90% of the resources. According to INEGI's economic census of 2014, total oil and gas production resulted in 1 trillion 36 thousand 356 million Mexican pesos.<sup>694</sup>

According to the Extractive Industry Transparency Initiative (EITI), unlike the hydrocarbon sector, Mexico's mineral sector has long been open to private investment. In 2012, according to the Secretary of Economy, which administers the sector, 287 companies were involved in 857 projects in Mexico that received direct foreign investment. The majority of these were headquartered in Canada (205) or in the United States of America (46). <sup>695</sup>

According to several civil society organizations in Mexico, negative impacts on the environment, access to land and property, food and a decent life prevail in the mining sector. There are also documented cases where there is intimidation and threats against the opponents of this extractive activity. In addition, according to reports, mining legislation opens the door for companies to invest in Mexican territory without considering environmental damages, violations of labour rights, collective rights of indigenous peoples and, in general, human rights.

### Indigenous Communities

According to the Civil Society Focus Group on Business and Human Rights, until 2014 the Mexican government had granted 29,000 mining concessions, many of them in areas dedicated to environmental conservation and inhabited by indigenous communities. In the case of the Wixarika indigenous people, the Mexican State has refused to revoke the mining concessions granted, even though they directly affect their right to land.<sup>697</sup>

During his visit in 2011, the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food heard testimony from people in different regions of the country who were at risk of land expropriation or resettlement because of major development mining projects, such as at the Cerro de San Pedro in San Luis Potosí. Further, he urged Mexico to provide, without delay, a comprehensive review of the procedures established to ensure that large-scale development projects comply with existing international standards – which prohibit arbitrary forced displacement – and to ensure compliance with the ILO Convention No. 169 on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.<sup>698</sup>

A Segob study of 2014 indicated that the people most threatened by the extractive industry were the Paipái community, located in the north of Baja California. From the 68,326 hectares that comprise its territory, 66,360 are concessioned, representing 97.1% of its soil. The companies with more projects in the entity are US Cotton & Western Mining and Canadian Continental Gold.<sup>699</sup>

### Human Rights Defenders

The IACHR learned in 2015 of the arrests of indigenous leaders in Guerrero, Oaxaca, Chiapas, Quintana Roo, Sonora, Chihuahua and Puebla, among others, in connection with their activities in opposition to various megaprojects.<sup>700</sup>

In 2016, according to data from the Observatory for the Protection of Human Rights Defenders on the State of Mexico, there was an increasing number of repressive situations by municipal authorities against natural resource defenders.<sup>701</sup>

Global Witness reported in 2015 the murder of four defenders of environmental and land rights, due to their efforts and opposition to hydroelectric projects. <sup>702</sup>

### Forced Labour

According to the the 2016 Global Slavery Index, forced labour was also prevalent in the mining sector, with the coal and silver industries accounting for the poor labour conditions of men, women and children in Mexico. <sup>703</sup>

### **Informal Sector**

Part of mining exploitation is presumed to be associated with organized crime groups and the informal sector. For example, in 2014 the Federal Environmental Protection Agency (Profepa) reported that it closed two mines and four storage and crushing yards of clandestine material in the municipality of Aguililla in Michoacán because "the sites did not have the authorization regarding Land Use Change in Forests and Environmental Impact, issued by the Secretary of Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT).<sup>704</sup>

### Land Acquisition and Access

In many cases, mining concessions are connected to ejidal lands or communal goods, which are collective property of the populations that inhabit the territories where the minerals are found. <sup>705</sup>

In 2016, the International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs (IWGIA) reported that the Mexican State approved the "Surface Occupation Guide" issued by the Ministry of Economy, which according to anti-spoil organizations advocating against mining companies, promotes the dispossession of the land under the argument of promoting the development of the mining sector.<sup>706</sup>

The NGO PODER documented in 2015 the existence of 440 mining concessions, operated by Halliburton and Diavaz in the State of Puebla. Sixty percent of the mining concessions are reportedly in the hands of Almaden Minerals Company.<sup>707</sup>

According to the Mexican Center for Environmental Law, legal provisions granting preferential use of land to mining activities violate both the Mexican Constitution and the international human rights treaties ratified by Mexico.<sup>708</sup>

In this sense, official and public data updated until January 4, 2016, on the website of the Secretary of Economy (SE) and the Mexican Geological Survey (MGS), reported that the largest Canadian mining companies were established in the municipality of San Miguel Totolapan, where since only 2013, more than 10 communities of that municipality have reportedly emigrated to neighboring municipalities in a massive exodus because of forced displacements and deaths.<sup>709</sup>

### Prior, free and informed consent

Peace Brigades International stated in 2011 that the fact that Mexico's Mining Law does not establish consultation mechanisms for communities affected by mining operations violates international treaties. Rural communities living in territories with high mineral content say that they are not adequately consulted on these projects and that they do not receive economic compensation proportional to the profits obtained by the company, nor the impact that extraction has on their lifestyle. In addition, if the affected communities oppose the mining projects, they often face episodes of violence.<sup>710</sup>

During the Human Rights High Commissioner's visit to Mexico in 2015, NGOs reported that in relation to the companies involved in megaprojects, they were not adequately consulting the indigenous peoples whose lands and resources they planned to exploit. <sup>711</sup>

In 2016, a Coalition of Civil Society Organizations of Mexico pointed out that the Mining Law does not comply with international standards relative to the right to consultation and has been used on several occasions for the dispossession of communities. Currently, the biggest problem for indigenous peoples and communities is the so-called new mining or open pit mining, characterized by the use of technologies that allow in a short time and at low cost to move millions of tons of surface to extract minerals from the subsoil, using large amounts of water and rubbing chemicals, cyanide or mercury leaching, causing significant adverse impacts on the environment and affecting the rights of indigenous peoples and communities.<sup>712</sup>

In terms of fracking, according to PODER data, in 2013 there were 233 wells that were used in the Sierra Norte without the population being informed about whether they were unconventional hydrocarbon deposits or not and consequently about the risks and negative impacts it implied for their territories, their environment and their lives.<sup>713</sup>

### Corruption

The 2013 Resource Governance Index indicated that corruption posed a high risk for Mexico's extractive sector. The oil and mining industries experience low transparency, ineffective audit processes, and weak legal frameworks in their contracting and reporting procedures.<sup>714</sup>

National audit organizations have the power to review all government accounts, including those of Petróleos Mexicanos (Pemex), the fourth largest oil company in the world. In practice, however, auditors lack the effective capacity to oversee the oil sector and only review a small portion of public funds.<sup>715</sup>

### Public Procurement

In 2016, the Business Anti-Corruption Portal reported that Pemex had been subject to several high-level corruption cases. For instance, in 2011, fourteen company executives received a fine of US \$427 million for irregularities in the process of awarding contracts to companies that did not meet the established bidding requirements.<sup>716</sup>

In legal terms, Pemex can award contracts through a direct non-competitive allocation process, thus contributing to non-transparent practices in the industry.<sup>717</sup> The Revenue Wacht Institute reported in 2013 that prior to contracts being awarded by Pemex, there was only partial information on its subcontracting policies. Information about selection processes is not always available and service contracts are not published.<sup>718</sup>

### **Revenue Sharing**

Regarding tax matters, the NGO PODER reported in 2015 that there were favourable conditions for the payment of taxes by the hydrocarbons and mining industry. In the case of mining, it is assumed that entrepreneurs have a decision-making capacity over the destination of 80% of their tax payments. In contrast, peasants do not have the ability to track the use of the taxes that these companies pay. <sup>719</sup>Since the energy reform, this situation has been aggravated because after one hundred years of being exempt from income tax, ejidatarios, comuneros, farmers and agricultural producers whose lands have been expropriated, "temporarily Occupied "or rented to oil or electric companies must pay the income tax, when the income they receive for it is higher than 200 minimum wages. <sup>720</sup>

### Social Conflict

The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) observed in 2015 that confrontation with those who proposed or supported natural resources extraction projects led to situations of violence. Some social leaders who opposed mining projects, timber extraction plans, and the construction of dams and highways have been subject to threats, harassment, attacks, torture and assasinations.

Revolution 3.0 reported in 2015 that more than 40% of the national territory had been concessioned and 418 points of conflict had been registered between entrepreneurs and inhabitants of the localities related to the ownership of the concessioned lands, where at least 210 of them were destinated to mining projects.<sup>721</sup>

## Hydrocarbon Industry

Since 1989, the Mexican hydrocarbon industry has undergone a series of transformations that divided the activities of Petróleos Mexicanos (Pemex) as a horizontally integrated company. This allowed private initiatives to be involved in strategic nodes of the distribution and transportation of gas, petrochemicals, financial services and refining. In a period of 24 years and until 2013, Pemex built a business structure made up of 65 companies engaged in the exploitation of oil and natural gas. Of the 65 companies, 16 were formed jointly or through partnerships with 14 privately owned companies such as Gas Natural SDG, Repsol, Sempra Energy, Schlumberger Limited, Mexichem, BNP Paribas, Muitsui, and Shell, among others.<sup>722</sup>

### Participation and Access to Information

In December 2013, a constitutional energy reform was approved in order to eliminate the exclusivity of the Mexican State in the exploration and exploitation of oil and other hydrocarbons and to incorporate the national and transnational private sector into these activities, as well as to other activities in the electricity sector. A coalition of civil society organizations said in 2016 that this process of approving constitutional and legal reform in energy matters was carried out violating various rights of the Mexican population. First, the information provided by the federal government for the promotion and justification of the reform was insufficient and deficient in terms of availability, quality and accessibility for the population. Second, they reported that citizens were not allowed to participate in deciding on this reform that would have consequences for all Mexicans. In this way, they pointed out that the right of access to information was specifically violated.<sup>723</sup>

### Social Conflict

According to a coalition of civil society organizations, the support of some local authorities to extractive projects that damage access to communities' natural resources and negatively impact their livelihoods, health and the environment, together with the lack of a consultative process and due diligence, often escalates into an inter-community conflict that complicates the execution of the project and the planned business activity and has consequential negative impacts on communities.<sup>724</sup>

### Wind Power

In southern Mexican state of Oaxaca, , the Isthmus of Tehuantepec is located, benefiting from being in one of the regions with the highest wind potential worldwide, and attractive for foreign companies in the energy sector that seek to enter emerging markets. The exploitation of wind resources in this area is relatively recent. In 2004, the Global Environment Facility (GEF) granted economic support to Mexico, with no obligation to repay, to carry out a project called the Action Plan to Eliminate Barriers for Wind Generation Development in Mexico. Within this framework,

since 2006 tenders for the construction of wind farms have been awarded to foreign companies, mainly of Spanish origin. At present, 24 wind farms operate in the Isthmus of Tehuantepec. <sup>725</sup>

### Human Rights Defenders

Between May 2014 and June 2015, the Mexican Center for Environmental Law (CEMDA) recorded 109 cases of attacks against environmental defenders in Mexico, placing Sonora as the state with the highest number of attacks at 16 reported attacks, and Oaxaca as the second, registering 13 cases. Eight of these attacks were linked to actions of the victims in questioning wind power mega-projects.<sup>726</sup>

In the context of the implementation of large-scale wind projects in the Isthmus of Tehuantepec, violent episodes have occurred, with a significant increase in human rights violations, including threats, intimidation, harassment, physical assault, surveillance and murder against community defenders. In 2015, Peace Brigades International noted the increased risk for human rights defenders and community leaders working in the region within this context.<sup>727</sup>

# Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- *May 2014, Red TDTD*: In Unión Hidalgo, Oaxaca, the population, mainly indigenous Zapotec, have suffered from threats, intimidation, surveillance and physical aggression due to their demands to the wind company Demex, a subsidiary of Spain's Renovalia Energy, for dialogue to address environmental damage and human rights violations suffered as a result of their lease agreements with this company. The defenders have alleged that these aggressions were carried out by personnel hired by the company.<sup>728</sup>
- May 2014, Red TDTD: In "La Sierrita" Ejido where "La Platosa" mining project of Excellon Resources Inc. is located, defenders of the organizationProDESC were harassed and defamed for their work in defending labour rights as well as those of the mineral resources owned by ejidatarios.<sup>729</sup>
- **October 2014, Peace Brigades International:** An Observation Mission denounced the nonfulfillment of the previous criterion of consultation on the development of the power generation project, proposed by the company Energía Eólica del Sur. In addition, there was evidence of noncompliance with the requirement of free consultation, resulting in at least 30 attacks against members of the community who expressed opinions contrary to the construction of the proposed wind farm, and at least in one case, a government official was reportedly threatened.<sup>730</sup>
- August 2015, PODER: reported a spill of 40,000 cubic meters of copper sulphate over the Bacánuchi and Sonora rivers from the Buenavista del Cobre mine, a subsidiary of Grupo México in Sonora. The company incurred in 55 irregularities, was negligent and obtained economic benefits derived from lowering its costs for evading compliance with environmental standards in the management of leachate, hazardous waste and polluting emissions to the atmosphere.<sup>731</sup>

## Stakeholder Recommendations

# Priority recommendations letter from civil society to the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights: <sup>732</sup>

- To reiterate to companies, including their value chains, that the obligation to respect human rights implies respect for the rule of law, the Constitution and international treaties. This includes administrative and judicial decisions that are imposed on them. Therefore, all companies should:
  - Make a public acknowledgment that companies with state participation have a special responsibility to respect human rights as established by the Guiding Principles. In this sense, for example, the Federal Electricity Commission (CFE) must demonstrate the measures taken to ensure that its actions respect national and international human rights standards, including the right to free, prior and informed consultation of good faith, culturally adequate for indigenous and rural communities that may be affected by power generation projects (including hydroelectric), infrastructure and/or other projects.
  - Show actions to establish a human rights policy and make public its strategies to ensure due diligence, in accordance with the Guiding Principles and international standards.

#### Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR):

- Conduct a participatory evaluation with affected communities and civil society on the process of the first consultation that was organized after the energy reform in Oaxaca (2014-15).<sup>733</sup>
- Study the effects of genetically modified maize production, as well as the impact on the environment, and ensure that it does not affect the biocultural heritage of affected peoples and communities. <sup>734</sup>

# Agriculture

Operating Environment	
Sector contribution to GDP (%) <sup>735</sup>	3,5% (2015)
Sector Contribution to employment (%) <sup>736</sup>	13, 4% (2015)
Main products	<ul> <li>corn, wheat, soybeans, rice, beans, cotton, coffee, fruit, tomatoes; meat, poultry, dairy products; wood products</li> </ul>
Relevant laws	<ul> <li>Agrarian Law</li> <li>Goods Nationalization Act</li> <li>Expropriation Law</li> <li>Federal Agrarian Reform Law</li> <li>Federal Water Law</li> <li>Integral Rural Development Program (PIDER)</li> <li>National Agricultural Plan</li> <li>Sustainable Rural Development Act</li> </ul>

According to data from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 50% of the total value of agricultural production and food production of animal origin is concentrated in seven federal states: Jalisco, Veracruz, Sinaloa, Michoacán, Sonora, Chiapas and Puebla. According to reports, the low growth of agriculture and its low productivity are cause for concern.<sup>737</sup>

Mexico has a heterogeneous production structure, with production systems that differ in information, technology, access to markets and generation of income. In that sense, in the Diagnosis of the Rural and Fishing Sector of Mexico of 2012, six strata of Rural Economic Units (REU) were distinguished in the different geographic regions, according to their level of sales, thus forming a mosaic in the national territory. The first two strata are subsistence family units, one with no relation to the market (22.4% of the total) and the second with market linkage (50.6%). The third is a group in transition (8.3%). The remaining three are business units, with "fragile profitability" (9.9%), "booming" (8.4%) and "dynamic" entrepreneurs (0.3% of the total). The concentration is compounded by inequality: only two groups of entrepreneurial REUs, counting for 8.7% of the total, accounted for 74.2% of the sector's sales.<sup>738</sup>

### Indigenous Peoples

According to the latest census in the year2000, 53% of the indigenous-speaking population was employed in low-skilled activities, either as employees, service sector workers - construction workers - or as day labourers, as a result of impediments to real access to education, given that they integrate the labour market from an early age.<sup>739</sup>

According to the National Survey of Agricultural Labourers (ENJO) 2009<sup>740</sup>, there were 2,040,414 agricultural labourers, of which 40% were indigenous, equating to 816,166 individuals.<sup>741</sup>

On the other hand, while the general population received in 2014 an income of \$1,961 pesos per month, indigenous language speakers barely received \$886 pesos per month (CONEVAL, 2014). Many of these workers were agricultural labourers, without land andwho had to travel long distances. They are used to living and working in very disadvantageous conditions.<sup>742</sup>

The *Los Angeles Times* reported in 2014 that indigenous farm workers in Mexico's poorest regions are driven by bus through hundreds of miles to large agricultural areas where they work six days a week for an equivalent payment of \$8 to \$12 US dollars per day.<sup>743</sup>

### Women

FAO reported in 2012 that 25.6% of Rural Economic Units (REU) were headed by women. The female leadership tends to be more prominent in the poorest stratum but becomes less so moving upwards in strata.<sup>744</sup>

Likewise, in the strata of self-subsiding households, there is a greater participation of women, as well as a relatively greater presence of people who speak some indigenous language.<sup>745</sup>

The contribution of women to agricultural and rural economic activities in Mexico is diverse, although not always fully recorded in the available statistics. As part of the economically active population, a proportion of women contribute to REUs as unpaid family labourers.<sup>746</sup>

In 2014, Oxfam Mexico informed that more than the 50% of the food consumed in Mexico was produced by women but only 10 % of women has access to the property of the land. <sup>747</sup>

### Child Labour

According to the World Bank, there are almost twice as many children in the countryside that work than in the city. Also, more of them work in states like Guerrero, in the South, (where 12% of 6 to 13 years-old children work), than in Chihuahua, in the North (where only 1.4% of children work). The older the child becomes, the more likely he or she is to drop out of school and start working.<sup>748</sup>

In 2012, UNICEF reported that 44% of farming households had at least one child working.<sup>749</sup> According to the ILO, in 2014 agriculture was the second sector in terms of employed child population, with more presence of boys than girls.<sup>750</sup>

Also in 2014, the ILO declared that working as agricultural labourers in rural areas was considered a dangerous form of work that exposed children to heavy work, in extreme climate conditions, with strenuous work days, using dangerous tools, exposing them to biological and chemical risks, as well as situations of violence and mistreatment, among others. It was

estimated that 711,688 children and adolescents from 5 to 17 years of agricultural labour families work. Of these, 443,516 do so as agricultural labourers and 59,970 children work on farms.<sup>751</sup>

### **Forced Labour**

The US Department of State reported in 2014 that Mexican men, women, and children were exploited in forced labour in agriculture. <sup>752</sup>According to the 2015 Global Slavery Index, low, semi- and unskilled domestic and foreign labourers were at risk of forced labour within the agricultural sector in 18 states, particularly in maize harvesting, tomato fields, tomato processing plants and other plantations such as chilli pepper, cucumber and eggplant. <sup>753</sup>

### **Working Conditions**

In 2012, 88.2% of the Rural Economic Units (REU) was engaged in agricultural activity, either as a single activity or in combination with other productive activities. However, the FAO noted that the agricultural sector had lost its preponderance in the generation of employment in rural areas. On the one hand, the population engaged in primary activities decreased by 8.9% between 2005 and 2010, while employment in non-agricultural activities increased by 7.9%. In rural areas, in 2010, 59.1% of the paid workforce received less than two minimum wages. In rural areas, this proportion was higher, reaching 64.9% of the total, while in semi-urban areas this figure was 51.8%. It should be noted that 18.3% of the rural population was not earning an income.<sup>754</sup>

The 76.9% of the REUs in the lower tier earns net monetary income below the minimum welfare line. The main activity of 75.8% of the REUs in this stratum is agriculture. These REUs use their land for the production of basic crops such as maize and beans, given that they are the products that form the basis of their food. The average production they obtain is lower compared to the national average and, in many cases, insufficient to cover the total needs of household consumption and therefore do not have surpluses to take to the market.<sup>755</sup>

The 25.6% of REUs managers sell their workforce to complement family income, and for many others it is difficult to get a job. <sup>756</sup>

On the other hand, the intermediate stratum, which represents 8.3% of REUs, earns sufficient income to cover the basic needs of a family, but faces problems in maintaining and improving the profitability of small business, because it is vulnerable to falls in demand, low prices, adverse weather, and illnesses that may affect any member of the family. Also, in this stratum, 9.3% of the leaders of the REU speak some indigenous language.<sup>757</sup>

Among the population registered in 2009 by the National Survey of Agricultural Labourers (ENJO), 90% of the day labourers had no formal contract, 48.3% earned an income of three minimum wages, 37% earned two minimum wages and 54% were exposed to agrochemical products on a daily basis.<sup>758</sup>

The *Los Angeles Times* reported in 2014 that many farmworkers were basically trapped for months in rat-infested fields, often without beds and sometimes without bathrooms or without a reliable supply of water. Some butlers in the camps illegally retained workers' wages to prevent them from leaving during harvesting periods. Day labourers often became deeply indebted

because they paid inflated prices for basic items, which are sold in the stores of the companies for which they work. <sup>759</sup>

### Environment

One problem which is currently affecting rural areas in Mexico is the environmental degradation caused by agricultural, livestock, aquaculture and fisheries production systems, which are reported to be carried out in a non-sustainable way. At the national level, the most fertile soils cover 29% of the territory and it is estimated that, altogether, 45% presents some type of degradation.

Food production faces the reality of climate change, to which agricultural production also contributes. According to the Special Climate Change Program (PECC) 2014-2018, the category of agriculture, forest and other land uses is the second most important source of GHG emissions into the atmosphere in Mexico, representing about 19% of total emissions.<sup>760</sup>

On the other hand, according to Mexico's Climate Change Financing Group, poorer peasants face a greater risk at the hands of the climate phenomenon, given that they do not have irrigation systems, but depend on regular rainfall patterns.<sup>761</sup>

Indeed, poverty and extreme poverty are much more pronounced in rural areas, making them more vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, especially small-scale temporary producers. In this scenario, rural women are impacted differently than men, implying that their needs must be addressed in a differentiated way in climate policies. For example, the current system does not consider the inequitable distribution on farmland (20% owned by women), nor the productive burdens associated with reproductive responsibilities.<sup>762</sup>

### Food

According to Greenpeace, in the last decades the use of pesticides (insecticides, fungicides and herbicides) and synthetic fertilizers has increased, fomenting corporate control of the entire food system, beginning with a concentration of the seeds and pesticides market in a few companies and leading to the near extermination of millenarian practices of healthy food production for people and the environment, as pesticides are used without any regulation, monitoring, or necessary equipment to protect against its toxicity.<sup>763</sup>

### Water

The OECD reported that, with respect to the management of water resources by agriculture, in 2013 the sector accounted for more than three-quarters of the water extraction in Mexico. In addition, about 15% of the total extraction was carried out from unsustainable sources, while the efficiency in the use of the water remained very low. <sup>764</sup> In this sense, the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food stated in 2011 that the overexploitation of key aquifers in the country is fuelled by Tarifa 9, an important subsidy on electricity use for agriculture (as groundwater is mainly pumped from wells) that leads to farmers paying only 23% of the cost of pumping and utilizing. <sup>765</sup>

### Prior, free and informed consent

The Mexican Business and Human Rights Focus Group, in coordination with the NGO PODER, reported in 2014 that the Mexican government had granted permits without adequate scientific evidence, consequently facilitating the planting and cultivation of genetically modified organisms. Genetically modified maize of the company Monsanto would have reportedly been distributed without having previously consulted people living in plantations areas. <sup>766</sup>

### **Corruption and Public Procurement**

Ecoosfera reported in 2015 that the strategies of some transgenic multinational corporations (Monsanto, Pioneer, Cargill, Dow AgroSciences, Syngenta) to try to control the national market allegedly include intense lobbying in the Executive and Legislative branches of the government, the practice of "revolving doors" (rotation of senior positions between the public sector and the private sector) to ensure decision-making in their favour and the formation of alliances between companies and some members of the scientific community, such as the Pro Transgenics Alliance.

# Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- September 2016, ContraLínea: In the State of Sinaloa, the Bimbo Group operates under a model of industrial agriculture that puts health at risk by using 30 highly toxic pesticides banned in other countries, which are applied indiscriminately, and do not remain in the zone but rather filter into surrounding water bodies affecting essential natural resources such as water and surrounding communities. <sup>768</sup>
- April 2016, Expreso Campeche: Members of the Semillas Much'Kanan I'inaj collective, integrated by indigenous people, farmers, beekeepers and ejidatarios of the Mayan people of the west of Bacalar, filed an amparo against the permission granted by SAGARPA (Secretary of Agriculture, Livestock, Rural Development, Fisheries and Food) to the company Monsanto to plant commercial GM soy, claiming that the said permit was issued without respecting the binding nature that, according to the law, must have the biosafety assurance of Conabio and Conap, who recommended not to authorize such planting due to the risks it poses to human health and the environment. <sup>769</sup>
- July 2015, Americas Program: Exploited agricultural workers from San Quintin Valley staged mass protests against their abusive treatment and conditions. <sup>770</sup>
- March 2015, La Jornada: 200 farm workers from the Tarahumara mountains were rescued. They were victims of exploitation and were recruited to work for the company Corporativo El Cerezo Sociedad Agricola. These people, including children and women, were taken to rural areas of Comondú municipality in Baja California Sur to work in inhumane conditions, were exposed to illness, and were even illegally detained.<sup>771</sup>
# **Region Profiles**

Areas where human rights conditions or impacts differ markedly in nature or scale from the national profile.

### Oaxaca, Guerrero y Chiapas

#### Human Rights Defenders

The Mexican Commission for the Defense and Promotion of Human Rights reported in 2014 that a Civil Observation Mission identified Guerrero and Oaxaca as the entities in which the greatest number of attacks on human rights defenders had been recorded.<sup>772</sup>

The IACHR learned in 2015 of the arrests of indigenous leaders in Guerrero, Oaxaca, Chiapas, Quintana Roo, Sonora, Chihuahua and Puebla, among others, in connection with their activities in opposition to various megaprojects.<sup>773</sup>

#### Agricultural migrant workers

A significant part of agricultural day labourers are migrant workers, most of whom migrate from southern states to the north, following harvest seasons. Business Transparency International reported in 2016 that at least one-fifth of agricultural day labourers are migrant workers from the poorer states of Guerrero, Chiapas and Oaxaca, or Puebla, Hidalgo, and Veracruz, in search of employment in the richest agricultural regions of the north of the country, especially in Sinaloa and Sonora.<sup>774</sup>

#### **Informal Sector**

The UNDP 2016 Human Development Report informed that five of the nine states in the southeast region had the lowest levels of formal work in the country and five of them were significantly far from receiving public spending on human development or decentralized federal government spending in accordance with its developmental needs. The degree of access to social security in these states does not exceed 25% of its employed population, which differs from 50-75% of the entities in the north of the country.<sup>775</sup>

Consultores Internacionales (CI) reported in 2016 that in states like Guerrero, Oaxaca, and Chiapas, informality reaches critical levels, that is, 8 out of 10 establishments or activities have no registration, do not pay taxes and do not generate jobs including benefits or social security. One reason for these high levels of informality is the entry of large companies, which affect medium and small enterprises, leading to closures and shifts towards informality.<sup>776</sup>

### Mexico City<sup>777</sup>

#### Human Rights Defenders

A Civil Observation Mission in 2014 noted that the Federal District was one of the destinations for displaced human rights defenders. <sup>778</sup>

#### **Informal Sector**

In 2016, UNDP noted that labour markets in the Federal District and entities in the north of the country were more conducive to formality, associated with access to social security institutions, than the south and southeastern states. The formal sector is composed mainly of medium or large establishments, with high productivity and high remuneration, while the informal sector is characterized by small, unproductive production units with low wages. The average salary in the formal sector is 70% higher than that of the informal sector and the degree of access to social security in these states ranges from 50% to 75%.<sup>779</sup>

#### **Air Pollution**

Transportation accounts for almost half of Mexico City's air pollution, which according to government data, kills as many as 2,700 people every year. While low-polluting fuel is already sold in Mexico City, it has yet to be made available nationwide by Pemex, the state-owned oil company. <sup>780</sup>

Bloomberg reported in 2016 that millions of people in Mexico City were suffering the worst air quality in 14 years, as cars and trucks add to the pollution with their outdated emissions controls and Mexico's weaker pollution controls. <sup>781</sup>

#### **Environment Impact Assessment**

Business Transparency International reported in 2016 that the new airport in Mexico City did not undergo an environmental impact assessment. <sup>782</sup>

#### Security

The American Chamber of Commerce of Mexico (AmCham/Mexico) reported in 2016 that Mexico City was among the 10 entities in Mexico with most security challenges, where companies faced external threats to operate in the country, such as corrupt authorities, extortion, impunity, kidnappings and violence. <sup>783</sup>

#### Access to Remedy: Non-judicials Mechanisms

In 2016, Business Transparency International stated that the federal and state commissions of human rights are either totally controlled by the governors or when they are independent, as is the case on the federal and Mexico City levels, their recommendations are almost never implemented.<sup>784</sup>

### Chiapas

#### Water

According to Conservation International, Chiapas, the southernmost state in Mexico, provides 30% of the country's fresh water. But poor production practices and deforestation contaminate water and make Chiapas' communities more vulnerable to extreme weather.<sup>785</sup>

Moreover, due to the sowing of transgenic organisms by multinational corporations, concentrations of glyphosate in groundwater in Chiapas have been detected, generating a risk for the communities that depend on the consumption of well water.<sup>786</sup>

#### Social Conflict

In Chiapas, according to the Commission for the Dialogue of the Indigenous Peoples of Mexico, in 2015 a disturbing conflict occurred where the inhabitants of the municipality of San Cristóbal de las Casas created their own community police with which they tried to stop the attempts of the installation of two Frisco Group mine sites.<sup>787</sup>

### Chihuahua

#### Human Rights Defenders

A Civil Observation Mission in 2014 noted that in Chihuahua there were high levels of aggression towards human rights defenders, particularly towards women's rights defenders, relatives of missing persons and persons defending migrants.<sup>788</sup>

Human rights organizations warned that in the State of Chihuahua, defenders, along with the victims and the communities they represent or accompany, won important rulings in favour of victims and communities, leading to an increase in the risks involved as trials are brought against powerful individuals or companies that have no interest in complying with judicial decisions.<sup>789</sup>

In this sense, in 2016, the Mechanism for the Protection of Human Rights Defenders and Journalists notified the Chihuahua government of the adoption of an early warning system to prevent attacks on human rights defenders and journalists. This unprecedented decision of the Governing Board of the Mechanism is the first of this kind in Mexico. <sup>790</sup>

#### Access to Remedy

In 2014, according to a report of the National Network of Human Rights Civil Organizations "All Rights for All", in states like Chihuahua, human rights defenders pointed out that the new criminal justice system of 2008 improved access to justice, but there were still vices and problems clouding investigation, in obtaining and presenting evidence and in judicial decisions.

In addition, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) received information in 2015 that indicated that some first instance judges were allegedly appointed by reason of their familial relationships with political figures of the state, which, if true, would prevent them from being independent of the political branches.<sup>792</sup>

#### Environment

Human rights groups and organizations indicated in 2016 that the Secretary of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Food (SAGARPA) allowed the importation of genetically modified or transgenic maize to Monsanto, Dow AgroSciences and PHI México agrobiotechnological companies to carry out experimental open field sowing in the state of Chihuahua, among others, a decision which favours future commercial plantings in larger areas and butconsequently contributing to a growing dispersion of these transgenic materials in the rest of the national territory and affecting agrobiodiversity and environment.<sup>793</sup>

### Coahuila

#### Human Rights Defenders

A Civil Observation Mission in 2014 noted that Coahuila presented high levels of aggression to human rights defenders, with special attention to women's rights defenders, relatives of missing persons and persons defending migrants.<sup>794</sup>

#### Trafficking

According to information from the 2016 Global Slavery Index, national activists reported that while the government response to trafficking in persons is fragmented and non-uniform, in states such as Coahuila, trafficking cases are actively monitored and pursued.<sup>795</sup>

#### Security

The American Chamber of Commerce of Mexico (AmCham/Mexico) reported in 2016 that Cohauila was among the 10 entities in Mexico with most security challenges, where companies face external threats to operate in the country, such as corrupt authorities, extortion, impunity, kidnappings and violence. <sup>796</sup>

### Guerrero

#### Child Labour

According to the World Bank, the majority of child labour was concentrated in southern states like Guerrero, where 12% of 6 to 13 years-old children worked, while in states like Chihuahua, in the North, only 1.4% of children worked.<sup>797</sup>

#### Food

According to FAO, in 2010, the State of Guerrero stood out as the entity that presented the highest level of lack of access to food (42.6%), followed by Tabasco (33.3%).<sup>798</sup>

In this sense, high levels of social lag and lack of food are located in rural municipalities or in those with more indigenous population.<sup>799</sup>

#### Transparency

According to the UN Working Group on Business and Human Rights, in the State of Guerrero, victims and organizations denounced in 2016 the situation of violence, corruption with authorities and collusion with organized crime in which companies develop their operations; this environment being the cause of a number of human rights violations which are tolerated and promoted by state and federal authorities.<sup>800</sup>

#### Security

The American Chamber of Commerce of Mexico (AmCham/Mexico) reported in 2016 that Guerrero was among the 10 entities in Mexico with most security challenges, where companies face external threats to operate in the country, such as corrupt authorities, extortion, impunity, kidnappings and violence. <sup>801</sup>

The State Federation of Chambers of Commerce of the State of Guerrero reported that, at the end of 2015, there were 4,800 companies of different areas that closed due to extortion and kidnappings.<sup>802</sup>

#### Access to Remedy

The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights was informed in 2015 that in the State of Guerrero, some judges were subject to pressure from political powers, as well as organized crime groups, which compromised their functions in a similar manner.<sup>803</sup>

The UN Working Group on Forced Disappearances observed in 2011 that in states with large indigenous and rural populations, such as Guerrero, the absence of legal assistance was serious, due to the lack of bilingual public defenders. There was also a lack of translation services and suitable infrastructure. <sup>804</sup>

### Jalisco

Environment, water and livelihood conditions

The Santiago River in Jalisco is considered the most polluted river in Mexico, which receives discharges from more than 300 industries (metal-mechanics and metallurgy, chemical-pharmaceutical, electronics, automotive, and food and beverage) in the industrial corridor of Ocotlán-El Salto, one of the country's most important industrial corridors. One of the most polluted areas of the river flows through the municipalities of Juanacatlán and El Salto, home to a total of three hundred thousand inhabitants. A study by the Mexican Institute of Water Technology (MIWT) found a total of 1,090 toxic substances, chemicals and metals in the river, mainly from industrial sources. Local doctors cited an increase in the incidence of different diseases, including leukemia, miscarriages and birth defects, among others.<sup>805</sup>

#### Access to Remedy

Regarding the case of the Santiago River and the demands of the communities, the authorities carried out only corrective actions (creation of two wastewater treatment plants that deal only with domestic wastewater discharges from the southern part of the metropolitan area of Guadalajara but not with the wastewater from industries), which did not solve public health problems and industrial pollution. <sup>806</sup>

### Michoacán

#### Child Labour

According to the International Labour Organization (ILO), in 2014 there was not a comprehensive policy in the country to prevent and eradicate child labour at the federal or state level. Only in the case of the State of Michoacán was a broad policy framework adopted called the State Program for the Elimination of Child Labour (PEETI) (Michoacan State Government, 2007). However, it has not yet been implemented.<sup>807</sup>

#### Social Conflict

BTI declared in 2016 that, since mid-2014, communities in some of the regions more affected by violence have organized popular defense groups to fight against criminal gangs. The government intended to legalize and control these groups, but some of them have been infiltrated by criminal gangs and others have started to fight among them to take control. <sup>808</sup> The Inter-American Commission of Human Rights (IACHR) reported the case in 2015 with some of these groups in Michoacan, which supposedly started as community self-defense groups but turned into drug cartels, contributing to the increase in violence in the region. <sup>809</sup>

#### Security

The American Chamber of Commerce of Mexico (AmCham/Mexico) reported in 2016 that Michoacán was among the 10 entities in Mexico with most security challenges, where companies face external threats to operate in the country, such as corrupt authorities, extortion, impunity, kidnappings and violence.<sup>810</sup>

### Oaxaca

#### Indigenous Peoples and Prior, Free and Informed Consultation.

The State of Oaxaca is characterized by its great ethnic and cultural diversity, with the presence of 18 ethnic groups and where more than 60% of the population is recognized as indigenous. <sup>811</sup>

In the last ten years, the Isthmus region in the State of Oaxaca has been immersed in a context of invasion of large investment projects, mainly due to the arrival of multiple large-scale wind farms in the region. <sup>812</sup>

In this context, for the implementation of a project called Eólica del Sur, the federal authorities (SENER) implemented an indigenous consultation process in affected communities, in accordance with ILO Convention 169, but this procedure did not follow the international standards on the right to free, prior, informed, good faith and culturally appropriate consultation. In light of these violations, and others of environmental and cultural nature, more than 1,000 people filed an *amparo* and the process is currently under review and the project is suspended. People affected by this project are mainly indigenous communities of the municipalities of El Espinal and Juchitán de Zaragoza, as well as those that live in the region of the Isthmus of Tehuantepec.<sup>813</sup>

#### Human Rights Defenders and Social Conflict

Between May 2014 and June 2015, the Mexican Center for Environmental Law (CEMDA) recorded 109 cases of attacks against environmental defenders in Mexico, placing Oaxaca as the state with the second highest number of attacks, counting 13 reported attacks. Eight of these attacks were linked to actions of the victims in questioning wind power mega-projects. <sup>814</sup>

Also, the diagnosis and strategic human rights agenda of the State of Oaxaca indicated in 2014 that the Zapotec and Huave peoples were not consulted in the development of wind farms. This omission has generated situations of high social unrest and alarming levels of violence against community defenders, who are a constant target of harassment, threats and physical aggression.<sup>815</sup>

#### Land Acquisition

In Oaxaca, the Business and Human Rights Working Group met in 2016 with communities mainly affected by mining, wind and hydrocarbon extraction projects, among others, and in total there were 17 cases of human rights violations related to abuses and violations committed by companies and local, state and federal governments. In addition, the Working Group reported the lack of information and guarantees to the right to free, prior and informed consultation as in the case of Eólica del Sur.

### Puebla

#### Participation and Access to Information

Since September 2014, PODER and a handful of local organizations have accompanied farming communities in the Sierra Norte region of the State of Puebla in implementing Mexico's first community-led HRIA (Human Rights Impact Assessment) in the extractive sector. <sup>816</sup>

#### Land Acquisition

In Puebla State, the NGO PODER documented in 2015 the existence of 440 mining concessions, in addition to 15 private hydroelectric projects, as well as the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons in oil fields operated by Halliburton and Diavaz in the State of Puebla. Sixty percent of the mining concessions are allegedly in the hands of Almaden Minerals company.<sup>817</sup>

### Sonora

#### Human Rights Defenders

Between May 2014 and June 2015, the Mexican Center for Environmental Law (CEMDA) recorded 109 cases of attacks against environmental defenders in Mexico, placing Sonora as the state with the highest number of attacks, with 16 reported attacks. Eight of these attacks were linked to actions of the victims in questioning wind power mega-projects.<sup>818</sup>

#### Environment

Human rights groups and organizations indicated in 2016 that the Secretary of Agriculture, Livestock, Fisheries and Food (SAGARPA) allowed the importation of genetically modified or transgenic maize to Monsanto, Dow AgroSciences and PHI México agrobiotechnological companies, to carry out experimental open field sowing in the State of Sonora, among others, which favours future commercial plantings in larger areas and consequently, a growing dispersion of these transgenic materials in the rest of the national territory, affecting agrobiodiversity and environment.<sup>819</sup>

#### Water

The events which took place in the Sonora River represent the case of the largest toxic spill caused by a copper mine, contaminating the river and affecting approximately 22,000 people, as well as livestock and crops in 7 municipalities located on its shores.<sup>820</sup>

#### Access to Remedy

In 2016, in connection with the spill of the Buenavista del Cobre mine, the affected community told the UN Working Group that their rights were violated, the ecosystem damaged and, despite the commitment of the authorities and the company, promises to remedy the damage and ensure non-repetition have not been fulfilled. <sup>821</sup> The affected communities expressed the

perception of arbitrarily determined compensation (for example, compensation was granted up to a maximum number of livestock, regardless of the number of livestock affected). <sup>822</sup> It was also corroborated that there were impediments for people, whose rights were damaged, to access to justice.

### Cases

*Reports of business-related human rights issues from NGOs, multilateral institutions and the media.* 

- September 2016, ContraLínea: In the State of Sinaloa, the Bimbo Group operates under a model of industrial agriculture that puts health at risk by using 30 highly toxic pesticides banned in other countries, which are applied indiscriminately, and do not remain in the application zone, but rather filter into surrounding water bodies affecting essential natural resources such as water and surrounding communities.<sup>823</sup>
- September 2015, El Imparcial: 1,166 Zapotecos of the Isthmus of Tehuantepec filed a
  petition for amparo before the Seventh District Court of the State of Oaxaca "in order to
  protect rights that have been violated by federal, state and municipal authorities when
  approving the construction and operation of the Eólica del Sur company energy
  megaproject".<sup>824</sup>
- August 2015, El Siglo Coahuila: Employees of the Prokarne company face human trafficking charges in the form of labour exploitation of more than 300 labourers and at least 50 minors.<sup>825</sup>
- August 2015, International Business Times: Over 60 children were found working at a vegetable packing factory in the northern State of Coahuila. Mexican authorities have found 63 children between the ages of 8 and 17 working long hours in oppressive conditions. Officials reportedly said that the minors alleged they only received half a day off in a week and were paid 100 pesos (about \$6) a day, a little above the minimum wage of about 70 pesos. The minors also said that they were only given two meals a day and were forced to sleep on thin mats in the property near Ramos Arizpe, southwest of the city of Monterrey. The minors reportedly worked alongside several dozen adults. <sup>826</sup>
- August 2015, US Department of State: The Coahuila state government rescued 78 child labourers, some as young as 8, from a farm near Ramos Arizpe. The state indicted 4 defendants under labour trafficking charges in the case, which also involved 228 adult victims. The victims reportedly worked at least nine hours daily, received insufficient food, and were forced to live in unhygienic conditions.<sup>827</sup>
- **August 2015, ProDesc**: Members of the Zapotec indigenous community of Juchitán, Oaxaca, filed a petition for *amparo* for serious violations of the right to consultation before the Seventh District Court of the State of Oaxaca. The presentation was made at the announcement by the Energy Secretary (SENER) that the construction of the wind farm of Eólica del Sur company in the communities of Juchitán and El Espinal, located in the Isthmus of Tehuantepec, Oaxaca, would begin.<sup>828</sup>

• **February 2014, BHRRC:** The First District Judge of the State of Guerrero issued an unpublished judgment in favour of the indigenous community Júba Wajiín, in which he considered that their rights had been violated by having been given the mining concessions without their consultation, invoking international treaties that Mexico has signed and ratified, such as Convention 169 of the ILO, as well as the jurisprudence of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights.<sup>829</sup>

### Recommendations

#### Priority recommendations letter from civil society organizations to the United Nations Working Group on Business and Human Rights: <sup>830</sup>

Companies should reiterate the fact that, through their value chains, the obligation to respect human rights implies respect for the rule of law, the Constitution and international treaties. This includes administrative and judicial decisions that are imposed on them. Therefore, all companies should take additional measures to prevent human rights abuses, especially in areas of high conflict, such as the states of Guerrero, Oaxaca, Chiapas, Coahuila and the State of Mexico.

## Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Transformar nuestro mundo: la Agenda 2030 para el Desarrollo Sostenible, resolución adoptada por la Asamblea General de las Naciones Unidas el 18 de septiembre de 2015, A/70/L.1.

<sup>2</sup> Danish Institute for Human Rights, Toolkit on National Action Plans for Business and Human Rights: http://www.humanrights.dk/business/tools/national-action-plans-business-human-rights

<sup>3</sup> Principios relativos al estatuto y funcionamiento de las instituciones nacionales de protección y promoción de los derechos humanos (Principios de París), anexos a la resolución 48/134 de la Asamblea General de las Naciones Unidas.

<sup>4</sup> Freedom House, Freedom in the World: Mexico, 2016: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedomworld/2016/mexico

<sup>5</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>6</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>7</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html <sup>8</sup> Reporteros Sin Fronteras, Clasificación Mundial de la Libertad de Prensa, 2016: https://rsf.org/en/mexico <sup>9</sup> Freedom House, Freedom in the World: Mexico, 2016: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/2016/mexico <sup>10</sup> Freedom House, Freedom in the World: Mexico, 2016: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/2016/mexico <sup>11</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html <sup>12</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html <sup>13</sup> https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html <sup>14</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html <sup>15</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html <sup>16</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?order=wbapi data value 2011%20wbapi d ata value%20wbapi data value-first&sort=desc <sup>17</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?order=wbapi data value 2011%20wbapi d ata\_value%20wbapi\_data\_value-first&sort=desc <sup>18</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?order=wbapi\_data\_value\_2011%20wbapi\_d ata\_value%20wbapi\_data\_value-first&sort=desc <sup>19</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG/countries/xj-L4-C6?display=graph <sup>20</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG/countries/xj-L4-C6?display=graph <sup>21</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG/countries/xj-L4-C6?display=graph <sup>22</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD?page=1&display=default <sup>23</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD?display=default

<sup>24</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD?display=default

<sup>25</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2010: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/270/hdr\_2010\_en\_complete\_reprint.pdf

<sup>26</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2011: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/271/hdr\_2011\_en\_complete.pdf <sup>27</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>28</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>29</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>30</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>31</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>32</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>33</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>34</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2010: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/270/hdr\_2010\_en\_complete\_reprint.pdf

<sup>35</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2011: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/271/hdr\_2011\_en\_complete.pdf

<sup>36</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdr14-report-en-1.pdf

<sup>37</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico:

http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.GINI?order=wbapi\_data\_value\_2011%20wbapi\_data\_value %20wbapi\_data\_value-first&sort=asc

<sup>38</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico:

http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.GINI?order=wbapi\_data\_value\_2011%20wbapi\_data\_value %20wbapi\_data\_value-first&sort=asc

<sup>39</sup> United Nations Development Program, Income Gini coefficient: http://hdr.undp.org/es/content/income-gini-coefficient

<sup>40</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.NAHC?page=1

<sup>41</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/fields/2046.html

<sup>42</sup> Poverty headcount ratio at \$1.90 a day is the percentage of the population living on less than \$1.90 a day at 2011 international prices. As a result of revisions in PPP exchange rates, poverty rates for individual countries cannot be compared with poverty rates reported in earlier editions. Note: five countries -- Bangladesh, Cabo Verde, Cambodia, Jordan, and Lao PDR -- use the 2005 PPP conversion factors and corresponding \$1.25 a day and \$2 a day poverty lines. This is due to the large deviations in the rate of change in PPP factors relative to the rate of change in domestic consumer price indexes.

<sup>43</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.DDAY?page=1

<sup>44</sup> The United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>45</sup> International Institute for Electoral Assistance, IDEA, The Mexican Political System: http://www.oldsite.idea.int/elections/upload/The%20Mexican%20political%20system.pdf.

<sup>46</sup> Suprema Corte de Justicia de la Nación, http://www2.scjn.gob.mx/red/constitucion/inicio.html.

<sup>47</sup> World Bank, Country Overview, Mexico: http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/mexico/overview.

<sup>48</sup> World Bank, Country Overview, Mexico: http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/mexico/overview.

<sup>49</sup> United Nations Development Programme, Human Development Report 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf.

<sup>50</sup> Oxfam Mexico (2015): Extreme Inequality in Mexico: Concentration of Economic and Political Power: http://www.socialprotectionet.org/sites/default/files/inequality\_oxfam.pdf.

<sup>51</sup> UNDP Mexico: Mexico in brief: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/countryinfo/.

<sup>52</sup> Oxfam Mexico (2015): Extreme Inequality in Mexico: Concentration of Economic and Political Power: http://www.socialprotectionet.org/sites/default/files/inequality\_oxfam.pdf.

<sup>53</sup> Oxfam Mexico (2015): Extreme Inequality in Mexico: Concentration of Economic and Political Power: http://www.socialprotectionet.org/sites/default/files/inequality\_oxfam.pdf.

<sup>54</sup> El Censo Educativo de 2014 demuestra que el 48% de las escuelas públicas en el país carecen de acceso a drenaje, 31% carecen acceso a agua potable, 12.8% no cuenta con baños o sanitarios y 11.2% no tienen acceso a energía eléctrica. Por otro lado, en 61.2% de ellas, los alumnos no cuentan con acceso a un equipo de cómputo que sirva y 80% de los estudiantes no tiene internet. Para más información, visita http://www.mejoratuescuela.org/bases.

<sup>55</sup> Oxfam Mexico (2015): Extreme Inequality in Mexico: Concentration of Economic and Political Power: http://www.socialprotectionet.org/sites/default/files/inequality\_oxfam.pdf.

<sup>56</sup> Revista mexicana de sciencias políticas y sociales. La mujer en México: inequidad, pobreza y violencia (2013): http://www.elsevier.es/es-revista-revista-mexicana-ciencias-politicas-sociales-92-articulo-lamujer-mexico-inequidad-pobreza-S0185191814708037.

<sup>57</sup> The Global Gender Gap Report 2014: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/GGGR14/GGGR\_CompleteReport\_2014.pdf.

<sup>58</sup> Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 2013-18 del Gobierno de la República: http://pnd.gob.mx/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/PND-introduccion.pdf.

<sup>59</sup> Plan Nacional de Desarrollo 2013-18 del Gobierno de la República: http://pnd.gob.mx/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/PND-introduccion.pdf.

<sup>60</sup> Programa Nacional de Derechos Humanos en México, 2014-18: http://www.dof.gob.mx/nota\_detalle.php?codigo=5343071&fecha=30/04/2014.

<sup>61</sup> Programa Nacional de Derechos Humanos en México, 2014-18, párrafo 4 del objetivo 4: http://www.dof.gob.mx/nota\_detalle.php?codigo=5343071&fecha=30/04/2014.

<sup>62</sup> Transforming our world: Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, resolution adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on September, 18, 2015, A / 70 / L.1.

<sup>63</sup> Transforming our world: Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, resolution adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on September, 18, 2015, A / 70 / L.1. Preamble.

<sup>64</sup> Transforming our world: Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, resolution adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on September, 18, 2015, A / 70 / L.1. par 4.

<sup>65</sup> Transforming our world: Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, resolution adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on September, 18, 2015, A / 70 / L.1. Preamble.

<sup>66</sup> Transforming our world: Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, resolution adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on September, 18, 2015, A / 70 / L.1. Preamble.

<sup>67</sup> High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development 2016:

http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/es/events/foro-politico-de-alto-nivel-sobre-el-desarrollo-sostenible/.

<sup>68</sup> Mexico National Report for the Voluntary Revision. High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development 2016:

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/10756Full%20report%20Mexico%20-%20HLPF%202016%20FINAL.pdf.

<sup>69</sup> Mexico National Report for the Voluntary Revision. High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development 2016: page 6:

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/10756Full%20report%20Mexico%20-%20HLPF%202016%20FINAL.pdf.

<sup>70</sup> World Bank Country Partnership Strategy for the United Mexican States, 2014-2019: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/819661468051245938/Country-partnership-strategy-forthe-United-Mexican-States-2014-2019.

<sup>71</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.DYN.AIDS.ZS

<sup>72</sup> Global Health Observatory country views: Mexico Statistics Summary (2002 - present): http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.country.country-MEX?lang=en

<sup>73</sup> United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>74</sup> United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>75</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>76</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS

<sup>77</sup> United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>78</sup> United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>79</sup> United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf <sup>80</sup> United Nations Development Programme Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>81</sup> United Nations Development Program, Gender Inequality Index: http://hdr.undp.org/en/composite/GII

<sup>82</sup> United Nations Development Program, Gender Inequality Index: http://hdr.undp.org/en/composite/GII

<sup>83</sup> Poverty headcount ratio at \$1.90 a day is the percentage of the population living on less than \$1.90 a day at 2011 international prices. As a result of revisions in PPP exchange rates, poverty rates for individual countries cannot be compared with poverty rates reported in earlier editions.

<sup>84</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico:

http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.DDAY?order=wbapi\_data\_value\_2013+wbapi\_data\_value+ wbapi\_data\_value-last&sort=asc

<sup>85</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>86</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>87</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>88</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

89 World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SG.GEN.PARL.ZS

<sup>90</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2014: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>91</sup> OECD Gender Inequality Index, Mexico: http://www.genderindex.org/country/mexico#\_ftn1

<sup>92</sup> World Economic Forum Global Gender Gap Index, Mexico, 2013: scorehttp://www.genderindex.org/country/mexico#\_ftn1

93 World Bank Data, Mexico: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.TOTL.IN

<sup>94</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>95</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>96</sup> OHCHR, Advancing Indigenous Peoples' Rights in Mexico, 2011: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/IndigenousPeoplesRightsInMexico.aspx

<sup>97</sup> World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples, Minority Rights Group, Mexico: http://minorityrights.org/minorities/indigenous-peoples-4/

<sup>98</sup> Comisión Nacional para el Desarrollo de los Pueblos Indígenas, Fichas de Información Básica de la Población Indígena, México 2015: http://www.cdi.gob.mx/indicadores2015/ <sup>99</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>100</sup> Comisión Nacional para el Desarrollo de los Pueblos Indígenas, Fichas de Información Básica de la Población Indígena, México 2015: http://www.cdi.gob.mx/indicadores2015/; Organización Internacional para las Migraciones, La Migración en México, 2014: http://oim.org.mx/hechos-γ-cifras-2

<sup>101</sup> In its revision of Mexico in 2014, the United Nations Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities expressed concern regarding the lack of up-to-date statistics on persons with disabilities in Mexico (CRPD/C/MEX/CO/1, para.59):

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=15046&LangID=E#sthash.OH <u>Rc1tRY.dpuf</u>.

<sup>102</sup> Leyes Federales Vigentes. Última reforma constitucional publicada en el Diario Oficial de la Federación el 15 de agosto de 2016: http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/index.htm

<sup>103</sup> World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples, Minority Rights Group, Mexico: http://minorityrights.org/country/mexico/

<sup>104</sup> Constitución Política de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos: http://www.conapred.org.mx/index.php?contenido=pagina&id=161&id\_opcion=171&op=171

<sup>105</sup> National Composite Policy Index (NCPI) Report, Mexico, 2014: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/country/documents/Mexico%20%20NCPI%202013.pdf

<sup>106</sup> Diario Financiero, Estas Cifras Revelan la Discriminación Laboral, 2016: http://www.elfinanciero.com.mx/economia/estas-cifras-revelan-la-discriminacion-laboral.html

<sup>107</sup> Minority Rights Group, Afro-mexicans, Mexico Profile: http://minorityrights.org/minorities/afro-mexicans/

<sup>108</sup> Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía, Encuesta Intercensal 2015: https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/199489/Datos\_INEGI\_poblacio\_n\_afromexicana.pdf

<sup>109</sup> World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples, Minority Rights Group, Mexico: http://minorityrights.org/minorities/indigenous-peoples-4/

<sup>110</sup> Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía, Resultados Definitivos de la Encuesta Intercensal 2015: http://www.inegi.org.mx/saladeprensa/boletines/2015/especiales/especiales2015\_12\_3.pdf

<sup>111</sup> Minority Rights Group, Afro-mexicans, Mexico Profile: http://minorityrights.org/minorities/afro-mexicans/

<sup>112</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>113</sup>United States Department of State, 2012 Report on International Religious Freedom, Mexico: http://www.refworld.org/docid/519dd4a948.html

<sup>114</sup> Jorge E. Horbath, La discriminación laboral de las minorías religiosas en México: un fenómeno silencioso en movimiento, 2008:

http://bibliotecavirtual.clacso.org.ar/ar/libros/clacso/crop/zalpa/19horba.pdf

<sup>115</sup> Consejo Nacional para Prevenir la Discriminación, Encuesta Nacional sobre Discriminación en México, Resultados sobre diversidad religiosa, 2010: http://www.conapred.org.mx/userfiles/files/Enadis-DR-ACCSS.pdf

<sup>116</sup> Consejo Nacional para Prevenir la Discriminación, Efectos legales de la discriminación laboral, sin fecha:

http://www.conapred.org.mx/movil\_smartphone/index.php?contenido=noticias&id=3685&id\_opcion=6 28&op=628; http://elempresario.mx/actualidad/discriminacion-laboral-reflejo-sociedad

<sup>117</sup> Diario Financiero, Estas Cifras Revelan la Discriminación Laboral, 2016: http://www.elfinanciero.com.mx/economia/estas-cifras-revelan-la-discriminacion-laboral.html

<sup>118</sup> United States Department of State, 2012 Report on International Religious Freedom, Mexico: http://www.refworld.org/docid/519dd4a948.html

<sup>119</sup> Thomson Reuters Foundation, The perils for migrants aboard Mexico's "train of death", 2014: http://news.trust.org//slideshow/?id=5accb66a-fb6d-4ab0-a108-5c1f6d026030

<sup>120</sup> UNICEF, Child Labour: agricultural labourers, no date: www.unicef.org/mexico/spanish/17044\_17516.htm

<sup>121</sup> UNICEF, December 2016. Data collected through direct survey of recommendations.

<sup>122</sup> UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, Concluding observations on Mexico, CRPD/C/MEX/CO/1, para. 10.

123 Considerations of the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities on the initial report of Mexico on its implementation of the provisions of the Conventions on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 17 September 2014

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=15046&LangID=E#sthash.qEzi JKvo.dpuf

<sup>124</sup> Adrián Goldin, Labour and fundamental human rights: is "discrimination law" doing the job it is supposed to do? (The Latin American Countries): http://www.ialsnet.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/Goldin-Argentina.pdf

<sup>125</sup> Considerations of the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities on the initial report of Mexico on its implementation of the provisions of the Conventions on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 17 September 2014

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=15046&LangID=E#sthash.qEzi JKvo.dpuf

<sup>126</sup> Comité sobre los Derechos de las Personas con Discapacidad. Observaciones finales sobre el informe inicial de México, 2014. CRPD/C/MEX/CO/1 (párr. 59):

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRPD/C/MEX/CO/ 1&Lang=En.

<sup>127</sup> Global Disability Rights Now, Disability in Mexico:

http://www.globaldisabilityrightsnow.org/infographics/disability-mexico

<sup>128</sup> Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Concluding observations on the initial report of Mexico, 2014. CRPD/C/MEX/CO/1:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRPD/C/MEX/CO/ 1&Lang=En.

<sup>129</sup> UNAIDS, HIV and AIDS estimates, Mexico, 2015: http://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/mexico/

<sup>130</sup> The People Living with HIV Stigma Index and Global Network of People Living with HIV, Stigma and Discrimination at Work, Mexico 2010:

http://www.stigmaindex.org/sites/default/files/reports/Mexico%20People%20Living%20with%20HIV%2 0Stigma%20Index%20Report%202010-%20spanish.pdf

<sup>131</sup> The People Living with HIV Stigma Index and Global Network of People Living with HIV, Stigma and Discrimination at Work, Mexico 2010.

http://www.stigmaindex.org/sites/default/files/reports/Mexico%20People%20Living%20with%20HIV%2 0Stigma%20Index%20Report%202010-%20spanish.pdf

<sup>132</sup> The People Living with HIV Stigma Index and Global Network of People Living with HIV, Stigma and Discrimination at Work, Mexico 2010.

http://www.stigmaindex.org/sites/default/files/reports/Mexico%20People%20Living%20with%20HIV%2 0Stigma%20Index%20Report%202010-%20spanish.pdf

<sup>133</sup> IWGIA Annual 2016, Mexico: http://www.iwgia.org/images/stories/sections-esp/regiones/latinamerica/docs/MI2016/Mexico\_MI2016\_web.pdf

<sup>134</sup> United States Department of State, Country Reports on Human Rights Practices for 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/index.htm#wrapper

<sup>135</sup> United States Department of State, Country Reports on Human Rights Practices for 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/index.htm#wrapper

<sup>136</sup> World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples, Minority Rights Group, Mexico: http://minorityrights.org/country/mexico/

<sup>137</sup> IWGIA Anuario 2016, México: http://www.iwgia.org/images/stories/sections-esp/regiones/latinamerica/docs/MI2016/Mexico\_MI2016\_web.pdf

<sup>138</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos (ACNUDH), Advancing Indigenous Peoples' Rights in Mexico, sin fecha:

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/IndigenousPeoplesRightsInMexico.aspx

<sup>139</sup> United States Department of State, Country Reports on Human Rights Practices for 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/index.htm#wrapper

<sup>140</sup> UNESCO, Bilingual Literacy for Life, Country Profile: Mexico, Sin fecha: http://www.unesco.org/uil/litbase/?menu=16&programme=92

<sup>141</sup> Conapred, Documento Informativo sobre Discriminación Racial en México, 2011:

http://www.conapred.org.mx/documentos\_cedoc/Dossier%20DISC-RACIAL.pdf

<sup>142</sup> Sedesol, Encuesta Nacional de Jornaleros 2009: http://www.cipet.gob.mx/Jornaleros

<sup>143</sup> Sedesol, Encuesta Nacional de Jornaleros 2009: http://www.cipet.gob.mx/Jornaleros

<sup>144</sup> Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women, Final Observations, CEDAW/C/MEX/CO/7-8, 7 2012:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CEDAW/C/MEX/C O/7-8&Lang=En

<sup>145</sup> Comisión de Derechos Humanos del Distrito Federal [CDHDF], Informe especial sobre violaciones a los derechos humanos por orientación o preferencia sexual y por identidad o expresión de género 2007-2008 18 (2008): http://cdhdfbeta.cdhdf.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/informe-lgbtti.pdf

<sup>146</sup> Ley Federal Para Prevenir y Eliminar la Discriminación: http://www.cddhcu.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/262.pdf

<sup>147</sup> Outright Action International, Mexico becomes the second country in Latin America to provide national anti-discrimination protection for LGBTS , 2003:

https://www.outrightinternational.org/content/mexico-mexico-becomes-second-country-latin-america-provide-national-anti-discrimination

<sup>148</sup> Outright Action International, Mexico City amneds Civil Code to include Transgender rights, 2004:https://www.outrightinternational.org/content/mexico-mexico-city-amends-civil-code-includetransgender-rights

<sup>149</sup> Conapred, La Transgeneridad y la transexualidad en México: En búsqueda del reconocimiento de la identidad de género y la lucha contra la discriminación, 2008: https://es.scribd.com/document/105852612/Documento-de-Trabajo-No-12-2008-LA-

TRANSGENERIDAD-Y-L-A-TRANSEXUALIDAD-EN-MEXICO-EN-BUSQUEDA-DEL-RECONOCIMIENTO-DE-LA-IDENTIDAD-DE-GENERO-Y-LA-LU

<sup>150</sup> Fernando Ríos, Minimizan autoridades asesinatos de homosexuales, El Sol de México, 2009: https://www.outrightinternational.org/content/mexico-shadow-report-violations-rights-lesbian-gaybisexual-and-transgender-persons

<sup>151</sup> Fernando Ríos, Minimizan autoridades asesinatos de homosexuales, El Sol de México, July 18, 2009: https://www.outrightinternational.org/content/mexico-shadow-report-violations-rights-lesbian-gaybisexual-and-transgender-persons

<sup>152</sup> Código Penal Para el Estado de Tamaulipas, Art. 192: http://procuraduria.tamaulipas.gob.mx/wpcontent/uploads/2014/02/código-penal-para-el-estado-pdf.pdf. Énfasis en la cita agregada por el autor.

<sup>153</sup> ILGA, La comunidad gay es el segundo sector más discriminado en el DF de México, 2014: http://ilga.org/es/la-comunidad-gay-es-el-segundo-sector-m-s-discriminado-en-el-df-de-m-xico/

<sup>154</sup> Revista Con la A, Violencia contra personas LGTB en México, 2016: http://conlaa.com/violenciacontra-personas-lgbt-en-mexico/

<sup>155</sup> Social Institutions and Gender Index, Mexico: http://www.genderindex.org/country/mexico#\_ftnref2

<sup>156</sup> Conapred, Norma Mexicana NMX-R-025-SCFI-2015 en Igualdad Laboral y No Discriminación: http://www.conapred.org.mx/index.php?contenido=pagina&id=543&id\_opcion=686&op=686

<sup>157</sup> Enfoque Noticias, Durante 2016 se han certificado 14 empresas con la Norma Mexicana en Igualdad Laboral y No Discriminación, 2016: http://www.enfoquenoticias.com.mx/noticias/durante-2016-se-hancertificado-14-empresas-con-la-norma-mexicana-en-igualdad-laboral-y-no <sup>158</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>159</sup> Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women, Final Observations, CEDAW/C/MEX/CO/7-8, 7 August 2012:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CEDAW/C/MEX/C O/7-8&Lang=En

<sup>160</sup> The Global Gender Gap Index 2015, Mexico: http://reports.weforum.org/global-gender-gap-report-2015/economies/#economy=MEX

<sup>161</sup>United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>162</sup> Intituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía, Mujeres y Hombres en México, 2014: http://cedoc.inmujeres.gob.mx/documentos\_download/101239.pdf

<sup>163</sup> Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women, Final Observations, CEDAW/C/MEX/CO/7-8, 7 August 2012:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CEDAW/C/MEX/C O/7-8&Lang=En

<sup>164</sup> OIT, Trabajo decente e igualdad de género, Políticas para mejorar el acceso y la calidad del empleo de las mujeres en América Latina y el Caribe, 2013:

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@americas/@ro-lima/@srosantiago/documents/publication/wcms\_233161.pdf

<sup>165</sup> Oxfam Mexico (2015): Extreme Inequality in Mexico: Concentration of Economic and Political Power: http://www.socialprotectionet.org/sites/default/files/inequality\_oxfam.pdf.

<sup>166</sup> The Global Gender Gap Index 2015: http://reports.weforum.org/global-gender-gap-report-2015/economies/#economy=MEX

<sup>167</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016:

http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>168</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016.html

<sup>169</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016.html

<sup>170</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/ <sup>171</sup> Gender Inequality and Women Rights in Mexico, Oxfam Mexico, 2014.

https://www.unisa.edu.au/Global/Hawke%20Centre/2015%20Calendar/Oxfam/OxfamMexico%20slides.pdf

<sup>172</sup> World Bank, share of women in wage employment in non-agricultural sector (industry and services), 2013: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.EMP.INSV.FE.ZS

<sup>173</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>174</sup> United States Department of State, 2015 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices, Mexico, 2016: http://www.refworld.org/docid/571612389.html

<sup>175</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>176</sup> United States Department of State, 2015 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices - Mexico, 2016: http://www.refworld.org/docid/571612389.html

<sup>177</sup> Artículo 170, fracción II.

<sup>178</sup> Artículo 132, fracción XXVII bis.

<sup>179</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>180</sup> Comisión Mexicana de Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos, En Defensa de la Vida | Conclusiones de la Misión de Observación Civil sobre la situación de las personas defensoras en México, 2015: http://www.cmdpdh.org/publicaciones-

pdf/cmdpdh\_en\_defensa\_de\_la\_vida\_conclusiones\_de\_la\_mision\_de\_observacion\_civil\_sobre\_situacio n\_de\_personas\_defensoras\_en\_mexico\_2015.pdf

<sup>181</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>182</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, The situation of Human Rights Defenders in Mexico:

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/HumanRightsDefendersInMexico.aspx#sthash.wBeq9YRg. dpuf

<sup>183</sup> Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Segundo informe sobre la situación de las defensoras y defensores de los derechos humanos en las Américas, 2011: http://www.humanrights.se/wpcontent/uploads/2012/05/Second-report-on-the-situation-of-human-rights-defenders-in-the-americas-20121.pdf

<sup>184</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos",

"El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-y-defensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>185</sup> Global Witness, How many more? Report / April 20, 2015: https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/how-many-more/

<sup>186</sup> ISHR, Alberto Solís Castro: defensor de derechos humanos de México, 2015: http://www.ishr.ch/news/alberto-solis-castro-defensor-de-derechos-humanos-de-mexico

<sup>187</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>188</sup> Front-line Defenders. Joint letter: Mexico, Detention of Human Rights and Environment Defender Marco Antonio Suástegui Muños, June 25, 2014. Revista Proceso, *"López Obrador exige la liberación de 16 comuneros en Holbox"*, August 18, 2014.

<sup>189</sup> FIDH, México: Ataques y amenazas en contra de dos miembros de la Administración Autónoma de Agua Potable (AAPCOY) del pueblo indígena de Coyotepec, 2016:

https://www.fidh.org/es/temas/defensores-de-derechos-humanos/mexico-ataques-y-amenazas-encontra-de-dos-miembros-de-la#nb1

<sup>190</sup> Diario Sin Embargo, En consulta al pueblo maya sobre soya transgénica hay presiones e irregularidades, denuncian ONGs, 2016: http://www.sinembargo.mx/12-05-2016/1659210

<sup>191</sup> Periódico La Jornada, Con tretas fueron reclutados los rarámuris rescatados de "trabajo inhumano" en BCS, 2015: http://www.jornada.unam.mx/2015/03/17/politica/014n1pol

<sup>192</sup> Global Witness, How many more? Report / April 20, 2015: https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/how-many-more/

<sup>193</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>194</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>195</sup> ILGA, En México, colegio debe pagar 161 mil pesos por expulsar a hija de pareja gay, 2014: http://ilga.org/es/en-m-xico-colegio-debe-pagar-161-mil-pesos-por-expulsar-a-hija-de-pareja-gay/

<sup>196</sup> Business & Human Resource Centre, PepsiCo latest news: https://businesshumanrights.org/en/pepsico-0?issues%5B%5D=11275

<sup>197</sup> Nestlé, Nestlé recognised for its inclusive employment practices in Mexico, 2012: http://www.nestle.com/media/newsandfeatures/mexico-labour-inclusion <sup>198</sup> Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, Hersey actions on workplace diversity / nondiscrimination, Mexico: https://business-humanrights.org/en/hershey-0?issues%5B%5D=11257

<sup>199</sup> ISHR, Ivette Gonzalez: Human rights defender from Mexico, 2016: http://www.ishr.ch/news/ivettegonzalez-human-rights-defender-mexico

<sup>200</sup> Taller sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos para el Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de México, 13 de octubre, 2016.

<sup>201</sup> Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas" (editado para el formato)

<sup>202</sup> Servicios y Asesoría para la Paz A.C.: http://serapaz.org.mx.

<sup>203</sup> Centro de Información sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos: https://business-humanrights.org/es.

<sup>204</sup> Organización internacional del Trabajo, Declaración de la OIT relativa a los principios y derechos fundamentales en el trabajo, sin fecha: http://www.ilo.org/declaration/lang--es/index.htm
 <sup>205</sup> ONU Mujeres, Principios para el Empoderamiento Económico de la Mujer, 2011:

http://www2.unwomen.org/~/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/partnerships/businesses%20 and%20foundations/women-s-empowerment-

principles\_2011\_es%20pdf.pdf?v=1&d=20141013T121818

<sup>206</sup> OXFAM Australia, Women, communities and mining: The gender impacts of mining and the role of gender impact assessment, 2009: http://www.oecdwatch.org/publications-es/Publication\_3287-es
 <sup>207</sup> Busines and Human Rights Resource Centre, Text of business & human rights standards, sin fecha: http://business-humanrights.org/es

<sup>208</sup> Business and human Rights Resource Centre, United Nations Sub-Comission Norms on Business and Human Rights, sin fecha: http://business-humanrights.org/en/united-nations-sub-commission-norms-on-business-human-rights-explanatory-materials

<sup>209</sup> Business and Human Rights, Principles and standards, sin fecha: http://businesshumanrights.org/en/principles-standards

<sup>210</sup> Legatum Prosperity, Legatum Prosperity Index, 2015: http://www.prosperity.com/#!/country/MEX

<sup>211</sup> Index Mundi, Percentage of pupils starting grade 1 who reach last grade of primary: http://www.indexmundi.com/mexico/percentage-of-pupils-starting-grade-1-who-reach-last-grade-ofprimary.html

<sup>212</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>213</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>214</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>215</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>216</sup> UNICEF, December 2016. Data collected through direct survey of recommendations.

<sup>217</sup> World Bank Data, Mexico:

http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.TO.ZS?locations=MX&name\_desc=false

<sup>218</sup> Legatum Prosperity, Legatum Prosperity Index, 2015: http://www.prosperity.com/#!/country/MEX

<sup>219</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2015: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/2015\_human\_development\_report.pdf

<sup>220</sup> OIT, México ratifica el Convenio 138 de la OIT sobre la edad mínima de admisión al empleo, 2015: http://www.ilo.org/mexico/noticias/WCMS\_359411/lang--es/index.htm

<sup>221</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>222</sup> Artículo 123-A-III de la Constitución y art. 173 a 180 de la Ley Federal del Trabajo: http://info4.juridicas.unam.mx/juslab/leylab/250/124.htm; http://mexico.justia.com/federales/leyes/ley-federal-del-trabajo/titulo-quinto-bis/

<sup>223</sup> UNICEF, Los derechos de los niños y el mundo empresarial. Reporte sobre México, junio de 2016.

<sup>224</sup> UNICEF, December 2016. Data collected through direct survey of recommendations.

<sup>225</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016.

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S

<sup>226</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>227</sup> Global Reporting, Mexico: https://www.globalreporting.org/information/policy/initiatives-worldwide/Pages/Mexico.aspx

<sup>228</sup> United States Department of State, Country Report 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2015/wha/253027.htm

<sup>229</sup> Save the Children, Universal Periodic Review Mexico 2013, Recommendations for a Mexican Child Protection System: http://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/document/mexico/session\_17\_-\_october\_2013/scmx\_upr17\_mex\_e\_main.pdf

<sup>230</sup> Diario La Jornada, El trabajo infantil en México, de riesgo extremo, revelan estudios, 2016: http://www.jornada.unam.mx/ultimas/2016/06/12/el-trabajo-infantil-en-mexico-de-riesgo-extremorevelan-estudios.

<sup>231</sup> SIDIDH, En el mercado de trabajo, cuatro millones de niñas y niños mexicanos, 2015: http://centroprodh.org.mx/sididh\_2\_0\_alfa/?p=39515

<sup>232</sup> World Bank, Children at Work in Mexico, Still a Major Issue, 2013: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2013/01/18/children-at-work-in-mexico-still-a-majorissue

<sup>233</sup> Ley para la Proteccion de los Derechos de Ninas, Ninos y Adolescentes (Law on the Protection of the Rights of Children and Adolescents), art. 21, D.O., May 29, 2000, http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/185.pdf <sup>234</sup> United States Department of State Country Report 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/index.htm?year=2015&dlid=253027

<sup>235</sup> Diario El Universal, Cinco de cada diez niños trabajadores no recibe salario en México, 2016: http://www.eluniversal.com.mx/articulo/english/2016/06/9/five-out-every-10-working-childrenmexico-do-not-get-paid

<sup>236</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humano, Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la Alimentación, Misión a México 2012:

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session19/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_sp.pdf;

<sup>237</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>238</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>239</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>240</sup> En México, la educación es un derecho fundamental para todas las niñas, ni- ños y adolescentes, según se establece en el artículo 3 de la Constitución Política de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos: "Todo individuo tiene derecho a recibir educación. El Estado —federación, estados, distrito federal y municipios— impartirá educación preescolar, primaria, secundaria y media superior. La educación preescolar, primaria, secundaria y la media superior serán obligatorias". (Reformado mediante Decreto publicado en el Diario Oficial de la Federación el 9 de febrero de 2012)

<sup>241</sup> Ley General de Educación de México, última reforma publicada en 2016: https://www.sep.gob.mx/work/models/sep1/Resource/558c2c24-0b12-4676-ad90-8ab78086b184/ley\_general\_educacion.pdf

<sup>242</sup> UNICEF, 1 de cada 5 niños que trabajan en México, lo hace para pagar la escuela o sus propios gastos,
 2015: http://www.unicef.org/mexico/spanish/noticias\_30049.htm

<sup>243</sup> UNICEF, 1 de cada 5 niños que trabajan en México, lo hace para pagar la escuela o sus propios gastos,
 2015: http://www.unicef.org/mexico/spanish/noticias\_30049.htm

<sup>244</sup> UNICEF, 1 de cada 5 niños que trabajan en México, lo hace para pagar la escuela o sus propios gastos,
 2015: http://www.unicef.org/mexico/spanish/noticias\_30049.htm

<sup>245</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>246</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf <sup>247</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>248</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Niño empacador de 10 años es amordazado por el gerente de la tienda "por no hacer bien las cosas" en Cancún, 2016: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/nino-empacadorde-10-anos-es-amordazado-por-el-gerente-de-la-tienda-por-no-hacer-bien-las-cosas-en-cancun/

<sup>249</sup> International Business Times, Mexico Child Labor: Over 60 Children Found Working At Vegetable Packing Factory In Northern State Of Coahuila, 2015: http://www.ibtimes.com/mexico-child-labor-over-60-children-found-working-vegetable-packing-factory-northern-2062954

<sup>250</sup> United States Department of State Country Report 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/index.htm#wrapper

<sup>251</sup> Diario Milenio, Condenan a cuatro personas por explotación laboral en Edomex, 2014: http://www.milenio.com/estados/explotacion\_laboral-condenan\_a\_cuatro\_personas\_en\_Edomextrata\_de\_personas\_0\_317968408.html

<sup>252</sup> Oxfam, Iniciativa Behind the Brands, sin fecha: http://www.behindthebrands.org/es

<sup>253</sup> Oxfam Briefing Paper, Behind the brands, 2013: https://www.oxfam.de/system/files/bp166-behindbrands-260213-embargo-en.pdf

<sup>254</sup> Unicef, Los derechos de los niños y el mundo empresarial. Reporte sobre México, junio de 2016.

<sup>255</sup> Fundación Telefónica, Programa Pro Niño:

http://www.fundaciontelefonica.com/educacion\_innovacion/pronino/

<sup>256</sup> Así Sucede, Sector empresarial mexiquense formará Red Estatal de Empresas contra el Trabajo Infantil, 2015: http://asisucede.com.mx/sector-empresarial-mexiquense-formara-red-estatal-deempresas-contra-el-trabajo-infantil/

<sup>257</sup> La Jornada, Acuerdan panaderos y azucareros prevenir trabajo infantil, 2015: http://www.jornada.unam.mx/ultimas/2015/12/07/acuerdan-panaderos-y-azucareros-prevenir-trabajoinfantil-5226.html

<sup>258</sup> Centro de Información de las Naciones Unidas, Cero tolerancia al trabajo infantil: Agroindustria azucarera, 2013: http://www.cinu.mx/comunicados/2013/06/cero-tolerancia-al-trabajo-al-/

<sup>259</sup> Unicef, Los derechos de los niños y el mundo empresarial. Reporte sobre México, junio de 2016.

<sup>260</sup> Save the Children, Universal Periodic Review Mexico 2013 – Recommendations for a Mexican Child Protection System: http://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/document/mexico/session\_17\_-\_october\_2013/scmx\_upr17\_mex\_e\_main.pdf

<sup>261</sup> Unicef, Los derechos del niño en las políticas y códigos de conducta, Guía práctica para las empresas
 2013:

http://www.unicef.org/csr/css/Childrens\_Rights\_in\_Policies\_and\_Codes\_of\_Conduct\_Spanish\_Version.pdf

<sup>262</sup> Observaciones Generales del Comité de los Derechos del Niño No.16 punto 64. Y para las empresas de cierto tamaño, Observaciones Generales del Comité de los Derechos del Niño" No.16 punto 65.

http://www.unicef.org/ecuador/UNICEF-ObservacionesGeneralesDelComiteDeLosDerechosDelNino-WEB.pdf

<sup>263</sup> Observaciones Generales del Comité de los Derechos del Niño No.16 punto 64. Y para las empresas de cierto tamaño, Observaciones Generales del Comité de los Derechos del Niño" No.16 punto 65. http://www.unicef.org/ecuador/UNICEF-ObservacionesGeneralesDelComiteDeLosDerechosDelNino-WEB.pdf

<sup>264</sup> Centro de Información de las Naciones Unidas, Cero tolerancia al trabajo infantil: Agroindustria azucarera, 2013: http://www.cinu.mx/comunicados/2013/06/cero-tolerancia-al-trabajo-al-/

<sup>265</sup> Unicef, Los derechos del niño en informes de sostenibilidad, una guía para incorporar los derechos del niño en memorias de sostenibilidad basadas en el marco GRI, 2014:

 $http://www.unicef.org/csr/css/childrens\_rights\_in\_sustainability\_reporting\_spanish\_25092014.pdf$ 

<sup>266</sup> UNICEF, Recomendaciones para el Programa Nacional de Empresas y Derechos Humanos, México 2016.

 <sup>267</sup> Pacto Global; Save the Children & Unicef, Derechos del Niño y Principios Empresariales, 2012: http://www.unicef.org/costarica/docs/cr\_pub\_Derechos\_del\_Nino\_y\_Principios\_Empresariales.pdf
 <sup>268</sup> Comité de la ONU sobre los Derechos del Niño, Observación general № 16 (2013) sobre
 las obligaciones del Estado en relación con el impacto del sector empresarial en los derechos del niño, 2013:

http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:XYtq0EQ4z8cJ:www2.ohchr.org/english/bodi es/crc/docs/GC/CRC.C.GC.16\_sp.doc+&cd=1&hl=es&ct=clnk&gl=co

<sup>269</sup> Business and Human Rights Resource Centre. Child Labour, sin fecha: http://business-

humanrights.org/en/child-labour-an-introduction#94825

<sup>270</sup> OIT, ILO Conventions and Recommendations on child labour, sin fecha:

http://www.ilo.org/global/standards/introduction-to-international-labour-standards/conventions-and-recommendations/lang--en/index.htm

<sup>271</sup> Unicef, Childrens Rights in Impact Assesments, 2013: http://www.unicef.org/csr/156.htm

<sup>272</sup> United States Department of State Report on Traffickin in Persons 2016:

http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258880.pdf

<sup>273</sup> Artículo 1, párrafo 4°: "Está prohibida la esclavitud en los Estados Unidos Mexicanos. Los esclavos del extranjero que entren al territorio nacional alcanzarán, por este solo hecho, su libertad y la protección de las leyes"

<sup>274</sup> Arts. 21-24 de la Ley para prevenir, sancionar y erradicar los delitos relacionados con la trata de personas y para proteger y asistir a las víctimas de estos crímenes, 2012.

<sup>275</sup> United States Department of State, 2015 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices - Mexico, 13 April 2016, available at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/571612389.html

<sup>276</sup> Art 123-A-XI de la Constitución Mexicana, arts 60-66 de la Ley Federal del Trabajo

<sup>277</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258880.pdf

<sup>278</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2014: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/countries/2014/226777.htm <sup>279</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>280</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>281</sup> 'Mexico Rescues 129 Workers, Including Children, 'Abused' at Garment Factory', ABC News, February 6, 2015, accessed 06/02/16: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-02-06/mexico-rescues-129-workersfrom-factory/6075492; http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>282</sup> This is based on a random-sample, nationallyrepresentative survey undertaken in 2015, that sought to identify instances of both forced marriage and forced labour within the general population (survey conducted in Spanish language).

<sup>283</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>284</sup> Insight Crime, Criminal Groups Enslaving Mexicans In 'Forced Labor Camps', 2013: http://www.insightcrime.org/news-briefs/criminal-groups-enslaving-mexicans-in-forced-labor-camps; Proceso, Cautivos en el Infierno, 2013: http://www.proceso.com.mx/346847.

<sup>285</sup> Journal of Immigrant Minority Health 16, no.1, 'Migrants Suffering Violence While in Transit through Mexico: Factors Associated with the Decision to Continue or Turn Back; Edson Servan-Mori et al, 2014, pp. 53–59, doi: 10.1007/s10903-012-9759-3; The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>286</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258879.pdf

<sup>287</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258880.pdf;

<sup>288</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>289</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258880.pdf

<sup>290</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/countries/2016/258821.htm

<sup>291</sup> US Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/documents/organization/258880.pdf

<sup>292</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/countries/2016/258821.htm

<sup>293</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/countries/2016/258821.htm

<sup>294</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>295</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: https://www.siglo.mx/coahuila/noticia/67253.cae-propietario-de-prokarne-van-7-detenidos.html

<sup>296</sup> Americas Program, San Quintín Valley: From Labor Abuse to Labor Mobilization, 2015: http://www.cipamericas.org/archives/15532 <sup>297</sup> Mexico News, More farm laborers working as slaves, 2015: http://mexiconewsdaily.com/news/farm-laborers-working-slaves/

<sup>298</sup> ABC News, Mexico rescues 129 workers, including children, 'abused' at garment Factory, 2015: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-02-06/mexico-rescues-129-workers-from-factory/6075492

<sup>299</sup> World Socialist Web Site, Forced labor on Mexican farms, 2015: http://www.wsws.org/en/articles/2015/01/03/mexi-j03.html

<sup>300</sup> United States Department of State, Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons, 2016 Trafficking in Persons Report Country Narrative: Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/countries/2016/258821.htm.

<sup>301</sup> UNICEF, Recomendaciones para el Programa Nacional de Empresas y Derechos Humanos, México 2016.

<sup>302</sup> Secretaría de Trabajo y Previsión Social, Marco normativo de seguridad y salud en el trabajo, 2012: http://asinom.stps.gob.mx:8145/Centro/CentroMarcoNormativo.aspx

<sup>303</sup> Formato Siete, Más accidentes de trabajo, menos protección laboral en México, 2016: http://formato7.com/2016/04/06/mas-accidentes-de-trabajo-menos-proteccion-laboral-en-mexico/

<sup>304</sup> Secretaría de Trabajo y Previsión Social, Estadísticas del Sector, sin fecha: http://www.stps.gob.mx/bp/secciones/conoce/areas\_atencion/areas\_atencion/web/menu\_infsector.ht ml

<sup>305</sup> Mondaq, Mexico's New Federal Regulation Of Occupational Health And Safety, 2015: http://www.mondaq.com/mexico/x/408476/employee+rights+labour+relations/Mexicos+New+Federal +Regulation+Of+Occupational+Health+And+Safety

<sup>306</sup> El Universal, Pegan Accidentes Laborales en México, 2015: http://archivo.eluniversal.com.mx/nacionmexico/2015/pegan-accidentes-laborales-en-mexico-1088348.html; Secretaría de Trabajo y Previsión Social, Información sobre Accidentes y Enfermedades de Trabajo, 2005-2014: http://autogestion.stps.gob.mx:8162/pdf/Nacional%202005-2014.pdf

<sup>307</sup> Sánchez-Román FR et al. Occupational Health in Mexico, Int J Occup Environ Health, 2006: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/6632219\_Occupational\_Health\_in\_Mexico

<sup>308</sup> Formato Siete, Más accidentes de trabajo menos protección laboral, 2016: http://formato7.com/2016/04/06/mas-accidentes-de-trabajo-menos-proteccion-laboral-en-mexico/

<sup>309</sup> El Universal, Pegan Accidentes Laborales en México, 2015: http://archivo.eluniversal.com.mx/nacion-mexico/2015/pegan-accidentes-laborales-en-mexico-1088348.html

<sup>310</sup> Formato Siete, Más accidentes de trabajo menos protección laboral, 2016: http://formato7.com/2016/04/06/mas-accidentes-de-trabajo-menos-proteccion-laboral-en-mexico/

<sup>311</sup> AFL-CIO, Mexico: Labor Rights Concerns, 2014: http://www.aflcio.org/Issues/Trade/Trans-Pacific-Partnership-Free-Trade-Agreement-TPP/Labor-Rights/Mexico-Labor-Rights-Concerns

<sup>312</sup> United States Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor, Country Reports on Human Rights Practices, 2003: http://m.state.gov/md27905.htm

<sup>313</sup> International Labor Organization, Introductory Report: Global Trends and Challenges on Occupational Safety and Health, 2011:

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@ed\_protect/@protrav/@safework/documents/publication /wcms\_162662.pdf

<sup>314</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Empresa ligada a Oceanografía despide a 150 trabajadores; es acusada de explotación, 2016: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/empresa-ligada-a-oceanografia-despide-a-150-trabajadores-es-acusada-de-explotacion-laboral/

<sup>315</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Te vamos a poner en lista negra y te vas a morir de hambre empresas extranjeras a trabajadores en Ciudad Juárez, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/te-vamos-a-poner-en-lista-negra-y-te-vas-a-morir-de-hambre-empresas-extranjeras-a-trabajadores-en-cd-juarez/

<sup>316</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Te vamos a poner en lista negra y te vas a morir de hambre empresas extranjeras a trabajadores en Ciudad Juárez, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/te-vamos-a-poner-en-lista-negra-y-te-vas-a-morir-de-hambre-empresas-extranjeras-a-trabajadores-en-cd-juarez/

<sup>317</sup> Nestlé, Evaluar y abordar cuestiones de derechos humanos en nuestras operaciones y cadenas de suministro, sin fecha: https://www.nestle.com.mx/csv/nuestragente/derechos-humanos

<sup>318</sup> IFC, Normas de Desempeño sobre Sostenibilidad Ambiental y Social, 2012: http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/55d37e804a5b586a908b9f8969adcc27/PS\_Spanish\_2012\_Full-Document.pdf?MOD=AJPERES

<sup>319</sup> Portal para la Gestión Responsable de la Cadena de Suministro: http://www.csr-supplychain.gr/en/
 <sup>320</sup> International Council of Mining and Metals ICMM. 10 principles, sin fecha:

http://www.icmm.com/our-work/sustainable-development-framework/10-principles#05

<sup>321</sup> Artículos 354-385 de la Ley Federal del Trabajo: https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>322</sup> Embajada de Estados Unidos en México, Informe de derechos humanos, México 2015: https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>323</sup> La densidad sindical corresponde a la proporción de obreros y empleados que son miembros de los sindicatos, dividido por el número total de obreros y empleados (Estadísticas de la Fuerza de Trabajo de la OCDE).

<sup>324</sup> XVII Informe de Violaciones a los Derechos Humanos Laborales, 2013: http://www.fomento.org.mx/novedades/XVII\_DHL\_CEREAL2013.pdf

<sup>325</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, 2013 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights -Mexico, 6 June 2013, available at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/51b8516416.html

<sup>326</sup> Embajada de Estados Unidos en México, Informe de derechos humanos, México 2015: https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>327</sup>Secretaria Auxiliar de Conflictos Colectivos, Junta Especial Numero Quince, Expediente Numero: IV·54J2012.

<sup>328</sup> Article 23 of the Regulatory Law of sub-paragraph XIII bis of section B, article 123 of the Constitution, http://survey.ituc-csi.org/Mexico.html?lang=en#tabs-3

<sup>329</sup> Fair Labor Association, Protecting Workers' Rights to Freedom of Association & Collective Bargaining in Mexico, 2012: http://www.fairlabor.org/blog/entry/protecting-workers'-rights-freedom-association-collective-bargaining-mexico

<sup>330</sup> A Gold Standard for Workers? The State of Labor Rights in Trans-Pacific Partnership Countries

http://www.aflcio.org/content/download/174525/4153892/1628\_TPPLaborRightsReport.pdf

<sup>331</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Unions, Rights, Mexico 2012: http://www.refworld.org/docid/4fd88937c.html

<sup>332</sup> ITUC, Survey of Violations of Trade Unions Rights, 2016: http://survey.ituccsi.org/Mexico.html?lang=en#tabs-3

<sup>333</sup> Graciela Bensusãn and Arturo Alcalde, "El sistema de justicia laboral en México: situación actual y perspectivas," (June 2013). *Available at:* www.

fesmex.org/common/Documentos/Libros/Paper\_AP\_Justicia\_Laboral\_Bensusan-Alcalde\_Jun2013.pdf

<sup>334</sup> ILO, Individual Case (CAS) - Discussion: 2015, Publication: 104th ILC sesión, 2015: www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:13100:0::NO::P13100\_COMMENT\_ID:3241939

<sup>335</sup> ITUC, México está por ratificar el Convenio 98 de la OIT sobre negociación colectiva, 2016: http://www.ituc-csi.org/mexico-esta-por-ratificar-el

<sup>336</sup> Ogletree Deakins, Mexico's Collective Bargaining Freedom Protocol: An Introduction for Employers Doing Business in Mexico, 2016: http://www.ogletreedeakins.com/sharedcontent/content/blog/2016/july/mexicos-collective-bargaining-freedom-protocol-introductionemployers-doing-business-mexico

<sup>337</sup> Secretaría de Trabajo y Previsión Social, Estadísticas del Sector, sin fecha: http://www.stps.gob.mx/bp/secciones/conoce/areas\_atencion/areas\_atencion/web/menu\_infsector.ht ml

<sup>338</sup> Centro de Reflexión y Acción Laboral, Sindicatos fantasma ya son mayoría en el país, 2016: http://www.cerealgdl.org/index.php/es/noticias-laborales/141-sindicatos-fantasma-mayoria

<sup>339</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, 2013 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights -Mexico, 6 June 2013, available at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/51b8516416.html

<sup>340</sup> United States Department of State, Human Righst Report, México 2015: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2015/wha/253027.htm

<sup>341</sup> United States Department of State, Human Righst Report, México 2015: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2015/wha/253027.htm

<sup>342</sup> United States Embassy & Consulates in Mexico, Human Rights Report, México 2015: https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>343</sup> Sub-section II of article 99 of the Federal Law on Workers in the Service of the State

<sup>344</sup> ITUC, Survey of Violations of Trade Unions Rights, México 2014: http://survey.ituccsi.org/Mexico.html?lang=en#tabs-2 <sup>345</sup> Arts. 94, fourth heading of the Federal Law on Workers in the Service of the State, and 5, of the Regulatory Law of sub-paragraph XIII bis, section B, of article 123 of the Constitution.

<sup>346</sup> For instance, the Regulatory Law on the Railways Service, the Law on the National Register of Vehicles, the General Communications Law and the internal regulations of the Communications and Transport Secretariat. In the banking sector, article 121 of the Credit Institutions Law provides that a National Banking Commission "shall ensure that ... during the strike as many offices as are indispensible shall remain open and as many workers as are strictly necessary to perform the functions shall continue to work'. ITUC declared in 2014 that that this was an unreasonable or discretionary determination of the extent of the "<u>minimum service</u>" to be guaranteed during strikes in public services. See: http://survey.ituc-csi.org/Mexico.html?lang=en#tabs-2

<sup>347</sup>Secretaría de Trabajo y Previsión Social, Estadísticas del Sector, sin fecha: http://www.stps.gob.mx/bp/secciones/conoce/areas\_atencion/areas\_atencion/web/menu\_infsector.ht ml

<sup>348</sup> AFL-CIO, Mexico: Labor Rights Concern: http://www.aflcio.org/lssues/Trade/Trans-Pacific-Partnership-Free-Trade-Agreement-TPP/Labor-Rights/Mexico-Labor-Rights-Concerns

<sup>349</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, 2012 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights -Mexico, 2012: http://www.refworld.org/docid/4fd88937c.html

<sup>350</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, 2012 Annual Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights -Mexico, 2012, available at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/4fd88937c.html

<sup>351</sup> Fair Labor Association, Protecting Workers' Rights to Freedom of Association & Collective Bargaining in Mexico, 2012: http://www.fairlabor.org/blog/entry/protecting-workers'-rights-freedom-association-collective-bargaining-mexico

<sup>352</sup> Human Rights Watch, World Report 2015: Mexico: https://www.hrw.org/worldreport/2015/country-chapters/mexico#1d22a9

<sup>353</sup> IndustriALL Global Union, Trabajadores de Lexmark son despedidos por reclamar derechos laborales, 2016: http://www.industriall-union.org/es/trabajadores-de-lexmark-son-despedidos-por-reclamarderechos-laborales

<sup>354</sup> CEREAL, Protestas en tres maquiladoras de Ciudad Juárez, 2015: http://www.cerealgdl.org/index.php/es/noticias-laborales/125-protestas-ciudad-juarez

<sup>355</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, Survey of Violations of Trade Unions Rights, 2015: http://survey.ituc-csi.org/Mexico.html?lang=en#tabs-3

<sup>356</sup> AlJazeera , Binkowski,Brooke, "Arrests as Mexico farming wage strike turns violent,", 2015: www.aljazeera.com/news/2015/05/150512051555205.html.

<sup>357</sup> IndustriALL Global Union, Honda México despide a un trabajador 4 días después de su reinstalación por la justicia, 2014: http://www.industriall-union.org/es/honda-mexico-despide-trabajador-4-dias-despues-de-su-reinstalacion-por-la-justicia

<sup>358</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, Survey of Violations of Trade Unions Rights, 2015: http://survey.ituc-csi.org/Mexico.html?lang=en#tabs-3 <sup>359</sup> Solidarity Center, Report: Auto Parts Plant Violated Mexican Worker Rights, 2013: http://www.solidaritycenter.org/report-auto-parts-plant-violated-mexican-workerrights/#sthash.WP0FGQZf.dpuf

<sup>360</sup> International Trade Union Confederation, Survey of Violations of Trade Unions Rights, 2015: ; https://business-

humanrights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Carta%20al%20Secretario%20del%20Trabajo%20y%20P revision%20Social\_22%20sept%2015%20%28002%29.pdf

<sup>361</sup> UNICEF, Recomendaciones para el Programa Nacional de Empresas y Derechos Humanos, México 2016.

<sup>362</sup> Organización Mi Salario, Salario mínimo en Mexico:

http://www.misalario.org/main/conocetusderechos/trabajo-y-salario; §123-A-VI de la Constitución Mexicana, §90-97, 560-562 & 570 de la Ley Federal del Trabajo; resolución del Consejo de Representantes de la Comisión Nacional de los Salarios Mínimos publicada en el Diario Oficial de la Federación el 18 de diciembre de 2015

<sup>363</sup> Organización Mi Salario, Jornada laboral en Mexico: http://www.misalario.org/main/conocetusderechos/vacaciones/jornada-laboral

<sup>364</sup> Organización Mi Salario, Vacaciones en Mexico: http://www.misalario.org/main/conocetusderechos/vacaciones

<sup>365</sup> Organización Mi Salario, Jornada laboral en Mexico:

http://www.misalario.org/main/conocetusderechos/vacaciones/jornada-laboral

<sup>366</sup> Labor Relations in Mexico, http://www.mexicolaw.com/LawInfo11.htm

<sup>367</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>368</sup> Artículo 123-A-VI de la Constitución Mexicana.

<sup>369</sup> Resolución del Consejo de Representantes de la Comisión Nacional de los Salarios Mínimos publicada en el Diario Oficial de la Federación el 18 de diciembre de 2015

<sup>370</sup> Instituto de Estudios Educativos y Sindicales de América: un recorrido del salario mínimo y la canasta básica de alimentos 1998 a 2015: http://www.ieesa.org.mx/2016/04/un-recorrido-del-salario-minimo-y-la-canasta-basica-de-alimentos-1998-a-2015-1-de-3/

<sup>371</sup> Animal Político, La distribución del ingreso, cuestión de vértigo, 2015: http://www.animalpolitico.com/2015/06/draft-la-distribucion-del-ingreso-cuestion-de-vertigo/

<sup>372</sup> Oxfam, Concentración del Poder Económico y Político en México, 2015: http://www.cambialasreglas.org/pdf/desigualdadextrema\_informe.pdf

<sup>373</sup> Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Salario Mínimo y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.cndh.org.mx/sites/all/doc//OtrosDocumentos/Doc\_2016\_018.pdf

<sup>374</sup> Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Salario Mínimo y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.cndh.org.mx/sites/all/doc//OtrosDocumentos/Doc\_2016\_018.pdf <sup>375</sup> OCDE, ¿Cómo de bueno es su trabajo? Medir y determinar la calidad del empleo: http://www.oecd.org/employment/labour-stats/Job-quality-OECD.pdf

<sup>376</sup> El Universal, México con gran brecha salarial, 2013: http://archivo.eluniversal.com.mx/finanzascartera/2013/impreso/mexico-con-gran-brecha-salarial-103932.html

<sup>377</sup> Organización Mi Salario, Vacaciones en Mexico: http://www.misalario.org/main/conocetusderechos/vacaciones/jornada-laboral,

Justia México, Ley Federal del Trabajo: http://mexico.justia.com/federales/leyes/ley-federal-deltrabajo/titulo-tercero/capitulo-ii/; Embajada y Consulados de Estados Unidos en México, Informe de Derechos Humanos 2015: https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>378</sup> Embajada y Consulados de Estados Unidos en México, Informe de Derechos Humanos 2015: https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>379</sup> CEREAL, XVII Informe de Violaciones a los Derechos Humanos Laborales, 2013: http://www.fomento.org.mx/novedades/XVII\_DHL\_CEREAL2013.pdf

<sup>380</sup> Leonardo Lomelí Vanegas, "La reforma de la seguridad social en México: del sistema de reparto al sistema de capitalización individual", en Rolando Cordera y Alicia Ziccardi coordinadores, *Las política sociales de México al fin del milenio. Descentralización, diseño y gestión*, Miguel Angel Porrúa, México, 2000:

http://archivos.diputados.gob.mx/Centros\_Estudio/Cesop/Comisiones/3\_ssocial.htm#[Citar%20como]

<sup>381</sup> Auditoría Superior de la Federación, Las Reformas Estructurales Hacia la Seguridad Social Universal,
 2016:

http://www.asf.gob.mx/uploads/61\_Publicaciones\_tecnicas/6.\_Las\_Reformas\_Estructurales.\_Hacia\_Seg uridad\_Social\_Universal.pdf

<sup>382</sup> ILGA, IMSS dará seguridad social a matrimonios gays de México, 2014: http://ilga.org/es/imss-darseguridad-social-a-matrimonios-gays-de-m-xico/

<sup>383</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>384</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>385</sup> Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Salario Mínimo y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.cndh.org.mx/sites/all/doc//OtrosDocumentos/Doc\_2016\_018.pdf

<sup>386</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016.html

<sup>387</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016.html

<sup>388</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf <sup>389</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>390</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>391</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>392</sup> http://www.notisistema.com/noticias/cerca-del-60-de-los-trabajos-son-informales-en-el-pais-inegi/

<sup>393</sup> El Financiero, Insuficiente la regulación para poner orden en el 'outsourcing', 2015: http://www.elfinanciero.com.mx/economia/insuficiente-la-regulacion-para-poner-orden-en-eloutsourcing.html

<sup>394</sup> El Financiero, Insuficiente la regulación para poner orden en el 'outsourcing', 2015: http://www.elfinanciero.com.mx/economia/insuficiente-la-regulacion-para-poner-orden-en-eloutsourcing.html

<sup>395</sup> CEREAL, Jóvenes profesionistas los más afectados por el desempleo, 2015: http://www.cerealgdl.org/index.php/es/noticias-laborales/112-jovenes-mas-afectados-por-desempleo

<sup>396</sup> OHCHR, Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la Alimentación, Misión a México 2012: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session19/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_sp.pdf;

<sup>397</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más de la mitad de los mexicanos en la informalidad laboral; Guerro, Oaxaca y Chiapas en niveles críticos, 2016: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-de-la-mitad-de-losmexicanos-en-la-informalidad-laboral-guerrero-oaxaca-y-chiapas-en-niveles-criticos-ci/

<sup>398</sup> Dougherty y Escobar (2013) en OECD Economic Surveys, México: https://www.oecd.org/eco/surveys/Mexico-Overview-2015.pdf

<sup>400</sup> Embajada y Consulados de Estados Unidos en México, Informe de Derechos Humanos2015:https://mx.usembassy.gov/es/mexico-informe-de-derechos-humanos-2015/

<sup>401</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Empresa ligada a Oceanografía despide a 150 trabajadores; es acusada de explotación, 2016: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/empresa-ligada-a-oceanografia-despide-a-150-trabajadores-es-acusada-de-explotacion-laboral/

<sup>402</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Te vamos a poner en lista negra y te vas a morir de hambre: empresas extranjeras a trabajadores en Cd. Juárez, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/te-vamos-a-poner-en-lista-negra-y-te-vas-a-morir-de-hambre-empresas-extranjeras-a-trabajadores-en-cd-juarez/

<sup>403</sup> CEREAL, Acusan 500 despidos injustificados en CSIS, 2013: http://www.cerealgdl.org/index.php/es/cereal-en-los-medios/76-acusan-500-despidos-injustificadosen-csis <sup>404</sup> Nestlé, Evaluar y abordar cuestiones de derechos humanos en nuestras operaciones y cadenas de suministro, sin fecha: https://www.nestle.com.mx/csv/nuestragente/derechos-humanos

<sup>405</sup> UNICEF, Recomendaciones para el Programa Nacional de Empresas y Derechos Humanos, México 2016.

<sup>406</sup> International Trade Center, Iniciativa de Comercio Ético ETI, 2012:

http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:1MTVpnqzMRMJ:www.intracen.org/WorkAre a/DownloadAsset.aspx%3Fid%3D60229+&cd=1&hl=es&ct=clnk&gl=co

<sup>407</sup> Institute for Human Rights and Business & Global Business Initiative on Human Rights, State of Play The Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights in Business Relationships, 2012:

http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/state-of-play/State-of-Play-Full-Report.pdf

<sup>408</sup> IFC, Normas de Desempeño sobre Sostenibilidad Ambiental y Social, 2012:

http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/55d37e804a5b586a908b9f8969adcc27/PS\_Spanish\_2012\_Full-Document.pdf?MOD=AJPERES

<sup>409</sup> Portal para la Gestión Responsable de la Cadena de Suministro: http://www.csr-supplychain.gr/en/
 <sup>410</sup> Business and Human Rights, Principles and Standards, sin fecha: http://business-

humanrights.org/en/principles-standards

 <sup>411</sup> Organización internacional del Trabajo, Declaración de la OIT relativa a los principios y derechos fundamentales en el trabajo, sin fecha: http://www.ilo.org/declaration/lang--es/index.htm
 <sup>412</sup> Business and human Rights Resource Centre, United Nations Sub-Comission Norms on Business and Human Rights, sin fecha: http://business-humanrights.org/en/united-nations-sub-commission-normson-business-human-rights-explanatory-materials

<sup>413</sup> World Bank, Improved Water Source, Mexico:

http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.H2O.SAFE.ZS?locations=MX

<sup>414</sup> Environmental Democracy Index, Mexico 2014:

http://www.environmentaldemocracyindex.org/country/mex

<sup>415</sup> Global Food Security Index, Mexico 2016: http://foodsecurityindex.eiu.com/Country/Details#Mexico

<sup>416</sup> Sánchez Vanderkast, Egbert J, Medina Huerta, María de los Ángeles, Mireles Cardenas, Celia, Guzmán Amaya, Patricia y Blázque Ochando, Manuel. La información medioambiental en México: acceso a la información pública federal . Revista Interamericana de Bibliotecología 2014, vol. 37, n° 2, pp. 141-150: http://www.egov.ufsc.br/portal/sites/default/files/v37n2a3.pdf

<sup>417</sup> Annual report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and reports of the Office of the High Commissioner and the Secretary-General. Relationship between climate change and the human right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Informal summary of inputs received. A/HRC/31/CRP.4, 26 February 2016.

<sup>418</sup> Estas consideraciones están contenidas en los artículos 4, 25, 27, 73,115 de la Constitución.

<sup>419</sup> Semarnat, Cambio Climático en México, sin fecha: http://cambioclimatico.inecc.gob.mx/ccygob/mconacional.html

<sup>420</sup> PNUMA, Transversalización Ambiental en México, 2013:
 http://web.pnuma.org/gobernanza/documentos/EMA%20-%20MEXICO%20 %2014%20agosto%202013.pdf
<sup>421</sup> OCDE, Evaluaciones de Desempeño Ambiental, México 2013: http://www.oecd.org/fr/env/examens-pays/EPR%20Highlights%20MEXICO%202013%20ESP.pdf

<sup>422</sup> PNUMA, Transversalización Ambiental en México, 2013:
 http://web.pnuma.org/gobernanza/documentos/EMA%20-%20MEXICO%20 %2014%20agosto%202013.pdf

<sup>423</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>424</sup> Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Derechos Humanos y Empresas, 2016: http://www.aidaamericas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>425</sup> Impluvium, Derecho Humano al Agua, 2015: http://www.agua.unam.mx/assets/pdfs/impluvium/numero04.pdf

<sup>426</sup> Greenpeace, Hilos Tóxicos al Desnudo: Exponiendo el papel de la industria textil en la contaminación de los ríos de México, 2012:

http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/Global/mexico/Docs/2012/HILOS\_TOXICOS\_MEXICO.pdf

<sup>427</sup> Secretaría de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales, Registro de Emisiones y Transferencias de Contaminantes, 2012: http://app1.semarnat.gob.mx/retc/tema/anteced.html

<sup>428</sup> Greenpeace, Hilos Tóxicos al Desnudo: Exponiendo el papel de la industria textil en la contaminación de los ríos de México, 2012:

http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/Global/mexico/Docs/2012/HILOS\_TOXICOS\_MEXICO.pdf

<sup>429</sup> Comisión Nacional del Agua, Informe Estadísticas del agua en México, 2011:
 http://www.conagua.gob. mx/CONAGUA07/Publicaciones/Publicaciones/SGP-1-11-EAM2011.PDF:
 También consulte: http://puebla.gob.mx/index.php/temas/item/159-elagua-en-cifras para información
 de 1955

<sup>430</sup> OCDE, Evaluación de Desempeño Ambiental, México 2013: http://www.oecd.org/fr/env/examenspays/EPR%20Highlights%20MEXICO%202013%20ESP.pdf

<sup>431</sup> Conservation International, Improving Livelihoods in Chiapas, 2016: http://www.conservation.org/projects/Pages/improving-livelihoods-in-chiapas-mexico.aspx

<sup>432</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>433</sup> Greenpeace, Hilos Tóxicos al Desnudo: Exponiendo el papel de la industria textil en la contaminación de los ríos de México, 2012:

http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/Global/mexico/Docs/2012/HILOS\_TOXICOS\_MEXICO.pdf

<sup>434</sup> OCDE, Evaluación de Desempeño Ambiental, México 2013: http://www.oecd.org/fr/env/examenspays/EPR%20Highlights%20MEXICO%202013%20ESP.pdf

<sup>435</sup> Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food, Olivier De Schutter, Addendum, Mission to Mexico, 2012 A/HRC/19/59/Add.2:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>436</sup> Los Estados donde esto viene ocurriendo son Coahuila (47 pozos), Nuevo León (182 pozos), Puebla (233 pozos), Tabasco (13 pozos), Tamaulipas (100 pozos) y Veracruz (349 pozos). CartoCrítica, Fracking en México, 2015: http://www.cartocritica.org.mx/2015/fracking-en-mexico/

<sup>437</sup> CartoCrítica, Fracking en México, 2015: http://www.cartocritica.org.mx/2015/fracking-en-mexico/

<sup>438</sup> CartoCrítica, Fracking en México, 2015: http://www.cartocritica.org.mx/2015/fracking-en-mexico/

<sup>439</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>440</sup> IFAD, Investing in Rural People in Mexico, 2014: https://www.ifad.org/documents/10180/09501028a4ec-4bc4-9d70-a2465de6f4e6

<sup>441</sup> Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la alimentación, Olivier de Shutter, Misión a México, A/HRC/19/59/Add2, 17 de enero de 2012:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>442</sup> Oxfam Mexico, Gender Inequality and Women Rights in Mexico, 2014:
 https://www.unisa.edu.au/Global/Hawke%20Centre/2015%20Calendar/Oxfam/OxfamMexico%20slides.
 pdf

<sup>443</sup> Ley de Bioseguridad de Organismos Genéticamente Modificados [Law on Biosecurity of Genetically Modified Organisms, art. 1, Diario Oficial de la Federación [D.O.], Mar. 18,
 2005, <u>http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/LBOGM.pdf</u>.

<sup>444</sup> Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la alimentación, Olivier de Shutter, Adición, Misión a México, A/HRC/19/59/Add2, 17 de enero de 2012:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>445</sup> Contralínea, Transnacionales Violan Derechos Humanos en México, 2016: http://www.contralinea.com.mx/archivo-revista/index.php/2016/09/20/trasnacionales-violanderechos-humanos-en-mexico/; Coalición de 100 organizaciones, El Estado mexicano debe cumplir las recomendaciones del Grupo de Trabajo de la ONU sobre empresas y derechos humanos, 2016: https://business-

humanrights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Boletin%20de%20prensa%20empresas%20y%20DDHH% 20Final.pdf

<sup>446</sup> Semarnat, Cambio Climático en México, sin fecha: http://cambioclimatico.inecc.gob.mx/ccygob/mconacional.html

<sup>447</sup> Instituto Nacional de Ecología y Cambio Climático, Inventario Nacional de Emisiones de Gases y Compuestos de Efecto Invernadero 2013: http://www.gob.mx/inecc/acciones-y-programas/inventarionacional-de-emisiones-de-gases-y-compuestos-de-efecto-invernadero

<sup>448</sup> Semarnat, Programa Especial de Cambio Climático 2014-2018: http://www.semarnat.gob.mx/sites/default/files/documentos/transparencia/programa\_especial\_de\_ca mbio\_climatico\_2014-2018.pdf

<sup>449</sup> Annual report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and reports of the Office of the High Commissioner and the Secretary-General. Relationship between climate change and the human right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Informal summary of inputs received. A/HRC/31/CRP.4, 26 February 2016. <sup>450</sup> Annual report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and reports of the Office of the High Commissioner and the Secretary-General. Relationship between climate change and the human right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Informal summary of inputs received. A/HRC/31/CRP.4, 26 February 2016.

<sup>451</sup> Annual report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and reports of the Office of the High Commissioner and the Secretary-General. Relationship between climate change and the human right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Informal summary of inputs received. A/HRC/31/CRP.4, 26 February 2016.

<sup>452</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/

<sup>453</sup> http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/es/Campanas/Bosques/La-deforestacion-y-sus-causas/

<sup>454</sup> OCDE, Evaluaciones de Desempeño Ambiental, México 2013: http://www.oecd.org/fr/env/examenspays/EPR%20Highlights%20MEXICO%202013%20ESP.pdf

<sup>455</sup> Greenpeace México, La deforestación y sus causas, sin fecha: http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/es/Campanas/Bosques/La-deforestacion-y-sus-causas/

<sup>456</sup> The Access Inititative, Mexico, sin fecha: http://www.accessinitiative.org/network/country/mexico

<sup>457</sup> The Access Inititative, Mexico, sin fecha: http://www.accessinitiative.org/network/country/mexico

<sup>458</sup> Artículo 70, fracción XXVII, LGTAIP

<sup>459</sup> ELAW, Participación Pública. Minería y Medio Ambiente, 2015: https://www.elaw.org/system/files/images\_content/general\_page\_images/publications/guiademineriai mprimir.pdf

<sup>460</sup> Animal Político, La mitad de los organismos de transparencia del país, sin garantizar acceso a la información, 2016: http://www.animalpolitico.com/2016/05/la-mitad-de-los-organismos-de-transparencia-del-pais-sin-garantizar-acceso-a-la-informacion/

<sup>461</sup> ELAW, Participación Pública. Minería y Medio Ambiente, 2015: https://www.elaw.org/system/files/images\_content/general\_page\_images/publications/guiademineriai mprimir.pdf

<sup>462</sup> The Access Inititative, Mexico, sin fecha: http://www.accessinitiative.org/network/country/mexico

<sup>463</sup> ELAW, Participación Pública. Minería y Medio Ambiente, 2015: https://www.elaw.org/system/files/images\_content/general\_page\_images/publications/guiademineriai mprimir.pdf

<sup>464</sup> The Access Inititative, Mexico, sin fecha: http://www.accessinitiative.org/network/country/mexico

<sup>465</sup> ESCR-NET, Meaningful rights-holders engagement is key for human rights impact assessments, 2015: https://www.escr-net.org/news/2015/meaningful-rights-holders-engagement-key-human-rightsimpact-assessments

<sup>466</sup> Cemda, Los Derechos Humanos y la Calidad del Aire en México, 2016: http://www.cemda.org.mx/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/Los-Derechos-Humanos-y-la-calidad-dei-aire-en-México.pdf <sup>467</sup> Respira Mexico, La calidad del aire en México, 2013: Respiramexico.org.mx/2014/03/la-calidad-delaire-en-mexico/

<sup>468</sup> Cemda, Los Derechos Humanos y la Calidad del Aire en México, 2016: http://www.cemda.org.mx/wpcontent/uploads/2016/05/Los-Derechos-Humanos-y-la-calidad-dei-aire-en-México.pdf

<sup>469</sup> NRDC, Civil society groups file a new complaint to Mexico's National Human Rights Commission about the country's poor air quality, 2013: https://www.nrdc.org/experts/amanda-maxwell/civil-societygroups-file-new-complaint-mexicos-national-human-rights

<sup>470</sup> Bloomberg, The Dirty Little Pollution Secret that is Choking Mexico City, 2016: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-04-14/the-dirty-little-pollution-secret-that-s-choking-mexico-city

<sup>471</sup> Bloomberg, The Dirty Little Pollution Secret that is Choking Mexico City, 2016: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-04-14/the-dirty-little-pollution-secret-that-s-choking-mexico-city

<sup>472</sup> Contralínea, Transnacionales Violan Derechos Humanos en México, 2016: http://www.contralinea.com.mx/archivo-revista/index.php/2016/09/20/trasnacionales-violanderechos-humanos-en-mexico/

<sup>473</sup> El Expreso de Campeche, Ponen amparo ante permiso de Sagarpa. Bloquean en Quintana Roo la siembra de transgénicos, 2016: http://expresocampeche.com/notas/nacional/2016/04/27/bloqueanen-quintana-roo-la-siembra-transgenicos/

<sup>474</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/#summary

<sup>475</sup> PODER, Buenavista del Cobre incurrió en 55 irregularidades y obtuvo beneficios económicos por ello:
 PROFEPA, 2015: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/09/buenavista-del-cobre-incurrio-en-55 irregularidades-y-obtuvo-beneficios-economicos-por-ello-profepa/

<sup>476</sup> Unilever, Unilever presenta los avances de su Plan de Vida Sustentable a cinco años de su implementación, 2016: https://www.unilever.com.mx/news/press-releases/2016/unilever-presenta-losavances-de-su.html

<sup>477</sup> Nestlé, What is Nestlé doing about climate change?, no date: http://www.nestle.com/asknestle/environment/answers/nestle-climate-change

<sup>478</sup> Walmart Mexico: http://corporate.walmart.com/our-story/our-business/international/walmartmexico

<sup>479</sup> Greenpeace, Hilos Tóxicos al Desnudo: Exponiendo el papel de la industria textil en la contaminación de los ríos de México, 2012:

http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/Global/mexico/Docs/2012/HILOS\_TOXICOS\_MEXICO.pdf

<sup>480</sup> Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas".

<sup>481</sup> "Taller sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos para el Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de México", 13 de octubre, 2016.

<sup>482</sup> UNICEF, Recomendaciones para el Programa Nacional de Empresas y Derechos Humanos, México 2016.

<sup>483</sup> Herramienta Aqueduct, World Resources Institute: http://www.wri.org/our-work/project/aqueduct

<sup>484</sup> Equitable Origin, EO100 Standard, 2012: http://www.equitableorigin.org/media/eoweb-

media/files\_db/EO100\_Standard\_for\_Responsible\_Energy.pdf

<sup>485</sup> Organización Internacional de Normalización, ISO 14001, 2004:

https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:14001:ed-3:v1:en

<sup>486</sup> Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Medio ambiente, Informe anual de 2015, 2015: http://www.unep.org/publications/

<sup>487</sup> Informe temático del Relator Especial de las Naciones Unidas sobre las implicaciones para los derechos humanos de la gestión y eliminación ecológicamente racionales de las sustancias y los desechos peligrosos, Başkut Tuncak, A/HRC/30/40, 8 de julio de 2015:

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Environment/ToxicWastes/Pages/Righttoinformation.aspx <sup>488</sup> Naciones Unidas, Convención Marco de las Naciones Unidas sobre el Cambio Climático, 1992: http://unfccc.int/files/essential\_background/background\_publications\_htmlpdf/application/pdf/convsp. pdf

<sup>489</sup> Naciones Unidas, Convención sobre el acceso a la información, la participación del público en la toma de decisiones y el acceso a la justicia en asuntos ambientales, 1999:

http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/pp/documents/cep43s.pdf

<sup>490</sup> Forest Stewardship Council, Para Certificarse, sin fecha: https://es.fsc.org/es-es/certificacin

<sup>491</sup> The International Property Rights Index 2016, Mexico:

http://internationalpropertyrightsindex.org/countries

<sup>492</sup> Heritage, Index of Economic Freedom, Mexico 2016: http://www.heritage.org/index/country/mexico

<sup>493</sup> Artículo 27 Constitución Mexicana: http://info4.juridicas.unam.mx/juslab/leylab/250/28.htm

<sup>494</sup> Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Derechos Humanos y Empresas, 2016: http://www.aidaamericas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>495</sup> IWGIA Anuario 2016, México: http://www.iwgia.org/images/stories/sections-esp/regiones/latinamerica/docs/MI2016/Mexico\_MI2016\_web.pdf

<sup>496</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/land-administration.aspx

<sup>497</sup> Transparencia Mexicana, Indice Nacional de Corrupción y Buen Gobierno 2010 (Mexico City, Mexico: Transparencia Mexicana, 2011). http://www.fao.org/docrep/014/am943e/am943e00.pdf

<sup>498</sup> Minority Rights Group, Indigenous Peoples, Mexico Profile: http://minorityrights.org/minorities/indigenous-peoples-4/

<sup>499</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Undermining the Land, 2011: http://www.pbimexico.org/fileadmin/user\_files/projects/mexico/files/Bulletin\_31\_-\_Undermining\_the\_Land.pdf

<sup>500</sup> Articles 28 § III of the General Law of Ecological Equilibrium and Environmental Protection [Ley General del Equilibrio Ecológico y la Protección al Ambiente] and Article 117 of the General Law of Sustainable Forest Development [Ley General de Desarrollo Forestal Sustentable].

<sup>501</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Undermining the Land, 2011: http://www.pbimexico.org/fileadmin/user\_files/projects/mexico/files/Bulletin\_31\_-\_Undermining\_the\_Land.pdf

<sup>502</sup> Grupo Focal sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos, Nota Conceptual, México 2016: https://businesshumanrights.org/sites/default/files/Presentación%20Grupo%20Focal%20-%20Nota%20conceptual%202016.pdf.

<sup>503</sup> PODER, Sin consulta, con represión y violencia imponen proyectos extractivos en la Sierra Norte de Puebla, 2013: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/11/sin-consulta-con-represion-y-violencia-imponenproyectos-extractivos-en-la-sierra-norte-de-puebla/

<sup>504</sup> IACHR, Public Hearing, Impact of development "mega-projects," October 30, 2014.

<sup>505</sup> Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la alimentación, Olivier de Shutter, Adición, Misión a México, A/HRC/19/59/Add2, 17 de enero de 2012:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>506</sup> http://www.usaidlandtenure.net/sites/default/files/country-profiles/full-reports/USAID\_Land\_Tenure\_Mexico\_Profile.pdf

<sup>507</sup> Semarnat, Programa Especial de Cambio Climático 2014-2018: http://www.semarnat.gob.mx/sites/default/files/documentos/transparencia/programa\_especial\_de\_ca mbio\_climatico\_2014-2018.pdf

<sup>508</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>509</sup> Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos, Situation of Human Rights in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf

<sup>510</sup> Fundar, Posicionamiento de organizaciones mexicanas en el marco de la audiencia regional sobre Derechos Económicos, Sociales y Culturales (DESC) en la CIDH, 2014:

http://fundar.org.mx/posicionamiento-de-organizaciones-mexicanas-en-el-marco-de-la-audiencia-regional-sobre-derechos-economicos-sociales-y-culturales-desc-en-la-cidh/?ID=14

<sup>511</sup> PODER, Sin consulta, con represión y violencia imponen proyectos extractivos en la Sierra Norte de Puebla, 2013: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/11/sin-consulta-con-represion-y-violencia-imponenproyectos-extractivos-en-la-sierra-norte-de-puebla/

<sup>512</sup> Minority Rights Group, Indigenous Peoples, Mexico Profile: http://minorityrights.org/minorities/indigenous-peoples-4/

<sup>513</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Alto Comisionado de la ONU para los Derechos Humanos, Zeid Ra'ad Al Hussein, con motivo de su visita a México, 2015:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=16578&LangID=S#sthash.Z1o Hj05u.dpuf

<sup>514</sup> Grupo Focal sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos, Nota Conceptual, México 2016: https://business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/Presentación%20Grupo%20Focal%20 %20Nota%20conceptual%202016.pdf.

<sup>515</sup> PODER, Sin consulta, con represión y violencia imponen proyectos extractivos en la Sierra Norte de Puebla, 2013: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/11/sin-consulta-con-represion-y-violencia-imponenproyectos-extractivos-en-la-sierra-norte-de-puebla/

<sup>516</sup> Los Estados donde esto viene ocurriendo principalmente son Coahuila (47 pozos), Nuevo León (182 pozos), Puebla (233 pozos), Tabasco (13 pozos), Tamaulipas (100 pozos) y Veracruz (349 pozos). CartoCrítica, Fracking en México, 2015: http://www.cartocritica.org.mx/2015/fracking-en-mexico/

<sup>517</sup> CartoCrítica, Fracking en México, 2015: http://www.cartocritica.org.mx/2015/fracking-en-mexico/

<sup>518</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto. Experiencias de Protección y Promoción de los derechos humanos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2016: https://business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Pienso\_luego\_resisto.pdf

<sup>519</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Undermining the Land, 2011: http://www.pbimexico.org/fileadmin/user\_files/projects/mexico/files/Bulletin\_31\_-\_Undermining\_the\_Land.pdf

<sup>520</sup> Prodesc, Ejido de Durango tiende la mano a minera... y ésta explora sin contrato, 2016: http://www.prodesc.org.mx/?p=4102

<sup>521</sup> Prodesc, "Primer proceso de consulta en México lleno de violaciones de Derechos Humanos" denuncia Isabel Jiménez ante la CIDH, 2015: http://www.prodesc.org.mx/?p=3692

<sup>522</sup> Prodesc, Zapotecas se amparan por violación al derecho a la consulta ante el inicio de proyecto eólico anunciado por la SENER, 2015: http://www.prodesc.org.mx/?p=3410

<sup>523</sup> PODER, Vicios procesales y violaciones a derechos humanos caracterizan consulta sobre Proyecto Eólico en Oaxaca: Poder, Prodesc y Código DH, 2015: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/02/segundoinforme-de-la-mision-de-observacion-sobre-la-consulta-publica-en-juchitan-oaxaca-poder-prodesc-ycodigo-dh/

<sup>524</sup> Business&Human Rights, México: Se cancelan mineras de Hochschild y Zalamera en Guerrero; comunidades exigen que Suprema Corte analice ley minera para garantizar derechos indígenas, 2016: https://business-humanrights.org/es/méxico-se-cancelan-mineras-hochschild-y-zalamera-en-guerrerocomunidades-locales-exigen-que-se-analice-la-ley-minera-para-garantizar-derechos-de-los-pueblosind%C3%ADgenas

<sup>525</sup> Fundar, Posicionamiento de organizaciones mexicanas en el marco de la audiencia regional sobre Derechos Económicos, Sociales y Culturales (DESC) en la CIDH, 2014:

http://fundar.org.mx/posicionamiento-de-organizaciones-mexicanas-en-el-marco-de-la-audienciaregional-sobre-derechos-economicos-sociales-y-culturales-desc-en-la-cidh/?ID=14

<sup>526</sup> PepsiCo Mexico latest news: https://business-humanrights.org/en/pepsico-0?keywords=mexico#a118166.

<sup>527</sup> World Economic Forum, Mexico Country Profile, Global Competitiviness Index 2015: http://reports.weforum.org/global-competitiveness-report-2015-2016/economies/#economy=MEX

<sup>528</sup> Legatum Prosperity, Legatum Prosperity Index, Mexcio 2015: http://www.prosperity.com/#!/

<sup>529</sup> World Bank Group, Easy in Doing Business, Mexico 2016: http://www.doingbusiness.org/data/exploreeconomies/mexico/ <sup>530</sup> Transparency International, Corruption Measurements Tools, Mexico: http://www.transparency.org/country/#MEX

<sup>531</sup> Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público, Presupuesto de Egresos de la Federación, Proyecto 2016: http://www.transparenciapresupuestaria.gob.mx/work/models/PTP/Presupuesto/Presupuestacion/ppe f2016.pdf

<sup>532</sup> Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público, Presupuesto de Egresos de la Federación, Proyecto 2016: http://www.transparenciapresupuestaria.gob.mx/work/models/PTP/Presupuesto/Presupuestacion/ppe f2016

<sup>533</sup> EITI, Mexico seeks EITI adhesion for greater transparency in mineral extraction, 2015: https://eiti.org/node/6733

<sup>534</sup> IMCO, Las siete leyes del sistema nacional de Anti-Corrupción: http://imco.org.mx/politica\_buen\_gobierno/las-siete-leyes-del-sistema-nacional-anticorrupcion/

<sup>535</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico

<sup>536</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico

<sup>537</sup> Transparencia Mexicana, Indice Nacional de Corrupción y Buen Gobierno, Informe 2010: http://www.tm.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/01-INCBG-2010-Informe-Ejecutivo1.pdf

<sup>538</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico;

Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>539</sup> Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/our-work/country/mexico

<sup>540</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/natural-resources.aspx

<sup>541</sup> Transparencia Mexicana, Estándares de Transparencia en Compras de APEC en México: compromiso del sector privado, 2011: http://www19.iadb.org/intal/intalcdi/PE/2012/09806.pdf

<sup>542</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/legislation.aspx

<sup>543</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/public-procurement.aspx

<sup>544</sup> Freedom House, Country Report, Mexico 2015: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedompress/2015/mexico

<sup>545</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico

Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf <sup>546</sup> Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>547</sup> Transparencia Mexicana, Estándares de Transparencia en Compras de APEC en México: compromiso del sector privado, 2011: http://www19.iadb.org/intal/intalcdi/PE/2012/09806.pdf

<sup>548</sup> KPMG, Reforma Energética: la nueva realidad de México: https://www.kpmg.com/MX/es/PublishingImages/E-mails-externos/2015/reforma-energetica-nuevarealidad/Reforma-Energetica-realidadMexico.pdf

Diario El Economista, Fondo mexicano petrolero lejos de ser fuente de ahorro, 2016: http://eleconomista.com.mx/finanzas-publicas/2016/03/08/fondo-mexicano-petrolero-lejos-ser-fuenteahorro

<sup>549</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/public-procurement.aspx

<sup>550</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/legislation.aspx

<sup>551</sup> EITI México, Sobre la Alianza para el Gobierno Abierto en México: http://eitimexico.org/convocatorias/convocatoria/

<sup>552</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/#summary

<sup>553</sup> Transparency International, Keep corruption out to halt climate change,2014: http://www.transparency.org/news/feature/keep\_corruption\_out\_to\_halt\_climate\_change

<sup>554</sup> Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>555</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/

<sup>556</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>557</sup> World Bank, Transfers and the Nature of the Mexican Federation, 2004: http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/decentralization/March2004Course/achievementsandchallen gesCH5.pdf

<sup>558</sup> El cálculo de la Participación de los Trabajadores en las Utilidades (PTU) se encuentra descrito en la Ley Federal del Trabajo (artículo 117°) y en la Constitución (artículo 123°, fracción IX, apartado "A"). https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/263301

<sup>559</sup> PODER, La élite empresarial y la economía nacional en México: un análisis de caso del entrecruzamiento corporativo, 2014: https://www.rindecuentas.org/reportajes/2014/11/28/la-elite-empresarial-y-la-economia-nacional-en-mexico-un-analisis-de-caso-del-entrecruzamiento-corporativo/

<sup>560</sup> Oxfam, Concentración del Poder Económico y Político en México, 2015: http://www.cambialasreglas.org/pdf/desigualdadextrema\_informe.pdf

<sup>561</sup> INEGI, Encuesta Nacional de Ingresos y Gastos en los Hogares 2014:

http://www.inegi.org.mx/saladeprensa/boletines/2015/especiales/especiales2015\_07\_3.pdf

<sup>562</sup> Centro de Estudios de Finanzas Públicas, Ingresos del Fondo Mexicano del Petróleo para la Estabilización y el Desarrollo, 2016:

http://www.cefp.gob.mx/publicaciones/nota/2016/marzo/notacefp0082016.pdf

<sup>563</sup> Baker Institue, El futuro del sector petrolero en México, 2011: http://www.bakerinstitute.org/media/files/Research/100ef89a/EF-pub-SegalDistribution-Espanol-04292011.pdf

<sup>564</sup> Diario El Economista, Fondo mexicano petrolero lejos de ser fuente de ahorro, 2016: http://eleconomista.com.mx/finanzas-publicas/2016/03/08/fondo-mexicano-petrolero-lejos-ser-fuenteahorro

<sup>565</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/#summary

<sup>566</sup> Diario El Economista, Fondo mexicano petrolero lejos de ser fuente de ahorro, 2016: http://eleconomista.com.mx/finanzas-publicas/2016/03/08/fondo-mexicano-petrolero-lejos-ser-fuenteahorro

<sup>567</sup> Diario Oficial de la Federación, "Acuerdo por el que se emiten los lineamientos para la aplicación del Fondo para el Desarrollo Rural Sustentable de Estados y Municipios Mineros", 2009: dof.gob.mx/nota\_detalle.php?codigo=5361462&fecha=25/09/2014; PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>568</sup> Secretaría de Desarrollo Agrario, Territorial y Urbano (SEDATU), "Sedatu pondrá en marcha el Fondo Minero y municipios tendrán 62.5% de los recursos: López Pescador", Boletín no. 55, 20 de febrero de 2015, www.sedatu.gob.mx/sraweb/noticias/noticias-2015/febrero-2015/21044/; PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>569</sup> Oxfam, Concentración del Poder Económico y Político en México, 2015: http://www.cambialasreglas.org/pdf/desigualdadextrema\_informe.pdf

<sup>570</sup> OECD, Revenue Statistics 2015 – Mexico:

https://www.oecd.org/tax/revenue-statistics-mexico.pdf

<sup>571</sup> Oxfam, Concentración del Poder Económico y Político en México, 2015: http://www.cambialasreglas.org/pdf/desigualdadextrema\_informe.pdf <sup>572</sup> Gómez Oliver, Luis, 2011, Visión del desarrollo rural en México en el siglo XXI: limitantes estratégicas y opciones de política. México. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>573</sup> The UNDP Human Development Report Office, 2016:

http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollo-humano-mexico-2016/

<sup>574</sup> The UNDP Human Development Report Office, 2016:

http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016/

<sup>575</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016:http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>576</sup> Becerril, Andrea, "Pagarán ISR quienes renten sus tierras para explotación de recursos energéticos", en La Jornada, 1 de noviembre de 2015, www.jornada.unam.mx/2015/11/01/politica/011n1pol; PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>577</sup> Diario Animal Político, El SAT perdona impuestos por 15 mil mdp a empresas, pero no detalla las condiciones, 2016: http://www.animalpolitico.com/2016/09/sat-condonacion-impuestos-empresas/

<sup>578</sup> Diario Sin Embargo, Seis empresas mexicanas fallan en transparencia y favorecen la corrupción: informe, 2016: http://www.sinembargo.mx/11-07-2016/3065258

<sup>579</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report, 2016: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/natural-resources.aspx

<sup>580</sup> Sin Embargo, OHL y sus filiales en el mundo: el escándalo en el Edomex de Eruviel Ávila no es el único, 2015: http://www.sinembargo.mx/08-05-2015/1338349

<sup>581</sup> The Wall Street Journal, Wal-Mart Bribery Probe Finds Few Signs of Major Misconduct in Mexico, 2015: http://www.wsj.com/articles/wal-mart-bribery-probe-finds-little-misconduct-in-mexico-1445215737

<sup>582</sup> Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas".

<sup>583</sup> "Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas" (editado para el formato)"

<sup>584</sup> UNICEF, Recomendaciones para el Programa Nacional sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos, México 2016.

<sup>585</sup> Transparencia Internacional, Principios Empresariales para contrarrestar el Soborno, 2002: http://www.ub.edu/compres/documents/transparencia.pdf

<sup>586</sup> Transparencia Internacional, Principios Empresariales para contrarrestar el Soborno Edición para pequeñas y medianas empresas, 2008:

http://www.transparency.org/whatwedo/publication/principios\_empresariales\_para\_contrarrestar\_el\_ soborno edicion para pequena <sup>587</sup> Business and Human Rights, Principles and standards, sin fecha: http://businesshumanrights.org/en/principles-standards <sup>588</sup> EITI, Manual de la Iniciativa para la transparencia del sector extractivo, 2005: https://eiti.org/files/sourcebookspanishapril06\_0.pdf <sup>589</sup> Fund for Peace, Índice de Estados Fallidos, México 2016: http://fsi.fundforpeace.org/rankings-2016 <sup>590</sup> Legatum, Índice de Seguridad, México 2015: http://www.prosperity.com/#!/ <sup>591</sup> Freedom House, Índice de Derechos Políticos, México 2016: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/freedom-world-2016 <sup>592</sup> Freedom House, Índice de Libertades Civiles, México 2016: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/freedom-world-2016 <sup>593</sup> El fenómeno actual de la Seguridad Privada en América Latina y su impacto sobre la Seguridad Pública. http://insyde.org.mx/wpcontent/uploads/2014/06/El fenomeno actual de la Seguridad Privada en América Latina Jose Ga briel Paz.pdf <sup>594</sup> Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Informe Anual, Capítulo IV sobre uso de la fuerza, 2015: http://www.oas.org/es/cidh/docs/anual/2015/doc-es/InformeAnual2015-cap4A-fuerza-ES.pdf <sup>595</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI 2016 Mexico.pdf <sup>596</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf <sup>597</sup> The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. The Human Rights Situation in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf <sup>598</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, México Corruption Report, 2016: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico <sup>599</sup> Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Recomendación Núm. 2vg/2014 sobre la investigación de violaciones graves a los derechos humanos iniciada con motivo de los hechos ocurridos el 9 de julio de 2014, en el municipio de Ocoyucan, Puebla. 11 de septiembre de 2014: http://www.cndh.org.mx/sites/all/doc/Recomendaciones/ViolacionesGraves/RecVG 002 Anexo.pdf <sup>600</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/ <sup>601</sup> Asociadas por lo Justo; Consorcio para el Diálogo Parlamentario y la Equidad Oaxaca; Mesa de Mujeres de Ciudad Juárez, "Defensoras de derechos humanos en México: Diagnóstico 2010-2011 sobre las condiciones y riesgos que enfrentan en el ejercicio de su trabajo", 2012.

<sup>602</sup> Participants in the Voluntary Principles Initiative Gather for Discussions on Implementation and Outreach and Welcome Four New Participants and One New Observer, 2016:

http://www.voluntaryprinciples.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/2016\_Press\_Release\_\_\_\_Voluntary\_Principles\_Initiative.pdf

<sup>603</sup> Art. 32 inc. 7, Ley Federal de Seguridad Privada, Texto vigente según reforma publicada DOF 17-10-2011 13

<sup>604</sup> Art. 32 inc. 9, Ley Federal de Seguridad Privada, Texto vigente según reforma publicada DOF 17-10 2011

<sup>605</sup> Flacso, Seguridad privada en América Latina: el lucro y los dilemas de una regulación deficitaria, 2009: http://flacsochile.org/biblioteca/pub/publicos/2009/libro/030857.pdf

<sup>606</sup> The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. The Human Rights Situation in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf

<sup>607</sup> Flacso, Seguridad privada en América Latina: el lucro y los dilemas de una regulación deficitaria, 2009: http://flacsochile.org/biblioteca/pub/publicos/2009/libro/030857.pdf

<sup>608</sup> Flacso, Seguridad privada en América Latina: el lucro y los dilemas de una regulación deficitaria, 2009: http://flacsochile.org/biblioteca/pub/publicos/2009/libro/030857.pdf

<sup>609</sup> Diario Sin Embargo, ONGs ligan a seguridad privada contratada por gobiernos con el asesinato de migrantes, 2016: http://www.sinembargo.mx/16-12-2015/1578992

<sup>610</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz. Proyecto México, 2013, op.cit.

<sup>611</sup> The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. The Human Rights Situation in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf

<sup>612</sup> Global Witness, On Dangerous Ground, Report 2016:

https://www.globalwitness.org/en/reports/dangerous-ground/

<sup>613</sup> International Service for Human Rights, Alberto Solís Castro: defensor de derechos humanos de México, 2015: http://www.ishr.ch/news/alberto-solis-castro-defensor-de-derechos-humanos-de-mexico

<sup>614</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más del 40% del territorio nacional ha sido concesionado a transnacionales, existen 418 puntos de resistencia, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-del-40-del-territorio-nacional-ha-sido-concesionado-a-transnacionales-existen-418-puntos-de-resistencia/

 <sup>615</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más del 40% del territorio nacional ha sido concesionado a transnacionales, existen 418 puntos de resistencia, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-del-40-del-territorio-nacional-ha-sido-concesionado-a-transnacionales-existen-418-puntos-de-resistencia/

<sup>616</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Alto Comisionado de la ONU para los Derechos Humanos, Zeid Ra'ad Al Hussein, con motivo de su visita a México, 2015:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=16578&LangID=S#sthash.Z1o Hj05u.dpuf

<sup>617</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/#summary

<sup>618</sup> The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. The Human Rights Situation in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf <sup>619</sup> Vice News, Drogas y Petróleo, 2014: http://www.vice.com/es\_mx/video/drogas-y-petroleo-full

<sup>620</sup> Newsweek en Español, Corrupción y extorsión, amenazas de las empresas en México, 27 Jul 2016: http://nwnoticias.com/#!/noticias/corrupcion-y-extorsion-las-principales-amenazas-de-las-empresasen-mexico

<sup>621</sup> Sopitas.com, 4 mil 800 empresas tuvieron que cerrar por extorsiones y secuestros en Guerrero, 2 Nov 2015: http://www.sopitas.com/542796-4-mil-800-empresas-tuvieron-que-cerrar-por-extorsiones-y-secuestros-en-guerrero/

<sup>622</sup> Federación Internacional de Derechos Humanos, México: Ataques y amenazas en contra de dos miembros de la Administración Autónoma de Agua Potable (AAPCOY) del pueblo indígena de Coyotepec, 2016:

https://www.fidh.org/es/temas/defensores-de-derechos-humanos/mexico-ataques-y-amenazas-encontra-de-dos-miembros-de-la#nb1

 <sup>623</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más del 40% del territorio nacional ha sido concesionado a transnacionales, existen 418 puntos de resistencia, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-del-40-del-territorio-nacional-ha-sido-concesionado-a-transnacionales-existen-418-puntos-de-resistencia/

<sup>624</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más del 40% del territorio nacional ha sido concesionado a transnacionales, existen 418 puntos de resistencia, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-del-40-del-territorio-nacional-ha-sido-concesionado-a-transnacionales-existen-418-puntos-de-resistencia/

<sup>625</sup> Diario El Economista, Policías federales, autores de masacre en Apatzingán, abril 2015: http://eleconomista.com.mx/sociedad/2015/04/19/policias-federales-autores-masacre-apat-zinganproceso.

Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos, Informe Anual, Capítulo IV sobre uso de la fuerza, 2015: http://www.oas.org/es/cidh/docs/anual/2015/doc-es/InformeAnual2015-cap4A-fuerza-ES.pdf

<sup>626</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014: http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf

 <sup>627</sup> Total, Human Rights Briefing Paper, 2016: http://www.sustainableperformance.total.com/sites/analystecsr/files/atoms/files/total\_human\_rigths\_briefing\_paper\_july\_201
 6.pdf

<sup>628</sup> Taller sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos para el Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de México, 13 de octubre, 2016.

<sup>629</sup> Alerta Internacional, Práctica Empresarial Sensible al Conflicto: guía para la industria extractiva, 2005: http://www.international-

alert.org/sites/default/files/Economy\_2005\_CSBPGuidanceForExtractives\_All\_SP\_v2013.pdf

<sup>630</sup> Interational Alert & Fafo, Red Flags, 2008: http://www.international-alert.org/news/red-flagscompanies#sthash.EDMJ7Q1Y.dpbs <sup>631</sup> Comisión Internacional de Juristas, Complicidad empresarial y responsabilidad legal, 2008: http://icj.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2009/07/Corporate-complicity-legalaccountability-vol1-publication-2009-spa.pdf

<sup>632</sup> Fundación Ideas para la Paz, Operaciones en zonas de conflicto y gobernabilidad frágil: guías prácticas para empresas en sectores no extractivos, 2006: http://www.ideaspaz.org/tools/download/46662

<sup>633</sup> Business and Human Rights Resource Center, Prevención de conflictos en la exploración - Manual para Exploradores y Empresarios Mineros, 2012: http://business-humanrights.org/es/pdfprevenci%C3%B3n-de-conflictos-en-la-exploraci%C3%B3n-manual-para-exploradores-y-empresariosmineros

<sup>634</sup> Comité Internacional de la Cruz Roja (CICR), Empresas y Derechos Internacional Humanitario, 2006: https://www.icrc.org/spa/assets/files/other/icrc\_003\_0882.pdf

<sup>635</sup> UN Global Compact, Doing Business While Advancing Development and Peace, 2010: <u>https://www.unglobalcompact.org/docs/issues\_doc/Peace\_and\_Business/DBWAPD\_2010.pdf</u>

<sup>636</sup> Comité Internacional de la Cruz Roja, Documento de Montreux sobre las empresas militares y de seguridad privadas, 2011: https://www.icrc.org/spa/resources/documents/publication/p0996.htm

<sup>637</sup> Gobierno de Suiza, Código de Conducta Internacional para Proveedores de Servicios de Seguridad Privada, 2010: http://www.icoca.ch/sites/all/themes/icoca/assets/icoc\_spanish3.pdf

<sup>638</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Alto Comisionado de la ONU para los Derechos Humanos, Zeid Ra'ad Al Hussein, con motivo de su visita a México, 2015:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=16578&LangID=S#sthash.Z1o Hj05u.dpuf; Global South Magazine, The fight for Justice- Human Rights Defenders in Mexico, no date: http://www.gsdmagazine.org/fight-justice-human-rights-defenders-mexico/; IACHR, Public Hearing, Citizen security and human rights in Mexico, 2011: http://–

www.oas.org/es/cidh/audiencias/Hearings.aspx?Lang=es&Session=123&page=2

<sup>639</sup> University of the Americas Puebla, Center for the Study of Impunity and Justice, Global Impunity Index 2015, April 2015, p. 64. Available in Spanish at:
 http://www.udlap.mx/cesij/files/IGI\_2015\_digital.pdf

<sup>640</sup> Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos, Situation of Human Rights in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf; Open Society Justice Initiative, Broken Justice in Mexico's Guerrero State, 2015: www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/brokenjustice-mexicos-guerrero-state-eng-20– 150826.pdf

<sup>641</sup> Visit of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights to Mexico: Information of the Mexican State," Mexico City, September 25, 2015, p. 31.

<sup>642</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>643</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>644</sup> Organización para la Cooperación y el Desarrollo Económico (OCDE), Estudios Económicos de la OCDE, México 2015: http://www.oecd.org/economy/surveys/Mexico-Overview-2015%20Spanish.pdf

<sup>645</sup> Evidence and Lessons from Latin America, Integral Redress: The Case of Oaxaca, Mexico, no date: http://fundar.org.mx/mexico/pdf/Brief-IntegralRedress-theCaseofOaxacaMexico.pdf Examples include victims of enforced disappearance during the Dirty War in the 70s,5 femicide victims in the northern state of Chihuahua6 and female victims of sexual violence in the southern State of Guerrero. See Inter-American Court of Human Rights. 2009. Case of Radilla-Pacheco vs. Mexico. Judgment of 23 November 2009. See Inter-American Court of Human Rights. 2009. Case of González et al ("Cotton Field") vs. Mexico. Judgment of 16 November 2009. See Inter-American Court of Human Rights. 2010 Case Rosendo Cantú et al. vs. Mexico. Judgment of 31 August 2010.

<sup>646</sup> Comisión Nacional de los Derechos Humanos, 2011, op.cit.

<sup>647</sup> Information provided by the Executive Victim Services Commission, "Draft Comprehensive Victim Care Program, 2014-2018," p. 28 (filed at the IACHR).

<sup>648</sup> ISHR, Mexico: New report details risks faced by human rights defenders and reforms needed for their protection, 2015: http://www.ishr.ch/news/mexico-new-report-details-risks-faced-human-rights-defenders-and-reforms-needed-their

<sup>649</sup> United Nations Committee Against Torture, Concluding observations on the combined fifth and sixth periodic reports of Mexico as adopted by the Committee at its forty-ninth session (29 October–23 November 2012), CAT/C/MEX/CO/5-6.

<sup>650</sup> UN Special Rappoteur on the Independence of Judges and Lawyers, Mission to Mexico, 2011. Available at:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/17session/A.HRC.17.30.Add.3\_en.pdf

<sup>651</sup> Grupo Focal sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos, Nota Conceptual, México 2016: https://businesshumanrights.org/sites/default/files/Presentación%20Grupo%20Focal%20-%20Nota%20conceptual%202016.pdf.

<sup>652</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>653</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>654</sup> Annual report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and reports of the Office of the High Commissioner and the Secretary-General. Relationship between climate change and the human right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Informal summary of inputs received. A/HRC/31/CRP.4, 26 February 2016.

<sup>655</sup> CEPAL, Acceso a la información, participción y justicia en temas ambientales en América Latina y el Caribe: http://www.cepal.org/rio20/noticias/noticias/7/48307/Joseluis\_Samaniego.pdf

<sup>656</sup> Artículo 578, Código Federal de Procedimientos Civiles (CFPC)

<sup>657</sup> Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide (ELAW), Participación Pública, Minería y Medio ambiente, México, 2015:

www.elaw.org/system/files/images\_content/general\_page\_images/publications/guiademineriaimprimir .pdf

<sup>658</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Undermining the Land, 2011: http://www.pbimexico.org/fileadmin/user\_files/projects/mexico/files/Bulletin\_31\_-\_Undermining\_the\_Land.pdf

<sup>659</sup> Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la alimentación, Olivier de Shutter, Adición, Misión a México, A/HRC/19/59/Add2, 17 de enero de 2012:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>660</sup> United Nations, Report of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, Christof Heyns, Mission to Mexico, A/HRC/26/36/Add.1, April 28, 2014, para. 51.

<sup>661</sup> UN, Follow-up to the recommendations of the Working Group on Forced Disappearances in its Report on its Mission to Mexico from March 18-31, 2011, (A/HRC/19/58/Add.2, paras. 80-113), Addendum, p.
88. Open Society Justice Initiative, Justicia Fallida en el Estado de Guerrero, 2015, p. 30, available at: https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org /reports/broken-justice-mexicos-guerrero-state/es.

<sup>662</sup> ISHR, Alberto Solís Castro: defensor de derechos humanos de México, 2015: http://www.ishr.ch/news/alberto-solis-castro-defensor-de-derechos-humanos-de-mexico

<sup>663</sup> World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples, Minority Rights Group, Mexico: http http://minorityrights.org/minorities/indigenous-peoples-4/.

<sup>664</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>665</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S.

<sup>666</sup> Graciela Bensusan and Arturo Alcalde, "El sistema de justicia laboral en México: situación actual y perspectivas," 2013:

www.fesmex.org/common/Documentos/Libros/Paper\_AP\_Justicia\_Laboral\_Bensusan-Alcalde\_Jun2013.pdf

<sup>667</sup> CIDAC, Cómo se resuelven los conflictos laborales en México, 2016: http://cidac.org/se-resuelven-losconflictos-laborales-en-mexico/

<sup>668</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>669</sup> Business&Human Rights, Novedades Gobierno México: https://business-humanrights.org/es/méxico-1?issues%5B%5D=10837

<sup>670</sup> ELSEVIER, La OCDE y los Derechos Humanos: el caso de las Directrices para Empresas Multinacionales y los Puntos de Contacto Nacional, 2014: http://www.elsevier.es/es-revista-anuario-mexicano-derecho-

internacional-74-articulo-la-ocde-los-derechos-humanos-\$1870465415000173?redirectNew=true#fn0590

<sup>671</sup> Comisión Mexicana de Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos, En Defensa de la Vida | Conclusiones de la Misión de Observación Civil sobre la situación de las personas defensoras en México, 2015: http://www.cmdpdh.org/publicaciones-

pdf/cmdpdh\_en\_defensa\_de\_la\_vida\_conclusiones\_de\_la\_mision\_de\_observacion\_civil\_sobre\_situacio n\_de\_personas\_defensoras\_en\_mexico\_2015.pdf

<sup>672</sup> Desinformémonos, Ancestral o innovadora, la justicia indígena hunde sus raíces en las comunidades, 2014: https://desinformemonos.org/ancestral-o-innovadora-la-justicia-indigena-hunde-sus-raices-en-las-comunidades/

<sup>673</sup> UNIFEM, Mujeres Indígenas y Justicia Ancestral, 2009: http://www.ops.org.bo/textocompleto/pi31257.pdf

<sup>674</sup> Judgment issued by the Plenary in file No. Varios 1396/2011, published in the Official Gazette of the Federation on August 14, 2015.

<sup>675</sup> Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos, Funciones y Atribuciones: http://www.oas.org/es/cidh/mandato/funciones.asp.

<sup>676</sup> Para más información sobre estos mecanismos y la representación del Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos en México: http://www.hchr.org.mx.

<sup>677</sup> Ver estado de ratificaciones en la página web del Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos,

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/TreatyBodyExternal/Treaty.aspx?CountryID=112&Lang=EN.

<sup>678</sup> Banco de jurisprudencia juris.ohchr.org, palabra de busqueda: México.

<sup>679</sup> Recientemente, con relevancia a esta Guía de Páis, el Grupo de Trabajo de la ONU sobre empresas y derechos humanos y el Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la alimentación visitaron a México. Para mayor información, consulte http://www.ohchr.org/SP/HRBodies/SP/Pages/Welcomepage.aspx y http://www.hchr.org.mx.

680 http://www.cao-ombudsman.org/publications/documents/CAOANNUALREPORT2014.pdf

<sup>681</sup> México: Comisión Estatal de Derechos Humanos de Nuevo León menciona los Principios Rectores de la ONU sobre empresas y derechos humanos en recomendación sobre matanza en establecimiento de la empresa Casino Royale, 2012: https://business-humanrights.org/es/méxico-comisión-estatal-dederechos-humanos-de-nuevo-león-menciona-los-principios-rectores-de-la-onu-sobre-empresas-yderechos-humanos-en-recomendación-sobre-matanza-en

<sup>682</sup> Proceso, Clausuran tarahumaras aeropuerto de Creel por no cumplir con reparación de daños, 2016: http://www.proceso.com.mx/436981/clausuran-tarahumaras-aeropuerto-creel-cumplir-reparaciondano

<sup>683</sup> El Imparcial, Logran amparo para evitar construcción de parque eólico en Juchitán, 2015: http://imparcialoaxaca.mx/istmo/6by/logran-amparo-para-evitar-construcción-de-parque-eólico-enjuchitán <sup>684</sup> Compliance Advisor Ombudsman, Annual Report, 2014: http://www.caoombudsman.org/publications/documents/CAOANNUALREPORT2014.pdf

<sup>685</sup> Comisión Estatal de Derechos Humanos, Nuevo León, México 2012: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/ForumSession1/SubmissionsStatements/HRC\_Nuev oLeon.pdf

<sup>686</sup> Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas".

<sup>687</sup> UNICEF, Recommendations for the National Program on Business and Human Rights, Mexico, 2016.

<sup>688</sup> Secretaría de Economía, El sector minero-metalúrgico en México contribuye con el 4 por ciento del Producto Interno Bruto nacional, sin fecha: http://www.gob.mx/se/acciones-y-programas/mineria

<sup>689</sup> SolRecauda, Industrias Extractivas Régimen Fiscal, Caso de México, 2014: https://www.imf.org/external/spanish/np/seminars/2014/natres/pdf/aguilar4.pdf

<sup>690</sup> Secretaría de Economía, El sector minero-metalúrgico en México contribuye con el 4 por ciento del Producto Interno Bruto nacional, sin fecha: http://www.gob.mx/se/acciones-y-programas/mineria

<sup>691</sup> Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>692</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>693</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>694</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

695 Extractive Industries Transparency Innitiative: https://eiti.org/Mexico

<sup>696</sup> Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Derechos Humanos y Empresas, 2016: http://www.aidaamericas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>697</sup> Grupo Focal sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos, Nota Conceptual, México 2016: https://businesshumanrights.org/sites/default/files/Presentación%20Grupo%20Focal%20-%20Nota%20conceptual%202016.pdf. <sup>698</sup> Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la alimentación, Olivier de Shutter, Adición, Misión a
 México, A/HRC/19/59/Add2, 17 de enero de 2012:

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>699</sup> Excelsior, Segob alerta que contratos mineros ponen en riesgo a pueblos indígenas, 2014: http://www.excelsior.com.mx/nacional/2014/01/19/939125

<sup>700</sup> Front-line Defenders. Joint letter: Mexico, Detention of Human Rights and Environment Defender Marco Antonio Suástegui Muños, June 25, 2014. Revista Proceso, *"López Obrador exige la liberación de 16 comuneros en Holbox"*, August 18, 2014.

<sup>701</sup> FIDH, México: Ataques y amenazas en contra de dos miembros de la Administración Autónoma de Agua Potable (AAPCOY) del pueblo indígena de Coyotepec, 2016:

https://www.fidh.org/es/temas/defensores-de-derechos-humanos/mexico-ataques-y-amenazas-encontra-de-dos-miembros-de-la#nb1

<sup>702</sup> Global Witness, On Dangerous Ground, Report 2016: https://www.globalwitness.org/en/reports/dangerous-ground/

<sup>703</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>704</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>705</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>706</sup> IWGIA Anuario 2016, México: http://www.iwgia.org/images/stories/sections-esp/regiones/latinamerica/docs/MI2016/Mexico\_MI2016\_web.pdf

<sup>707</sup> PODER, Sin consulta, con represión y violencia imponen proyectos extractivos en la Sierra Norte de Puebla, 2013: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/11/sin-consulta-con-represion-y-violencia-imponenproyectos-extractivos-en-la-sierra-norte-de-puebla/

<sup>708</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014: http://www.mynbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_w

http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf

<sup>709</sup> Red Mexicana de Afectados por la Minería, Mineras, no el narco, son causantes de desplazamientos forzados: Fodeg, 2016: http://www.remamx.org/2016/02/mineras-no-el-narco-son-causantes-de-desplazamientos-forzados-fodeg/

<sup>710</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Undermining the Land, 2011: http://www.pbimexico.org/fileadmin/user\_files/projects/mexico/files/Bulletin\_31\_-\_Undermining\_the\_Land.pdf

<sup>711</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Alto Comisionado de la ONU para los Derechos Humanos, Zeid Ra'ad Al Hussein, con motivo de su visita a México, 2015:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=16578&LangID=S#sthash.Z1o Hj05u.dpuf

<sup>712</sup> Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Derechos Humanos y Empresas, 2016: http://www.aidaamericas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>713</sup> PODER, Sin consulta, con represión y violencia imponen proyectos extractivos en la Sierra Norte de Puebla, 2013: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/11/sin-consulta-con-represion-y-violencia-imponenproyectos-extractivos-en-la-sierra-norte-de-puebla/

<sup>714</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico;

Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>715</sup> Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/our-work/country/mexico

<sup>716</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/the-americas/mexico/natural-resources.aspx

<sup>717</sup> Business Anti-Corruption Portal, Mexico Corruption Report: http://www.business-anticorruption.com/country-profiles/mexico

Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>718</sup> Revenue Wacht Institute, The Resources Governance Index 2013: http://www.resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/country\_pdfs/mexicoRGI2013.pdf

<sup>719</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016:http://eitimexico.org/wp-

 $content/uploads/2016/03/ {\sf EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuentas.pdf$ 

<sup>720</sup> Becerril, Andrea, "Pagarán ISR quienes renten sus tierras para explotación de recursos energéticos", en La Jornada, 1 de noviembre de 2015, www.jornada.unam.mx/2015/11/01/politica/011n1pol; PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

 <sup>721</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más del 40% del territorio nacional ha sido concesionado a transnacionales, existen 418 puntos de resistencia, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-del-40-del-territorio-nacional-ha-sido-concesionado-a-transnacionales-existen-418-puntos-de-resistencia/

<sup>722</sup> PODER, Empresas extractivas, transparencia y rendición de cuentas. Diagnóstico para informar la agenda de la sociedad civil en el marco de la implementación de EITI en México, 2016: http://eitimexico.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/03/EITI\_diagnostico\_empresas\_extractivas\_transparencia\_y\_rendición\_de\_cuen tas.pdf

<sup>723</sup> Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Derechos Humanos y Empresas, 2016: http://www.aidaamericas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>724</sup> Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Derechos Humanos y Empresas, 2016: http://www.aidaamericas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>725</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014: http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf

<sup>726</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014:

http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf; Para mayor información, consultar el Informe sobre la situación de los defensores ambientales en México 2015, realizado por el Centro Mexicano de Derecho Ambiental (CEMDA), en: http://www.cemda.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/Informe-defensores-2014-2015 final2.pdf.

<sup>727</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014: http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf

<sup>728</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>729</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>730</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014:

http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf ProDESC, PODER y Código DH: Reporte de la «Misión de Observación» de la primera semana de sesiones de la Consulta para la implementación de un proyecto Eólico en Juchitán, Oaxaca. <sup>731</sup> PODER, Buenavista del Cobre incurrió en 55 irregularidades y obtuvo beneficios económicos por ello: PROFEPA, 2015: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/09/buenavista-del-cobre-incurrio-en-55irregularidades-y-obtuvo-beneficios-economicos-por-ello-profepa/

<sup>732</sup> Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas".

<sup>733</sup> Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos (CIDH), Sesión 153, Audiencia sobre "Denuncias sobre destrucción de la herencia biocultural de México para la construcción de mega proyectos de desarrollo en México, 30 de octubre de 2014:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rSyQwi8RnmA&feature=youtu.be, y sesión 156, Audiencia sobre la "Situación de derechos humanos de defensoras y defensores de medio ambiente en el contexto de las industrias extractivas en América": https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=k5qQwQj\_R4E.

<sup>734</sup> Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos (CIDH), Sesión 153, Audiencia sobre "Denuncias sobre destrucción de la herencia biocultural de México para la construcción de mega proyectos de desarrollo en México, 30 de octubre de 2014, Sede de la CIDH: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rSyQwi8RnmA&feature=youtu.be.

<sup>735</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>736</sup> Central Inteligence Agency, World Factbook: Mexico, 2016: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/mx.html

<sup>737</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>738</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>739</sup> Conapred, Documento Informativo sobre Discriminación Racial en México, 2011:

http://www.conapred.org.mx/documentos\_cedoc/Dossier%20DISC-RACIAL.pdf

<sup>740</sup> Sedesol, Encuesta Nacional de Jornaleros 2009: http://www.cipet.gob.mx/Jornaleros

<sup>741</sup> Sedesol, Encuesta Nacional de Jornaleros 2009: http://www.cipet.gob.mx/Jornaleros

<sup>742</sup> Oxfam, Desigualdad Extrema en México, Concentración del Poder Económico y Político, 2015: http://www.cambialasreglas.org/pdf/desigualdadextrema\_informe.pdf

<sup>743</sup> Los Angeles Times, Hardship on Mexico's farms, a bounty for U.S. tables, 2014: http://graphics.latimes.com/product-of-mexico-camps/

<sup>744</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>745</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>746</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf <sup>747</sup> Gender Inequality and Women Rights in Mexico, Oxfam Mexico, 2014. https://www.unisa.edu.au/Global/Hawke%20Centre/2015%20Calendar/Oxfam/OxfamMexico%20slides. pdf

<sup>748</sup> World Bank, Children at Work in Mexico, Still a Major Issue, 2013: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2013/01/18/children-at-work-in-mexico-still-a-majorissue

<sup>749</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humano, Informe del Relator Especial sobre el derecho a la Alimentación, Misión a México 2012:

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session19/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_sp.pdf;

<sup>750</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>751</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms\_248803.pdf

<sup>752</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2014: http://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/countries/2014/226777.htm

<sup>753</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>754</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>755</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>756</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>757</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>758</sup> Sedesol, Encuesta Nacional de Jornaleros 2009: http://www.cipet.gob.mx/Jornaleros

<sup>759</sup> Los Angeles Times, Hardship on Mexico's farms, a bounty for U.S. tables, 2014: http://graphics.latimes.com/product-of-mexico-camps/

<sup>760</sup> Semarnat, Programa Especial de Cambio Climático 2014-2018: http://www.semarnat.gob.mx/sites/default/files/documentos/transparencia/programa\_especial\_de\_ca mbio\_climatico\_2014-2018.pdf

<sup>761</sup> Fundar, La lucha contra el cambio climático requiere un presupuesto que incluya recursos para la mitigación y la adaptación en el sector agrícola, sin fecha: http://www.fundar.org.mx/mexico/pdf/sectoragricola.pdf

<sup>762</sup> Fundar, La lucha contra el cambio climático requiere un presupuesto que incluya recursos para la mitigación y la adaptación en el sector agrícola, sin fecha: http://www.fundar.org.mx/mexico/pdf/sectoragricola.pdf <sup>763</sup> Greenpeace, La Huella de los Plaguicidas en México, 2016: http://www.greenpeace.org/mexico/Global/mexico/Graficos/2016/comidasana/Plaguicidas\_en\_agua\_ok\_EM.pdf

<sup>764</sup> OCDE, Evaluación de Desempeño Ambiental, México 2013: http://www.oecd.org/fr/env/examenspays/EPR%20Highlights%20MEXICO%202013%20ESP.pdf

<sup>765</sup> Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food, Olivier De Schutter, Addendum,
 Mission to Mexico, 2012 A/HRC/19/59/Add.2:
 http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/19session/A-HRC-19-59-Add2\_en.pdf

<sup>766</sup> Grupo Focal sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos, Nota Conceptual, México 2016: https://businesshumanrights.org/sites/default/files/Presentación%20Grupo%20Focal%20-%20Nota%20conceptual%202016.pdf.

<sup>767</sup> Ecoosfera, La batalla contra los Transgénicos, 2015: http://ecoosfera.com/2015/11/la-batalla-contralos-transgenicos-en-mexico/

<sup>768</sup> Contralínea, Transnacionales Violan Derechos Humanos en México, 2016: http://www.contralinea.com.mx/archivo-revista/index.php/2016/09/20/trasnacionales-violanderechos-humanos-en-mexico/

<sup>769</sup> El Expreso de Campeche, Ponen amparo ante permiso de Sagarpa. Bloquean en Quintana Roo la siembra de transgénicos, 2016: http://expresocampeche.com/notas/nacional/2016/04/27/bloqueanen-quintana-roo-la-siembra-transgenicos/

<sup>770</sup> Americas Program, San Quintín Valley: From Labor Abuse to Labor Mobilization, 2015: http://www.cipamericas.org/archives/15532

<sup>771</sup> Periódico La Jornada, Con tretas fueron reclutados los rarámuris rescatados de "trabajo inhumano" en BCS, 2015: http://www.jornada.unam.mx/2015/03/17/politica/014n1pol

<sup>772</sup> Comisión Mexicana de Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos, En Defensa de la Vida | Conclusiones de la Misión de Observación Civil sobre la situación de las personas defensoras en México, 2015: http://www.cmdpdh.org/publicaciones-

pdf/cmdpdh\_en\_defensa\_de\_la\_vida\_conclusiones\_de\_la\_mision\_de\_observacion\_civil\_sobre\_situacio n\_de\_personas\_defensoras\_en\_mexico\_2015.pdf

<sup>773</sup> Front-line Defenders. Joint letter: Mexico, Detention of Human Rights and Environment Defender Marco Antonio Suástegui Muños, June 25, 2014. Revista Proceso, *"López Obrador exige la liberación de 16 comuneros en Holbox"*, August 18, 2014.

<sup>774</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>775</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016.html

<sup>776</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más de la mitad de los mexicanos en la informalidad laboral; Guerro, Oaxaca y Chiapas en niveles críticos, 2016: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-de-la-mitad-de-losmexicanos-en-la-informalidad-laboral-guerrero-oaxaca-y-chiapas-en-niveles-criticos-ci/ <sup>777</sup> Desde enero de 2016, Distrito Federal se convirtió en Ciudad de México, convirtiéndose en la 32ª entidad federativa del país con autonomía y soberanía local.

<sup>778</sup> Comisión Mexicana de Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos, En Defensa de la Vida | Conclusiones de la Misión de Observación Civil sobre la situación de las personas defensoras en México, 2015: http://www.cmdpdh.org/publicaciones-

pdf/cmdpdh\_en\_defensa\_de\_la\_vida\_conclusiones\_de\_la\_mision\_de\_observacion\_civil\_sobre\_situacio n\_de\_personas\_defensoras\_en\_mexico\_2015.pdf

<sup>779</sup> United Nations Development Program Human Development Report Office, 2016: http://www.mx.undp.org/content/mexico/es/home/library/poverty/informe-nacional-sobre-desarrollohumano-mexico-2016.html

<sup>780</sup> Bloomberg, The Dirty Little Pollution Secret that is Choking Mexico City, 2016: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-04-14/the-dirty-little-pollution-secret-that-s-chokingmexico-city

<sup>781</sup> Bloomberg, The Dirty Little Pollution Secret that is Choking Mexico City, 2016: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-04-14/the-dirty-little-pollution-secret-that-s-chokingmexico-city

<sup>782</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>783</sup> Monitor Expresso, Morelia en top 10 de extorsión a empresas de Estados Unidos en México, 2016: http://www.monitorexpresso.com/morelia-en-top-10-de-extorsion-a-empresas-de-estados-unidos-enmexico/

<sup>784</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Reports/2016/pdf/BTI\_2016\_Mexico.pdf

<sup>785</sup> Conservation International, Improving Livelihoods in Chiapas, 2016: http://www.conservation.org/projects/Pages/improving-livelihoods-in-chiapas-mexico.aspx

<sup>786</sup> Ruiz-Toledo et al., "Occurrence of Glyphosate in Water Bodies Derived from Intensive Agriculture in a Tropical Region of Southern México". Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 93: 289-293, 2014. Ver también, Ecoosfera, La Batalla contra los transgénicos en México, 2015: http://ecoosfera.com/2015/11/la-batalla-contra-los-transgenicos-en-mexico/

<sup>787</sup> Revolución Tres Punto Cero, Más del 40% del territorio nacional ha sido concesionado a transnacionales, existen 418 puntos de resistencia, 2015: http://revoluciontrespuntocero.com/mas-del-40-del-territorio-nacional-ha-sido-concesionado-a-transnacionales-existen-418-puntos-de-resistencia/

<sup>788</sup> Comisión Mexicana de Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos, En Defensa de la Vida | Conclusiones de la Misión de Observación Civil sobre la situación de las personas defensoras en México, 2015: http://www.cmdpdh.org/publicaciones-

pdf/cmdpdh\_en\_defensa\_de\_la\_vida\_conclusiones\_de\_la\_mision\_de\_observacion\_civil\_sobre\_situacio n\_de\_personas\_defensoras\_en\_mexico\_2015.pdf

<sup>789</sup> CEDEHM, Solicitud de alerta preventiva para personas defensoras de derechos humanos en Chihuahua, 2016: https://cedehm.blogspot.mx/2016/03/solicitud-de-alerta-preventiva-para.html <sup>790</sup> FIDH, México: Por primera vez se emite una alerta temprana para prevenir agresiones a defensores/as de derechos humanos y periodistas, 2016: https://www.fidh.org/es/temas/defensoresde-derechos-humanos/mexico-por-primera-vez-se-emite-una-alerta-temprana-para-prevenir

<sup>791</sup> Red Nacional de Organismos Civiles de Derechos Humanos "Todos los Derechos para Todas y Todos", "El derecho a defender los derechos humanos en México: Informe sobre la situación de las personas defensoras 2011-2013": http://codigodh.org/2014/07/03/redtdt-denuncia-agresiones-a-defensores-ydefensoras-en-mexico/

<sup>792</sup> UN, Follow-up to the recommendations of the Working Group on Forced Disappearances in its Report on its Mission to Mexico from March 18-31, 2011, (A/HRC/19/58/Add.2, paras. 80-113), Addendum, p. 88. Open Society Justice Initiative, Justicia Fallida en el Estado de Guerrero, 2015, p. 30, available at: https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org /reports/broken-justice-mexicos-guerrero-state/es.

<sup>793</sup> Compendio de información que presentan la Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Empresas y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.aida-americas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>794</sup> Comisión Mexicana de Defensa y Promoción de los Derechos Humanos, En Defensa de la Vida | Conclusiones de la Misión de Observación Civil sobre la situación de las personas defensoras en México, 2015: http://www.cmdpdh.org/publicaciones-

pdf/cmdpdh\_en\_defensa\_de\_la\_vida\_conclusiones\_de\_la\_mision\_de\_observacion\_civil\_sobre\_situacio n\_de\_personas\_defensoras\_en\_mexico\_2015.pdf

<sup>795</sup> The Global Slavery Index, 2015: http://www.globalslaveryindex.org/country/mexico/

<sup>796</sup> Monitor Expresso, Morelia en top 10 de extorsión a empresas de Estados Unidos en México, 2016: http://www.monitorexpresso.com/morelia-en-top-10-de-extorsion-a-empresas-de-estados-unidos-enmexico/

<sup>797</sup> World Bank, Children at Work in Mexico, Still a Major Issue, 2013: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2013/01/18/children-at-work-in-mexico-still-a-majorissue

<sup>798</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>799</sup> Sagarpa, Panorama de la Seguridad Nutricional y Alimentaria en México 2012: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3269s.pdf

<sup>800</sup> Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos, Declaración del Grupo de trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, septiembre de 2016:

http://www.ohchr.org/SP/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20466&LangID=S

<sup>801</sup> Monitor Expresso, Morelia en top 10 de extorsión a empresas de Estados Unidos en México, 2016: http://www.monitorexpresso.com/morelia-en-top-10-de-extorsion-a-empresas-de-estados-unidos-enmexico/

<sup>802</sup> El Independiente Hidalgo, Cierran más empresas en Guerrero por extorsiones, 2015: http://www.elindependientedehidalgo.com.mx/archivo/2015/11/301997 <sup>803</sup> Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos, Situation of Human Rights in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf; Open Society Justice Initiative, Broken Justice in Mexico's Guerrero State, 2015: www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/brokenjustice-mexicos-guerrero-state-eng-20– 150826.pdf

<sup>804</sup> UN, Follow-up to the recommendations of the Working Group on Forced Disappearances in its Report on its Mission to Mexico from March 18-31, 2011, (A/HRC/19/58/Add.2, paras. 80-113), Addendum, p.
88. Open Society Justice Initiative, Justicia Fallida en el Estado de Guerrero, 2015, p. 30, available at: https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org /reports/broken-justice-mexicos-guerrero-state/es.

<sup>805</sup> Declaración del Grupo de Trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, 2016: https://businesshumanrights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Declaracion\_ONU\_Mx.pdf

<sup>806</sup> Declaración del Grupo de Trabajo de Naciones Unidas sobre empresas y derechos humanos al final de su visita a México, 2016: https://businesshumanrights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Declaracion ONU Mx.pdf

<sup>807</sup> OIT, El trabajo infantil y el derecho a la educación en México, 2014: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---ilomexico/documents/publication/wcms 248803.pdf

<sup>808</sup> Business Transparency International, Mexico Country Report, 2016: http://www.btiproject.org/en/reports/country-reports/detail/itc/mex/#summary

<sup>809</sup> The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. The Human Rights Situation in Mexico, 2015: http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/pdfs/Mexico2016-en.pdf

<sup>810</sup> Monitor Expresso, Morelia en top 10 de extorsión a empresas de Estados Unidos en México, 2016: http://www.monitorexpresso.com/morelia-en-top-10-de-extorsion-a-empresas-de-estados-unidos-enmexico/

<sup>811</sup> INEGI: Datos de población de 5 años y más hablante de lengua indígena nacional, 2010.

<sup>812</sup> Compendio de información que presentan la Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Empresas y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.aida-americas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>813</sup> Compendio de información que presentan la Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Empresas y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.aida-americas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>814</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014:

http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf; Para mayor información, consultar el Informe sobre la situación de los defensores ambientales en México 2015, realizado por el Centro Mexicano de Derecho Ambiental (CEMDA), en: http://www.cemda.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/Informe-defensores-2014-2015\_final2.pdf.

<sup>815</sup> Coordinación para la atención de los derechos humanos del Estado de Oaxaca: *Derechos de los pueblos y comuni- dades indígenas,* 2013.

<sup>816</sup> ESCR-NET, Meaningful rights-holders engagement is key for human rights impact assessments, 2015: https://www.escr-net.org/news/2015/meaningful-rights-holders-engagement-key-human-rightsimpact-assessments

<sup>817</sup> PODER, Sin consulta, con represión y violencia imponen proyectos extractivos en la Sierra Norte de Puebla, 2013: http://projectpoder.org/es/2015/11/sin-consulta-con-represion-y-violencia-imponenproyectos-extractivos-en-la-sierra-norte-de-puebla/

<sup>818</sup> Brigadas Internacionales de Paz, Pienso, luego resisto: Experiencias de protección y promoción de derechos construidas desde la base en contextos de grandes inversiones, 2014: http://www.mypbi.net/fileadmin/user\_files/groups/spain/files/160323\_Libro\_pienso\_luego\_resisto\_we b.pdf; Para mayor información, consultar el Informe sobre la situación de los defensores ambientales en México 2015, realizado por el Centro Mexicano de Derecho Ambiental (CEMDA), en:

http://www.cemda.org.mx/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/Informe-defensores-2014-2015\_final2.pdf.

<sup>819</sup> Compendio de información que presentan la Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Empresas y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.aida-americas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>820</sup> Compendio de información que presentan la Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Empresas y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.aida-americas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>821</sup> PROCESO, ONU analiza daños a ecosistemas en Sonora y Durango por derrames mineros, 2016: http://www.proceso.com.mx/453687/onu-analiza-danos-a-ecosistemas-en-sonora-durango-derramesmineros

<sup>822</sup> Compendio de información que presentan la Coalición de Organizaciones de la Sociedad Civil al Grupo de Trabajo sobre Empresas y Derechos Humanos de la ONU, México: Empresas y Derechos Humanos, 2016: http://www.aida-americas.org/sites/default/files/informe\_mx\_empresas\_ddhh\_68.pdf

<sup>823</sup> Contralínea, Transnacionales Violan Derechos Humanos en México, 2016: http://www.contralinea.com.mx/archivo-revista/index.php/2016/09/20/trasnacionales-violanderechos-humanos-en-mexico/

<sup>824</sup> El Imparcial, Logran amparo para evitar construcción de parque eólico en Juchitán, 2015: http://imparcialoaxaca.mx/istmo/6by/logran-amparo-para-evitar-construcción-de-parque-eólico-enjuchitán

<sup>825</sup> United States Department of State Report on Trafficking in Persons 2016: https://www.siglo.mx/coahuila/noticia/67253.cae-propietario-de-prokarne-van-7-detenidos.html

<sup>826</sup> International Business Times, Mexico Child Labor: Over 60 Children Found Working At Vegetable Packing Factory In Northern State Of Coahuila, 2015: http://www.ibtimes.com/mexico-child-labor-over-60-children-found-working-vegetable-packing-factory-northern-2062954

<sup>827</sup> United States Department of State Country Report 2015, Mexico: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/humanrightsreport/index.htm#wrapper

<sup>828</sup> Prodesc, Zapotecas se amparan por violación al derecho a la consulta ante el inicio de proyecto eólico anunciado por la SENER, 2015: http://www.prodesc.org.mx/?p=3410

<sup>829</sup> Business&Human Rights, México: Se cancelan mineras de Hochschild y Zalamera en Guerrero; comunidades exigen que Suprema Corte analice ley minera para garantizar derechos indígenas, 2016: https://business-humanrights.org/es/méxico-se-cancelan-mineras-hochschild-y-zalamera-en-guerrerocomunidades-locales-exigen-que-se-analice-la-ley-minera-para-garantizar-derechos-de-los-pueblosind%C3%ADgenas

<sup>830</sup> Carta de "Recomendaciones prioritarias de organizaciones de sociedad civil al Grupo de Trabajo de Empresas y Derechos Humanos de Naciones Unidas".